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Abstract  

Summary  �± This thesis argues that a new supporter focused reporting framework is 

required in the English football industry to help improve the governance and management of 

clubs through increased accountability and transparency. 

Justification  �± The recent Fan Led Review is the latest report to highlight the poor 

governance practices of many football clubs in England. It made 47 recommendations for 

improvements, but paid very little attention to accountability and transparency as part of the 

solution. Accountability and transparency are powerful tools to elicit improved performance 

and should be seriously considered as part of the solution. This thesis fills the gap by 

recommending improvements in this area. 

Aims  �± This thesis has three main aims. Firstly, to identify the reporting needs of loyal, 

engaged and informed supporters of EFL clubs. Secondly to evaluate whether current 

reporting practices meet those needs. Finally, to recommend a new reporting framework, 

and provide a draft concept report, suitable for supporter focused accountability. 

Methods  �± Eleven key informants took part in a three stage process. Firstly, one-to-one 

interviews identify participants�¶ reporting needs. 25 focus group sessions then reviewed 

current reporting practice, and finally developed a new reporting framework. 

Findings  �± Participants expressed reporting needs in four key areas: Financial, 

Governance, Sporting and Social factors. Current reporting is found to be lacking in 

providing the level of accountability to satisfy supporter needs. Justification of the need for 

the reporting framework was provided based on a football club being a special business, 

having social accountability, the need to improve behaviour and redress of the social 

contract between clubs and supporters.  

Recommendations  �± Recommendations for a new supporter focused reporting framework 

are provided for each section and a concept report also provided. The recommended 

reporting framework is not intended to be a definitive end point, rather an exercise to 

stimulate debate and a starting point to negotiate an appropriate level of reporting with clubs, 

owners and directors. 
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1. Introduction, context  and argument  

1.1 �(�Q�J�O�L�V�K���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O�¶�V���E�U�R�N�H�Q���V�R�F�L�D�O���F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W 

 

�³[A] fundamental problem is a lack of financial transparency, which allows clubs to be badly 
run and mostly hides this fact from the real world, usually until it �L�V���W�R�R���O�D�W�H���´�� 

Singleton and Reade (2019, para 9) 

 

 �³�«the one group that are most under-represented in the sport are the people who should 

�K�D�Y�H���W�K�H���P�R�V�W���V�D�\�����W�K�H���I�D�Q�V���´ 

 �8�.���$�O�O���3�D�U�W�\���3�D�U�O�L�D�P�H�Q�W�D�U�\���)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���*�U�R�X�S�¶�V�������������5�H�S�R�U�W��(found in García & Welford, 

2015, p. 518) 

 

On the 27th of August 2019, Bury F.C. were expelled from the football league (Halliday, 

2019). This was the repercussion of successive owners partaking in questionable business 

�S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�V���V�X�F�K���D�V���R�Y�H�U�V�S�H�Q�G�L�Q�J���R�Q���S�O�D�\�H�U�V�¶���Z�D�J�H�V�����W�K�H��splitting up of the legal entity and 

dubious financing initiatives (Collins, 2019). 

Over the next few years, Macclesfield Town, Wigan Athletic and Derby County also went into 

administration �± Macclesfield for questionable financial governance practices (Ducker, 

2020), Wigan for reasons still unknown but surrounded by speculation of owner intentions 

that did not have the long term future of the club as the primary concern (Financial Times, 

2020), and Derby due to the decision of owner Mel Morris to discontinue funding the club 

after years of overspending on player wages (Maguire & Day, 2021a). 

In 2017 the owners of Blackpool F.C. were found to have asset-stripped the club for 

personal gain (The Times, 2017). Sheffield Wednesday, Reading, Derby, Aston Villa, Stoke 

and other clubs have caused controversy after selling their stadiums to their owners in an act 

where the only perceived aim was to circu�P�Y�H�Q�W���W�K�H���(�)�/�¶�V���)�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���)�D�L�U���3�O�D�\��(FFP) 

regulations (BBC Sport, 2019b, 2019d; Conn, 2020a; Maguire & Day, 2022a). Essentially, 

the English Football industry has been plagued with insolvencies and accusations of mis-

management, poor governance and even corruption, money laundering and tax evasion for 

many years (Buraimo et al., 2006; Christian Aid, 2010; DCMS, 2021; Emery & Weed, 2006; 

Morrow, 2021; Solberg & Haugen, 2010; Turner, 2016). Even at the time of writing, West 

Bromwich Albion F.C. owners have been accused of taking advantage of loan arrangements 

with interest rates that are set up to be favourable to the owners (Maguire, 2023). 
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English football clubs are dominated by a concentrated ownership model (Morrow, 2016) of 

a single or small group of owners. Morrow (2016) cites Carlin and Mayer (2000) who argue 

that there are benefits to this type of structure such as stability, long term investment and 

purpose and Maguire and Day (2019d) and DCMS (2021) advise that there are many good 

owners of clubs. 

However there are some �³�U�R�J�X�H�´ owners (Maguire & Day, 2019d), whose management of 

their clubs has, intentionally or otherwise, not been in the best interest of the club�¶s wider 

community. There is concern that the potential for more bad owners, or ones that become 

unwilling or unable to fund their club (Morrow, 2016), will cause frailty in the industry, and 

that some owners poor behaviour could have a knock on risk to other clubs (Morrow, 2021). 

MP and leader of the Government�¶s recent Fan Led Review of Football Governance (FLR) 

Tracey Crouch remarked: 

 

�³�&�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���R�Q�O�\���R�Q�H���E�D�G���R�Z�Q�H�U���D�Z�D�\���I�U�R�P���G�L�V�D�V�W�H�U�´��(DCMS, 2021, p. 31) 

 

When a football club is mismanaged causing severe consequences such as those at Bury, 

the biggest losers are arguably its community: the fans. The expulsion of Bury from the 

football league had a dramatic effect on its fans as is evident when reading some of their 

comments gathered by The Guardian (2019): 

 

�³�,���I�H�H�O���U�R�R�W�O�H�V�V�«���%�H�L�Q�J���D���%�X�U�\���I�D�Q���I�H�H�O�V���O�L�N�H���D�Q���H�V�V�H�Q�W�L�D�O���S�D�U�W���R�I���Z�K�R���,���D�P�´ 

�³�0�\���I�D�P�L�O�\���K�D�Y�H���E�H�H�Q���J�R�L�Q�J���I�R�U���R�Y�H�U���D���F�H�Q�W�X�U�\�´ 

�³�%�X�U�\���)�&���L�V���D�Q���D�Q�F�K�R�U���I�R�U���P�H�´ 

�³�,���N�H�H�S���V�Z�L�Wching between anger and sadness�«���,�W�¶�V���E�H�H�Q���D���F�R�Q�V�W�D�Q�W��
through my teenage years to middle age..�����,�W�¶�V���J�L�Y�H�Q���P�H���V�R�P�H���R�I���P�\��
�I�D�Y�R�X�U�L�W�H���P�H�P�R�U�L�H�V�´ 

 

The impact led the local NHS trust to offer mental health support to fans through their difficult 

time (BBC Sport, 2019a), supporting research that, to a football fan, their club is as 

meaningful as a family member (Jones, 1998), and the loss of a football club seems to be 

mourned in similar ways. 

Events such as these, and many more in the past, have led to increased demand from 

football supporters for information (Adams et al., 2017; Cleland, 2010; Football Governance 

Research Centre, 2006; Morrow, 2021) and have led authors to criticise owners�¶ intentions 

towards their clubs. Morrow (2016) argues that owners are putting clubs - century old 

institutions - at risk and that this is dispossessing fans of their clubs. Porter et al. (2016) also 
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argue that by doing this, owners are exploiting the character of football for self-interest that is 

�L�Q���F�R�Q�I�O�L�F�W���W�R���W�K�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�V���R�I���F�O�X�E�V�¶���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���D�Q�G���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V�����7�K�H���D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W���Z�D�V���P�D�G�H��

more recently in the FLR, which stated:  

 

�³�&�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���W�R�R���R�I�W�H�Q���E�H�L�Q�J���U�X�Q���U�H�F�N�O�H�V�V�O�\�����R�Z�Q�H�U�V���P�D�N�H���G�H�F�L�V�L�R�Q�V���Z�L�W�K���S�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O��
impunity frequently leaving communities and others to deal with the 
consequences/fall out of their decisions and fans are cut out of their clubs and key 
�G�H�F�L�V�L�R�Q�V���´��(DCMS, 2021, p. 26) �«���³�2�Z�Q�H�U�V���K�D�Y�H���G�U�L�Y�H�Q���F�H�Q�W�X�U�\���R�O�G���F�O�X�E�V���W�R���U�X�L�Q����
Above all else this is the issue, no one should lose their club due to its community 
�Y�D�O�X�H�����&�O�X�E�V���D�Q�G���D�V�V�H�W�V���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���S�U�R�W�H�F�W�H�G���I�U�R�P���Y�X�O�W�X�U�H�V���´��(Contributor, DCMS, 
2021, p. 30) 

 

 

Supporters are a unique and key stakeholder to football clubs. Jock Stein, Celtic FC 

Manager from 1965 �W�R���������������I�D�P�R�X�V�O�\���V�W�D�W�H�G���W�K�D�W���³Football without fans is nothing� ́(Morrow, 

2003, p. 47). �6�W�H�L�Q�¶�V���T�X�R�W�H���G�H�Q�R�W�H�V���W�K�H���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I���I�D�Q�V���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�V����an importance that 

is also discussed by Kuper and Szymanski (2014) �Z�K�R���D�U�J�X�H���W�K�D�W���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���D�U�H���R�I�W�H�Q���F�O�X�E�V�¶��

longest serving stakeholders, outlasting players, managers and owners and often spanning 

family generations. Solberg and Haugen (2010, p. 333) even go as far to say that supporters 

�D�U�H���W�K�H���³�V�R�F�L�D�O���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�´ of football clubs, a sentiment shared by a co-owner of Norwich City 

FC, Michael Wynn-Jones: 

 

�³�:�H���D�U�H���V�W�H�Z�D�U�G�V���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�����1�R�W���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�����7�K�H���F�O�X�E���E�H�O�R�Q�J�V���W�R���W�K�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���´ 

Found in Winter (2016) 

 

In this thesis I argue that the relationship between clubs, owners and directors on the one 

hand and the community of fans on the other is a form of social contract and argue that the 

issues discussed above are symptoms of a broken contract. I further argue that embracing 

social and emancipatory accountability approaches aimed at fans is one way that clubs can 

help to fix that broken contract. In the words of legendary footballer Johan Cruyff: 

 

�³�7�K�H���U�H�D�O���Z�H�D�O�W�K���O�L�H�V���L�Q���W�K�H���G�H�Y�R�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H���I�D�Q�V���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�����D�Q�G���L�Q���Z�K�D�W��
football can bring to the lives of millions of people�«���$���F�O�X�E���P�X�V�W���K�D�Y�H��
responsibility not only to its investors. A club must have responsibility to its 
fa�Q�V���D�Q�G���W�R���L�W�V���O�R�F�D�O���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\���³��(Cruyff, 2001, p. 10) 

 

Donaldson (1982), Waddock (2010) and Byerly (2013), among others, state that there exists 

a social contract between organisations and society, but for football clubs this meaning 

arguably goes deeper than for any other form of organisation. Slack and Shrives (2008) 
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advise that the social contract is what provides a company with legitimacy, without which 

companies have no relevance in society and would be allowed to die. However, football 

clubs have been shown to have almost unerring legitimacy, as Kuper and Szymanski (2014) 

indicate that very few football clubs are allowed to die �± if football clubs do enter 

administration, they are usually reborn as phoenix clubs, typically by the very supporters 

who were let down by the previous owners. Indeed, Szymanski (2012) shows that a number 

of clubs in administration have been saved from insolvency due to supporters ongoing 

spending. This leads Storm and Nielsen (2012) to comment that clubs are too big to fail �±  

not in financial terms, but in social terms. 

Literature further argues that football clubs are unlike any other organisation, rather they are 

institutions of huge social significance. Although small in economic terms, football is large in 

social, cultural and political terms (Morrow, 2021). This is summed up by Kuper and 

Szymanski (2014) who cite Liverpool fan and Liverpool University Professor Rogan Taylor 

that: 

 

�³�6�R�F�F�H�U���L�V���P�R�U�H���W�K�D�Q���M�X�V�W���D���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�����1�R���R�Q�H���K�D�V���W�K�H�L�U���D�V�K�H�V���V�F�D�W�W�H�U�H�G���G�R�Z�Q���W�K�H��
aisle at Tesco.�  ́(Taylor, R. Found in Kuper & Szymanski, 2014, p. 94) 

 

Again, this is recognised in the FLR which suggests that clubs should be treated as historic, 

cultural assets that are a vital component of many �I�D�P�L�O�L�H�V�¶ lives and cities and towns in 

which they are located, therefore they need to be protected (DCMS, 2021). 

 

1.1.1 �)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O�¶�V social contract  

So what, then, is the �µSocial Contract�¶ between football clubs and their fans? Although not 

writing in the context of a social contract, Morrow (2003) captures the essence of it: 

 

�³�,�W���V�H�H�P�V���U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H���W�R���V�X�J�J�H�V�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�U�H���L�V���D�Q���R�Q�X�V���R�Q���E�R�W�K���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G��
community to ensure that a living relationship exists between club and 
community, rather than continuing to exist simply as a consequence of history. 
Clubs must work to make their business sustainable and to develop their 
community presence. Equally, there is an onus on communities and supporters 
�W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E���´��(Morrow, 2003, p. 70) 

 

I will provisionally accept this as a definition of the social contract of football. 

�/�R�R�N�L�Q�J���D�W���0�R�U�U�R�Z�¶�V���T�X�R�W�H�����D���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I important points can be understood. Firstly, it is a 

two-way street. Fans must support their clubs in return for it being well managed and an 



Page 17 of 452 
 

�L�Q�W�H�J�U�D�O���S�D�U�W���R�I���W�K�H���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�����6�H�F�R�Q�G�O�\�����D�Q�G���P�R�V�W���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W�O�\�����³�F�O�X�E�V���P�X�V�W���Z�R�U�N���W�R���P�D�N�H��

their business �V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�H�´���± this is what is failing to happen in a number of cases such 

as those discussed above, and  this is what I argue is breaking the club -supporter 

social contract.  

For the first point, that the relationship is a two-way street, one may ask what the roles of the 

club and the fans are in the contract. The role of the fans is answered by writers such as 

Salomon Brothers (1997, found in Hamil, 1999) �Z�K�R���F�R�L�Q���W�K�H���S�K�U�D�V�H���µ�)�D�Q���(�T�X�L�W�\�¶���U�H�I�H�U�U�L�Q�J���W�R��

�W�K�H���X�Q�H�U�U�L�Q�J���µ�L�U�U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O�¶���O�R�\�D�O�W�\���W�K�D�W���I�D�Q�V���V�K�R�Z���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�V���� 

Fan equity may be described as a form of social capital that is shown through fans�¶ intense 

loyalty that Chadwick (2009) argues most other brand managers can only crave. It is shown 

not only through a traditional customer relationship such as attendance at matches and 

purchases of merchandise, but also in the deep-rooted connection that supporters have to 

their club that means that even when their team is playing poorly and/or going through a 

period of difficulty off the field, supporters remain loyal to their team. Lomax (1999) captures 

the irrationality of fan equity, comparing it to the traditional customer relationship: 

 

�³If I visit the fish monger and I was sold mouldy fish, I would cease to shop 
there. That is the customer relationship. But football supporters continue to 
invest�«���Q�R�W���M�X�V�W���W�K�H�L�U���P�R�Q�H�\ but their loyalty and commitment�«���K�R�Z�H�Y�H�U��
substandard the product may be�´��(Lomax, 1999, p. 195) 

 

Groeppel-Klein et al. (2008) have even found that in times of difficulty, fans�¶ 

allegiance may actually increase. These elements of irrationality, Salomon Brothers 

(1997, p. 9) argue, make fans a �³�«�U�H�D�O���D�V�V�H�W���R�I���W�U�X�O�\���L�Q�W�D�Q�J�L�E�O�H���Q�D�W�X�U�H�´. 

This has been acted out recently during the Covid-19 pandemic. When fans were not 

allowed in football grounds, many were offered refunds of their season tickets and 

most said no to financially support their club through the hard times (Keegan, 2021). 

Some even went further to raise additional funds to support their teams, such as 

�&�D�U�O�L�V�O�H���8�Q�L�W�H�G���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W�¶�V �µ�&�D�U�O�L�V�O�H���5�H-�8�Q�L�W�H�G�¶���F�D�P�S�D�L�J�Q���W�K�D�W���Z�D�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�H�G��

to raise money to support the club (Carlisle United, 2020) and even before the 

pandemic, fans of Macclesfield raised a hardship fund for players who were not being 

paid (Aloia, 2019). 

 

For the role of clubs, Morrow (2003) describes their part in the social �F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W���D�V���W�R���³�Z�R�U�N���W�R��

make their business sustainable and to develop their community presenc�H���´���7�D�N�L�Q�J���W�K�H��
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second part first, a club�¶s community presence is largely been addressed through 

Community Trusts: independent charitable organisations that undertake education and 

charity work �X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���X�P�E�U�H�O�O�D���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�¶�V brand (Walters & Chadwick, 2009). This work 

has been the focus of many academic scholars such as Anagnostopoulos (2013), Breitbarth 

and Harris (2008), Kolyperas et al. (2015), Hamil and Morrow (2011), McGuire (2008), and 

Walters and Chadwick (2009), and the general consensus is that football is an excellent 

vehicle for executing CSR precisely because of its social standing (Walters, 2009). This has 

led Panton (2012) to claim that Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is being used as an 

attempt to make good the social contract. 

�*�R�L�Q�J���E�D�F�N���W�R���W�K�H���L�Q�L�W�L�D�O���S�D�U�W���R�I���0�R�U�U�R�Z�¶�V���T�X�R�W�H�����K�H���U�H�I�H�U�V���W�R���F�O�X�E�V���Q�H�H�G�L�Q�J���W�R���E�H��sustainable, 

and this is where there are areas of concern. As well as there being issues at individual club 

level, there are also concerning institutionalised practices across European clubs. Many 

clubs (large and small) live on the edge of insolvency (Kuper & Szymanski, 2014; Lago et 

al., 2006). In England, Deloitte (2017) show that collectively, rarely do the top two 

professional leagues make a profit. This is supported by Franck and Lang (2014) who 

identify that over the five year period 2006 to 2011 net losses in the 734 European member 

clubs increased by 760% (found in Plumley et al., 2019) and the problem is continuing 

(Maguire & Day, 2021b). 

The problem is greatest, however, in the lower leagues (Morrow, 2016). English professional 

football is set out in a four-tier divisional system, with promotion and relegation between 

each league. Clubs in the top tier, the English Premier League (EPL), generate large 

incomes, largely due to the sale of television rights (Hamil & Walters, 2010; Maguire & Day, 

2019d; Solberg & Haugen, 2010). However, in the three professional leagues below the EPL 

(collectively known as the English Football League, EFL), there is stark reduction in TV 

revenue, resulting in clubs having much lower financial resources with which to compete. 

Plumley et al. (2020) identify an average difference of £93.5m in TV revenue between EPL 

and EFL Championship (tier two) clubs, where the average income of a Championship club 

is a mere £33m (Deloitte, 2021). There is an even wider gap to those clubs in EFL Leagues 

1 and 2 (L1, L2, tiers three and four) where the average incomes are only £8m and £4m 

respectively (Deloitte, 2021). These issues contribute to authors such as Nicholson (2019) to 

go as far as to call for the abandonment of the EPL. 

Alongside these lower revenues, there is also upward pressure on �F�O�X�E�V�¶���F�R�V�W�V���D�V they 

compete to sign more talented players to maintain and enhance competitive pace. This drive 

is described by Andreff (2007, p. 652) �D�V���D�Q���³�D�U�P�V���U�D�F�H�´ and Baxter et al. (2019, p. 31) 

report how a previous club board of a Swedish team were thought t�R���K�D�Y�H���³�O�R�V�W���W�K�H�L�U���K�H�D�G�V�´. 

This issue was compounded following the Bosman ruling in 1996 that allowed out of contract 
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players to move freely between clubs, increasing player wages further as had been the trend 

since the late 1960s when player wage caps were abolished (Small, 2016). BDO (2021) 

report that in 2021 60% of clubs do not believe that they can successfully reduce player 

wages despite the impact of Covid-19. 

Delaney (2019) quotes ex-Football Association chief executive Mark Palios that gaps have 

also appeared within leagues where some clubs have more resources that others with which 

to compete. This results is many clubs taking a gamble to fill these gaps to either gain 

promotion to a higher league or to avoid relegation to a lower one, a practice that Evans et 

al. (2022) finds in L1 and L2. This, in turn, often results in owners or other benefactors 

�V�X�S�S�O�H�P�H�Q�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�V�¶���L�Q�F�R�P�H���Z�Lth large amounts of their own money, perpetuating the 

issue and often resulting in high levels of club indebtedness. Issues in the industry often 

occur if and when owners and benefactors become unable or unwilling to support the clubs 

beyond current levels, such as was the case with Bury (Bury Times, 2022) and Derby 

County (Maguire & Day, 2021a). 

The lower league issue is highlighted by the fact that since the inaugural Premier League 

season in 1992/1993, 58 out of 59 instances of league club administration have been in the 

EFL not the EPL (Philippou & Maguire, 2022). Buraimo et al. (2006) provide further evidence 

in that of the 22 clubs that entered administration between 1999 and 2004, only five had 

ever been in the EPL. Despite this, Emery and Weed (2006) advise that there is little known 

of the management of football clubs outside of the top flight, and little has been done to 

address this since. 

Aloia (2018) further shows the issues, highlighting that between 2012 and 2018, 17 clubs 

faced winding-up petitions �± none were in the EPL, and the number increases as one looks 

down the leagues: 

 

Figure 1: Clubs that have faced winding-up petitions between 2012-13 and 2016-17,  

(Aloia, 2018) 
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Due to the issues described being so prevalent in EFL clubs rather than EPL, and a dearth 

of literature on EFL clubs creating a gap in the literature, this study focuses solely on EFL 

clubs. 

 

1.2 How accountability and transparency can help  fix the broken 

social contract  

This thesis is inspired by Morrow (2013) who argues that current annual reporting 

practices are not fit for purpose for football clubs as they primarily focus on presenting 

information to capital providers and are not aimed at the stakeholder group of most 

importance: the fans. Further, Morrow (2021) advises that conventional accounting is 

based on the idea of economic rationality, which is lacking in the football industry.  

The principles of accountability form a fundamental part of the social contact (Gray, 

Brennan, et al., 2014) and of good governance practices as Henry and Lee (2004) 

provide seven principles of good governance, listing transparency and accountability 

to stakeholders as their first two2. 

This leads to the basic premise of this thesis that having a new reporting framework 

aimed at supporters is one way that clubs can re-address the broken social contract 

of football. This agrees with the views of Porter et al. (2016) who argue that clubs can 

only achieve sustainability through embracing the values that underpin social and 

economic sustainability. 

Dillard and Vinnari (2019) argue that by reporting on the things that matter to 

stakeholders, companies start to focus their management on them and thus begin to 

change their behaviour. On this basis, football clubs will be better placed to manage 

the issues of the industry and become more sustainable. Burchell et al. (1980) state 

that: 

 

�³�:�K�D�W���L�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�H�G���I�R�U���V�K�D�S�H�V���Y�L�H�Z�V���R�I���Z�K�D�W���L�V���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W�´��(Burchell et al. (1980), 
found in Morrow, 2013, p. 305) 

 

Morrow (2013) criticises accounting and reporting in its current form, claiming that it is 

unfit for purpose for the football industry as football clubs are essentially socially 

 
2 Followed by democracy, responsibility, equity, efficiency and effectiveness 
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orientated organisations, and accounting, as agreed by Atkins et al. (2015), Dillard 

and Vinnari (2019) amongst others, is institutionalised towards providers of financial 

capital.  

Gray (2002) argues that the financial approach is just one universe of possible social 

accountings and Dillard and Vinnari (2019) go further by arguing that the current 

account�L�Q�J���V�\�V�W�H�P���S�U�R�P�R�W�H�V���µ�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J-based �D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶�����Z�K�H�U�H���F�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V���D�U�H��

held accountable for what they report under the current institutionalised system. They 

posit a vice-versa approach, �µ�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\-based �D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�¶���Z�K�H�U�H���Z�K�D�W���L�V���U�H�S�R�U�W�H�G��

is based up-on what companies should be accountable for. To do this, they embrace 

the concept of critical dialogical accountability �± the idea of holding a dialogue with 

stakeholders to ensure their needs can be met in the company reporting system. 

In this thesis I begin this approach by holding dialogue with football clubs�¶ key 

stakeholders, the supporters, with whom the social contract has been broken. An 

alternative reporting framework is developed that is aimed to meet the needs of fans. 

This thesis also considers the work of authors such as Gallhofer et al. (2015), 

Gallhofer and Haslam (2003), Brown (2009), and Dillard and Brown (2015) in the 

critical accounting field relating to the emancipatory potential of accounting and the 

need for pluristic approaches that help to democratize the acts of accounting and 

reporting and to recognise them as social and politically influenced, rather than the 

neutral and technical systems that they are often assumed to be. 

Based on this view, I argue that supporters are a marginalised and repressed group within 

the social sphere of the football industry. �,���D�U�J�X�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���G�R�P�L�Q�D�Q�F�H���R�I���F�O�X�E�V�¶�����R�Z�Q�H�U�V�¶���D�Q�G��

�O�H�D�J�X�H�V�¶���D�W�W�L�W�X�G�H�V���W�R�Z�D�U�G�V���H�F�R�Q�R�P�L�F���D�Q�G���V�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���D�F�K�L�H�Y�H�P�H�Q�W�V�����D�Q�G���G�L�V�U�H�J�D�U�G���W�R���I�D�Q�V�¶��

interests, pushes fans to the side-lines of the game.  

 

1.3 �%�X�W���K�D�Y�H�Q�¶�W���R�W�K�H�U���P�H�D�V�X�U�H�V���D�O�U�H�D�G�\���D�G�G�U�H�V�V�H�G���W�K�H���E�U�R�N�H�Q��

social contract?  

A number of measures have been taken by a number of bodies including the EFL and 

the UK Government to address the financial sustainability issues with the football 

industry. Where some progress has been made, there still remains much more that 

can be done to improve. The most significant of these actions is arguably the Profit 

and Sustainability regulations.  
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1.3.1 Profit and Sustainability regulations  

Probably the most significant attempt to make clubs financially sustainable was the 

introduction of Profit and Sustainability measures, also known as FFP regulations. 

These have had some success but have not been a silver bullet for many of English 

football�¶s woes. 

FFP regulations were introduced by UEFA in 2010 (Procházka, 2012) as an extension of its 

licencing rules (Müller et al., 2012) and were quickly adopted by both the EPL (Kelso, 2013) 

and the EFL (EFL, n.d.-a). In L1 and L2, the EFL does not implement full FFP, rather a 

Salary Cost Management Protocol (SCMP), which is a simplified version that looks at a 

club�¶s wage to revenue ratio (EFL, n.d.-a). Penalties for breaching these rules include points 

deductions, transfer embargos and, for larger clubs, bans from European competitions (BBC 

Sport, 2019c). 

FFP has two main objectives. The first is to help regain sporting competitive balance 

(Plumley et al., 2019). Evidence exists that, in the EPL at least, this may be working as 

Freestone and Manoli (2017) find a slight improvement in competitive balance and Conn 

(2020c) finds a shift in the balance from clubs with financial might to more traditional means 

of competition such as efficiency, management and innovation. Evidence for lower leagues 

remains stark. 

�7�K�H���V�H�F�R�Q�G�����D�Q�G���P�R�U�H���V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���R�E�M�H�F�W�L�Y�H���I�R�U���W�K�L�V���W�K�H�V�L�V���L�V���)�)�3�¶�V���D�L�P���W�R���S�U�R�W�H�F�W���W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O��

stability of football clubs (Plumley et al., 2019). Morrow (2013) puts this in accounting terms 

as attempting to mainta�L�Q���F�O�X�E�V�¶���J�R�L�Q�J���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q���V�W�D�W�X�V, however the most significant view in 

terms of a social contract may be that of Dimitropoulos et al. (2016) �Z�K�R���D�G�Y�L�V�H���W�K�D�W���8�(�)�$�¶�V��

intention is to change clubs�¶���P�L�Q�G-sets to a more balanced management approach �± i.e. 

addressing the financial sustainability issues. 

However, evidence suggests that not all clubs have changed their mind-set to a more 

sustainable model that would protect longevity. Though Plumley et al. (2020), Conn (2020c) 

Ahtiainen and Jarva (2020) agree that FFP has improved financial performance in top 

European leagues, Plumley et al. (2020, p. 107) conclude that in the EFL Championship the 

overall financial health of clubs is now worse than it was before FFP as many clubs are 

�³play�L�Q�J���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���5�X�V�V�L�D�Q���U�R�X�O�H�W�W�H�´, and Evans et al. (2019) identify that SCMP has had little 

impact on profitability or insolvency in lower leagues. These results support Evans et al. 

(2022)�¶�V���D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W��that clubs are still gambling for sporting success in the three year window 

that FFP allows. For example, Edwards (2018) describes how Newcastle United gambled by 

spending big on players and finished with a £90.9m loss at the end of the 2015/2016 

season, reported as a gamble that paid off �± as Newcastle were not investigated due to their 
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promotion to the EPL (Maguire & Day, 2019d). However, Birmingham City received a 10 

point penalty deduction, as their gamble did not pay off and they remained in the EFL 

Championship (Taylor, 2019). 

Broadcaster and commentator Kieran Maguire of Liverpool University further argues 

�W�K�D�W���L�W���L�V���D�Q���³�D�U�W�L�I�L�F�L�D�O���F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W�´���W�K�D�W���K�D�V���L�Q���I�D�F�W���G�R�Q�H���O�L�W�W�O�H���W�R���S�U�R�W�H�F�W���F�O�X�E�V���V�X�F�K���D�V��

Bolton, Bury and Macclesfield, and has only generated income for lawyers and 

accountants who benefit from the extra work involved in working around the rules on 

behalf of clubs (Maguire & Day, 2019b). 

One of the major factors is that FFP only constrains spending on relevant football 

expenditure, not total expenditure, so losses can still be made if clubs spend on things such 

as stadia improvements, training facilities and community work (Morrow, 2013, 2016). 

Clubs have also been suspected of imaginative financing methods to maintain a high 

level of spend on players but remain compliant. There have been questions over 

�V�R�P�H���F�O�X�E�V�¶���V�S�R�Q�V�R�U�V�K�L�S���F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�V (Corbett, 2022) and some clubs have sold their 

stadium to their owners in what is suspected to be a bid to maintain compliance with 

the rules, however may be considered to be breaking their spirit by enabling 

additional expenditure, for example Sheffield Wednesday (BBC Sport, 2019d) and 

others listed in Section 1.1. Although these clubs have not breached regulations, 

concerns have been raised over the long-term benefits, especially if the owner 

becomes unwilling or unable to support the club, but retains the stadium (Maguire & 

Day, 2019a). As such it has been equated to selling the family silver for short term 

gain (Maguire & Day, 2019c). However, this loophole has now been closed (Hughes, 

2020; Maguire & Day, 2022c). 

Further, FFP does not seem to have had �D���S�R�V�L�W�L�Y�H���L�P�S�D�F�W���R�Q���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���S�R�O�L�F�L�H�V���D�V��

Dimitropoulos et al. (2016) find that the introduction of FFP has had a negative result on the 

accounting quality of European clubs using changes in earning management, level of 

conservative accounting and changes in auditors to non-big 4 auditing companies, as 

generally accepted proxies to assessing accounting quality. All of this suggests that FFP has 

not had the desired impact of clubs having a more balanced approach to financial 

management. 

 

1.3.2 Owners and D irectors test  

One of the issues seen by Kelly et al. (2012) among others is that owners buy football 

clubs even though they have little or no connection to the club or town in which it is 
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based. Where traditionally owners were local people with an interest in the town and 

thus the club, many of today�¶s owners are not necessarily from the area (or indeed 

the country) that the club is based in, as was the case of Steve Dale at Bury FC, who 

previously did not know a football club called Bury existed (George, 2019). This is 

thought to further the disconnection between owners and fans and increase the 

chance of rogue owners (Maguire & Day, 2019d). 

T�R���V�W�H�P���W�K�H���H�I�I�H�F�W���R�I���µrogue�¶���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�����W�K�H���(�)�/���L�Q�W�U�R�G�X�F�H�G���D���µ�I�L�W���D�Q�G���S�U�R�S�H�U���S�H�U�V�R�Q�V�¶��

test, later renamed the Owners�¶ and Directors�¶ test (Hassan & Hamil, 2011). However 

the test has come under criticism. For example, Bryant (2008, found in Hamil & 

Walters, 2010), advises that Lord Triesman, ex FA Chairman, called for a stronger 

test as it does not properly fulfil the task it sets out to. Further, Maguire and Day 

(2019b) advise that the test merely checks that potential owners have no outstanding 

criminal convictions and are able to fund the club for the next two years. Maguire 

continues that as the test uses only basic objective measures and no subjectivity to 

the test, it is essentially worthless as most high net-worth individuals could easily pass 

it, irrespective of their intentions toward a club. 

 

1.3.3 Government investigations  and the Fan Led Review  

For decades, the governance of the English and European industry has been considered 

�Z�H�D�N�����'�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�G���D�V���D���µ�O�D�L�Vsez-faire�¶���D�S�S�U�R�D�F�K (Chadwick, 2009, p. 196), currently the EPL 

and the EFL effectively regulate themselves �± both are members associations and the 

members are the clubs (EFL, n.d.-c; EPL, n.d.). It has been argued by Maguire and Day 

(2022c) amongst othe�U�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�L�V���O�H�D�G�V���W�R���D���µ�W�X�U�N�H�\�V���Y�R�W�L�Q�J���I�R�U���&�K�U�L�V�W�P�D�V�¶���D�S�S�U�R�D�F�K���D�Q�G��

therefore they are unlikely to vote for anything that would adversely affect them, even if in 

the interest of supporters. Though the Football Association (FA) is technically the governing 

body of English football, they have been criticised for having poor governance and 

communication (Michie & Oughton, 2005b), being weak in the governance of the EPL and 

EFL (King, 2022), �D�F�F�X�V�H�G���R�I���E�H�L�Q�J���D���³�S�D�Z�Q���R�I���W�K�H���3�U�H�P�L�H�U���/�H�D�J�X�H�´��(Evans, 2022, para. 5) 

and have opposed the introduction of an independent regulator (Lawton, 2022). The FA 

rarely involve themselves with EPL or EFL professional leagues, leaving them to manage 

themselves. It has been argued by many such as Maguire and Day (2020) that these 

approaches exacerbate the issues in the football industry. 

As a result, over the past few decades there have been multiple Government inquiries and 

reports into the English football industry that have called for improvements to the 

governance of the game. These include the Football Task Force of 1997 (Brown, 1999), an 
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All Party Parliamentary Football Group 2009 Report (García & Welford, 2015) reports by 

DCMS in 2011 and 2013 (DCMS 2011, 2013, found in García & Welford, 2015), and an 

�µ�(�[�S�H�U�W���:�R�U�N�L�Q�J���*�U�R�X�S���R�Q���)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U���2�Z�Q�H�U�V�K�L�S���D�Q�G���(�Q�J�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W�¶���L�Q���2�F�W�R�E�H�U���������� 

(DCMS, 2014) amongst others. 

However, these have not been particularly effective and have had little impact on the 

workings and governance of the industry. For example, �L�Q���W�K�H���Z�D�N�H���R�I���%�X�U�\�¶�V���G�H�P�L�V�H�����D��

DCMS review made only demands and recommendations (Dutton, 2019) but stopped short 

of intervening in the governance of the sport despite the review finding the EFL partially to 

�E�O�D�P�H���I�R�U���D���O�D�F�N���R�I���L�Q�W�H�U�Y�H�Q�W�L�R�Q���L�Q�W�R���%�X�U�\�¶�V���L�V�V�X�H�V��(Dutton, 2019). 

The most recent Government review is the 2021 Fan Led Review (FLR) of Football 

Governance and following White Paper on football governance. These have been applauded 

by many including the FSA (2021) and Parmenter (2021), having made many 

recommendations to improve football governance across key categories including the 

creation of an independent regulator; more equitable financial distribution across all leagues; 

an improved owners�¶ and directors�¶ test; improved supporter engagement; fan�V�¶���V�K�D�G�R�Z��

boards; Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) and player welfare reforms. Answering long 

standing calls for an independent regulator (Hamil, 1999; Roan & Scott, 2020), the FLR and 

White Paper are seen to be the most promising Government responses to the issues of the 

football industry to date as the Government have agreed to implement its recommendations 

(MacInnes, 2022) and the commitment to an independent regulator was included in the 2022 

Queen�¶s speech (FSA, 2022b). 

However there have been calls for the government to move faster in its implementation 

(FSA, 2022a) amid �I�H�D�U�V���W�K�D�W���L�W���P�D�\���E�H���µ�N�L�F�N�H�G���L�Q�W�R���W�K�H���O�R�Q�J���J�U�D�V�V�¶��(Gardner, 2022; Maguire 

& Day, 2022c) and lobbied against by powers such as the EPL, as some have already 

criticised it, for example Leeds CEO Angus Kinnear described the recommendations as 

�µ�0�D�R�L�V�W�¶�� 

Additionally, I have previously criticised the FLR for not having enough focus on 

transparency and accountability (Middling, 2021). Though it does advise that clubs 

improve their reporting practices, it recommends the approach of Plymouth Argyle, 

who, although producing arguably one of the best reports in the EFL, still follow the 

institutionalised approach of current practice and do not cover all of the factors 

identified in this thesis. 

 



Page 26 of 452 
 

1.3.4 The FSA 

The Football Supporters Association (FSA) is a national supporter representing body in 

England. It formed in 2018 from two former national bodies, Supporters Direct (SD) and the 

Football Supporters Federation (FSF) which date back to 2000 and 2002 respectively. It 

represents many Supporters Trusts, other supporter organisations and individuals across the 

country. The FSA campaigns for fans�¶ rights in football, including improving governance and 

engagement practices. It has had much success including being a primary contributor to the 

FLR. It has the respect of the current football authorities and continues to be the foremost 

representative body of supporters nationwide. The FSA are partners and participants in this 

project. 

 

1.3.5 Pressure g roups  

The FLR has also been influenced by a number of pressure groups that have formed over 

the last five years or so. These include Fair Game and Save Our Beautiful Game. Fair Game 

is a collective of English clubs from the EFL and Non-League and is led by AFC 

�:�L�P�E�O�H�G�R�Q�¶�V���'�R�Q�V���7�U�X�V�W���E�R�D�U�G���P�H�P�E�H�U���1�L�D�O�O���&�R�X�S�H�U�����Z�K�R�V�H���P�D�L�Q���I�R�F�X�V���L�V���R�Q���D���I�D�L�U�H�U��

redistribution of income from the EPL to lower leagues using their Sustainability Index �± a 

distribution method based on multiple social, governance and financial factors (Fair Game, 

2021a). Save Our Beautiful Game are fronted by a number of famous ex-sports stars and 

politicians such as ex-England defender Gary Neville, Olympic gold medallist Denise Lewis, 

Mayor of Greater Manchester Andy Burnham and former FA and Manchester City chairman 

David Bernstein and has the specific aim of lobbying for an independent regulator. Both 

groups have made progress and influence government thinking and the FLR. 

 

1.3.6 Other forms of accountability in football  

Efforts have been made in other areas to enact accountability through dialogue in the 

relationship between clubs and fans. For example the EFL stipulates that two Fans Forums 

�P�X�V�W���E�H���K�H�O�G���H�D�F�K���\�H�D�U���W�R���G�L�V�F�X�V�V���³�V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���L�V�V�X�H�V���U�H�O�D�W�L�Q�J���W�R���W�K�H���&�O�X�E�´��(EFL, n.d.-b, 

section 118.1) and leagues have introduced the role of club Supporter Liaison Officers (SLO) 

(Stott et al., 2020), sometimes a paid position, sometimes voluntary, the idea behind this is 

to help clubs engage with their fan base and communities by being a point of contact, 

�G�H�O�L�Y�H�U�L�Q�J���F�O�X�E�V�¶���S�R�O�L�F�\���R�Q���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���³so far as that policy concerns supporters�´���D�Q�G���³to 

�O�L�D�L�V�H���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�¶�V���P�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���Z�L�W�K���U�H�J�D�U�G���W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U���L�V�V�X�H�V�´��(EFL, n.d.-d). 
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However, these attempts may be criticised as they are open to interpretation and at the 

discretion of clubs as to what the interpretation is. For example, the interpretation of 

�³�V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���L�V�V�X�H�V���U�H�O�D�W�L�Q�J���W�R���W�K�H���&�O�X�E�´���D�Q�G���³�V�R���I�D�U���D�V���W�K�D�W���S�R�O�L�F�\���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�V���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�´���P�D�\��

vary between interested actors �± supporters may be more likely to see issues affecting them 

where an owner or director may not. 

Further, some academics have investigated how clubs use social media as an expression of 

fan engagement (Lardo et al., 2017; Parganas et al., 2017), however rather than being seen 

as an attempt at accountability, this is considered more a public relations or revenue 

generating activity (Parganas et al., 2017). 

 

1.3.7 Section  summary  

Though all the above are helping to improve the governance and financial management of 

football clubs, as with ordinary economic entities where organisations and society have not 

�³�D�G�H�T�X�D�W�H�O�\���U�H�V�S�R�Q�G�H�G�´���W�R���G�U�D�P�D�W�L�F���I�D�L�O�X�U�H�V such as the financial crash of 2008, so too 

football clubs and authorities have not adequately responded to significant failures in the 

football world (Baudot et al., 2020, p. 603). It may be argued, however that societies 

response is the Fan Led Review and White Paper. However, there is little in the way of focus 

on accountability and transparency. The FLR and White Paper focus mainly on resolving 

issues through an independent regulator and club level initiatives such as supporter shadow 

�E�R�D�U�G�V�����+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����W�K�H�V�H���P�D�\���E�H���D�U�J�X�H�G���W�R���E�H���µ�E�H�K�L�Q�G���F�O�R�V�H�G���G�R�R�U�¶���V�R�O�X�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G��it only partly 

advise the use of transparency and accountability as a small part of the solution. They also 

perpetuate current, institutionalised reporting practices, and do not resolve the fundamental 

issue of current practice being focused at capital providers, not supporters. 

 

1.4 Relevance of thesis  

The thesis may be seen as highly relevant to the governance and reporting of the football 

industry at the time of writing. The eyes of the football world are on the governance of the 

sport due to the recent FLR and this thesis may be able to provide solutions for a largely 

underdeveloped area within it, being the accountability and transparency of clubs. 

Additionally, there has been a greater impetus from fans to understand more about their 

club�¶s finances and other operations. This can be seen in the popularity of The Price of 

Football podcast hosted by comedian Kevin Day and Liverpool University industry analysist 

and Senior Teacher Kieran Maguire, which has produced more than 250 episodes and 

exceeded three million downloads over the past four years (Maguire & Day, 2022c). 



Page 28 of 452 
 

Additionally, academic interest in football governance is increasing, with papers from authors 

such as García & Welford, (2015) which identifies an increase in supporter interest in club 

and industry governance, and interest in football accounting from authors such as Plumley, 

et al. (2020) and Evans (2019; 2022). Some universities beginning to develop specific areas 

of excellence in this area, such as Liverpool, Birkbeck and Sheffield Hallam. 

 

1.5 Aims of this t hesis  

The main aim of this thesis is captured within the title: �µ�$�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���I�R�U���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V����

Developing a �Q�H�Z���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U���I�R�F�X�V�H�G���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���I�U�D�P�H�Z�R�U�N���I�R�U���W�K�H���(�Q�J�O�L�V�K���)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���/�H�D�J�X�H�¶�� 

To overcome the issue of the institutionalised focus of current reporting practices to the need 

of capital providers, in this thesis I aim to develop a reporting framework specifically aimed at 

supporter needs.  

This can be broken down into four sub-aims: 

1. To identify the accountability needs of engaged supporters. 

2. To establish whether current annual reporting practices meet the accountability 

needs of engaged supporters. 

3. To establish what a supporter focused annual reporting framework may look like. 

4. To construct a concept annual report for English Football League clubs. 

 

These aims are carried out through the process of the thesis and reviewed in Chapter 5: 

Discussion and Conclusion. 

 

1.6 Structure of thesis  

The thesis is split into five chapters: 1. Introduction, context and argument, 2. Literature and 

Theoretical Lens, 3. Methodology, 4. Findings, and 5. Discussion and Conclusion. 

1. Introduction, context and  argument:  As you have seen, this chapter has introduced the 

thesis, provided the context and justification, and made an argument for the need for a 

supporter focused reporting framework for the English football industry.  

2. Literature and t heoretical lens: This chapter considers relevant literature from a wide 

variety of sources and presents the theoretical lens of accountability within a social contract. 

Its purpose is to further the argument of the need for a supporter focused reporting 

framework, not create a library (Rudestam & Newton, 2014). Literature was chosen from 

areas such as accountability, accounting, corporate governance, sociology, sports 
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economics, sports management and the popular press. This is necessary due to a dearth of 

literature directly related to football club accounting and reporting. 

3. Methodology:  This chapter covers and justifies the research philosophy, study design, 

and data analysis. The philosophy is social constructionism. The study is designed using a 

qualitative, inductive approach utilising unstructured interviews followed by 25 focus groups 

(FGs) of the same key informants for a deep dive into the development of a new framework. 

Participants are key informants as they are representatives of five supporter trusts and the 

FSA. Some participants have an accounting background, others do not, in order to maintain 

a balance of accounting expertise and lay person understanding. Analysis was carried out 

using King�¶s Template Analysis and NVivo. The template was constructed using initial 

findings from the unstructured interviews. 

4. Findings:  This chapter presents the findings from the unstructured interviews and FGs. 

Findings are presented using relevant quotes from participants. The chapter is structured 

around an initial diagram of findings that includes justification of the new framework, review 

of current practice and the development of a new reporting framework.  

5. Discussion and c onclusion:  The aim of this chapter is to compare the results from the 

Findings to the literature considered in Chapter 2 and review the aims as set out in Chapter 

1. It concludes the need for a reporting framework on the basis of arguments made. A 

detailed outline of the recommended framework is presented, along with a concept report in 

Appendix 1, being the contribution to practice, the main focus of a DBA. It also presents a 

contribution to knowledge in the form of an understanding of accountability within the social 

contract between football clubs, owners and directors and supporters. Finally, implications 

for practice and future research are considered. 
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2. Literature and theoretical l ens 

This chapter discusses literature considered in relation to the thesis. As there is limited 

literature directly related to the topic of accountability and reporting in the football industry, 

the review consists of relevant literature from a combination of areas such as accountability, 

social and critical accounting, corporate governance, sociology, sports economics, sports 

management and the popular press. 

The chapter is structured into five sections that allow for the development of understanding 

of the key question: 

 

�x Part 1:  Defining  key concepts  �± football clubs and supporters . To understand 

the background and nature of football clubs and supporters, the questions are asked 

�µ�Z�K�D�W���L�V��(and is not) a football club?�¶ and �µ�Z�K�D�W���L�V���D���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U?�¶ 

�x Part 2: The relationship between football supporters and their clubs: A type of 

social contract. This section looks at the relationship between football clubs and 

fans and argues that this forms a social contract �± this is the theoretical lens of the 

thesis. 

�x Part 3: Accountability  and transparency . This section explores the nature of 

accountability and transparency. It looks at where a foot�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���O�L�H�V 

to contextualise and understand the need for a new reporting framework. 

�x Part 4: Accounting and reporting.  This section reviews social and critical 

accounting literature in relation to this project and gains an understanding of how 

these lenses can inform this research.  

�x Part 5:  What should be reported?  This section considers appropriate disclosures 

and metrics from academic literature and other relevant sources that may be useful 

to inform a new reporting framework. 

 

The literature review follows the views of Rudestam and Newton (2014) that the purpose of a 

literature review is to 

 

�³�«�E�X�L�O�G���D�Q���D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W���Q�R�W���D���O�L�E�U�D�U�\�´ (Rudestam & Newton, 2014, p. 66) 

 

The argument built, as discussed in Chapter 1, is that there exists a social contract between 

�D���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G���L�W�V���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���D�Q�G���W�K�L�V���I�R�U�P�V���W�K�H���E�D�V�L�V���R�I���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���U�L�J�K�W�V���W�R��
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accountability from clubs, and this accountability should be exercised through a new 

supporter focused reporting framework that will help to prevent the marginalisation of fans. 

 

Figure 2 explains the flow and arguments created in this literature review. In Part 1, I begin 

by arguing that clubs are special businesses (Box 1 in Figure 2) for a variety of reasons, but 

most importantly they are of huge cultural significance as they are a key part of their 

communities that leads them to be social organisations in substance, which is counter to 

their legal form. Understanding this allows us to view a club, and its accountability as being 

different to traditional businesses and thus a more socially focused form of reporting can be 

justified. 

Following on, I deepen this argument by arguing that fans are special stakeholders (Box 2). 

Fans hold a unique kind of loyalty and emotional investment in their clubs which is familial, 

socially, and geographically located. The investment is economically irrational and thus fans 

are not like traditional customers. Understanding this allows us to see that supporters require 

greater transparency and accountability than would be expected for tr�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�H�V�¶��

customers. In recent decades, supporters have become more politically active, demanding 

more say in the governance of their clubs. 

In Part 2 of the literature review, I draw on the above to argue that the relationship between 

clubs and supporters forms a unique social contract (Box 3) with responsibilities on both 

sides, most significant of which is the responsibility of clubs and owners to manage their 

business well and involve supporters. I argue that club owners are breaking the social 

contract due to putting self-interest above the needs of fans, being drawn into overspending 

on player wages and by leaving fans out of decision-making practices (Box 4).  

Box 5 represents the next section in which I explain that a common argument in the literature 

regarding the social contract between traditional businesses and communities within society 

is legitimacy. However, I argue that this argument is problematic for football clubs as the 

unerring, irrational loyalty of fans to their clubs means that fans will never exit the 

relationship in times of difficulty, as an economically rational stakeholder would do. Thus, 

football clubs enjoy greater, almost infinite, legitimacy than do traditional organisations. I 

then ask if club owners require legitimacy, and I argue that �W�K�H�\���G�R�Q�¶�W due to the reflected 

legitimacy of the club. This may actually aid owners in being shameless in the relationship 

and pursuit of self-interest, because they can. As fans are so passionate about their club, 

they may protest against the owner, but they would not completely walk away. This provides 

the owners and clubs with greater power within the social contract than would be the case 

for most organisations and offers the opportunity for power to be abused.
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Figure 2: Flow of arguments made in the Literature Review 
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Part 3 of the literature then moves on to discuss how accountability, transparency, 

accounting and reporting can help to aid the fixing of the broken social contract by providing 

accountability (Box 6). 

Justification for this is then provided on the basis of morals, and power imbalances, as 

shown in Box 7. Box 8 represents a discussion of transparency and accountability literature 

largely pulling on the work of social accounting authors such as Rob Gray, who presents a 

simple model of accountability that is useful in understanding how accountability and 

transparency fit into the social contract between clubs and supporters.  

Moving on to Part 4, Box 9 represents the next section which, following the reflection on 

accountability and transparency, looks more specifically at the systems of accounting and 

reporting that can be utilised. A discussion of relevant social and critical accounting literature 

is undertaken, pulling largely on the works of emancipatory accounting by Gallhofer and 

Haslam and others, and dialogic accounting by Brown and Dillard and others (Box 11). 

Using this I argue that accounting can be used in an emancipatory way to free supporters 

from the repression of some club owners who marginalise them by not involving them in the 

decision-making practices of their beloved clubs, which is underpinned by institutional 

governance that does not put supporters at the heart of the game. This is followed by a look 

at a few football-accounting specific papers that are useful in underpinning, contextualising 

and developing the arguments made within this thesis. 

Next, as shown by Box 12, I explain the benefits of better accountability, transparency and 

accounting practices, key of which is improvements in organisational governance and 

behaviour �± nobody likes reporting what makes them look bad. This culminates in the 

argument for a supporter focused reporting framework for the football industry (Box 13) 

Box 14 moves on to Part 5 of the review which considers literature that helps us to 

understand what content may be useful in the framework �± this pulls on literature from 

governance, finance, sporting and social elements. 
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2.1 Part 1 �± Defining key concepts �± football clubs and  supporters   

To answer the question of what a football club should formally and publicly report, this 

review begins by asking �µwhat is a football club�"�¶ and �µwhat is a football supporter�"�¶ By 

answering these questions, we may begin to understand why a football club should provide 

social accountability and transparency and why supporters require it, and the social and 

emancipatory potential that this could have. 

 

2.1.1 What is  (and is not ) a football club?  

It is actually rather difficult to define what a football club is, however, for a variety of reasons, 

they are not like any other form of business. It is simple to give a legal answer as to what a 

club is, as almost all English clubs are private limited companies (Farquhar et al., 2005; 

Margalit, 2008; Morrow, 2013). Therefore they operate under the same governance and 

legal frameworks as all other private limited companies of a similar size (Wilson & 

Anagnostopoulos, 2017), i.e. the Companies Act 2006. However, the characteristics of 

traditional private limited companies differ considerably to those of a football club (Morrow, 

2003, 2013; Wilson & Anagnostopoulos, 2017). 

Academic literature identifies a number of differences between traditional businesses and 

sporting entities such as football clubs. Smith and Stewart (2010) identify a number of 

characteristics for all sports organisations, but the below relates to football in particular, of 

which some are identified by Smith and Stewart (2010). Individually, any of these may not be 

thought enough to conclude that football clubs are significantly different to any other 

organisation, but collectively, they sum to that very conclusion: 

Football clubs: 

1. do not aim to be profit maximising 

2. failed on stock markets 

3. rely on competition to exist 

4. and leagues are effectively monopolies 

5. have greater social and cultural significance than traditional businesses 

6. legal status does not match their substance 

7. have multiple institutional logics 

8. have non-tradit�L�R�Q�D�O���µ�F�X�V�W�R�P�H�U�V�¶�����F�R�Y�H�U�H�G���L�Q��Section 2.1.2 �± What is a supporter?) 

 

This list is not exhaustive, rather it represents the main differences identified in academic 

literature. 
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   Clubs do not aim to be profit maximising  

Perhaps the most convincing argument that football clubs are not like traditional businesses 

is that their number one aim is not to make profit, but to win games and silverware (Garcia-

del-Barrio & Szymanski, 2009; Kelly et al., 2012; Sloane, 1971). 

The most seminal study into the economics of English football, Sloane (1971), concludes 

�W�K�D�W���V�S�R�U�W�V���W�H�D�P�V���D�U�H���³�X�W�L�O�L�W�\���P�D�[�L�P�L�]�H�U�V�´���D�Q�G���Z�L�Q�Q�L�Q�J���L�V���W�K�H���P�D�L�Q���X�W�L�O�L�W�\���R�I���F�O�X�E�V�����Z�L�Q 

maximisation). Sloane continues that, financially, clubs seek only to break even, meaning 

that profit is not as important an aim as winning. This has been supported by more recent 

studies, most notably Garcia-del-Barrio and Szymanski (2009). 

Gerrard (2005) and Solberg and Haugen (2010) posit that as European clubs are win 

maximizers, the result is almost certain financial loss. As playing talent is the driver of on 

field success, Solberg and Haugen (2010) argue that, due to the diminishing returns of 

investing in more and more talent, a profit maximising club will not invest in playing talent 

beyond the point where marginal cost equals marginal revenue. However, win maximising 

clubs are more aggressive in the labour market and will continue to invest beyond this point 

in an attempt to secure sporting victory. As other teams will pursue the same strategy, the 

clubs willing to invest the most and potentially accept the greatest losses will likely be the 

ones to win silverware (Solberg & Haugen, 2010).  

Garcia-del-Barrio and Szymanski (2009) speculate that profit maximising behaviour in an 

otherwise win maximising environment will lead to relegation and thus, paradoxically, reduce 

revenue and profits. This is supported by Solberg and Haugen (2010) when looking at the 

SPL in the 2000/01 season where the only club to make a profit was St Mirren, who finished 

bottom and were relegated. More recently, Hull City experienced the same fate in the same 

circumstances, having been relegated from the Championship to L1 in 2020 (Maguire & Day, 

2021b). 

The competition to sign better players has been described by Rosen and Sanderson (2001) 

and Andreff (2007, p. 652) �D�V���D�Q���³arms race�´��as it is a significant driver in leaving many 

clubs operating on the brink of insolvency, only surviving because they are irrationally 

financed by club owners who view them largely as trophy assets (Kuper & Szymanski, 

2014). 

 

   Clubs failed  on the stock markets  

Further evidence that football clubs do not act like traditional businesses was shown when 

they attempted to become Public Limited Companies (PLCs). In the 1990s and 2000s clubs 



Page 36 of 452 
 

flocked to join the stock market to raise capital for investment in stadia and players (Conn, 

2001; Kuper & Szymanski, 2014; Morrow, 1999, 2003; Renneboog & Vanbrabant, 2000). 

This gave opportunity for academics to analyse the performance of clubs against a more 

conventional economic variable �± share price. Studies were carried out looking at the effect 

on share price of winning and losing football matches (Amir & Livne, 2005; Bell et al., 2013) 

and player and manager changes (Hickman et al., 2008) amongst many others. 

Some studies showed promise of the floatation of football clubs. Terrien et al. (2017) cite 

Andreff (2014) speculating that European clubs acquiring a stock exchange listing should be 

assumed to be profit oriented. This is supported by Wilson et al. (2013) in that clubs on the 

stock market returned better financial health than those privately owned.  

However, for football clubs, the stock market largely became a dead end. By 2010 only two 

English clubs were still listed on a stock exchange �± Manchester United and Arsenal (Kuper 

& Szymanski, 2014) with Arsenal re-entering private ownership in 2018 (Wilson, 2018). The 

decrease is reported to be a result of football shares being sold largely to fans as a form of 

memorabilia as opposed to being seen as opportunities by serious investors (Kuper & 

Szymanski, 2014). 

 

   Clubs rely on competition to exist  

�)�R�U���W�K�H���F�R�U�H���S�U�R�G�X�F�W���R�I���D���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���µ�P�D�W�F�K�¶���W�R���H�[�L�V�W�����W�K�H�U�H���Qeeds to be two teams and for a 

league, multiple teams (Dobson & Goddard, 2001; Farquhar et al., 2005; Rottenberg, 1956) 

therefore the existence of one sporting entity relies on the existence of others, as summed 

up in the seminal piece of sports economic academic literature by Rottenberg (1956) who 

uses an analogy of a shoe seller to express that if one party is able to capture the entire 

market, then they will be a clear economic winner. However, for sport no team can be 

successful, economically or otherwise, unless sporting competitors also thrive. The 

commercial implications of this arrangement are further summed up by Farquhar et al. 

(2005, p. 337) who argue that clubs cannot generate revenue without competitors to play 

with.  

This argument �L�V���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���L�G�H�D���R�I���µ�F�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�L�Y�H���E�D�O�D�Q�F�H�¶���D�V���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�H�G���E�\���D�X�W�K�R�U�V��

such as Forrest and Simmons (2002) and Kezenne (2014) which argues that teams need 

rivals to be as competitive as possible for there to be an uncertainty of outcome to enhance 

spectator interest, attendance and viewership as this is thought to increase revenues 

(Forrest & Simmons, 2002; Neale, 1964). However this theory is more recently debated by 
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authors such as Buraimo and Simmons (2008) who find that EPL spectators actually prefer 

to see their team win handsomely.  

 

   Clubs and leagues are e ffective ly monopolies  

Another seminal paper by Neale (1964) observes that sporting leagues are monopolies. He 

explains that the singularity of one league structure makes it a monopoly in the economic 

sense, as supporters do not have an alternative product. Indeed, the FLR sets out 

recommendations specifically to avoid the monopolisation of leagues (DCMS, 2021). 

Each team may also be seen as a monopoly. Flynn and Gilbert (2001) argue that although 

clubs compete in a sporting sense, they do not compete economically, which is due to fan 

allegiances being emotionally based, not economically (Hamil, 1999). Although a small 

minority of supporters may change their allegiance due to glory hunting3 (Cleland, 2010; 

Giulianotti, 2002), and others may even have a second team (Hornby, 1992), most football 

supporters have allegiance to the same team for their whole life due to geographic (Russell, 

2004) and family and emotional (Malcolm et al., 2000) ties. This was supported by Smith and 

LeJeune (1998) who found that 83% of Premier League fans have followed their team their 

whole life. We may postulate that this number may be even higher for lower league clubs as 

the phenomenon of glory hunting will be largely removed (Hamil, 1999). 

Hamil (1999) further argues that in traditional industries, failing companies would withdraw 

from the market and their customers be adopted by surviving companies or bigger, more 

successful companies would purchase the smaller companies �± but in football, neither of 

these occur. For example, local competition translates into arguably the most popular game 

of a season for many fans: the local derby. Hamil (1999) continues that if the local rival were 

to fail, it is far from likely that their fans would move to the other side, and perhaps prefer not 

to support a team than support one that has held such rival feelings for such a long time. 

 

   Clubs have great er social and cultural s ignificance  than 

traditional businesses  

Nash (2000, p. 57) �G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�V���V�S�R�U�W���D�V���E�H�L�Q�J���³�«�H�F�R�Q�R�P�L�F���L�Q���E�D�V�L�V���E�X�W���V�R�F�L�D�O���L�Q���Q�D�W�X�U�H�´����

which highlights the need for sound financial management but also the social significance. 

 
3 �*�O�R�U�\���K�X�Q�W�H�U���L�V���D���F�R�O�O�R�T�X�L�D�O���W�H�U�P���X�V�H�G���I�R�U���³�6�R�P�H�R�Q�H���Z�K�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�V���W�K�H���P�R�V�W���V�X�F�F�H�V�V�I�X�O���F�O�X�E�V���D�W���W�K�H���W�L�P�H�´���D�Q�G���P�D�\���K�D�Y�H���³�O�L�W�W�O�H��

knowledge of the club's �W�U�X�H���K�L�V�W�R�U�\�����D�Q�G���>�P�D�\���K�D�Y�H�@���Q�H�Y�H�U���E�H�H�Q���W�R���D���J�D�P�H�´�����X�U�E�D�Q�G�L�F�W�L�R�Q�D�U�\���F�R�P���Q���G���� 
urbandictionary.com. (n.d.). urbandictionary.com, Definition: Glory Hunter. urbandictionary.com. Retrieved 01/06/2019, 
from https://www.urbandictionary.com/define.php?term=glory%20hunter  
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Almost all modern English clubs began as social organisations, usually from other social 

institutions (Morrow, 2003). Some grew out of church associations, such as Wolverhampton 

Wanderers, Everton and Aston Villa (Mill, 2005). Some clubs originated as works teams, 

such as Stoke City and Manchester United (Kuper & Szymanski, 2014). Other clubs were 

formed from existing sports clubs, often cricket, such as Sheffield Wednesday and Preston 

North End (Mill, 2005). 

�'�H�V�S�L�W�H���D���V�K�L�I�W���L�Q���O�H�J�D�O���V�W�D�W�X�V���I�U�R�P���µ�F�O�X�E�¶���W�R���S�U�L�Y�D�W�H���O�L�P�L�W�H�G���F�R�P�S�D�Q�\���Y�H�U�\���H�D�U�O�\���R�Q���L�Q���W�K�H��

development of the beautiful game, ironically to provide financial security (Buraimo et al., 

2006), the social nature of football clubs remains important and is described by Hamil et al. 

(1999) as a national cultural asset. Inglis (1991) also argues the cultural significance of clubs 

by comparing them to other important social assets such as public libraries, town halls and 

law courts and identifies that they are used by more people. This can be linked to writings 

that find a topographical (love of the place) association with fans to their club�¶s stadiums, 

such as Bale (2000) and Nicholson (2019) who argues that: 

 

�³�)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���D���V�R�U�W���R�I���V�H�F�X�O�D�U���K�R�O�\���S�O�D�F�H�����)�H�Z�����L�I���D�Q�\���F�D�Q���F�O�D�L�P���W�R���K�D�Y�H���K�D�G���V�R��
much hope invested in them, nor have shattered so many dreams. Few can claim to 
draw generations of the same family to them to worship at the same alter. These are 
not normal places and they belong to the people in a way that little else in our society 
�G�R�H�V�´��(Nicholson, 2019, p. 15) 

 

The following quote from the recent FLR sums up the social and cultural argument: 

 

�³Football clubs also sit at the heart of their communities and are more than just a 
business. They are central to local identity and woven into the fabric of community 
life. The rich history surrounding football clubs is invaluable to their fans, with many 
clubs having existed for over one hundred years. They play a huge and often 
invisible role in unifying communities across generations, race, class and gender. 
They are a source of pride, and often in hard times comfort as well as practical 
assistance. In many places they are also a crucial part of the local economy�´��(DCMS, 
2021, p. 24).  

 

   �&�O�X�E�V�¶���Oegal status does not  match  their substance  

The differences between football clubs and traditional businesses, particularly the level of 

social interest and attachment, have led a number of academics to consider alternative 

forms of legal status for football clubs. Franck (2010), Kelly et al. (2012) and Margalit (2008) 

all identify that private limited company is not the ideal status for football clubs. It is 

interesting to note that these authors are looking for a more social status for football clubs 
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when football clubs themselves began as social clubs and only became private limited 

companies to reduce financial risk (Buraimo et al., 2006).  

Adapting the accounting rule of substance over form, if we accept the premise that the social 

substance of a football clubs does not reflect the legal form of a private limited company, we 

then need to ask what a football club actually is in substance. 

Kay et al. (2016) cite Pearce and Kay (2003) who offer a continuum of understanding 

of the position of different types of organisations in the economy. They offer a three 

system approach, with an additional �V�S�O�L�W���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���µ�P�D�U�N�H�W���G�U�L�Y�H�Q�¶���R�U���µ�W�U�D�G�L�Q�J�¶, and 

�µ�S�O�D�Q�Q�H�G���H�F�R�Q�R�P�\�¶���R�U���µnon-�W�U�D�G�L�Q�J�¶���D�Q�G also include a local to national continuum. 

Their First System is Private or Profit Orientated. We have already stated that football 

clubs are not usually profit orientated and are social in nature, so would arguably not 

fall under this heading. Their Second System is Public Services or Planned Production. 

Although Jackson and Maltby (2004) draw parallels between football clubs and public 

institutions, and at times football clubs receive some money from public sources (for 

such things as legislative change to stadiums on safety grounds (Gibson, 2009) or the 

�G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�P�H�Q�W���R�I���V�R�F�L�D�O�O�\���G�H�V�L�U�D�E�O�H���R�X�W�F�R�P�H�V���V�X�F�K���D�V���W�K�H���G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�P�H�Q�W���R�I���Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V��

football (DCMS & Huddleston, 2021)), even the most liberal of interpretations would be 

hard pushed to classify football clubs as public entities. 

�7�K�L�V���O�H�D�Y�H�V���W�K�H���7�K�L�U�G���6�\�V�W�H�P�����Z�K�L�F�K���L�V���V�H�H�Q���D�V���µ�6�H�O�I���+�H�O�S�����0�X�W�X�D�O���R�U���6�R�F�L�D�O���3�X�U�S�R�V�H�¶����

Given the already mentioned social importance of clubs, and without side-tracking to a 

discussion regarding mutually owned clubs of which there are a few in the EFL, English 

�)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���/�H�D�J�X�H���F�O�X�E�V���P�D�\���E�H���D�U�J�X�H�G���W�R���E�H�V�W���I�L�W���D�V���H�L�W�K�H�U���µ�6�H�O�I���+�H�O�S�¶���R�U���µSocial 

�3�X�U�S�R�V�H�¶�����Z�K�L�F�K���Z�R�X�O�G���D�O�V�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W�V���W�K�D�W��football clubs are more akin to not-

for profit organisations (Gammelsæter, 2010; Morrow, 2013). 

Pearce and Kay (2003) �D�O�V�R���G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H���µ�F�O�X�E�V�¶���R�Q���W�K�H���U�L�J�K�W���K�D�Q�G���V�L�G�H���R�I���W�K�H�L�U���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�X�P����

being non-profit orientated. However, thi�V���V�H�F�W�L�R�Q���L�V���F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�H�G���µ�Y�R�O�X�Q�W�D�U�\��

�R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�V�¶�����Z�K�L�F�K���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���Q�R�W�����V�R���Whis most likely considers entities such 

as local sports and social clubs.  

Regarding the geographic continuum, EFL clubs operate on a local scale. Despite 

competing at a national level, the vast majority of their fan base will be from the local 

area and they rarely, if ever, compete at European level, such is the possibility for EPL 

clubs.  

Although English clubs do not have a strong culture of supporter ownership, a small minority 

of lower league clubs such as Exeter City (Exeter City FC, n.d.) are supporter (mutually) 
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owned. The limits of this model have, however, been shown by clubs such as Wycombe 

Wanderers who sold their fan-owned club so as to obtain more capital and promotion from 

L1 to the Championship (BBC Sport, 2020b) which supporters are often unable to find. 

 

 

Figure 3 �± The three systems of the economy  

(Pearce & Kay, 2003), found in (Kay et al., 2016) 
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German and some other European countries�¶ football associations such as Sweden operate 

more stakeholder orientated governance mechanisms for clubs �± clubs are members�¶ 

organisations where the supporters are the members and there are clear rules that members 

must retain 50% + 1 of the voting rights (Bauers et al., 2020; Baxter et al., 2019). In Sweden, 

clubs must also avoid negative equity for fear of losing their licence and being forced into 

relegation to a lower league (Baxter et al., 2019). However, it is unlikely that this would be 

adopted in the UK due to the differences in capitalism between the cultures �± the German 

and Swedish �S�R�O�L�W�L�F�D�O���L�G�H�R�O�R�J�\���P�L�J�K�W���E�H���V�D�L�G���W�R���I�R�O�O�R�Z���D���P�R�U�H���µ�Z�H�O�I�D�U�H���F�D�S�L�W�D�O�L�V�P�¶���V�\�V�W�H�P�����D�V��

�R�S�S�R�V�H�G���W�R���W�K�H���8�.�¶�V���$�Q�J�O�R-American model that is much more shareholder wealth focused 

(Collison et al., 2010; Dore, 2000). 

Adams et al. (2017) offers a theoretical understanding based on boundary object 

theory. They conceptualise football clubs as socially constructed boundary objects, and 

argue that viewing them this way allows scholars to understand them as a complex 

social phenomenon, drawing parallels with libraries �± social interface areas that do not 

require consensus, but allow for collaboration. Adams et al. (2017) may be argued to 

be the closest interpretation of what a football club actually is, in theory at least, due to 

the acceptance that a club is many things to many people. 

Another view of what a football cub is may be a hybrid organisation. Hybrid organisations are 

usually formed from public/private partnership, and are often formed out of (ex-)public sector 

organisations, that are created to provide goods or services that are public in nature, but 

operated by organisations that are privately managed (Kickert, 2001; Koppell, 2001; 

Thomasson, 2009). They serve a duality of purpose �± economic and social (Battilana & Lee, 

2014; Ferry & Slack, 2021). 

Thomasson (2009) offers a broad definition. She argues that hybrids are any organisations 

that encompass social logic, and that the concept does not apply to a specific type of 

organisation such as public/private partnership. She continues that each will differ from each 

other and the differences are explained by purpose and history (Thomasson, 2009). 

Therefore, although academic hybridity literature has largely grown around the public/private 

firms, �7�K�R�P�D�V�V�R�Q�¶�V definition is sufficiently broad to be applied to football clubs. Football 

clubs are created to provide a public need (they provide the service of professional football 

to a town or city) and resemble private corporations in the way that they are incorporated, 

governed, and managed. As discussed above, they operate in space between public, private 

and non-profit sectors that further defines their position as a type of hybrid organisation 

(Baudot et al., 2020). Specifically, it is the social purpose of a football club that presents the 
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similarity to hybrids, and opportunities to discuss the complexities and challenges of 

accounting and reporting in such an organisation. 

Following the concept of hybridity, a recent change of status by Grimsby Town FC saw them 

become a B-Corp (Findlater, 2021). This may be understood as a move towards social 

accountability as the B-Corp movement is designed for profit making businesses who wish to 

have dual purpose �± in both profit and social responsibility (PWC, n.d.). As a form of hybrid 

organisation with the dual aims of profit and social objectives, they stand apart from the 

classical neoliberal idea that the sole purpose of an organisation is profit maximisation 

(Baudot et al., 2020) as suggested by commentators such as Friedman (1970). Baudot et al. 

(2020) found that managers of B-Corps feel greater accountability to society based on the B-

Corp values and that social accountability develops from something demanded by societies 

to something desired by the organisation. Although this may be closer to the substance of a 

football club than a private limited company, the partial aim of profit of a B-Corp is still in 

conflict with the win maximisation over profit maximisation arguments made above. 

 

   Multiple institutional logics  & Hybridity  

Adams et al. (2017) further argue that there is a lack of consensus as to the purpose of 

football clubs due to their different interpretations by different social groups. They argue that 

this makes them  �³�D�P�E�L�J�X�R�X�V���H�Q�W�L�W�L�H�V�´���W�K�D�W���H�Y�R�O�Y�H���L�Q���P�D�Q�\���V�R�F�L�D�O���Z�R�U�O�G�V���D�Q�G���W�K�X�V���V�H�U�Y�H���W�K�H��

needs of conflicting functions for plural stakeholders (Adams et al., 2017, p. 161). 

Further to this view, a number of academics (Carlsson-Wall et al., 2016; Gammelsæter, 

2010; Gammelsæter & Senaux, 2011) have looked at the governance and management of 

football clubs through the lens of institutional logics. Where profit making organisations have 

a dominant logic: business logic, and other things are subordinated to this, football clubs 

differ as they have at least two: Sporting logic and business logic (Carlsson-Wall et al., 2016; 

Gammelsæter, 2010; Gammelsæter & Senaux, 2011). Plumley et al. (2020) and Wilson and 

Anagnostopoulos (2017) also extend this to include social logic.  

It has been posited that clubs find it increasingly difficult to balance these competing logics 

(Gammelsæter & Senaux, 2011; Morrow, 2013), and Plumley, Wilson and Shibli (2017) 

suggest that they should be treated as a continuum, not a dichotomy, and clubs should be 

managed under multiple performance objectives.  

Differing institutional logics have been empirically discussed in a number of areas such as 

the legacies of hybrid social events (Ferry & Slack, 2021), health care (Reay & Hinings, 

2005) and higher education (Thornton, 2001). From this Wilson and Anagnostopoulos (2017) 
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advise that multiple logics usually exist where organisations are in a state of change, until 

one logic becomes dominant throughout the industry as per traditional institutional theory as 

discussed by authors such as (DiMaggio & Powell, 1983). However, Wilson and 

Anagnostopoulos (2017) further suggests that it has been more recently observed that 

multiple logics can co-exist in organisations. This has been investigated by authors such as  

Lounsbury (2007), Reay and Hinings (2005) and Carlsson-Wall et al. (2016) who 

investigates how football clubs manage the twin logics of sport and business and conclude 

that differing logics can be compatible or competing, and afforded differing priorities in 

different situations. Further Baxter et al. (2019) allude to negotiation between the business 

and sports logic of a football club, 

The differing institutional logics is discussed in academic literature concerning hybridity. Like 

with football clubs, Ferry and Slack (2021) argue that hybrid organisations face significant 

challenges in managing multiple and often competing logic as Grossi et al. (2019) advise 

that hybrids combine potentially conflicting goals and values related to different institutional 

logics. This is agreed by Baudot et al. (2020) and Walker and Parent (2010) who advises 

that research on hybridity largely takes a conflicting institutional logics perspective. Hybrids 

are by definition organisations of contradiction, with competing demands of business and 

social logic (Pache & Santos, 2013). They face fundamental challenges due to the inherent 

competition of the duality of logics (Ferry & Slack, 2021). However, Battilana (2018) argues 

for the potential of hybrids to combine logics.  

Literature has included studies in diverse contexts such as disaster recovery (Sargiacomo & 

Walker, 2022), regional events (Ferry & Slack, 2021), business schools, ports (Gebreiter & 

Hidayah, 2019), and B-Corps (Baudot et al., 2020). 

 

   Section  summary  

This section has identified that although it is difficult to articulate what a football club actually 

is, it is clear that it is not like other businesses and has a number of unique features that 

other organisations do not. It is not in the remit of this thesis to attempt to offer a definitive 

definition of what a football club is, but for working purposes, we will consider a football club 

to be an entity of hyper-socio-cultural importance that has monopolistic economic 

underpinning, usually privately owned, and has multiple logics to manage. By embracing this 

�G�H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q�����Z�H���P�D�\���S�R�V�L�W���W�K�D�W���F�O�X�E�V�¶���V�R�F�L�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���J�U�H�D�W�H�U���W�K�D�Q���W�K�D�W���R�I��

traditional businesses and begin to justify the need for a supporter focused reporting 

framework. 
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The final difference is the non-traditional customers. This will be covered in Section 2.1.2. 

What is a football supporter? 

 

2.1.2 What is a football supporter?  

Following on from Section 2.1.1 which asked what a football club is (or is not), this section 

establishes what a football supporter is to deeply assess the relationship between the two. 

We will look at a range of literature that attempts to identify the typology and meaning of 

being a supporter. 

 

   Changing demographic?  

For many, when thinking of football supporters, a strong image comes to mind, usually of an 

adult male in a replica shirt and scarf of his favourite team, standing on the terraces of his 

club�¶s stadium, chanting the tribal songs that are written to encourage his team to score at 

least one more goal. 

This is supported by Robson (2000) and by Taylor (1971) who advises that traditionally, 

supporters were viewed as working class men who supported their local team, and 

embodied the typical view of masculinity of the time. Fans were even seen as a deviant or 

dangerous group, and often stigmatised (Taylor, 1992). During the 1970s and 1980s this 

may have been warranted due to a hooliganism problem, and possibly a little of this 

reputation remains, however as the following section shows, nowadays football fans are not 

so easily characterised. 

The increase of football on TV during the 1980s and the success of the 1990 World Cup is 

argued to have changed the consumption of football (Redhead, 1997), combined with the 

creation of the EPL to exploit an influx of BskyB TV revenue in the early 1990s, a new 

commercial era of football began (García & Welford, 2015; Nicholson, 2019). This has been 

argued by many to have left the traditional supporter outpriced (Conn, 2001; King, 1997; 

Martin, 2007), with all seater stadiums enforced at the top end of the game, after the 

Hillsborough disaster, that had smaller capacities and attracted a more bourgeois audience 

(Giulianotti, 2002). However, this has been contested by authors such as Malcolm et al. 

(2000) who find no real demographic change pre and post the commercial era. It must also 

be acknowledged that, as Davis (2015) and Redhead (1993) argue, the boundaries between 

social classes have been blurred and working and lower middle classes now visit the theatre 

or opera as well as a cross-section of society attending football matches, as discussed by 
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Maguire and Day (2022c). This has led many authors to attempt to typologically categorise 

supporters. 

 

   Supporter t ypology  

This section is not designed to be a complete review of all typological investigations (for a 

thorough understanding see García and Llopis-Goig (2021)), rather it is designed to provide 

a flavour that shows supporters are not a homogenous group. 

Parganas (2018, p. 233) advises that the word �µfan�¶ �F�R�P�H�V���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���Z�R�U�G���µ�I�D�Q�D�W�L�F�¶�����E�X�W���W�K�D�W��

�D�O�O���I�D�Q�V���D�U�H���Q�R�W���³�H�T�X�D�O�O�\���S�D�V�V�L�R�Q�D�W�H���D�Q�G���I�D�Q�D�W�L�F�D�O�´����There is consensus in the literature that 

fans are not one homogeneous group (García & Welford, 2015; Giulianotti, 2002). García 

and Welford (2015) and Crawford (2004) �D�G�Y�L�V�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���W�H�U�P�V���µ�I�D�Q�¶ and �µ�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�¶�� which 

are categorised differently in many typologies, are often used interchangeably for stylistic 

reasons (as in this thesis), but the level of engagement with clubs will be different for both. 

Naturally, there have been many deeper attempts at typological discussions as to the 

�µ�D�X�W�K�H�Q�W�L�F�L�W�\�¶���R�I���H�D�F�K���J�U�R�X�S��(Gibbons & Nuttall, 2016). Early attempts at typography include 

Clarke (1978) who distinguishes �E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���µ�J�H�Q�X�L�Q�H���I�D�Q�V�¶ and �µothers�¶ and Garcia and Llopis-

Goig (2020) advise that Redhead (1993) went deeper in his analysis, concluding that fans 

�D�U�H���µactive/participatory�¶ or �µ�S�D�V�V�L�Y�H�¶.   

The most often cited typology is that of Giulianotti (2002) who seeks to investigate the effect 

of commodification on supporter identities. He identifies a traditional versus consumer 

dimension �± the extent to which one emotionally invests in a specific club. He advises that 

traditionalists �K�D�Y�H���D���³�O�R�Q�J�H�U�����P�R�U�H���O�R�F�D�O���D�Q�G��popular �F�X�O�W�X�U�D�O���L�G�H�Q�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�´ 

(Giulianotti, 2002, p. 31), �V�X�S�S�R�U�W���I�R�U���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���L�V���³�R�E�O�L�J�D�W�R�U�\�����E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H���L�Q�G�L�Y�L�G�X�D�O���K�D�V���D��

�U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���W�K�D�W���U�H�V�H�P�E�O�H�V���W�K�R�V�H���Z�L�W�K���F�O�R�V�H���I�D�P�L�O�\���D�Q�G���I�U�L�H�Q�G�V�´���D�Q�G���³�V�Z�L�W�F�K�L�Q�J��

allegiances to a rival club is impossible [as] traditional supporters are culturally contracted to 

�W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�V���´ (Giulianotti, 2002, p. 32). Conversely, a consumer has a more �³�P�D�U�N�H�W-centred 

�U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�´ (Giulianotti, 2002, p. 31) reflecting the post commercial era, with consumption 

of club products but not traditional embeddedness. The hot/cold dimension reflects the 

�³�G�H�J�U�H�H�V���W�R���Z�K�L�F�K���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���L�V���F�H�Q�W�U�D�O���W�R���W�K�H���L�Q�G�L�Y�L�G�X�D�O�¶�V���S�U�R�M�H�F�W���R�I���V�H�O�I-�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�´��(Giulianotti, 

2002, p. 31) and is thus a part of their self-identity. Giulianotti (2002) defines four broad 

groups along two dimensions which he describes as Supporter, Fan, Follower and Flâneur. 

�µ�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���H�[�K�L�E�L�W���W�K�L�F�N���V�R�O�L�G�D�U�L�W�\�����D�Q�G���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E���L�V���I�L�U�P�O�\���S�D�U�W���R�I���W�K�H�L�U���V�H�O�I-identify, with ties 

�W�K�D�W���O�L�Q�N���W�K�H�P���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E���V�X�F�K���D�V���I�D�P�L�O�\�����Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J���F�O�D�V�V���U�R�R�W�V���D�Q�G���S�O�D�F�H�����µ�)�D�Q�V�¶���D�Q�G��

�µ�)�R�O�O�R�Z�H�U�V�¶���F�D�Q���H�[�K�L�E�L�W���W�K�L�F�N���R�U���W�K�L�Q���V�R�O�L�G�D�U�L�W�\�����µ�)�D�Q�V�¶���H�[�K�L�E�L�W���Q�R���Q�H�H�G���I�R�U���D�Q���L�W�L�Q�H�U�D�Q�W��



Page 46 of 452 
 

�D�W�W�D�F�K�P�H�Q�W���W�R���F�O�X�E�V�����S�U�H�I�H�U�U�L�Q�J���L�Q�V�W�H�D�G���W�R���F�R�Q�V�X�P�H���Y�L�D���P�H�G�L�D�����µ�)�R�O�O�R�Z�H�U�V�¶���F�D�Q���D�W�W�D�F�K��

themselves to players rather than clubs and may follow certain players from club to club. A 

�µ�)�O�k�Q�H�X�U�¶���H�[�K�L�E�L�W�V���R�Q�O�\���W�K�L�Q�����Gepersonalised solidarity, potentially changing allegiance to other 

teams, managers or players to enjoy reflected glory. �*�L�X�O�L�D�Q�R�W�W�L�¶�V����������������work, looking at a 

post commercial era, aligns with Smith and LeJeune (1998) who found that new, more 

affluent fans are less committed than the more traditional fan. 

 

Figure 4: Taxonomy of modern football supporters (Giulianotti, 2002) 

 

Similar typographies have been offered by other sociologists and most are based on broadly 

similar grounds to Giulianotti (2002). Parganas (2018) presents a summary of older papers 

and categorises fans on a scale of casual to super. 

More recently, Alexandris and Tsiotsou (2012) offer an analysis by attachment level and self-

identified involvement and Fillis and Mackay (2014) discuss family and community influences 

and the impact of socialisation and offer a supporter loyalty typology matrix similar to 

Giulianotti (2002). Their dimensions are based on dense or sparse social interaction and 

traditional and non-traditional attachment to a team and conclude categorisations of 

Committed Supporters, Social Devotees, Fans and Casual Followers. 

Dixon (2013) and Garcia and Llopis-Goig (2020) criticise Giulianotti (2002) due to an 

essentially two dimensional approach, essentially traditional vs modern, and offer a typology 

�E�D�V�H�G���R�Q���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���L�Q�F�U�H�D�V�L�Q�J�O�\���Dctive attitudes towards club governance. They conclude 
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a typology of institutionalists, club militants, moderns, critics and globalists, with the latter 

three being the most negative towards club governance. They find that governance is a 

salient topic amongst football fans, which they highlight was included in previous literature of 

Cleland (2010) and Numerato (2018), but was not included in previous typologies. 

 

 

Figure 5: Categorisation of football fans (Parganas, 2018)4 

 

Garcia and Llopis-Goig�¶�V��(2020) work supports earlier papers by García and Welford (2015) 

that supporters are now active and desire to be involved in the running of their clubs and are 

more likely to know, and be concerned about, the behind the scenes issues in their club. 

This highlights the need for increased transparency and accountability from clubs. 

This section has not been designed to offer a deep investigation into supporter typologies, 

rather it shows that supporters, fans or other football enthusiasts are a heterogeneous 

group, and clearly the need for transparency and accountability will not apply to all in the 

sphere of football devotees. However, we may posit that given th�H���H�[�L�V�W�H�Q�F�H���R�I���µ�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��

(to utilise �X�V�L�Q�J���*�L�X�O�L�D�Q�R�W�W�L�¶�V���W�H�U�P�V) there are enough fans that will benefit from a supporter 

focused reporting framework, indeed we may consider all devotees �Z�L�W�K���µ�W�K�L�F�N���V�R�O�L�G�D�U�L�W�\�¶���D�V��

being potential users of such reports. 

 
4 note: Bristow & Sebastian (2001) concerns baseball fans 
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   The meaning of being a supporter  

Sociological research and supporter autobiographies emphasise that football is part of one�¶s 

identity formation (Hornby, 1992; Malcolm et al., 2000; Nicholson, 2019). A number of 

studies investigate the meaning of being a supporter from either a social or individual 

perspectives. From a social perspective, for example, Gibbons and Nuttall (2016) consider 

the views of supporters of non-league clubs and found a heterogeneous understanding of 

what constitutes fan authenticity. For example, they find that despite Gibbons and Dixon�¶�V��

(2010) earlier findings that consider match attendance as a high factor, their study showed 

that 42% of fans do not consider this an important aspect. 

From an individual perspective, studies largely focus on how being a supporter is part of 

�R�Q�H�¶�V���L�G�H�Q�W�L�W�\�� Russell (2004) argues that local identity is a central concept in football 

fandom. Although this may have been diluted for elite clubs due to the greater 

commercialisation and globalisation, it is still a large factor for lower league clubs (Gibbons & 

Nuttall, 2016). Nicholson (2019) captures this in his description of being a Middlesbrough 

fan: 

�³�7�H�H�V�L�G�H���O�L�Y�H�V���L�Q���R�X�U���K�H�D�U�W�V�����L�Q���R�X�U���V�R�X�O�V�«���7�K�H���V�P�R�J���Z�D�V���R�X�U�V�����,�W���P�D�G�H��
�X�V�«���>�L�W�@���Z�D�V���W�K�H���S�U�R�G�X�F�W���R�I���L�Q�G�X�V�W�U�\���V�R���W�K�H���V�P�R�J���Z�D�V���Z�D�J�H�V�«���P�R�Q�H�\�«��
�V�H�F�X�U�L�W�\�«���U�H�V�S�H�F�W�«���V�H�O�I-worth and noble self-�L�G�H�Q�W�L�W�\�«���)orged out of the 
�V�Z�H�D�W���D�Q�G���W�K�H���V�Q�R�W�����W�K�H���O�D�X�J�K�W�H�U���D�Q�G���W�H�D�U�V���R�I���7�H�H�V�L�G�H�¶�V���L�Q�G�X�V�W�U�L�D�O���Zorkforce 
came Middlesbrough FC�´��(Nicholson, 2019, p. 11)  

 

The concept of identity was also found by Malcolm et al. (2000) who refer to a 1997 Luton 

Town survey in which showed that the meaning of fandom i�V���S�D�U�W���R�I���D���S�H�U�V�R�Q�¶�V���F�R�Q�F�H�S�W���R�I��

their self �± part of their being and personality. Malcolm et al. (2000) found that to one third of 

supporters supporting their team was the most important aspect of their identity, and 40% 

claimed it was as important a relationship as those with family members. This is a sentiment 

echoed by Nicholson (2019) who similarly relates the relationship of fans to the clubs as a 

close personal friend. 

Stone (2007) also reports that �5�R�E�V�R�Q�¶�V (2000) ethnological exploration of Milwall fans found 

an everyday relationship with the club, rather than a match just being a single event in their 

weekly lives. Football has also been linked with wellbeing and pride as Inoue et al. (2017) 

find that spectators of sports are more likely to have increased subjective wellbeing.  
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   Social connection s 

One of the most important aspects to being a supporter has been identified as the social 

connections with other fans (Brown et al., 2006; Brown et al., 2010; Jones, 1998). Jones 

(1998) found a strong sense of bonding with others that creates shared meanings, a 

common identity that Brown et al. (2006) find is the most important aspect of being a football 

supporter. Jones (1998) continues that supporters see each other as part of the same 

community, take pride in localism and monogamy to one club that means it is disloyal to also 

support another club and prevents any shift of allegiance. Parganas (2018) cites 

Theodorakis et al. (2012) and Wann (1995) that there is a psychological need to belong to a 

group, which results in tribal behaviour and pre and post-match rituals. Pons et al. (2006, in 

Fillis & Mackay (2014)) highlight that part of the attraction concerns socialising and the 

sharing of knowledge of teams. 

The significance of these shared connections and experiences was seen to be more 

important than even the team winning or losing (Brown et al., 2006; Jones, 1998) and even 

when losing, fans saw themselves as part of the community �X�V�L�Q�J���O�D�Q�J�X�D�J�H���V�X�F�K���D�V���µ�Z�H��

�Z�R�Q�¶���D�Q�G���µ�Z�H���O�R�V�W�¶�����Q�R�W���µ�Z�H���Z�R�Q�¶���D�Q�G���µ�W�K�H�\���O�R�V�W�¶��(Malcolm et al., 2000). 

 

   Co-creators  

Fans have been alluded to as the co-creators of the sport, for example by King (1997) who 

says that fans are asked to purchase a product that they themselves partake in creating. 

King (1997) continues by citing an often quoted passage from journalist and football auto-

biographer Nick Hornby that:  

 

�³�«�D�W�P�R�V�S�K�H�U�H���L�V���R�Q�H���R�I���W�K�H���F�U�X�F�L�D�O���L�Q�J�U�H�G�L�H�Q�W�V���R�I���W�K�H���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���H�[�S�H�U�L�H�Q�F�H�����7�K�H�V�H��
huge ends are as vital to the clubs as their players, not only because their inhabitants 
are vocal in their support, not just because they provide the clubs with large sums of 
�P�R�Q�H�\�«���E�X�W���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���Z�L�W�K�R�X�W���W�K�H�P���Q�R�E�R�G�\���H�O�V�H���Z�R�X�O�G���E�R�W�K�H�U���F�R�P�L�Q�J�´��(Hornby, 
1992, p. 77) 

 

A number of studies have also shown what is known as the twelfth man effect. This is where 

the home crowd can spur on the home team �± indeed, Kuper and Szymanski (2014) 

calculate that this is worth a goal a game. 
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   From passive to active  

Historically, clubs made little attempt to involve fans in the running of their clubs (Taylor, 

1992) and Cleland (2010, p. 5) argues that during the 1980�V���I�D�Q�V���I�H�O�W���W�K�H�\���Z�H�U�H���³�E�H�L�Q�J��

�Q�H�J�O�H�F�W�H�G�´����and having their concerns ignored. Fans began to organise and to want a say in 

decision-making processes at their clubs, or even take control (Cooper & Johnston, 2012). 

Cooper and Johnston (2012) argue there is a psychological need of supporters for control 

that is due to their level of passion, attachment and emotional investment in their clubs.  

In one of the only empirical pieces investigating this change, Cleland (2010) investigates 

opportunities for meaningful dialogue between clubs and supporters that allow for this 

supporter �L�Q�I�O�X�H�Q�F�H���L�Q���F�O�X�E�V�¶���G�H�F�L�Vion-making processes. Though they observe that many 

fans remain passive, they note a rise in active supporters and a more professional approach 

to fan engagement from some clubs in reaction to this. He found a mixture of results at 

different clubs that showed that some were mature in their journey with supporter 

engagement, whilst others were not. At one club, which had good engagement and 

dialogue, a supporter representative said that fans were now treated by the board with 

respect, unlike in previous time�V�����D�Q�G���S�X�W�V���W�K�H���F�K�D�Q�J�H���G�R�Z�Q���W�R���W�K�H���J�U�R�Z�W�K���R�I���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶�¶��

Trusts (Cleland, 2010, p. 13). Cleland (2010) found at other clubs, who were still quite 

infantile in their fan engagement journey, limited opportunities for meaningful fan dialogue. 

For example, one participant said: 

 

�³�«the masses are calling for regime change. [The club] know this but are doing what 
they always do in times of distress: they put their figures in their ears and keep their 
mouths shut. [The owner] wears an invisible suit of armour to deflect the derision. It 
�G�R�H�V���Q�R�W���V�H�H�P���W�R���Z�R�U�U�\���K�L�P���W�K�D�W���>�W�K�H���F�O�X�E�V�¶�@���U�H�S�X�W�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���F�U�X�P�E�O�L�Q�J�«���>�K�H�@���O�L�V�W�H�Q�V���W�R��
�W�K�H���F�O�R�V�H�V�W���W�R���K�L�P���D�Q�G���L�J�Q�R�U�H�V���W�K�H���P�D�M�R�U�L�W�\���´��(Cleland, 2010, p. 15) 

 

In the development of fans from passive to active, a significant development was the 

Support�H�U�V�¶ Trusts movement, which grew from government funding under the Labour 

government in the early 2000s (Martin, 2007). Trusts were centrally supported by a new 

organisation, Supporters Direct (SD), and their aim was to influence decision-making in their 

clubs by purchasing shares. Cleland (2010, p. 7) argues that SD helped clubs to break the 

�³�K�L�V�W�R�U�L�F�D�O���H�[�F�O�X�V�L�R�Q�´�����K�H�Oping them to become more active in the running of clubs. 

Martin (2007) argues that �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W�V��were a bottom up mechanism for fans to hold 

clubs accountable, which is supported by García and Welford (2015) who argue that in 

broad terms, opening the game up to supporters helps to connect communities and clubs as 

well as providing increased accountability and transparency. However, fast forward to 2022, 
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and where there has been some progress, there still remains a need to embed supporters 

into the governance processes of their clubs, as the recent FLR shows. 

Interestingly, Whitehead (2006) finds that in the case of the mutualisation of AFC 

Bournemouth following a time of financial crisis, a lack of transparency appeared that 

suggests that mutualised clubs may not be any better than privately owned clubs where 

transparency and accountability are concerned.  

 

   Section  summary  

Section 2.1.2 has articulated what a football supporter is. We have learnt that they are a 

heterogeneous group and that many, but far from all, feel a deep-rooted connection to their 

football club through emotional, family social and geographical connections, making these 

supporters a special type of stakeholder that further justifies their need for a supporter 

focused reporting framework. 

Having establish what a football club is within in Section 2.1.1 is and what is a supporter in 

Section 2.1.2, we may now begin to consider the relationship between the two. 
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2.2 Part 2 �± The relationship between football supporters and their 

clubs : A form  of social contract  

In this thesis I argue that the relationship between a club and its fans is a form of social 

contract and use this as the theoretical lens with which to view the accountability needs of 

fans and thus what should be reported. This section explains the social contract and 

relationship between supporters and their clubs. 

 

2.2.1 The social contract  

Although the concept of the social contract can be traced back to Socrates and Plato 

(Byerly, 2013) its modern understanding is derived from the works of Hobbes (1651/1991), 

Locke (1690/1988) and Rousseau (1762/1988) who used the implied contract to discuss the 

relationship between the State (or Sovereign) and the people. It is argued to be part of the 

foundation of both legal and political power within society (Cooper, 2004), and for the 

populous to willingly accept state rule, the state must maintain legitimacy by providing civil 

liberty and law (Byerly, 2013). It must be something that s�R�F�L�H�W�\���Z�R�X�O�G���K�D�Y�H���³�U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O�O�\��

�F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�H�G���L�Q�W�R�´��(Cooper, 2004, p. 25), otherwise a state may be justifiably overthrown 

(Donaldson, 1982). 

The concept was applied to organisations by Donaldson (1982) to explain the tacit contract 

between corporations and society. Donaldson (1982, p. 36) explains that the social contract 

is not a written one �± it is not a document that �³can be pulled from a drawer �D�Q�G���V�L�J�Q�H�G�´, 

�U�D�W�K�H�U���D���³�P�H�W�D�S�K�\�V�L�F�D�O���D�E�V�W�U�D�F�W�L�R�Q�´ and though not formal is still binding. 

This has been updated by Carroll and Buchholtz (2014) to include two elements: those of 

law and regulation, and those of an unspoken mutual understanding between parties (see 

Figure 6). 

Gray, Adams, et al. (2014, pp. 52,53) �D�J�U�H�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�V�H���µ�F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�V�¶���F�D�Q���E�H���I�R�U�P�D�O���D�Q�G legal, as 

on the top of Carroll and Buchholtz�¶�V��(2014) model, or implied and non-legal, as on the 

bottom. Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) continue that these implied, non-legal contracts arise 

�I�U�R�P���W�K�H���µ�J�H�Q�H�U�D�O���F�R�Q�W�H�[�W���R�I���V�R�F�L�H�W�\�¶���D�Q�G���D�U�H���W�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���J�R�Y�H�U�Q�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���H�W�K�L�F�V���D�Q�G���P�R�U�D�O�V���R�I��

society. These contracts are just as important as legal and formal contracts as they form the 

�E�D�V�L�V���R�I���D�Q���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�¶�V���O�H�J�L�W�L�P�D�F�\�����Z�K�L�F�K���S�X�W�V���W�K�H���H�[�L�V�W�H�Q�F�H���R�I���W�K�H���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q���D�W���W�K�H���Z�Lll 

of society and organisations. 
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Figure 6. Elements in the Social Contract (Carroll & Buchholtz, 2014, p. 21) 

 

Byerly (2013) argues that where law and governance are not present, then the social 

contract becomes more paramount. Often cited is �6�K�R�F�N�H�U���D�Q�G���6�H�W�K�L�¶�V (1973, p. 67) deeper 

explanation: 

 

�³�$�Q�\���V�R�F�L�D�O���L�Q�V�W�L�W�X�W�L�R�Q���± and business is no exception �± operates in society via a 
social contract, expressed or implied, whereby its survival and growth are based on: 

1. the delivery of some socially desirable ends to society in general; and 

2. the distribution of economic, social or political benefits to groups from 
�Z�K�L�F�K���L�W���G�H�U�L�Y�H�V���L�W�V���S�R�Z�H�U���´��(Shocker & Sethi, 1973, p. 67) 

 

The socially desirable ends and benefit to society that football clubs produce may be argued 

as both the production of the sport as a product and also the facilitation of emotional and 

social connections such as described by Brown et al. (2010) amongst others in Section 

2.1.2. 

A modern definition of the social contract between business and society is offered by Carroll 

and Buchholtz (2014):  

 

 �³�«�D���V�H�W���R�I���U�H�F�L�S�U�R�F�D�O���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J�V���D�Q�G���H�[�S�H�F�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V���W�K�D�W���F�K�D�U�D�F�W�H�U�L�]�H���W�K�H��
relationship between major institutions �± in �R�X�U���F�D�V�H���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���D�Q�G���V�R�F�L�H�W�\�« 
tacit agreements that guide behaviour in relationships among members of a 
community or group.�´��(Carroll & Buchholtz, 2014, p. 21) 

 

By comparing this to Morrow�¶�V (2003) quote that we have provisionally accepted as the 

social contract of football in Chapter 1, we may understand the similarities. To remind 

�R�X�U�V�H�O�Y�H�V���R�I���0�R�U�U�R�Z�¶�V���T�X�R�W�H�� 

 

�³�,�W���V�H�H�P�V���U�H�D�V�R�Q�D�E�O�H���W�R���V�X�J�J�H�V�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�U�H���L�V���D�Q���R�Q�X�V���R�Q���E�R�W�K���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G��
community to ensure that a living relationship exists between club and 
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community, rather than continuing to exist simply as a consequence of history. 
Clubs must work to make their business sustainable and to develop their 
community presence. Equally, there is an onus on communities and supporters 
�W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E���´��(Morrow, 2003, p. 70) 

 

�&�D�U�U�R�O�O���D�Q�G���%�X�F�K�K�R�O�W�]�¶�V �µ�U�H�F�L�S�U�R�F�D�O�¶���P�D�\���E�H���V�H�H�Q���D�V��Morrow�¶�V �µ�R�Q�X�V���R�Q���E�R�W�K���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G��

�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�¶�����W�K�H���µ�H�[�S�H�F�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V�¶���R�Q���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�¶�V���S�D�U�W���D�U�H���W�K�H���P�D�L�Q�W�H�Q�D�Q�F�H���R�I���W�K�H���µ�O�L�Y�L�Q�J��

�U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�¶�����W�K�H���µ�Q�H�H�G���I�R�U���D���F�O�X�E���W�R���Z�R�U�N���W�R���P�D�N�H���W�K�H�P�V�H�O�Y�H�V���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�H�¶���D�Q�G���µ�W�R���E�H���S�D�U�W���R�I��

�W�K�H���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�¶�� �D�Q�G���R�Q���W�K�H���S�D�U�W���R�I���W�K�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���W�R���µ�V�X�S�S�R�U�W���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�¶�����7�K�H���µ�L�Q�V�W�L�W�X�W�L�R�Q�V�¶���D�U�H��

football clubs and the fandom behind them and the predomi�Q�D�Q�W���µ�V�R�F�L�H�W�\�¶���D�U�R�X�Q�G���D���F�O�X�E���L�V its 

supporters. 

�&�D�U�U�R�O�O���D�Q�G���%�X�F�K�K�R�O�W�]�¶�V (2014) reference to relationships is an important one, backed up by 

Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) who agree that a social contract can be seen as a series of 

relationships between, for example, individuals and organisations, in this case fans and 

football clubs. The �Q�D�W�X�U�H���R�I���D���µ�U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�¶�����µcontract�¶ �D�Q�G���0�R�U�U�R�Z�¶�V���µ�R�Q�X�V���R�Q���E�R�W�K���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G��

�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�¶���L�P�S�O�\���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���R�Q���E�R�W�K���V�L�G�H�V�����D�V���D�G�Y�L�V�H�G���E�\��Waddock (2010) who posits 

that the notion of a social contract indicates exactly this: an agreement to be acted upon by 

both parties. Donaldson (1982) expressed this as: 

 

�³�:�H���W�K�H���V�R�F�L�H�W�\���D�J�U�H�H���W�R���G�R���;���D�Q�G���\�R�X���W�K�H���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q���D�J�U�H�H���W�R���G�R���<�´ (Donaldson, 
1982, p. 42)  

 

X is that society permits organisations to be recognised as a single entity and to use its 

authority to utilise resources and hire employees (Donaldson, 1982). This notion seems to 

have sustained the test of time as Waddock (2010) agrees that the social contract allows 

companies to be self-governing entities that hire and fire employees, form legal personhood, 

have rights such as limited liability, and a continued existence. 

�7�K�H���<�����µ�Z�K�D�W��the organisation agree to do�¶ is explained by Mathews (1993) as a the benefits 

of goods and service output, offset by the waste products and pollution that companies 

produce. 

More importantly, the organisation should enhance the overall welfare of society, not 

decrease it (Donaldson, 1982). Mathews (1993) continues that organisations have no 

inherent rights to benefits provided to them by society and to allow their continual 

existence society would expect the benefits to exceed the costs to society. 

This may be interpreted in that as long as the benefit to society is greater than the cost, 

�W�K�H�Q���W�K�H���F�R�V�W���L�V���Z�R�U�W�K���L�W�����+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����P�R�G�H�U�Q���W�K�L�Q�N�L�Q�J���K�L�J�K�O�L�J�K�W�V���0�D�W�K�H�Z�V�¶��(1993) concept 
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of waste products in to the environment and begins to question the benefits given the 

social and environmental costs of organisations in producing socially desirable goods 

and services. Hasnas (1998, p. 31) �I�X�U�W�K�H�U���D�U�J�X�H�V���W�K�D�W���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�H�V���V�K�R�X�O�G���³�D�Y�R�L�G���D�Q�\��

�S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H���W�K�D�W���V�\�V�W�H�P�D�W�L�F�D�O�O�\���Z�R�U�V�H�Q���W�K�H���V�L�W�X�D�W�L�R�Q���I�R�U���D���J�L�Y�H�Q���J�U�R�X�S���L�Q���V�R�F�L�H�W�\�´�� 

Donaldson (1982) argued this point in that it is the process that matters, not the outcome 

�± i.e. how society is affected along the way. Donaldson (1982) continues that just as the 

rules of the state cannot override the social contract with society, the making of a 

�E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�¶�V���S�U�R�I�L�W���G�R�H�V���Q�R�W���R�X�W�U�D�Q�N���W�K�H���P�R�U�D�O���I�R�X�Q�G�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�����D�O�W�K�R�X�J�K��Donaldson 

(1982) accepts that profit is a fair aim of business. 

Applying all of this to football clubs, based on the evidence that football clubs aim to win 

matches, not make a profit (see Section 2.1.1.1), then the social contract between clubs and 

supporters is about the process in which wins and silverware are attempted to be obtained �± 

implying that they should be obtained by means acceptable to society.  

From our accepted definition by Morrow (2003, p. 70) �³�>�F�O�X�E�V�@���P�X�V�W���Z�R�U�N���W�R���P�D�N�H���W�K�H�L�U��

�E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�H�«�´�����W�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���Z�H���P�D�\���V�S�H�F�X�O�D�W�H���W�K�D�W���E�\���S�O�D�F�L�Q�J���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�¶���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�V���R�U��

short term success ahead of long term survival, clubs break the club-supporter social 

contract in a way that Mathews (1993) describes as failing to act in a moral and just manner, 

as was the case with, for example, Bury FC and Derby County FC. 

Donaldson (1982) points out that the history of the social contract is one of social change 

and White (2007, p. 3) advises that if the social contract falters change is demanded though 

either peaceful demonstration or civil and sometimes violent action (White, 2007). 

Therefore, if the state fails to protect society, then revolution is justified. This concept can be 

seen for organisations as Deegan (2014b) advises how the social contract underpins 

legitimacy theory, and cites Deegan (2014a) to explain how society can revoke an 

�R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�¶�V���F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W���L�I���W�K�H���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q���I�D�L�O�V���W�R���X�S�K�R�O�G���W�K�H�L�U���V�L�G�H���R�I���W�K�H���F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�� 

 

�³�:�K�H�U�H���V�R�F�L�H�W�\���L�V���Q�R�W���V�D�W�L�V�I�L�H�G���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���L�Q���D�Q���D�F�F�H�S�W�D�E�O�H�����R�U��
legitimate manner, then society will effectively revoke the organisa�W�L�R�Q�¶�V���µ�F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�¶���W�R��
continue its operations. This might be evidenced through, for example, consumers 
�U�H�G�X�F�L�Q�J���R�U���H�O�L�P�L�Q�D�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H���G�H�P�D�Q�G���I�R�U���W�K�H���S�U�R�G�X�F�W�V���R�I���W�K�H���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�«�´��(Deegan, 
2014a, p. 346, emphasis in original) 

 

�+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����G�X�H���W�R���I�D�Q�V�¶���G�H�H�S���D�Q�G���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�I�X�O���H�P�R�W�L�R�Q�D�O���L�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W���L�Q���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�V�����)�D�Q��

Equity, see section 2.1), whereby fans unerringly follow their club irrespective of the 

quality of football played or off-field issues, it may be inferred that the legitimacy of 
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football clubs to loyal supporters is almost infinite and therefore fans do not 

completely walk away or reduce or eliminate their support of the club.  

An important point at this juncture is to identify the importance of a three-way relationship 

between supporters, the club, and the club owners and directors. Supporters love their club, 

but often voice their distrust, upset or anger at the owners who are usually actively involved 

in the management of their club. So rather than supporters having a dispute with the club as 

is the case with most activism, they aim their disputes at the owner. 

However, fans, en-masse, do not completely walk away from their club. Therefore, 

�D�S�S�O�\�L�Q�J���'�H�H�J�D�Q�¶�V���O�D�Q�J�X�D�J�H�����I�D�Q�V���G�R���Q�R�W���G�H-�O�H�J�L�W�L�P�L�V�H���D���F�O�X�E�¶�V���H�[�L�V�W�H�Q�F�H���G�X�H���W�R���W�K�H�L�U��

unerring loyalty. This may be linked to Hirschman (1970) who advises of two key 

responses available to consumers of traditional businesses in the face of declining 

quality of goods: exit or voice. In the event of declining quality of entertainment, or 

more closely related to this thesis, in the face of poor stewardship from owners, fans 

do not, indeed almost cannot, �µ�H�[�L�W�¶���D�Q�G���D�U�H���W�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���O�H�I�W���Z�L�W�K���µ�Y�R�L�F�H�¶���D�V���D�Q���D�O�W�H�U�Q�D�W�L�Y�H����

This leads to complex power context discussed further in section 2.3.2. 

�)�D�Q�V���G�R���H�[�H�U�F�L�V�H���W�K�H�L�U���Y�R�L�F�H�����L�Q���Z�K�D�W���L�V���G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�G���D�V���µ�I�D�Q���D�F�W�L�Y�L�V�P�¶��(Numerato, 2018) at 

individual clubs and within the game in general. It has gone some way at some clubs to 

make reforms, for example a four year boycott at Blackpool that helped to end the Oyston 

ownership (Poole, 2019). However, other protests have been less successful, for example 

the recent protests at Oldham Athletic (shown in the photograph in Figure 7) have had 

limited success as fans have been largely ignored following owner-support fall outs, stadium 

disputes, and a succession of managers (Freeman & Minay, 2022). 

There has been a recent success for fan protests when the top six clubs in England were 

�P�D�G�H���W�R���Z�L�W�K�G�U�D�Z���I�U�R�P���D���V�X�J�J�H�V�W�H�G���µ�(�X�U�R�S�H�D�Q �6�X�S�H�U���/�H�D�J�X�H�¶�����(�6�/�����L�Q���W�K�H���I�D�F�H���R�I���V�H�Y�H�U�H��

�I�D�Q���S�U�R�W�H�V�W�V���D�Q�G���U�H�O�D�W�H�G���P�H�G�L�D���D�Q�G���L�Q�G�X�V�W�U�\���E�D�F�N�O�D�V�K�����,�Q���H�D�U�O�\�������������Z�K�H�Q���W�K�H���µ�E�L�J���V�L�[�¶5 clubs 

in English football opted to break away from English football and join other large clubs from 

across Europe, an enormous back-lash from fans saw the ESL fail as soon as the idea was 

tabled as clubs were pressurised into withdrawing their stake in the competition. The 

photograph in figure 8 of a Chelsea fan protesting against the ESL shows the feeling of fans 

�W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���R�Z�Q���W�K�H���J�D�P�H���D�V���³�V�R�F�L�D�O���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�´��(Solberg & Haugen, 2010, p. 333) as discussed 

in Section 1.1, and do not want it ambushed by rich owners in these ways. 

 
5 Arsenal, Chelsea, Liverpool, Manchester City, Manchester United and Tottenham Hotspur 
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Figure 7: Oldham Athletic fans protest at Boundary Park against owner Abdallah 
Lemsagam (The Observer, 2022) 

 

Figure 8: Football fans of Chelsea FC protest against owner decisions to enter the ESL  

(Magowan, 2021, photo credit: Getty Images) 

 

 

Cases like Bury, Blackpool, Oldham, and the ESL show that the social contract between 

clubs and fans is being broken. Using the terminology of Hasnas (1998), supporters are a 
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�V�R�F�L�H�W�D�O���J�U�R�X�S���Z�K�R�V�H���³�V�L�W�X�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���E�H�L�Q�J���V�\�V�W�H�P�D�W�L�F�D�O�O�\���Z�R�U�V�H�Q�H�G�´���E�\���V�R�P�H���E�D�G���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�H�U�V����

However, unlike in traditional business arrangements, fans do not have the ability to dissolve 

the contract due to their emotional investment in their clubs. We can thus infer that the 

broken social contract involves a severe power discrepancy where fans have limited power 

to challenge the legal owners of their beloved clubs, discussed further in section 2.3.2. 

This can be further understood by investigating where fans sit in the context of other 

stakeholders at clubs. Stakeholder Theory is underpinned by the concept of the social 

contract (Byerly, 2013), and is used by a number of authors to discuss football fans (García 

& Welford, 2015; Michie & Ramalingam, 1999; Senaux, 2008). Byerly (2013) advises that 

the social contract originally assumed business responsibility toward all stakeholders, 

however, the power of some stakeholders allows them to demand the attention of 

businesses more than others.  

Senaux (2008) �L�Q�Y�H�V�W�L�J�D�W�H�V���W�K�H���)�U�H�Q�F�K���/�H�D�J�X�H�����D���V�W�U�X�F�W�X�U�H���Q�R�W���W�R�R���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���I�U�R�P���(�Q�J�O�D�Q�G�¶�V����

and identifies fans as salient stakeholders as they possess the usual three elements of 

salience: power, legitimacy and urgency as shown in Table 1. 

 

 

Table 1: Fans' stakeholder salience as argued by Senaux (2008) 

 

However, as argued above, the assumption of power for fans may be argued to be much 

weaker than Senaux (2008) posits. Kelly et al. (2012) identify that many football club owners 

�G�R���Q�R�W���O�L�V�W�H�Q���W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�����Z�K�L�F�K���L�V���H�Y�L�G�H�Q�F�H�G���E�\���2�O�G�K�D�P���I�D�Q�V�¶���L�Q�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���D�I�I�H�F�W���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�K�L�S��
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and decision-making at their club and also at Newcastle United where fan protests did not 

persuade unpopular owner Mike Ashley to sell the club (Cleland & Dixon, 2015). 

Another strong example of this is discussed deeply in academic literature - the failed attempt 

to block the Glazer takeover of Manchester United (Brown, 2007, 2008; Cooper & Johnston, 

2012; García & Welford, 2015). A significant minority of over four thousand Manchester 

�8�Q�L�W�H�G���I�D�Q�V���Z�H�U�H���X�Q�K�D�S�S�\���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���O�H�Y�H�U�D�J�H�G���E�X�\�R�X�W���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�����I�H�H�O�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���*�O�D�]�H�U�¶�V��

intentions were to use the club for personal gain, putting profit before the traditions of the 

club (Brown, 2007), and viewing fans as customers  (García & Welford, 2015). It may be 

argued that fans felt that the Glazers were breaking the social contract on the grounds of 

commercial exploitation of supporters. This led these fans to walk away and start a new club: 

Football Club United of Manchester (FCUM), in the tenth tier of English football, as a 

�P�H�P�E�H�U�¶�V���F�O�X�E���E�D�V�H�G���R�Q���D���R�Q�H-member, one-vote system which Brown (2007) believes is 

more in line with the authentic social values of football. 

Another aspect that may contribute to low fan power, as discussed in Section 2.3.2, is fan 

heterogeneity, and therefore the limited organisation of fans en masse. Even during some of 

the most high-profile cases such as at those at Oldham and Blackpool, a proportion of 

around 40% of the �U�H�J�X�O�D�U�O�\���D�W�W�H�Q�G�L�Q�J���I�D�Q���E�D�V�H���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H�G���W�R���D�W�W�H�Q�G���J�D�P�H�V�����D�X�W�K�R�U�¶�V��

analysis). 

 

2.2.2  Supporters and owners: a story of division  

The recent Government Fan Led Review justifies its need partly on the basis of: 

 

�³�D���G�L�V�F�R�Q�Q�H�F�W���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���W�K�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�V���R�I���I�D�Q�V���D�Q�G���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�´ (DCMS, 2021, p. 29) 

 

This disconnect is more prevalent today but the relationship between clubs has not always 

been smooth. Described by Taylor (1992) �D�V���µ�V�W�X�W�W�H�U�L�Q�J�¶�����W�K�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���K�D�V��historically 

involved a divide and disputes between supporters and the directors and owners of clubs. 

However, over the past four decades, changes in ownership have changed the supporter-

club relationship.  

Traditionally, owners of football clubs were local wealthy benefactors, who owned the club 

for prestige, a sense �R�I���³noblesse oblige�´��(Hamil, 1999, p. 23), reasons of power, group 

identification and group loyalty, but not for economic purposes (Sloane, 1971). This is 

highlighted by Hopcraft (1990) who quotes the son of ex-Glossop North End AFC, and local 

mill, owner Denis Hill-Wood that his father wanted to pay something back to the town and 
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they already had a hospital and schools, he gave them a football team (Hopcraft, 1990 in 

King, 1997, p. 228). (Hopcraft, 1990, p. 153) 

Although at this time football clubs made little effort to involve supporters (Cleland, 2010), 

arguably the desires of both were ultimately the same �± winning as much as possible. 

Supporters were not seen by clubs beyond their role as ticket holding fans (Cleland, 2010). 

However Critcher (1979) argues that fans identified themselves as members with their 

identities rooted in an unbreakable reciprocal relationship, based upon obligation and duty, 

in which fans held a �³�U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�D�W�L�Y�H�´���V�W�D�W�X�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���F�O�X�E (found in Giulianotti, 2002). �)�D�Q�¶�V��

support has historically been both moral and financial; even in the 1930s Taylor (1992) tells 

of how Luton Town fans financially supported the building of a new stand by raising £8,500 

(almost £640,000 �L�Q���W�R�G�D�\�¶�V���P�R�Q�H�\����  

However, over the past four decades changes in ownership and the commercialisation of 

football are considered to have widened the relationship between fans and their clubs 

(Hamil, 1999). In the 1980s English football was in need of reform. The game had become 

associated with hooliganism, a lack of investment in stadiums resulting in dwindling crowds 

(Goldblatt, 2007; Hamil, 1999; King, 1997). Following a number of safety disasters such as 

the Bradford fire (1985), the Heysel collapse (1985) and Hillsborough (1989), the 

government sanctioned recommendations from the Taylor Report that forced clubs�¶���V�W�D�G�L�D in 

the top two divisions to become all seater (King, 1997). 

Around the same time, in the late 1980s and early 1990s a new commercial era of football 

began (Martin, 2007). The entry of BSkyB in the purchase of live TV rights for the top 

division resulted in a large influx of revenue (Buraimo et al., 2006). To exploit this, the top 

division separated from the rest of the league and created the Premiership in 19926. 

Academic analysis by Andreff (2000) and Breitbarth and Harris (2008) describes this as 

moving away from a direct form of supporter financing, described as spectators, subsidies, 

sponsors and local to one based on media, magnates, merchandising and global markets. 

Amongst others, Horton (1997) and Nicholson (2019) cite the separation of the Premier 

League, driven by the new TV money, as a pivotal moment in English football. Though it 

may not have been realised at the time (Nicholson, 2019), both agree that if supporters 

realised the scale of the changes afoot, there would most likely have been greater protests 

against it. 

The influx of TV money, the emergence of a stock market model (see Section 2.1.1.2), a 

crackdown on hooliganism and the development of new stadiums attracted more 

 
6 Prior to the creation of the Premiership (later rebranded as the EPL), all four professional football leagues in England were 

under the umbrella of the Football League (later rebranded the EFL). 
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commercially minded owners to football clubs (King, 1997). King (1997) argues that the new 

owners saw fans as customers to be monetised. Improved facilities (largely as a result of the 

changes demanded by the Taylor Report) came with higher ticket prices for supporters and 

many traditional fans felt financially squeezed out of the game (Conn, 1997; King, 1997). 

Dempsey and Reilly (1998, p. 241) �U�H�F�D�O�O���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���µ�S�H�U�Y�D�V�L�Y�H���D�L�U�¶�����S�����������D�W���W�K�H���W�L�P�H���Z�D�V��

discontent among fans. 

Hamil (1999) also advises that football was argued to be a form of show business or 

entertainment and argues that viewing football in this way trivialises the game. Nicholson 

(2019) further suggests that, to many fans, seeing football as entertainment is missing the 

point, and it is the loyalty and support that is the important aspect and argues that to call it 

entertainment actually creates a cognitive dissonance as for large parts of many games, the 

spectacle is not particularly entertaining. 

As opposed to the influx of TV revenue, Kelly et al. (2012) believe that the cause of the 

issues go slightly further back and cites the Independent Manchester United Supporters 

Association (IMUSA, 2011) who argue that the commercialisation was the result of removal 

�R�I���µ�5�X�O�H�������¶�����)�$���5�X�O�H���������H�Q�G�R�U�V�H�G���W�K�H���W�U�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���Y�L�Hw of a club owner as a custodian of a 

social entity and stopped owners from commercially exploiting clubs by limiting them to just 

5% dividends and preventing them from drawing a salary (Conn, 1999). This was removed in 

the mid-1980s as a result of it being circumvented by owners using holdings companies to 

extract funds (Emery & Weed, 2006). Kelly et al. (2012) further suggests that the removal of 

�5�X�O�H���������D�O�O�R�Z�H�G���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���W�R���W�U�H�D�W���F�O�X�E�V���O�L�N�H���S�U�L�Y�D�W�H���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�H�V�����L�J�Q�R�U�L�Q�J���W�K�H���µ�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�¶��

aspect of clubs and Emery and Weed (2006) also report a shift to more economic motives of 

club owners as a result of the removal of the rule. 

Whatever the root cause, these changes have culminated in a distance between owners and 

supporters that is wider than it traditionally was. Owners are now less likely to be a local 

successful person acting for philanthropic reasons but a more commercially minded person 

who looks to either generate wealth from club ownership or have a trophy asset that conveys 

their success (King, 1997). Although most of the changes discussed occurred in the top two 

tiers of English football, the effects can be seen at all levels, with non-local owners 

purchasing clubs at lower levels also, even in the fifth tier, below the EFL (BBC Sport, 

2020a; Notts County, 2019)�����&�R�Q�F�H�U�Q���J�U�R�Z�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�V�H���µ�R�X�W�V�L�G�H�¶���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���G�R���Q�R�W���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G��

the value of local community clubs and Kelly et al. (2012) argue that it results in an even 

greater disconnect between fans and owners and articulates the general feeling around the 

situation: 
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�³�7�K�H�U�H���L�V���D���I�H�D�U���W�K�D�W���Z�H�D�O�W�K�\���Q�H�Z���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���P�D�\���Q�R�W���U�H�D�O�L�V�H���W�K�H���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I��
�W�K�H�V�H���F�O�X�E�V���W�R���O�R�F�D�O���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G���V�H�H���W�K�H�P���S�U�L�P�D�U�L�O�\���D�V���D���µ�Y�H�K�L�F�O�H���I�R�U��
personal ambitio�Q�¶�����-�R�Q�H�V�������������������%�X�\�L�Q�J���D���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E���L�V���Q�R�W���O�L�N�H���E�X�\�L�Q�J���P�R�V�W��
businesses, these clubs are institutions in their community that have been loved 
�E�\���J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���I�D�Q�V���´��(Kelly et al., 2012, p. 246)  

 

Kelly et al. (2012) continue that supporters want to know that the owner has the shared goal 

of maximising wins and silverware, but this is not always assured.  

This divide in views between owners and supporters is emphasised by King (1997) who 

argues that a fan�¶s relationship to a football club is complex and cannot be boiled down to a 

purely economic one. King (1997) draws on a radio interview between Freddie Fletcher, the 

then Chief Executive of Newcastle United and Kevin Miles, the then Chairman of the 

Newcastle United Supporters�¶ Trust. Fletcher argued that supporters were a club�¶s 

customers and dismissed claims by Miles that fans should have board representation in the 

same way that Miles would not have representation on the board of his preferred 

superm�D�U�N�H�W���F�K�D�L�Q�����0�L�O�H�V���U�H�W�R�U�W�H�G���E�\���V�W�D�W�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���L�W�¶�V���D���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���D�V���K�H���G�L�G���Q�R�W���Y�L�V�L�W��

�W�K�H���V�X�S�H�U�P�D�U�N�H�W�V���µ�D�Z�D�\�¶���V�W�R�U�H�V���R�Q���W�K�H���Z�H�H�N�H�Q�G���Q�R�U���G�L�G���K�H���E�X�\���W�K�H�L�U���W�H�D�P���N�L�W���H�Y�H�U�\���\�H�D�U���� 

As we are now in what Beech (2004) describes as �W�K�H���µ�S�R�V�W-�F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O�L�V�P�¶���H�U�D, the 

trend for non-local owners buying football clubs has continued. For example, as 

discussed in Section 1.3.2, Steve Dale, who at the time of writing still owns Bury FC. 

At the top of English football all of the big six clubs that were part of the ESL plan currently 

have foreign owners that have subsequently been accused of not understanding the ethos 

and meaning of English football, especially the concept of promotion and relegation (which 

would have been dropped in the ESL) that creates sporting risk, but also allows for the 

dream of a small provincial club becoming an EPL team. 

In this era we can see less-aligned interest between owners and fans and this is arguably 

against the social contract between clubs and their supporters. Even as far back as the late 

nineties, Horton (1997) argued: 

 

�³�)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O clubs owe their support to the�«���E�H�O�L�H�I���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���D�U�H���G�U�L�Y�H�Q���E�\���D��
common purpose, that they form a community in which the players, 
supporters and directors work together and pull in the same direction. 
�1�H�Y�H�U���K�D�V���W�K�D�W���E�H�H�Q���O�H�V�V���W�U�X�H���W�K�D�Q���R�I���W�R�G�D�\�«�´ (Horton, 1997, p. 18) 

 

However, a notable issue with the social contract, is that it does not guide management as to 

how to enact the accountability (Gray et al., 1988). Corporate responses have included both 
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CSR (Donaldson, 1982; Waddock, 2010) including within football (Panton, 2012), and 

legitimising disclosures in accounts (Deegan, 2002; Slack & Shrives, 2008).  

Davis (2005) argues that the practice of CSR alone is not the answer and that an all-

encompassing approach including stakeholder dialogue and social accounting is required. 

Cooper (2004) argues that social accounting is justified through the lens of the social 

contract and is therefore a way to consider the benefit that organisations provide society �± or 

in terms of this thesis, football clubs provide to supporters. 

 

2.2.3 Section  summary  

Section 2.2.2 has established the social contract between supporters and their football clubs 

and in doing so we may accept that fans are not just an important stakeholder of a football 

club, but may also claim moral and social ownership rights. As such, we may now begin to 

investigate what the accountability rights of football fans from their clubs may be. 
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2.3 Part 3  �± Accountability  & transparency  

Accountability systems are a key part of a social contract (Deegan, 2002; Gray, Brennan, et 

al., 2014) and can aid organisations in enacting social relationships (Bovens, 2009). This 

section considers the concept of accountability, how it relates to transparency, accounting, 

and reporting, as well as taking a look at the social and critical accounting literature that can 

be useful in understanding how football clubs can enact their accountability to supporters.  

 

2.3.1 Accountability  

Accountability concerns accountors, in this case football clubs and owners, being 

answerable to accountees - a community of others, in this case supporters (Arrington & 

Francis, 1993). Thus, this thesis recognises that accountability systems are a key part of 

how football clubs and other organisations enact their responsibility to society (Baudot et al., 

2020), specifically how football clubs can be accountable to supporters.  

Fox (2007) advises that accountability is inherently relational as one actor is accountable to 

another which follows Gray, Brennan, et al. (2014) who advise that accountability arises from 

responsibility within relationships (Gray, Adams, et al., 2014; Gray et al., 1996). Gray et al. 

(1996) posit that this relational accountability involves two broad aspects: required actions 

and providing accounts of those actions. In their later work, they delineate this into a split 

between responsibility and accountability (Gray, Adams, et al., 2014). A common definition 

of accountability also comes from the work of Gray and colleagues:  

 

�³�«�D���G�X�W�\���W�R���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R���W�K�R�V�H���Z�K�R���K�D�Y�H���D���U�L�J�K�W���W�R���L�W�´��(Gray, Adams, et al., 
2014, p. 7) 

 

Based on the social contract between clubs and fans, and fans�¶ position as social owners, I 

argue that supporters have a right to certain information from their clubs. This information 

may be seen as the accounts that should be given by clubs, owners and directors as to their 

execution of responsibility in their stewardship of clubs. 

Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) continue to discuss the difference between responsibility and 

accountability and advise that the law often sets out the minimum level of responsibility and 

accountability, but they are not equal, and the law often enacts responsibility, but not 

accountability. They contend that companies producing financial accounts is one of very few 

�H�[�D�P�S�O�H�V���R�I���Z�K�H�U�H���W�K�H�U�H���L�V���D�Q�\���D�O�L�J�Q�P�H�Q�W���R�I���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�V�¶���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���D�Q�G��

accountability. 
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There is consensus in the literature, however, that it is society that determines the remit of 

accountability, not organisations (Arrington & Francis, 1993; Cooper, 2004; Dillard, 2007; 

Gray et al., 1988) and that society should play a significant role in determining organisational 

accountability (Baudot et al., 2020). Applying this concept, we may take a view that 

accountability systems can improve the relationship between football clubs and that the fans 

�V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���N�H�\���L�Q���V�H�W�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H���U�H�P�L�W���R�I���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�Llity. 

Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) �S�U�H�V�H�Q�W���D���µ�V�L�P�S�O�H���P�R�G�H�O���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶���D�Q�G���S�O�D�F�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�V����

which they describe �D�V���µ�F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�V�¶�����D�W���W�K�H���F�H�Q�W�U�H�� 

 

Figure 9: Simple Model of Accountability (Gray, Adams, et al., 2014, p. 52) 

 

Although the most common use of this model is in Agency Theory that shows the 

relationship between a director and owner of a business (Jensen & Meckling, 1976), Gray, 

Adams, et al. (2014, p. 51) argue that this model is generalizable to any relationship where 

there is a right to information, therefore we may apply it the relationship between football 

clubs and their supporters. 

The social contract is the relationship in the middle of the model. The model defines 

accountee and accountor, the accountor would be the football club, as they are providing an 

account to the accountee�����W�K�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�����7�K�H���µ�G�L�V�F�K�D�U�J�H���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶���W�R���W�K�H���U�L�J�K�W���K�D�Q�G��

side is the information flow from club to supporter and the left hand side box is what 

supporters provide to clubs, i.e. fan equity (see Figure 10). 
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Figure 10: Simple Model of Accountability provisionally adjusted for the football social 

contract 

 

Dillard (2007), Dillard and Brown (2015) and Baudot et al. (2020) extend the idea of the 

implicit social contract more specifically t�R���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���L�Q���W�K�H���L�G�H�D���R�I���D�Q���µ�H�W�K�L�F���R�I��

�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶���L�Q���Z�K�L�F�K they argue that companies, by exercising their right to use societal 

�U�H�V�R�X�U�F�H�V�����H�Q�J�D�J�H���L�Q���D���³�N�L�Q�G���R�I���V�X�S�U�D-�F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�X�D�O���R�E�O�L�J�D�W�L�R�Q�´��(Baudot et al., 2020, p. 602) 

and accept responsibility to multiple stakeholders (thus it assumes a pluristic democracy 

approach, see section 2.4.5.2). Similar to the social contract concept, companies exercise 

their duties by providing goods, services, jobs, and investment, in exchange for society 

granting them human, natural, technological, and financial resources (Dillard & Brown, 

2015). 

Notably, the ethic of accountability involves a demonstration of fulfilment of responsibility by 

the giving of accounts by accountors. This is a desirable goal for the supporter-club 

relationship as it requires the accountors to attend to historic and physical interrelatedness 

between parties, as well as taking a long term view (Baudot et al., 2020; Dillard, 2007) which 

for this study may translate into the protection of the history, culture, infrastructure, and 

future �R�I���D���F�O�X�E�����,�W���L�V���Q�R�W���D���³one-time�����L�V�R�O�D�W�H�G���H�Y�H�Q�W�´�����U�D�W�K�H�U���D�Q��ongoing process, which 

translates to the continual relationship that fans enjoy with their clubs (Dillard, 2007).  

An ethic of accountability, however, entails accountor�V���D�F�W�L�Q�J���³�D�V���D���P�H�P�E�H�U���R�I���D�Q���R�Q�J�R�L�Q�J��

�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�´, and recognize their place within that community (Baudot et al., 2020, p. 600). 

�7�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H�����W�K�R�V�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�D�W���W�U�\���W�R���H�O�L�F�L�W���F�K�D�Q�J�H�����L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���W�K�L�V���S�U�R�M�H�F�W�����P�D�\���E�H���³�G�R�R�P�H�G���W�R���I�D�L�O�´��
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(Paterson et al., 2021, p. 5) if those in power cannot be enlisted in what Baudot et al. (2020) 

�G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H���D�V���µ�I�H�O�W-�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶�����Z�K�L�F�K���V�H�H�P�V���D�E�V�H�Q�W���I�R�U���V�R�P�H���F�O�X�E�V���D�Q�G���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�� 

Equally, Paterson et al. (2021) argue that true accountability requires acountees to be 

participative, and accountors to consent be held to account. Dillard (2007, p. 239) continues 

�W�K�D�W���³�H�Q�O�L�J�K�W�H�Q�H�G���G�H�P�R�F�U�D�W�L�F���S�U�R�F�H�V�V�H�V�´���D�Q�G���³�H�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���P�R�Q�L�W�R�U�L�Q�J���V�\�V�W�H�P�V�´���D�U�H���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�G���I�R�U��

the ethic of accountability to work effectively. Currently, both of these are missing in the 

football industry, and where the Fan Led Review and White Paper pay attention to the 

democratic involvement of fans, it may not provide the effective monitoring by the wider 

community that would be needed for the ethic of accountability to work effectively. This 

reflects �'�L�O�O�D�U�G�¶�V (2007) �D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W���W�K�D�W���Z�K�L�O�H���O�D�Z�V���K�D�Y�H���E�H�J�X�Q���W�R���F�R�G�L�I�\���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�V�¶��

relationship with society, there is no substitute for a true ethic of accountability. 

 

2.3.2 Why support ers have a r ight to information : morals and 

power  

Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) argue that organisations have a moral responsibility to account 

for their actions, which is supported by Gray, Brennan, et al. (2014, p. 269) who argue that 

social and moral contexts determine relationships and thus accountability. They argue that to 

�G�H�P�D�Q�G���D�Q���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���L�V���D���³�E�D�V�L�F���Q�R�U�P�D�W�L�Y�H���G�H�P�D�Q�G�´���Z�K�L�F�K���G�H�U�L�Y�H�V���I�U�R�P���V�R�F�L�H�W�\�¶�V���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S��

with organisations. 

The social and moral context of a club and its fans is based on the mutual commitment of a 

social contract and position of fans as social owners, as discussed above. Therefore, it may 

be argued that fans have a moral right to demand an account from their clubs. Thus, Morrow 

(1999, p. 157) discusses supporters�¶ rights to information from a moral perspective. He 

advises that supporters, among others, feel that there is a moral responsibility of 

accountability towards �W�K�H�P���G�X�H���W�R���D���³�P�R�U�D�O���R�U���Q�D�W�X�U�D�O���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\�´�� 

This argument is supported by Kelly et al. (2012) who argues that football is not behaving in 

a way that reflects it social responsibility and that it place more emphasis on stakeholder 

accountability.  

This can be further understood through the lens of stakeholder theory, which Morrow (2000) 

identifies as being of relevance in the football industry due to the greater social demands for 

accountability than for normal businesses.   

Cooper (2004) advises that the social contract subsumes both shareholder and stakeholder 

theories with the stakeholder approach being a way in which an organisation can achieve 

social accountability. Byerly (2013) further suggests that stakeholder theory brings 
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businesses into an acknowledged social contract as Freeman (1984) conceptualised the firm 

as having social obligations due to their significant economic and social power. As discussed 

above, because supporters are effectively a club�¶s community and key stakeholders, but 

clubs have the power in the relationship, this approach encourages clubs to provide better 

accounts to supporters. 

Rather than a moral right to information, Rached (2016) argues that the need for 

accountability arises from the need to prevent the abuse of power within relationships 

(Dillard & Vinnari, 2019). Here, we may draw on Owen (2008) who argues that despite some 

seeing accountability as a conservative balance (Tinker et al., 1991) it actually is a radical 

concept as it requires the powerful to be accountable to the relatively powerless. Dillard and 

Vinnari (2019, p. 35) further propose that �³properly designed and implemented accountability 

systems provide a means for limiting the power of the power �K�R�O�G�H�U�´ as well as legitimising 

their power, thus providing means by which power can be both constrained and legitimised 

(Rached, 2016). Gray, Adams, et al. (2014, p. 8) agree and discuss how a power imbalance 

in relationships means that the more the power of an organisation, the greater the need for it 

to provide �D���³�I�X�O�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���R�I���V�W�H�Z�D�U�G�V�K�L�S�´. As clubs, owners and directors hold the power in 

the relationship and the supporters very little, increased levels of accountability may be thus 

understood to be necessary in the relationship. 

Similarly, Gray (2006) argues that the greater the physical or moral distance between 

parties, the greater the need for accountability. In a very close relationship, such as with 

friends, only very informal accounts are required, where in more formalised relationships 

with more distance, more formality is required. Gray (2006) argues that this is where the 

concept of accountability really starts to matter and where more �I�R�U�P�D�O���µ�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�¶���D�U�H��

expected. 

As can be seen in Section 2.1.3.2, there is a widening gap between supporters and non-

traditional owners, suggesting that more accountability is required in the football industry 

than previously was the case when owners were more likely to be local businesspeople. This 

may be especially true as Gray, Brennan, et al. (2014) argue that formal relationships 

actually discourage closeness which supports the concept that clubs need to produce better, 

formal reports for supporters. 

Thielemann (2000) further suggests that the more a relationship is governed by the 

economic, the more distant it will be. The more commercialised and economically orientated 

environment that football operates in today suggests that this may widen the gap further 

between clubs, owners and directors on one hand and supporters on the other. 
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2.3.3 Transparency  

A precursor to accountability is transparency (Barth & Schipper, 2008), which is generally 

thought o�I���D�V���D���³�S�U�H�U�H�T�X�L�V�L�W�H���I�R�U���G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�L�Q�J���P�R�U�H���X�V�H�I�X�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�´��and 

improving organisational accountability (Andon et al., 2015, p. 989). Parris et al. (2016, p. 

228) highlight the link between the two in that �³transparency implies that stakeholders have 

the ability to hold organizations accountable� .́ It is argued to limit abuses of power (Cheng, 

2011) due to a reduction in information asymmetry (Quintiliani, 2019), without which an 

accountee may not be able to hold an accountor to account. 

Barth and Schipper (2008) note the physical meaning of transparency �± the transmission of 

light that allows one to see through an object �± and compare this to the notions of openness 

and communication desirable from organisations. Parris et al. (2016) advise that 

transparency has many definitions and in reviewing 46 academic articles, observe that 

openness was a common theme and offer this definition:  

 

�³�«�Whe extent to which a stakeholder perceives an organization provides learning 
�R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V���D�E�R�X�W���L�W�V�H�O�I�´��(Parris et al., 2016, p. 233) 

 

We may posit that it is these learning opportunities that allow for accountability, and thus a 

more transparent reporting framework in club-supporter relations would allow for greater 

learning opportunities that reduce information asymmetry and thus create greater 

accountability from clubs, owners and directors to fans.  

 

   Benefits of transparency  & accountability  

The purpose of accountability and transparency is to elicit improved behaviour. Dillard and 

Vinnari (2019) advance this by arguing that the act of being accountable means to evoke 

responsible behaviour, but that accountability is not an end in itself, rather meaningful 

consequences, such as improved governance, are the aim. Fox (2007, p. 667) asserts a 

similar argument for transparency, in �W�K�D�W���L�W���D�O�O�R�Z�V���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���W�K�H���R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�\���W�R���³�S�X�U�V�X�H��

�V�W�U�D�W�H�J�L�H�V���R�I���F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W�L�Y�H���F�K�D�Q�J�H�´�����7�K�L�V���W�K�H�V�L�V���D�U�J�X�H�V���W�K�D�W���E�\���H�P�E�U�D�F�L�Q�J���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U��

accountability through greater transparency and disclosure in the form of a new supporter 

focused reporting framework, football clubs may be encouraged to improve behaviours and 

foster their accountability to supporters which may go some way to healing the broken social 

contract. In this respect accountability and accounting become the vehicle for change.  
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This process has been argued by others, for example Burchell et al. (1980) that an 

improvement in reporting practices may aid a change in governance practices as: 

 

�³�:�K�D�W���L�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�H�G���I�R�U���V�K�D�S�H�V���W�K�H���Y�L�H�Z�V���R�I���Z�K�D�W���L�V���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W�´��(found in Morrow, 
2013, p. 305) 

 

Put bluntly, Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) state that nobody likes showing data that makes them 

look bad, and as accountability is the result of responsibility, ergo, it cycles back to influence 

how an actor enacts their responsibility. 

Regarding transparency specifically, there is much academic discussion regarding the 

benefits of transparency. This largely focuses on the financial benefits to profit making 

organisations such as a lower cost of capital (Barth et al., 2013; Easley & O'Hara, 2004; 

Mazanai & Fatoki, 2012; Quintiliani, 2019). However, Parris et al. (2016) also list employee, 

consumer and governance benefits such as higher employee engagement, better consumer 

brand attitudes, firm credibility, trust in the organisation, better stakeholder relationships, 

better business practices and decision-making, as well as societal benefits such as a 

more equitable balance of power.  

If we pick out from this list the benefits of relevance to this thesis, we may posit that 

better transparency and disclosure may help improve a football club�¶s business practice 

and decision-making, towards a more sustainable basis, which should allow for a more 

equitable balance of power and thus greater supporter satisfaction and trust in football 

clubs, owners and directors.  

 

   Improving  trust  

Dillard (2007) advises that accountability depends on open, trustworthy discourse between 

actors, in this instance clubs and the community of fans. Ergo, transparency has been linked 

by several authors to trust within organisation-stakeholder relationships. Darke and Ritchie 

(2007) argue that stakeholders have become increasingly sceptical, or �³on guard�´��(Parris et 

al., 2016, p. 223) and Hein (2002) argues that a lack of openness increases stakeholder 

scepticism and reduces trust and confidence that organisations operate to social and ethical 

standards. This argument is captured by Hermalin (2014): 

 

�³�:�H���D�U�H���V�X�V�S�L�F�L�R�X�V���R�I���Z�K�D�W���J�R�H�V���R�Q���E�H�K�L�Q�G���F�O�R�V�H�G���G�R�R�U�V�´��(Hermalin, 2014, p. 342) 
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Therefore, Halter and de Arruda (2009) and Misangyi et al. (2008) argue that transparency 

may be a solution for reducing stakeholder distrust by bringing issues into the open that are 

usually left in the dark (Parris et al., 2016). Parris et al. (2016) continue that organisations 

should be able to improve stakeholder relations if they embrace transparency as a core 

value as it is necessary to create a sense of trustworthiness and accountability, which 

agrees with Merlo et al. (2018) who find that in a customer relationship, transparency 

can create deeper trust. 

Relating this to football clubs we may argue that making the operations of a club more 

transparent via disclosures in a new reporting framework will create greater trust from 

supporters to clubs, owners and directors as they will be able to see if any issues or 

mismanagement are occurring at their club by potentially bad owners and therefore be in a 

position to act, either in the form of protest or via one of the methods recommended in the 

FLR, such as via a regulator. 

However, again a democratic approach is vital. Dillard (2007, p. 239) advises that if the 

�³�G�L�V�F�R�X�U�V�H���L�V���F�R�Q�W�U�R�O�O�H�G���E�\���S�R�Z�H�U�I�X�O�����V�H�O�I-�L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���D�J�H�Q�W�V�´���W�K�D�W���H�[�S�O�R�L�W���U�H�V�R�X�U�F�H�V���I�R�U��

personal gain, as is the case with some self-interested owners at football clubs, then 

accountability becomes much less feasible.  

 

   Improving  governance  

Haslam et al. (2019, p. 1) �G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���D�V���D���³�W�H�F�K�Q�R�O�R�J�\���R�I���J�R�Y�H�U�Q�D�Q�F�H�´��and argue 

that while governance shapes accounting, the vice versa is also true. Ergo, improvements in 

accounting and transparency provide improvements in governance, which ultimately is the 

aim of better accounting (Masquefa et al., 2017). 

Similarly, transparency is argued to be the starting point for the principles of corporate 

governance (Popa et al., 2009), and good governance in sport as highlighted by Henry and 

Lee (2004) who provide seven principles of good governance, listing transparency and 

accountability to stakeholders as their first two (followed by democracy, responsibility, equity, 

efficiency and effectiveness). Those companies that are better governed show more 

transparency and vice versa (Beekes & Brown, 2006; Fung, 2014) 

In reporting terms, disclosure is the primary method that companies use to become 

transparent (Solomon, 2010) and in this respect, Fung (2014) argues that disclosures are a 

fundamental of a strong corporate governance framework as they provide the basis for 

informed decision-making by all stakeholders. Fung (2014) explains the relationship of 

transparency and accountability with corporate governance and provides a diagram that 
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shows what he describes as the basic principles of corporate governance: transparency, 

accountability, and corporate control as shown in Figure 11. 

 

Figure 11: Corporate Governance Framework (Fung, 2014)  

 

Fung (2014) continues that transparency has been embedded in governance through market 

regulators which ensures timely and reliable disclosure of financial information and creation 

of standards that companies must follow. We are beginning to see the regulations enter 

football with the recent FLR and its 47 recommendations for improvements. However, 

despite these, from the above we may posit that the FLR needs to put more emphasis on 

transparency and accountability to be successful. 

 

2.3.4 Limits and levels  of t ransparency and accountability  

Fox (2007) argues that both transparency and accountability share a conceptual problem: 

they are rarely well defined with precision, and they can mean all things to all people, 

however he does go on �W�R���V�D�\���W�K�D�W���³�\�R�X���N�Q�R�Z���L�W���Z�K�H�Q���\�R�X���V�H�H���L�W�´�����S�����������������,�Q���W�K�D�W���U�H�V�S�H�F�W�����L�W��

is important to define what transparency means in the context of this thesis. For that 

purpose, transparency is seen to be the disclosure of a football clubs operations relative to 

the information needs of loyal committed supporters so that they can hold their clubs, 

owners and directors to account. 

Parris et al. (2016) identifies that many companies are resistant to transparency, due to 

legitimate and illegitimate reasons, including hiding unethical or illegal behaviour, a lack of 

awareness, to maintain competitive advantage or due to a lack of trust of internal and 

external stakeholders.  

As we have seen in Sections 2.2.1 and 2.3.2, supporters are relatively powerless in their 

relationship with clubs and this lack of power provides only a weak level of accountability. 
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Grant and Keohane (2005) posit a list of seven levels of accountability including legal at the 

top and public reputational at the bottom. The limit of fans power, often to mere protests, 

may be equated to the lowest level �± public reputational. We may therefore argue that 

supporters should be entitled to higher forms of accountability, and a new, supporter focused 

reporting framework is one way that can help supporters to reach a level of accountability 

closer to a legal level. However, Grant and Keohane (2005) do point out that the lesser 

levels of accountability such as public reputational are the most abstract and are therefore 

nebulous, unlike their legal sister that is much more clear and tangible (Baudot et al., 2020).  

Fox (2007) makes a conceptual distinction between different types of transparency and 

accountability. He argues that transparency can be clear or opaque. Opaque transparency 

involves the disclosure of information that does not reveal the real behaviours of 

organisations, decision-making practices or results of actions, as it may be presented as 

�µ�G�D�W�D�¶���U�D�W�K�H�U���W�K�D�Q���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�D�E�O�H���µ�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�¶���W�K�D�W���L�V���H�D�V�L�O�\���G�L�J�H�V�W�L�E�O�H���E�\ users or may 

simply be untrue. In contrast, clear transparency refers to understandable disclosures based 

on reliable information that shed light on responsibilities. 

Fox (2007) also argues that clear transparency in itself is still not enough, rather 

transparency needs to lead to repercussion. Here he describes the soft and hard �³faces of 

accountability�  ́(Fox, 2007, p. 668, see Figure 12). He describes the soft face as 

�µ�D�Q�V�Z�H�U�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶�����G�U�D�Z�L�Q�J���I�U�R�P���D���G�H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q���E�\��Schedler (1999) as the right to demand answers. 

For hard accountability he argues the need for consequence. Comparing this to the 

definitions in Section 2.3.1, by Gray, Adams, et al. (2014) and Gray, Brennan, et al. (2014) 

who refer to �H�[�S�O�D�Q�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�Q�G���U�L�J�K�W�V���W�R���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�����Z�H���P�D�\���S�R�V�L�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�L�V���I�L�W�V���)�R�[�¶�V���G�H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q��

of soft accountability, and it may be argued that for clubs to produce a new reporting 

framework may, in itself, not be enough. Rather, there may ne�H�G���W�R���E�H���µ�K�D�U�G���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶��

for clubs that break rules or fail to report. Therefore this may require a legal level of 

accountability (using the terminology of Grant and Keohane (2005) above), by, for example, 

a potential regulator as recommended in the FLR that results in sanctions or other 

consequences. 

Cooper and Johnston (2012), however, argue that in football true fan accountability is 

difficult to achieve. They draw on the takeover of Manchester United by the Glazer family 

amid significant fan protests and argue that if there were true fan accountability, then the 

takeover would not have happened. They make a psychoanalytic argument that in the face 

�R�I���F�U�L�W�L�F�L�V�P�����W�K�H���*�O�D�]�H�U�V���P�D�\���V�X�I�I�H�U���I�U�R�P���D�Q���³�H�V�V�H�Q�W�L�D�O�O�\���P�D�G��conviction of being an 

au�W�R�Q�R�P�R�X�V���V�R�Y�H�U�H�L�J�Q���L�Q�G�L�Y�L�G�X�D�O�´��(Cooper & Johnston, 2012, p. 623) with no feeling of 

empathy or accountability to fans, only to the capital providers who funded their takeover. 

Fox (2007, p. 665) makes a similar, but more straightforward argument that if actors are 
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�³�V�K�D�P�H�O�H�V�V�´�����R�U���Z�H�D�U���Z�K�D�W���D���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�R�U���W�R��Cleland (2010, p. 15) refers to as the owners 

�³�L�Q�Y�L�V�L�E�O�H���V�X�L�W���R�I���D�U�P�R�X�U���W�R���G�H�I�O�H�F�W �W�K�H���G�H�U�L�V�L�R�Q�´���D�V���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�H�G���L�Q��Section 2.1.2.6) then they 

may not be affected by public exposure (what Grant and Keohane (2005) describe as weak 

public reputational accountability) and therefore soft accountability may have no impact, 

furthering the argument for hard accountability. 

Figure 12: A breakdown of transparency and accountability (Fox, 2007, p. 669) 

 

 

2.4 Part 4 - Accounting and reporting  

This section looks at traditional, social and critical views of accounting to develop the 

argument that accounting can be much more than technical financial reporting (Brown, 2009; 

Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, 2019) and even take an emancipatory position in representing 

the views of marginalised parties (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003), as supporters are viewed in 

this study. 

 

2.4.1  Traditional accounting  

Atrill and McLaney (2015) are among the majority of authors of traditional accountancy 

textbooks who explain financial reporting as a quantified general-purpose review of a 

�F�R�P�S�D�Q�\�¶�V���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����Z�K�L�F�K��Mellemvik et al. (1988) explains serves two basic functions �± to 

show how well management has exercised its responsibilities of stewardship (i.e. 

accountability), and to provide a basis of decision-making to multiple stakeholders.  

However, current practice and reporting comes under common criticism such as it being 

myopic (Gray, Brennan, et al., 2014), backwards looking (Morrow, 2013), not taking into 

account intangible factors (De Villiers et al., 2014), and being too focused on shareholder 

needs (Brown & Dillard, 2014, 2015; Dillard & Vinnari, 2019; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003). 

As such, there has been significant progress in accounting and reporting developments over 

the past few decades. Both Morrow (2013) and Plumley (2014) identify that accounting is not 
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a static process, but rather an ongoing and continually developing one. Morrow (2013, p. 

297) �W�D�O�N�V���R�I���W�K�H���³�O�R�Q�J���V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J���G�H�E�D�W�H���R�Q���W�K�H���Q�D�W�X�U�H���D�Q�G���S�X�U�S�R�V�H�´���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�����D�Q�G���W�K�L�V���L�V��

debated by Plumley (2014) in discussing the changing accounting practices around the fair 

value of assets. 

Literature in two areas that can help us to evaluate accounting and reporting in relation to 

how it can help to improve governance practices in football are social accounting and critical 

accounting. 

 

2.4.2  Social accounting  

Over the past three decades, a �µ�V�R�F�L�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���S�U�R�M�H�F�W�¶���K�D�V���G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J��

literature to assist organisations in fulfilling their social responsibilities, and thus social 

contract (Dillard, 2007). More commonly known as social accounting, it argues that 

organisations have become a seat of increasing economic and political power (Gray & 

Bebbington, 2007), and they serve as a potential source of un-sustainability rather than a 

driver (Gray & Bebbington, 2007).  

Social accounting has also been termed ESG disclosure, Corporate Social Performance (De 

Villiers & Hsiao, 2018; Gray, Brennan, et al., 2014), social and environmental accounting 

(Gray et al., 1996), triple bottom line (Elkington, 1998), sustainability reporting (Kolk, 2003), 

intellectual capital statements (Bukh et al., 2001), and integrated reporting (Adams & 

Simnett, 2011). Andon et al. (2015) argue that these multiple efforts show that accounting is 

in need of serious reform. However, all varieties mostly focus on environmental disclosures, 

rather than social as in this study. 

In recent decades, there has been more awareness of �R�U�J�D�Q�L�]�D�W�L�R�Q�V�¶���V�L�W�X�D�W�H�G�Q�H�V�V���Z�L�W�K�L�Q����

and dependence upon, social systems (Brown & Dillard, 2014) that has led to increased 

focus on the purpose of accounting towards non-financial disclosures (Popa et al., 2009), 

rather than financial monetised values based on neo-classical economics, which is just one 

of multiple possible accountings (Brown & Dillard, 2015; Gray, 2002). Gray, Adams, et al. 

(2014) �D�U�J�X�H���W�K�D�W���P�H�U�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���V�K�R�Z���D���³�«�S�U�R�I�R�X�Q�G�O�\���Q�D�U�U�R�Z���L�P�D�J�H�´���R�I���D�Q��

organisation that could be extended to show much more about its operations (Gray, Adams, 

et al., 2014, p. 4). In this way, Morrow (2013) argues that by expanding on the concept of 

what is reported, football clubs may show more positive images of themselves within their 

societal role than current reporting practices allow. 

Within this development, the concept of accountability has become more of a central 

theme of accounting (Paterson et al., 2021).Therefore, Owen et al. (1997) advise that 
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social accounting is aimed at making the operation of an organisation transparent and 

Gray (2000) explains that it involves the preparation and publication of organisational 

accounts regarding social, environmental, employee, community, customer and other 

stakeholder interactions and activities and also the outcome and consequences. 

�6�R�F�L�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���F�D�Q���E�H���V�H�H�Q���D�V���³�S�L�W�W�H�G���D�J�D�L�Q�V�W���W�K�H���W�U�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���H�V�W�D�E�O�L�V�K�P�H�Q�W�´��

just as the environmental movement is pitted against conventional business logic (Brown & 

Dillard, 2013a). Social accounting therefore attempts to contest the monologism of 

mainstream accounting and the dominant business logic it embraces (Brown, 2009; Gray, 

2006). I argue that football clubs are unlike normal businesses due to the huge social focus, 

and therefore some owners self-interested monologic economic logic is inappropriate. 

Further other owners over focus on sporting logic, often at the cost of economic logic, put the 

clubs at risk and fail to meet their accountability duties to society, which are becoming 

greater (Adams et al., 2017; Cleland, 2010; Football Governance Research Centre, 2006; 

Morrow, 2021). 

The developing importance of social accounting is highlighted in legislation, albeit largely 

limited to listed companies. Montecchia et al. (2016) informs us of the requirement to 

�G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H���&�6�5���L�V�V�X�H�V���E�\���D�O�O���(�X�U�R�S�H�D�Q���O�L�V�W�H�G���F�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V�����X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���(�X�U�R�S�H�D�Q���3�D�U�O�L�D�P�H�Q�W�¶�V��

directive 2014/95/EU on non-financial information (in Ribeiro et al., 2019) and likewise in the 

UK where quoted companies are required to produce a strategic report including information 

on environmental issues, diversity and human rights under the Companies Act 2006 

���6�W�U�D�W�H�J�L�F���D�Q�G���'�L�U�H�F�W�R�U�V�¶���5�H�S�R�U�W�V�����5�H�J�X�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�������������´��(PWC, 2014, p. 7). However, social 

accounting is a concept that has largely not been embraced by the football industry as BDO 

(2021) find that 83% of clubs do not have an ESG strategy. 

Dillard (2007) advises that social accounting has been successful in opening up new 

accountings as it seeks to engage new practice. He continues that the environmental 

accounting arena provides a strong example that can be followed by others, such as this 

project, who wish to pursue similar interests. For example, many social accounting projects 

develop new decision making models or performance reports often in partnership with 

organisations (Brown & Dillard, 2013a), an approach that is reflected in the methodology of 

this study. 

However, where Gray, Brennan, et al. (2014, p. 269) posit that social accounting allows us to 

�F�D�V�W���R�I�I���W�K�H���³�V�K�D�F�N�O�H�V�´���R�I���W�U�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���F�R�Q�V�W�U�D�L�Q�W�V�����D�Q�G��has been developed with 

enthusiasm by some organisations and is not artificially stifled by minimal legislative 

reporting compliance, it is not without criticism. Dey and Gibbon (2014) highlight that as 

social accounting is voluntary and unregulated, it has elements of unreliability ���2�¶�'�Z�\�H�U���	��
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Owen, 2005; Swift & Dando, 2002), incompleteness and unevenness (Adams, 2004; Belal, 

2002; Bouten et al., 2011; Gray & Bebbington, 2007), and can have the effect of 

marginalising or manipulating stakeholder views (Archel et al., 2011; Gallhofer & Haslam, 

2003; Unerman & Bennett, 2004). Further, the lack of significant legislative progress has 

even led Owen (2008, p. 154), a leading academic in the social accounting field, to describe 

�L�W���D�V���E�H�L�Q�J���³�F�K�U�R�Q�L�F�O�H�V���R�I���Z�D�V�W�H�G���W�L�P�H�´�� 

�7�K�D�W���V�D�L�G�����V�R�F�L�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���K�D�V���D���³�J�U�R�Z�L�Q�J���D�I�I�L�Q�L�W�\�´���Z�L�W�K���F�U�L�W�L�F�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���O�L�W�Hrature, which 

also argues for better accounts (Brown, 2017; Dillard, 2007), and therefore both are seen as 

useful in informing this project. 

 

2.4.3  Review of relevant c ritical accounting  literature  

Conventional accounting is commonly seen as a technical practice, a somewhat taken for 

granted mechanical recording (Brown, 2009; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, 2019) associated 

�Z�L�W�K���D�Q���R�Q�W�R�O�R�J�\���R�I���µ�I�D�F�W�¶�����D�Q�G���D�Q���D�X�U�D���D�Q�G���S�H�U�F�H�S�W�L�R�Q���R�I���R�E�M�H�F�W�L�Y�L�W�\��(Andon et al., 2015; 

Brown, 2009; Gallhofer et al., 2015). Thus, financial measures are trusted due to their 

apparent impersonality (Baxter et al., 2019; Porter, 1995; Power, 2004). As they are based 

on economic reasoning, they are seen as divorced from social interest (Brown, 2009). 

Further, mainstream accounting literature is dominated by agency theory and self-interested 

utility, and anything that sees utility as anything other than wealth maximisation is in the 

minority (Baxter et al., 2019). 

However, one of the major criticisms of current accounting praxis in the social and critical 

accounting literature is that, rather than serving the needs of multiple stakeholders as taught 

in mainstream texts such as Atrill and McLaney (2015), it is in fact institutionalised to meet 

the need of capital providers (Atkins et al., 2015; Brown & Dillard, 2014, 2015; Dillard & 

Vinnari, 2019; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003; Morrow, 2013) �Z�K�R���D�U�H���D���F�R�P�S�D�Q�\�¶�V���S�U�L�P�D�U�\��

stakeholder group (Brown et al., 2015; IASB, 2010; Johnson H & Kaplan, 1991; Malsch, 

2013; Young, 2006; Zeff, 2003). It is argued to be captured by the dominant monologic 

forces of capital markets (Baudot et al., 2020; Baxter et al., 2019; Brown, 2009, 2017; Brown 

& Dillard, 2014, 2015; Dey et al., 2008; Dillard, 2007; Dillard & Vinnari, 2019; Dillard & 

Yuthas, 2013; Gallhofer et al., 2015; Järvinen, 2016) who control the dominant narrative 

(Brown & Dillard, 2015). 

It is argued that this causes narratives, such as social or environmental, to be subordinated 

to the financial (De Villiers & Hsiao, 2018; Dillard & Vinnari, 2019; Gray, Adams, et al., 2014; 

Morrow, 2013). Thus, in critical accounting literature, conventional accounting is criticised for 
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being a central feature in serving an established and conventional neoliberal capitalist 

business logic that draws upon narrow neo-classical economic values that are endemic to 

western society (Ferry & Slack, 2021; Gibson, 2000; Paterson et al., 2021) and thus reiterate 

the hegemonic socio-political established order (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2019; Tinker, 1984, 

1985).  

This institutionalisation is argued to arise because accounting takes place in, and is thus 

influenced by, a wider political and social context (Moran, 2010) which is currently dominated 

by the neoliberal political view (Dillard & Vinnari, 2019) which embraces the neo-classical 

economic principle of organisations as profit-maximisers (Waddock, 2010). Farooq and 

Maroun (2018) citing Atkins et al. (2015), Brown and Dillard (2014) and Dillard and Reynolds 

(2008) all argue that the institutionalised models of financial accounting are stifling 

developments in areas such as social reporting. 

Although authors such as De Villiers and Maroun (2018) argue that annual reporting has 

moved from simply being an account for financial providers to providing information for many 

stakeholders, Dillard and Vinnari (2019, p. 18) counter that the current approach to social 

�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���V�L�P�S�O�\���U�H�L�Q�I�R�U�F�H�V���W�K�H���³�V�W�D�W�X�V���T�X�R�´���R�I���W�K�H���L�Q�V�W�L�W�X�W�L�R�Q�D�O�L�V�H�G���Q�R�W�L�R�Q���W�K�D�W���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���L�V��

�I�R�U���W�K�H���Q�H�H�G�V���R�I���³�S�U�L�Y�L�O�H�J�H�G�´���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���F�D�S�L�W�D�O���S�U�R�Y�Lders (Dillard & Vinnari, 2019, p. 25). 

Dillard and Vinnari (2019, p. 21) argue that current approaches simply suggest that all that is 

�Q�H�H�G�H�G���L�V���D���³�W�Z�H�D�N�L�Q�J���D�U�R�X�Q�G���W�K�H���H�G�J�H�V�´�����D���F�U�L�W�L�F�L�V�P���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�G���L�Q���V�R�F�L�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���E�\��Gray, 

Adams, et al. (2014) who argue that despite social accounting having great potential to tell 

alternative stories, current practice is merely a supplement to the view of the world shaped 

�F�R�Q�Y�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�����D�Q�G���L�V���W�K�X�V���³�V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W�O�\���D�Q�G���D�U�W�L�I�L�F�L�D�O�O�\���F�R�Q�V�W�U�D�L�Q�H�G�´��(Gray, Adams, 

et al., 2014, p. 5) 

Dillard and Vinnari (2019, p. 17) �D�U�J�X�H���W�K�D�W���V�R�F�L�D�O���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H�V���X�Q�G�H�U���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�V���³�D�U�H���I�R�U��

disclosure�¶�V���V�D�N�H�´�����S�������������D�Q�G���K�D�Y�H���O�L�W�W�O�H���U�H�J�D�U�G���D�V���W�R���Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���W�K�H���D�F�W�R�U���L�V���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���E�H�L�Q�J���K�H�O�G��

�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�O�H�����D�U�J�X�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���R�W�K�H�U���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�¶���Q�H�H�G�V���D�U�H���Q�R�W���P�H�W���E�\���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�H�G���W�R��

meet the needs of shareholders. 

There are suggestions, most recently by authors who support the work of the International 

Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC) in the most recent version of social accounting, 

Integrated Reporting (<IR>), that social accounting can increase accountability (Adams, 

2015; De Villiers & Hsiao, 2018; McNally & Maroun, 2018), however, these are criticised by 

Dillard and Vinnari (2019, p. 20) as only adding a �³�O�L�W�W�O�H���E�X�W���P�R�U�H�´���W�R���H�[�W�D�Q�W���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�����U�D�W�K�H�U��

than having a profound change. 

Indeed, we see how early advocates of <IR> stress how it can be used as a communication 

to all stakeholders (Eccles & Krzus, 2010) and the IIRC claim that it is of value to all 
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stakeholders through greater transparency and encouragement of sustainable management 

(IIRC, 2021), However, <IR>, and specifically the IIRC, have been criticised, for example by 

Flower (2015), as the focus is now firmly aimed at capital providers:  

 

�³�,�Q�W�H�J�U�D�W�H�G���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J�«���D�L�P�V���W�R���L�P�S�U�R�Y�H���W�K�H���T�X�D�O�L�W�\���R�I���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q��available to 

providers of financial capital to enable a more efficient and productive 

�D�O�O�R�F�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���F�D�S�L�W�D�O���´��IIRC (2021, p. 5, emphasis added) 

 

This has been justified by the IIRC on the basis of the complexity of trying to report for the 

diversity of all stakeholders needs (Adams, 2015; IIRC & EY, 2013). (Adams, 2015; IIRC & 

EY, 2013). However, Brown and Dillard (2014, p. 1132) argue that this shows that <IR> is 

�³�H�P�E�H�G�G�H�G���Z�L�W�K���P�D�L�Q�V�W�U�H�D�P���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�´���� 

It is of no surprise then that Brown and Dillard (2014), investigating whether <IR> broadens 

out and opens up the dialogue and debate about accounting reporting standards, find that 

<IR> provides a limited, one sided approach to assessing reporting and sustainable issues 

that reinforces the telling of the dominant narrative from the organisational perspective. 

Although they find a broadening of topics reported on, a more holistic view and increased 

complexity, they still report an ideological approach that reinforces the hegemonic status 

quo, offering no real fundamental challenges to the established assumptions (Brown & 

Dillard, 2014). Cooper and Morgan (2013, p. 431) thus argue that reports of this nature leave 

�D���³�I�D�O�V�H���L�P�S�U�H�V�V�L�R�Q�´���R�I���L�P�S�U�R�Y�H�P�H�Q�W���L�Q���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���V�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G�V�����D�Q�G���W�K�D�W���D���V�L�Q�J�X�O�D�U���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J��

framework cannot satisfy public interest (Brown & Dillard, 2014). Milne and Gray (2013, p. 

20). Further that i�W���L�V���D���³�P�D�V�W�H�U�S�L�H�F�H���R�I���R�E�I�X�V�F�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���D�Y�R�L�G�D�Q�F�H�´���R�I���G�H�F�D�G�H�V���R�I���V�R�F�L�D�O��

accounting research. 

One might expect then, that <IR> is of use to shareholders. However, research suggests 

that <IR>, despite institutional level support, is actually of little use to capital providers such 

as fund managers and equity analysts (Slack & Tsalavoutas, 2018). 

�6�L�P�L�O�D�U�O�\�����D���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���D�X�W�K�R�U�V���D�O�V�R���V�K�R�Z���G�L�V�D�S�S�R�L�Q�W�P�H�Q�W���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���*�5�,�¶�V���J�U�D�G�X�D�O���V�Z�L�Q�J���I�U�R�P��

stakeholder accountability to business case framings that emphasise the dominance of 

power in current reporting systems (Brown, De Jong, & Lessidrenska, 2009; Brown, de Jong, 

& Levy, 2009; Brown & Dillard, 2014; Levy et al., 2010). Brown and Dillard (2014) argue that 

this can be linked to unequal power relations. 

Like conventional accounting, new reporting methods such as <IR> and GRI reporting are 

again legitimised through the claim of reporting neutral facts. However, Brown and Dillard 
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(2014) argue that this inadequately acknowledges accountings diverse political dimensions. 

The argument that current and emerging systems are not a sufficient solution is also echoed 

by Sinden et al. (2009) who argue that analysis based on cost-benefit cannot solve societies 

issues. Further, Milne and Gray (2013) comment that volunteer-based corporate reporting of 

this nature seems to be moving further away from desired stakeholder accountability thus 

providing greater levels of un-sustainability (Milne & Gray, 2013). 

Indeed, within football, the connection between accounting and the shareholder limits the 

scope and nature of accountability to other stakeholders such as supporters (Cooper & 

Johnston, 2012; Morrow, 2013). Further, the apparent refusal of some clubs and owners to 

change behaviour, and some owners and clubs to act within the supporters interest, we may 

draw parallels with Dillard (2007) who argues the same for businesses who act within the 

prevailing market logic and seemingly historic refusal to change to a more socially focused 

ideology. 

 

  Neutrality or hidden power?  

There is also growing acceptance in the critical accounting literature that accounting 

information is not in fact objective and neutral (Brown, 2009; Gallhofer et al., 2015). Tinker 

(1985) argues that the conventional narrow, technical view fails to question accounting, and 

thus a significant literature has emerged in this regard (Brown, 2009; McNicholas & Barrett, 

�������������2�¶�1�H�L�O�O���H�W���D�O����������������. 

Shellenberger and Nordhaus (2004) argue that conventional accounting wrongly assumes 

that if organisations tell people the facts, they will reach the right conclusions (Brown & 

Dillard, 2013a), therefore encourage us to move beyond this technocratic assumption, and 

investigate the social and political dimensions and implications of accounting, and thus 

engender social justice (Brown & Dillard, 2013a; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003; Gallhofer et al., 

2015). 

As conventional accounting institutions define accounting primary stakeholder group as 

financiers (Brown et al., 2015; IASB, 2010), Brown and Dillard (2014) argue that standard 

setters embrace the neo-liberal political view that sees public interest in terms of efficient 

capital markets and prioritises the wealth maximisation of shareholders (Dillard & Yuthas, 

2013) which reinforces the view of powerful elites that there is no alternative (Brown, 2009; 

Brown & Dillard, 2014). This is furthered by Brown and Dillard (2015) who argue that it is 

controlled by multinational accounting firms and backed by corporate law and property right 
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legislation. As such, accounting can be seen as a social and political practice rather than a 

technical one (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2007; Gallhofer et al., 2015). 

Critical accounting research challenges this institutionalised economic logic and shareholder 

focus (Brown & Dillard, 2015) and argues that the normal mechanisms of calculative 

reporting do not explore non-economic aspects of performance that could help to reach 

wider audiences (Baudot et al., 2020; McKernan & Kosmala MacLullich, 2004). 

Brown and Dillard (2015) argue that Anglo-American capitalist style business logic is ill 

equipped to deal with social issues, which is agreed by Collison et al. (2010) who find that, 

by studying child mortality rates in capitalist countries, even when it works as it should, it 

results in damaging social outcomes. 

This Anglo-American neoliberal ideology embedded within accounting systems worldwide, is 

thought to be displacing social market alternatives (Collison et al., 2010). A few studies have 

looked at how traditional accounting can support sustainability performance and find limited 

results. They even caution against the use of traditional accounting for this purpose (Albelda, 

2011; Grisard et al., 2020; Laine & Vinnari, 2017; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022). 

However, critical accounting attempts to challenge the hegemony of dominant elites. Brown 

and Dillard (2015) refer to the often-hidden influence of powerful interests, particularly when 

there is minimal awareness of hegemonic forces such as the dominant economic logic 

embedded within mainstream neoliberal politics.  

A critical discourse on accounting has emerged that suggests radical change is required, 

placing accounting in a socio-political location which has gained traction both in academia 

and within society (Brown & Dillard, 2013b). As such, Gallhofer and Haslam (2003) argue 

that accounting is a socio-political communicative practice that is captured by repressive 

hegemonic forces, that moves it away from the perspective of Gray (1998), that 

accountability to multiple stakeholders should be the main aim of social accounting, and 

Gray (2000) who argues that social accounts serve an array of purposes, but that the 

discharge of an organisations accountability should be the paramount concern, and thus the 

basis on which the account is judged. Thus, we may assert that the accounts given by 

football clubs should form the basis on which supporters may judge the activities of the 

owners and directors. 

 

  Repression and marginalisation  

Critical accounting literature views mainstream accounting as a repressive function of the 

hegemonic status quo (Brown & Dillard, 2013b; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, 2019; Tinker, 
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1984, 1985) as other, marginalised, stakeholder views are silenced or ignored due to this 

dominant perspective (Paterson et al., 2021). As little interest is paid to the information 

needs of stakeholders other than shareholders, it is therefore repressive of them and where 

stakeholder interests compete, the winning dominant logic is commonly economic (Brown, 

2009).  

The questions are thus posed of what should people be emancipated from? And how can 

accountings better work for them? (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, 2019). Parker (2007) argues 

that the repression of hegemony inherent in mainstream accounting has impacted on 

�P�X�O�W�L�S�O�H���F�R�X�Q�W�U�L�H�V�����F�X�O�W�X�U�H�V���D�Q�G���F�R�Q�W�H�[�W�V�����$���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���V�W�X�G�L�H�V���E�D�F�N���X�S���3�D�U�N�H�U�¶�V���Y�L�H�Z���D�Q�G��

highlight marginalisation on the basis of things such as gender, sexual orientation, age, 

suffering of children, social background, ethnicity, workers, (Brown, 2017; Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 2004; Gallhofer et al., 2015; McClure, 1992). Gibson (2000) finds that modern 

accounting techniques displace aboriginal historic social values as accounting constructs 

such as assets, liabilities and wealth are in conflict with aboriginal societal structures.  

Studies have also identified emancipatory potential of accounting in areas such as feminist 

struggles, labour, environmental (Brown, 2017), disabled, ethnic minorities and Islamic 

perspectives (Kamla & Haque, 2019), and interdepartmentally in organisations (Rodrigue & 

Picard, 2022). McNicholas and Barrett (2005), McNiven and Russell (2005) and Gallhofer 

and Chew (2000) �D�O�V�R���U�H�O�D�W�H���W�K�H���L�G�H�D���W�R���L�Q�G�L�J�H�Q�R�X�V���S�H�R�S�O�H�����V�X�F�K���D�V���0�—�R�U�L���D�Q�G���$�E�R�U�L�J�L�Q�D�O�� 

Similarly, Kamla and Haque (2019) find this view also displace the voices of Muslim 

communities. As neoliberalism has become a dominant world view it displaces other regional 

approaches that they argue is a barrier to revolutionary change as global actors have to 

adhere to dominant IFRS requirements (Kamla & Haque, 2019). 

Based on this view, this thesis views supporters as a marginalised and repressed group 

within the social sphere of the football industry. I argue that they are repressed by the 

hegemonic order of economic and sporting logic that has dominated the game, especially 

since the significant economic developments of the 1990s (see section 2.2.2). This 

economic hegemony, I argue, is influencing not just clubs, but also the governing bodies of 

football such as the EPL and EFL (See section 1.3.3). I argue that the dominance of league 

and clubs�¶ attitudes towards economic and sporting achievements marginalises the moral 

owners of clubs �± fans. Drawing parallels, fans may almost be seen as indigenous to the 

football landscape and have been marginalised by forces overtaken by dominant economic 

logic. 

Further, critical theorists question the view of accounting as a technical practice and see it in 

terms of a political one (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2007; Gallhofer et al., 2015; McNicholas & 
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Barrett, 2005) as it has the capacity to eclipse other forms of knowledge and forms of social 

life (Power, 1992). Thus, it is argued that only actors inside the dominant governing circle 

can influence current praxis, but those outside the dominant system, with no legal standing, 

must confront it through bottom up struggles (Brown & Dillard, 2013b; Dillard & Brown, 2015; 

Norval, 2009), perpetuating that lack of attention that voices of subaltern communities 

receive (Gallhofer et al., 2015). As supporters are outside of the influencing circle within 

football, this can be seen in the football sphere, as supporters often have to resort to 

protests to voice their concerns and demands, as discussed in section 2.2.1. This is 

something that the FLR and White Paper on football governance aim to change, to put 

supporters back at the heart of the game (DCMS, 2023). 

 

  Account �L�Q�J�¶�V���H�P�D�Q�F�L�S�D�W�R�U�\���S�R�W�H�Q�W�L�D�O 

Part of the critical accounting literature that has developed over the past three decades 

considers accounting as having emancipatory potential (Broadbent et al., 1997; Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 1996, 2003, 2019; Gallhofer et al., 2015)�����7�K�H���R�E�M�H�F�W�L�Y�H���R�I���Z�K�L�F�K���L�V���W�R���³�H�Q�O�L�J�K�W�H�Q���Ior 

�V�R�F�L�D�O���E�H�W�W�H�U�P�H�Q�W�´��(Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, p. 7), to create more just societies and to 

increase plurality of interests (Brown & Dillard, 2013b; Haslam et al., 2019), and create, 

id�H�Q�W�L�I�\���D�Q�G���D�F�W���X�S���R�Q���³�R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V���I�R�U���D�G�Y�D�Q�F�L�Q�J���W�K�H���F�D�X�V�H���R�I���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�´��(Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 2003, p. 7).  

In particular, the multiple works of Gallhofer and Haslam address the relationship between 

accounting, democracy and emancipation of marginalised groups (Brown et al., 2015). The 

work has a vision in which progressive communities comes to control accounting, rather than 

�E�H���F�R�Q�W�U�R�O�O�H�G���E�\���L�W�����V�R���W�K�D�W���L�W���E�H�F�R�P�H�V���D���³�W�U�X�H���U�H�I�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���R�I���S�U�R�S�H�U���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�´��(Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 2003). In this way it is �V�H�H�Q���D�V���³�D���S�U�R�F�H�V�V���R�I���E�H�W�W�H�U�P�H�Q�W���H�[�S�H�U�L�H�Q�F�H�G���E�\���D���O�H�J�L�W�L�P�D�W�H��

identity or interes�W�´��(Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, p. 8; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022, p. 4), thus 

giv�L�Q�J���µ�Y�R�L�F�H�¶���W�R���P�D�U�J�L�Q�D�O�L�V�H�G���J�U�R�X�S�V��(Brown & Dillard, 2015). Seen in the context of this 

project, it translates to giving a voice to supporters and freeing them from their marginalised 

position. 

Through this lens, a diverse array of progressive objectives can be envisaged and pursued 

that are not reflected in corporate profits, in an attempt to counter repressive hegemony 

(Gallhofer & Haslam, 2019; Gallhofer et al., 2015). By undertaking critiques of mainstream 

accounting in this way, this literature fosters a more enabling and democratically responsible 

form of accounting (Brown & Dillard, 2013b; Laughlin, 1990). Therefore, in the processes of 

�H�P�D�Q�F�L�S�D�W�L�R�Q�����D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���L�V���Q�R�W���³�D�Q���H�Y�L�O���W�R���E�H���U�L�G���R�I�´�����E�X�W���L�V���W�R���E�H embraced (Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 2003).  
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Viewed in this way, accounting can be utilised to overcome struggle and obstacles so that 

�µ�E�H�W�W�H�U�P�H�Q�W�¶���L�V���U�H�D�O�L�V�H�G���D�Q�G���W�K�H���J�D�S���L�V���U�H�G�X�F�H�G���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���W�K�H���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W���V�W�D�W�H���D�Q�G���D���G�H�V�L�U�H�G��

utopian future state (Broadbent et al., 1997; Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003, 2019; Gallhofer et 

al., 2015). This is achieved by imagining new accounting through utopian musings (Brown et 

al., 2015) which Atkins et al. (2015, p. 651) �D�U�J�X�H���P�D�\���Q�R�W���E�H���S�U�D�J�P�D�W�L�F���E�X�W���R�I�I�H�U���³�D���V�W�D�U�W�L�Q�J��

�S�R�L�Q�W���I�R�U���R�S�W�L�P�L�V�P�´�����+�H�Q�F�H�����W�K�L�V���S�U�R�M�H�F�W���W�K�X�V���O�R�R�N�V���W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���W�R���H�Q�Y�L�V�D�J�H���W�K�H�L�U���µ�E�H�W�W�H�U��

�I�X�W�X�U�H�¶���D�Q�G���K�R�Z���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���F�D�Q���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���W�K�L�V���� 

Gallhofer and Haslam (2003, 2015, 2019) argue in favour of interaction with marginalised 

groups, such as fans in this case, to create new frames and perspectives, which have thus 

been ignored by conventional accounting, such as fans�¶ view or things that may be useful to 

them in properly assessing the operations of their clubs.  

Conventional accounting does not support this progress.  As it reflects the values of 

capitalism, it ignores and undermines the values of given cultures, such as the institution and 

meaning of football fandom in this case, and marginalises other voices and constrains open 

dialogue (Broadbent et al., 1997) such as with fans. Therefore Paterson et al. (2021) argue 

that conventional accounting only provides partial accountability and Brown and Dillard 

(2013b, p. 188) �³�D�E�K�R�U���P�D�L�Q�V�W�U�H�D�P���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�¶�V���O�D�F�N���R�I���F�U�L�W�L�F�D�O���W�K�L�Q�N�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���O�H�D�G�V���L�W���W�R���L�J�Q�R�Ue 

�R�U���G�R�Z�Q�S�O�D�\���W�K�H���S�R�Z�H�U���L�P�E�D�O�D�Q�F�H�V���D�Q�G���K�H�J�H�P�R�Q�L�F���I�R�U�F�H�V���L�Q���W�K�H���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W���Q�H�R�O�L�E�H�U�D�O���V�\�V�W�H�P�´������

Brown et al. (2015) further explain that the aim of emancipatory accounting is to develop 

new challenges to the dominant elites. Thus, this project aims to developing a reporting 

framework that works with, and has at its heart, fan interests to challenge the dominance of 

club owners. 

�+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���L�Q���L�W�V�H�O�I���L�V���Q�R�W���X�V�H�I�X�O�����L�W���L�V���V�L�P�S�O�\���³�D�Q���D�J�J�O�R�P�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q���W�K�D�W���L�V���P�D�G�H���X�V�H�I�X�O��

�L�Q���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�´���D�Q�G���F�R�X�O�G�����L�I���Z�H���Z�D�Q�W�H�G�����E�H���P�D�G�H���X�V�H�I�X�O���W�R���D���G�L�Y�H�U�V�H���U�D�Q�J�H���R�I���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�Hrs 

(Andon et al., 2015, p. 986). Accounting in this way is seen as a socially constructed act - 

�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�Q�W�V���G�R�Q�¶�W���R�Q�O�\���F�R�Q�Y�H�\���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�Wion, they re-�F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W���W�K�H���V�R�F�L�D�O���Z�R�U�O�G�����W�K�H�\���³�P�D�N�H���W�K�H��

�Z�R�U�O�G���P�H�D�Q�´��(Tinker et al., 1991 in Brown 2009, p. 317). It is a medium through which power 

�L�V���H�[�H�U�F�L�V�H�G�����L�W���W�K�X�V���³�L�Q�V�F�U�L�E�H�V���L�W�V���Y�D�O�X�H�V���R�Q���W�K�H���Z�R�U�O�G�´��(Hutchinson, 1989, p. 24), and impacts 

significantly on pe�R�S�O�H�¶�V���O�L�Y�H�V���E�\���L�Q�I�O�X�H�Q�F�L�Q�J���H�F�R�Q�R�P�L�F���D�Q�G���V�R�F�L�D�O���H�[�F�K�D�Q�J�H�V�����+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U����

social and environmental issues are considered externalities under current systems as 

reporting entities are left to decide their own narrative (Brown & Dillard, 2014), as are owners 

and directors of football clubs and their governing bodies. 

Gallhofer et al. (2015) advise that it is a pragmatic challenge to represent the 

underrepresented and oppressed. However, through this understanding, the connection to 

this piece of work is realised, as I am identifying and acting upon an opportunity to aid the 
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sustainability of football clubs, hence the process of this DBA is attempting to form a 

pragmatic solution. 

To help to paint the picture of why this can help football clubs is the comparison by Gallhofer 

and Haslam (2004) of accounting to the development of theological teachings. Centuries 

�D�J�R�����S�U�L�H�V�W�V���Z�H�U�H���D���G�R�P�L�Q�D�W�L�Q�J���D�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�\���R�I���H�[�S�H�U�W�V���Z�K�R���L�Q�I�R�U�P�H�G���O�D�\���S�H�R�S�O�H���R�I���W�K�H���E�L�E�O�H�¶�V��

teachings. Gallhofer and Haslam (2004)  compare this to the teaching of accounting bodies 

today �± both s�K�R�Z���W�K�H���H�[�H�U�F�L�V�H���R�I���µ�H�[�S�H�U�W���N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H�¶���E�\���H�[�S�H�U�W�V���L�Q�I�R�U�P�L�Q�J���O�D�\���S�H�R�S�O�H����

However, in the same way that the bible was later translated to allow all to enjoy its 

teachings, so too can accounting be translated to mean much more than one interpretation. 

Just as critical reading of religious texts was shrouded in aura of expertise, so too is 

�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���W�R�G�D�\�����7�K�H�\���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H���W�K�D�W���M�X�V�W���D�V���E�L�E�O�H���E�H�F�D�P�H���µ�R�X�U���E�R�R�N�¶��- the book of the 

�S�H�R�S�O�H�����W�K�H���µ�S�H�R�S�O�H�¶�V���J�D�P�H�¶���W�K�D�W���L�V���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�D�Q���E�H���R�Q�F�H���D�J�D�L�Q���E�H�O�R�Q�J���W�R���W�K�H���P�R�U�D�O���R�Z�Q�Hrs �± 

fans. 

 

  Context  

Key to the idea of emancipatory accounting is the contextual situation (Gallhofer et al., 2015) 

which Harun et al. (2015) find is significant in actors understanding of history, culture & 

social-political environments.  

�&�R�Q�W�H�[�W���S�O�D�\�V���D���F�H�Q�W�U�D�O���U�R�O�H���L�Q���*�D�O�O�K�R�I�H�U���D�Q�G���+�D�V�O�D�P�¶�V���Z�R�U�N���D�V���L�W���L�V���V�H�H�Q���W�R���V�K�D�S�H���W�K�H���H�[�W�Hnt 

of emancipatory possibilities (Rodrigue & Picard, 2022), thus accounting to stakeholders 

should be a reflection of local contexts (Roberts, 2009). The context around football clubs is 

as described in Chapter 1: self-interested owners, overspending on players and the 

alienation of fans in decision making processes due to a lack of engagement by some clubs. 

Gallhofer et al. (2015) educate of four aspects of context in a project of emancipatory nature: 

aura, form, content and usage. Aura is about how accounting is perceived and understood in 

broad social terms (Gallhofer & Haslam, 1991; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022). Accounting has 

authority in the broad public perception (Gallhofer et al., 2015), therefore it is important to 

ensure it is seen and used neutrality, in an agnostic manner (see section 2.4.5).  

Form considers the way in which accountings content is presented, and the media in which it 

is mobilized (Gallhofer et al., 2015; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022). Usually, accounting takes the 

form of written documents in annual reports, but Gallhofer et al. (2015) stresses the use and 

accessibility of mediums that marginalised groups will associate with. Content is about 

looking beyond calculative representations to understand what can be different (Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 1996; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022). And usage asks the question of who uses it, how 
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and for what purpose? (Gallhofer et al., 2015; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022). Usually 

shareholders and other financiers to evaluate investment are seen as the dominant 

audience, but emancipatory accounting engenders new creators and users of information. 

Certainly within football, there is an aura of accounting as an experts tool, as evidenced by 

such podcasts translating the meaning of accounting such as The Price of Football  (Maguire 

& Day, 2021b). The form of accounts certainly gives the accounts authority. The content is 

under scrutiny in this study as to whether it meets the needs of supporters, and the users 

have been identified as said supporters.  

Shifts in these aspects can bring about emancipatory development Gallhofer et al. (2015), 

and can be seen as a threat to the socio-political order (Gallhofer & Haslam, 1991). 

Emancipatory accounting therefore involves creating visibilities which carry the potential for 

dialogue (Dillard, 2007; Gallhofer et al., 2015; Rodrigue & Picard, 2022) and thus dialogic 

approaches can be utilised. 

 

2.4.4  Dialogic accounting  

  Dialogic Accounting - Ethos  

As emancipatory accounting advocates involving marginalised voices, authors such as 

Brown (2009) posit a move from repressive monologic approaches to dialogic and polylogic 

approaches that involve ongoing democratic conversations and debates between actors with 

competing interests and different perspectives to foster participatory governance (Brown, 

2009, 2017; Brown & Dillard, 2014, 2015; Dillard & Yuthas, 2013). In this case, clubs, 

owners and supporters. 

As such, �D�Q���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�¶�V�����D�Q�G���D���F�O�X�E�V�¶�����D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���L�V���G�H�W�H�U�P�L�Q�H�G���W�K�U�R�X�J�K���G�L�D�O�R�J�X�H���Z�L�W�K��

key stakeholders (Bebbington et al., 2007; Brown & Dillard, 2013b; Dillard & Vinnari, 2019; 

Ferry & Slack, 2021) such as supporters. Thus it challenges the monologism of narrow neo-

classical economic framings to better serve a plural society (Brown & Dillard, 2015). It 

advocates the development of models based on an inclusive, participative approach and 

democratic debate that is sensitive to power and societal differentials (Bebbington et al., 

2007; Brown, 2009; Brown et al., 2�����������2�¶�'�Z�\�H�U���	���2�Z�H�Q�����������������7�K�R�P�V�R�Q���	���%�H�E�E�L�Q�J�W�R�Q����

2005), such as those discussed in section 2.2.1, that result in clubs and owners having much 

more power than fans. Thus it provides a space and voice for actors (in this case fans) 

whose perspectives are marginalised by traditional accounting (Brown & Dillard, 2015). 

Generally, social accounting looks to open spaces for marginalised groups, opening up the 

�X�V�H�U���E�D�V�H���W�R���D���³�E�U�R�D�G�H�U���V�H�W���R�I���D�I�I�H�F�W�H�G���F�R�Q�V�W�L�W�X�H�Q�W�V�´���E�H�\�R�Q�G���V�K�D�U�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���V�R���W�K�D�W���S�H�R�S�O�H���F�D�Q��
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live in more enlightened, and emancipated ways (Dillard, 2007, p. 233). Brown et al. (2015) 

argue that this is important as many stakeholders, including supporters as we have seen, 

struggle to gain a voice within the monologic environment of conventional accounting and 

feel a sense of wrong and injustice about it, but nonetheless struggle to articulate their 

desires and claims for new accountings.  

Therefore, dialogic accountings foster democratic pluralism that is reflective of broader 

social-political and cultural perspectives, providing transparency to repressed voices (Brown 

& Dillard, 2014; Brown et al., 2015; Ferry & Slack, 2021; Gallhofer et al., 2015; Norval, 

2009). Dialogic accounting therefore positions users as social-political actors (Brown & 

Dillard, 2015; Söderbaum & Brown, 2010) and aims to enable people to articulate, debate 

and reflect on their conflicting views, which can be a catalyst for social change (Brown & 

Dillard, 2014; Dillard & Yuthas, 2013), such as the betterment of governance at football 

clubs. At a minimum, it shows where power lies and it forces dominant groups to rethink their 

implicit values and assumptions, as even if the claims of marginalised groups are denied, 

their success in having their voices heard (see section 2.2.1) will have redefined the terms of 

engagement (Norval, 2009). 

This resonates with this project on accounting in football that would allow for the often-

marginalised supporters to be emancipated from the institutionalised system that affords 

them little voice.  

 

  Dialogic - accounts  

Dialogic accounting also advocates that actors affected by corporate activity, as well as the 

general public, are owed accounts (Brown, 2017; Brown & Dillard, 2014, 2015), providing 

space for affected actors to scrutinize and debate the values and interests at stake from 

diverse perspectives (Brown & Dillard, 2015). Therefore it advocates presenting timely 

�U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W���D�Q�G���D�F�F�H�V�V�L�E�O�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���³�I�D�F�L�O�L�W�D�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H���X�V�H���R�I���W�K�D�W���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���E�\���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G��

�V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�´��(Brown & Dillard, 2015, p. 964), such as supporters at football clubs. By doing 

this, accounting is not reducing accountability to a common frame or metric, but favouring 

analytical tools and engagement that enable exploration of divergent assumptions (Brown & 

Dillard, 2015). 

It further encourages experimentation with different types of alternative accountings that 

could bring value and mutual benefit to both organisation and social actors (Brown & Dillard, 

2015). Ergo, Brown and Dillard (2015, p. 962) �S�R�V�H���W�K�H���T�X�H�V�W�L�R�Q���µ�Z�K�D�W���F�U�L�W�H�U�L�D���Z�R�X�O�G��

�P�D�U�J�L�Q�D�O�L�V�H�G���J�U�R�X�S�V���³�V�H�H���D�V���U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W���D�Q�G���Q�H�F�H�V�V�D�U�\���W�R���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�W�H���H�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H�O�\���L�Q��
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�R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���J�R�Y�H�U�Q�D�Q�F�H�"�´�¶��as such Brown (2009) suggests involving stakeholders early in 

process. A robust review of potential inclusion on a supporter focused reporting framework is 

provided in part 4 of the literature review.  

 

  Dialogic �± implementation  

For practical implementation of dialogic accounting, Brown (2009) recommends eight 

themes. Firstly, she advises the recognition of multiple ideological orientations as people 

with different values, perspectives and assumptions will seek to account in different ways. It 

is especially important to include stakeholders not powerful enough to command a seat at 

the table �± such as fans in most cases (Brown, 2009; Morgan, 1988). Secondly, Brown 

(2009) advises avoiding monetary reductionism. The avoidance of a single bottom line and 

desire for optimal singular solutions keeps the opportunities for alternative views open, and 

avoids the dehumanisation of economic values (Brown, 2009; Dillard & Yuthas, 2013). 

Thirdly, organisations should be open about the subjective and contestable nature of 

calculations to avoid the pretence of objectivity from technocratic approaches (Brown, 2009) 

which may help fans to better understand their clubs.  

Fourthly, to provide forms of accounting that enables the accessibility of non-experts to 

make the information more trustworthy to stakeholders, extend dialogue and provide quality 

assurance by enabling independent review (Brown, 2009) as fans are not experts, 

adjustments may need to be made to the way information is presented to them. This is 

considered further in section 2.4.9. Fifthly, ensure an effective democratic, participatory 

process that enables the review of different types of cost in each �V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�¶�V own way, 

such as open dialog methods with fans.  

Sixthly, be attentive to power relations as calculative accounting can cause obscuring of 

value judgement that intensifies power imbalances rendering the decision-making process 

vulnerable to manipulation (Brown, 2009; Sinden, 2004), linking to the ability of powerful 

�H�O�L�W�H�V���W�R���I�L�O�W�H�U���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�����D�Q�G���W�D�N�H���³�R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�V�W�L�F���D�G�Y�D�Q�W�D�J�H���R�I���W�K�H���Q�X�P�H�U�R�X�V���O�D�\�H�U�V���R�I��

�V�X�E�M�H�F�W�L�Y�L�W�\�´��(Brown, 2009, p. 326). This suggests that owners and clubs should be self-

aware of their power and dominance over the views of fans.  

Seventhly, recognise the transformative potential of dialogic accounting �D�V���³�D���G�L�V�F�R�X�U�V�H���W�K�D�W��

�L�Q�W�H�U�V�H�F�W�V���W�K�H���W�H�F�K�Q�L�F�D�O���D�Q�G���V�R�F�L�D�O�´�����H�Q�F�R�X�U�D�J�L�Q�J���V�R�F�L�D�O���D�F�W�R�U�V���W�R���E�H���P�R�U�H���F�U�L�W�L�F�D�O�O�\���U�H�I�O�H�F�W�L�Y�H����

to facilitate better talk and promoting bidirectional discussion, debate and dialect learning in 

pluristic environments (Brown, 2009, p. 327). Finally, dialogic accounting should resist new 

forms of monologism. It is not replacing one form of monologism with another. No matter 
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how progressive the intentions, actors need to be careful not to create another form of 

authoritarianism monologism which may repress other stakeholders (Brown, 2009; Dillard & 

Yuthas, 2013). Therefore, we should try to avoid the voice of supporters becoming too 

dominant. 

 

  Power  

Dialogic accounting advocates recognising conflict and addressing power dynamics, 

allowing spaces to develop where conflicts can be contested (Brown et al., 2015) rather than 

attempting to find agreement in a universal method of accounting, opening up spaces for 

emancipatory potential (Gallhofer et al., 2015; Thomson & Bebbington, 2005). In this way, it 

is underpinned by pluristic political theory (Brown & Dillard, 2015). 

Attention to power relations in any accounting system is vital to ensure marginalised groups 

are included in participatory processes, and their views are not wrongly defined by financial 

logics ���%�U�R�Z�Q�����������������2�¶�'�Z�\�H�U���	���2�Z�H�Q��������������. Therefore, opening up accounting requires 

careful consideration of power relationships, and alignment to the radical idea of 

transforming the status quo into participatory governance (Brown & Dillard, 2015). 

Societies contain a multiplicity of perspectives and discourses. However, dominant groups 

�H�Q�M�R�\���D���S�U�L�Y�L�O�H�J�H�G���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R���W�K�H���³�V�R�F�L�D�O-�F�X�O�W�X�U�D�O���P�H�D�Q�V���R�I���L�Q�W�H�U�S�U�H�W�D�W�L�R�Q�´�����K�D�Y�L�Q�J���F�R�P�P�D�Q�G��

over officially recognised vocabularies in which they present their claims (Brown, 2009; 

Fraser, 1986), and thus more power to establish authoritative perspective of social views 

and shape political agendas (Fraser, 1992). This can be said to be seen in football, that 

owners have a more dominating voice than supporters in relation to the governance 

practices at clubs.  

Further, when engaging in universalised accounting systems, less powerful actors are 

vulnerable to co-option within business-dominated debates, reinforcing the interests of the 

hegemonic parties (Brown & Dillard, 2014). These power asymmetries require the 

�³�P�R�E�L�O�L�]�L�Q�J�´���R�I���I�X�Q�G�D�P�H�Q�W�D�O���F�K�D�Q�J�H (Brown & Dillard, 2014, p. 1123) that accounting 

supports as a purpose of accountability systems are to overcome power asymmetry (Baudot 

et al., 2020). In particular, emancipatory accounting seeks the levelling of this power 

(Gallhofer & Haslam, 2003) in relation to international accounting and governance arenas 

and empowers more marginalised groups (Haslam et al., 2019). 

However, Brown and Dillard (2015) argue that power asymmetries are a major barrier to 

developing better accountings. Part of this involves conscious bias, but power can also be 

unconscious. Power can be understood as: some actors (individuals or groups) who can 
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exercise influence, control or authority over others (Brown & Dillard, 2015; Stirling, 2008), 

however this influence may be exercised in conscious or unconscious ways (Brown & 

Dillard, 2015) as there is significant scope for unintended bias due to dominating logics 

which lead to unintended exercises of power (Brown & Dillard, 2015). 

 

  Accounting based accountability  

Emancipatory and dialogic forms of accounting lead to the understanding for a need to 

create accountability-�E�D�V�H�G���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���V�\�V�W�H�P�V�����D�Q�G���W�R���³�D�O�O�R�Z���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���F�R�Q�V�W�L�W�X�H�Q�W�V���D��

�S�U�H�V�H�Q�F�H���L�Q���P�R�Q�L�W�R�U�L�Q�J���L�P�S�O�H�P�H�Q�W�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�V�´��(Baudot et al., 2020, p. 

620). 

Dillard and Vinnari (2019) argue that the use of critical dialogic accounting can move us on 

from the institutionalisation of accounting an�G���D�U�J�X�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�U�H���Q�H�H�G�V���W�R���E�H���D���³�U�H�I�U�D�P�L�Q�J���R�I��

�H�I�I�R�U�W�V�´�����S�������������I�U�R�P���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���V�\�V�W�H�P�V���R�I���µ�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J-�E�D�V�H�G���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶���W�R���D���V�\�V�W�H�P���R�I��

�µ�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\-�E�D�V�H�G���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�¶�� 

They argue that the current system, whereby companies and neo-classical economic views 

set out accountability expectations is thus accounting-based accountability. They argue for 

an opposite system, accountability-based accounting, where the accountability needs of key 

stakeholders should determine what the accounting system reports. They argue that 

�V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�¶���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���Q�H�H�G�V���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�R�R�G���X�V�L�Q�J���F�U�L�W�L�F�D�O���G�L�D�O�R�J�L�F���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�� 

This thesis begins this approach to compose a framework that is based on supporter 

accountability needs. Ideally, each club will discuss with their own supporters what the 

�L�Q�G�L�Y�L�G�X�D�O���Q�X�D�Q�F�H�V���R�I���H�D�F�K���F�O�X�E�¶�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H�����E�X�W���W�K�H���I�U�D�P�H�Z�R�U�N���G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�H�G���L�Q��

this thesis provides a starting point for discussion. 

 

  Voice  

My work is a roadmap to better supporter voice, using emancipatory and dialogic methods 

�D�V���D���W�R�R�O���I�R�U���W�K�L�V���E�H�W�W�H�U�P�H�Q�W�����7�R���H�Q�V�X�U�H���W�K�L�V�����S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���Y�R�L�F�H�V���Q�H�H�G���W�R���E�H���K�H�D�U�G��

democratically (Dillard & Yuthas, 2013). Democracy can be simplified to people having a say 

in how they are governed (Norval, 2009) �D�Q�G���W�K�L�V���³�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\���R�I���V�K�D�U�L�Q�J�´�����F�D�Q���R�Q�O�\���E�H��

expressed in adversarial terms �± a coming together to in conflict (Rancière, 1995, p. 49). 

Indeed, Rancière (1999) teaches that politics exists as a result of those who have no right to 

be counted as speaking beings, making themselves heard. Bohman (2005, p. 311) 

articulates this as it being the right of citizens to be heard, not the right of slaves - at best, 
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�W�K�H���V�O�D�Y�H���F�D�Q���R�Q�O�\���³�U�H�V�S�R�Q�G���W�R���W�K�H���L�Q�L�W�L�D�W�L�Y�H�V���R�I���R�W�K�H�U�V�´�����7�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���Z�H���P�X�V�W���D�V�N���L�I��

marginalised voices have lost out in an even debate, or been left out in a repressive 

environment? (Norval, 2009). 

In this way, and with due respect to not belittle much of history, we could say that fans are 

enslaved by hegemonic system dominant in football, therefore they have no legitimate voice 

versus the captures of the game �± dominant owners who are able to exercise power. Even if 

social actors such as fans do have a voice, Norval (2009, p. 298) advises that it can be 

�G�L�I�I�L�F�X�O�W���I�R�U���W�K�H�P���W�R���E�H���³�K�H�D�U�G�´���G�X�H���W�R���G�H�S�U�L�Y�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���Y�R�L�F�H�����7�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H����Norval (2009) draws on 

Dolar (2006) to discern between voice and speech, explaining that speech requires 

mediation �± and new forms of accounting.  

 

2.4.5  Plurality  

   Plurality - ethos  

Research in accounting is increasingly drawing from political theory (Paterson et al., 2021), 

for example, dialogic accounting is underpinned by the idea of pluristic democracy that 

advocates showing the plural interests of multiple stakeholders (Brown, 2009). As such, 

Brown and Dillard (2013b) argue that engaging with difference, and thus conflict, can only 

enhance mutual understanding and build progressive alliances.  

As all social objectives are ultimately political (Mouffe, 2002 in Brown, 2009) ideological 

differences are deep and likely to persist (Brown & Dillard, 2014), therefore there needs to 

be developed democratic processes that recognise these differences (Brown & Dillard, 

2013a). Brown et al. (2015) advises that this does not mean that anything goes, rather a 

speaking platform is needed for the voices of marginalised groups to be heard (Brown & 

Dillard, 2013b).  

Football itself operates in complex social and political environment, there are multiple 

governing bodies, all with self-interest, such as FIFA, UEFA, multi intra-national bodies, and 

local governments, as well as power play and interdependency between club in the countries 

and leagues (Morrow, 2021). There may be ideological differences between many of these 

groups and fans, and indeed between the groups themselves. For example, in the White 

Paper the UK government has taken the ideological stance of fans being the moral owners 

of the game and taken steps to ensure that they are the heart of its governance principles 

(DCMS, 2023). This may be seen as against some of the commercial, self-interest of some 

club owners.  
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  Plurality �± deliberative & agnostic  

In conventional and social accounting politics are generally consensual, if recognised at all 

(Brown & Dillard, 2013a). Critical accounting literature discuss deliberative and agnostic 

forms of democracy (Brown, 2009; Brown & Dillard, 2013b, 2014). Where both look for social 

betterment, the former is concerned with agreement and consensus, where the later accepts 

soc�L�D�O���D�F�W�R�U�V�¶���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�F�H�V���D�Q�G���H�P�E�U�D�F�H�V���F�R�Q�I�O�L�F�W���� 

Therefore, deliberative democracy supports the ethos of universality and is argued to 

support the hegemonic status quo (Brown & Dillard, 2013b)�����,�W���L�V���³�K�L�J�K�O�\���V�X�V�F�H�S�W�L�E�O�H���W�R��

�G�R�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q���E�\���S�R�Z�H�U���H�O�L�W�H�V�´���D�V���W�K�R�V�H���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���W�R���G�H�Y�H�O�R�S���S�D�U�W�Q�H�U�V�K�L�S�V���Z�L�W�K���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�V���D�U�H��

at risk of being co-opted to the view of the organisation due to the power differential (Archel 

et al., 2011; Brown & Dillard, 2013a) and marginalised voices can0020 easily be crowded 

out in the consensus process dominated by powerful elites (Brown & Dillard, 2013b). This 

may be thought of as the system that is employed around the governing of football and 

clubs. 

Counter to deliberative democracy, authors argue that agnostic democracy does not look for 

consensus and is therefore better for hearing of marginalised voices (Brown & Dillard, 

2013b), such as those of fans. Agnostic pluralism views conflict as an enduring, if not 

irradicable feature of the social world (Mouffe, 2005, p. 17), and as such differences between 

�I�D�Q�V���D�Q�G���F�O�X�E�V���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���O�L�N�H�O�\���W�R���S�H�U�V�L�V�W�����+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����D�J�Q�R�V�W�L�F���P�H�W�K�R�G�V���³�´�S�U�R�Y�L�G�H���F�R�Q�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V�´��

(Mouffe, 2005, p. 17) �R�I���S�R�V�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\���I�R�U���S�U�R�J�U�H�V�V�L�Y�H���V�R�F�L�D�O���W�U�D�Q�V�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�´��(Brown & Dillard, 

2013a, p. 3), but it is not a co-operative search for a single truth or consensus (Brown & 

Dillard, 2013b), thus there does not need to be agreement between clubs, owners and fans. 

Agnostic pluralism, therefore, embraces ideological conflict as a key tenet (Brown, 2009; 

Brown & Dillard, 2013b, 2015) as there is no consensus due to the inherent antagonism and 

conflict in social political relations (Brown & Dillard, 2013b). Therefore, power in agnostic 

democracy is viewed in terms of participatory inclusion that shapes social meaning (Brown, 

2009). Where deliberative democrats see a need to shift from all knowing experts, agnostic 

democrats take this further by focusing on a wide range of participants (Bond, 2011; Brown 

& Dillard, 2013b). Thus, this may form a method of balancing power in the club-owner-

supporter relationship. 

 

  Plurality �± and accounting  

Brown (2009) advises that current accounting systems see themselves as benefiting 

everyone, regardless of political standpoint �± a neutral framework which different 
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stakeholders can pursue, and thus accounting serves pluralism. However, Brown (2009) and  

Brown et al. (2015) argue against this position and claim that current mainstream institutions 

do not allow for a plurality of interests as a consensus is sought. Therefore, deliberative 

democracy is currently followed that crowds out the marginalised voices that an agnostic 

approach would allow for. 

Consensus seeking, as we see with international accounting standards, does not allow 

competing discourses to be given space so that differences can be conveyed. This thus 

prevents radical praxis (Bond, 2011), which would allow such things as social, dialogic and 

other forms of accounting to be rearticulated as the dominant discourse (Brown & Dillard, 

2013b). 

 

2.4.6  Hybrid organisation  

However, research into hybrid organisations has found differing success in reporting for 

plurality. On the one hand, Walker and Parent (2010) find that hybrid organisations can 

develop innovative performance management and reporting systems and Brown et al. 

(2015) see the potential in accounting for conflicting logics as potentially emancipatory. On 

the other hand, other research suggests that the business ecosystem is not yet set up for the 

management of multiple logics, therefore where logics complete, the economic logic, with its 

more readily available and quantifiable metrics, dominants and displaces other logics, such 

as social logic (Battilana, 2018). This has been witnessed in regional events (Ferry & Slack, 

2021), healthcare (Järvinen, 2016), education (Gebreiter & Hidayah, 2019), local 

government (Ahrens & Ferry, 2018) and publishing (Jay, 2013). This again, results in the 

�P�D�U�J�L�Q�D�O�L�V�H�G���Y�R�L�F�H���R�I���³�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\�´��(Ahrens & Ferry, 2018; Ferry & Slack, 2021) therefore the 

optimism of emancipatory potential (Gallhofer et al., 2015) fades (Ferry & Slack, 2021). 

Therefore Ferry and Slack (2021, p. 685) �F�D�O�O���I�R�U���³�D���P�R�U�H���U�D�G�L�F�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�����D�Z�D�\���I�U�R�P��

mainstream accoun�W�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���S�U�L�Y�L�O�H�J�H�V���D���P�D�U�N�H�W���S�H�U�V�S�H�F�W�L�Y�H�«�´���W�R���R�Q�H���W�K�D�W���H�P�D�Q�F�L�S�D�W�H�V��

wider interests and fosters greater inclusivity. However, they forward counter accounting, 

where this thesis advances the concept of dialogic accounting, beginning the process by 

talking with fans about their accountability needs. But leaving room for individual clubs to 

determine what is right for them.  

 

2.4.7  Universality  

As reporting should aid comparisons between organisations (Oakes & Young, 2008), it 

therefore requires a level of standardisation across organisations (Baudot et al., 2020; 
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Dillard, 2007), hence the IRFS framework that has developed across the globe in a universal 

goal through international harmonisation, to bring multiple countries on the same universal 

framework (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2019; Kamla & Haque, 2019). 

However, critical accounting does not try to develop a unified theory of accounting practice 

(Brown & Dillard, 2013b), as this encourages that all perspectives and representations are 

�I�L�O�W�H�U�H�G���³�W�K�U�R�X�J�K���D���X�Q�L�W�D�U�\���S�H�U�V�S�H�F�W�L�Y�H�´��(Brown & Dillard, 2014). Therefore, many 

marginalised voices are filtered out due to the dominant hegemonic logic (Brown & Dillard, 

2014; Kamla & Haque, 2019), and therefore, by drawing organisations into conformity, 

becomes repressive. 

Dialogic accounting gets us away from universality of accounting and therefore, building on 

Lister (1997), Gallhofer and Haslam (2019) argue for a principle of universal differentiation 

that encourages a level of individual reporting distinct to the accountability needs of each 

organisations�¶ stakeholders, especially repressed ones. 

 

2.4.8  Improving reporting  

If seen as a social and political pluralistic activity, accounting systems can help to set an 

environment where stakeholders are enlightened to the activities of organisations, such as 

supporters to football clubs to allow more democratic governance systems. Thus, a critical 

appreciation of accounting as an emancipatory construct can open up new avenues for 

praxis (Gallhofer et al., 2015). Brown et al. (2015) posit that this will allow for an awakening 

of actors to see themselves as able to challenge the dominant hegemony, in a way that Tully 

(2008) posits that all �µpubic�¶ can become scrutineers of governance. In this way, better 

armed with the right information, fans can become a form of shadow governance themselves 

and be more pro-active in holding their club to account to better social values. 

Adams and McNicholas (2007) and Frostenson et al. (2012) argue that developments in 

social accounting can also be used as catalyst for change. Breitbarth et al. (2011) cite Porter 

and Kramer (2007) �Z�K�R���D�U�J�X�H���W�K�D�W���P�H�D�V�X�U�L�Q�J���V�R�F�L�D�O���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���F�D�Q���E�H���D���µ�P�L�J�K�W�\�¶���Z�D�\���W�R��

affect corporate behaviour and Cooper (2004) continues that it is an important aspect of 

�F�K�D�Q�J�L�Q�J���F�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V�¶���E�H�K�D�Y�L�R�X�U���D�V���W�K�H���P�R�U�H���V�R�F�L�H�W�\���N�Q�R�Z�V���D�E�R�X�W���D�Q���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�¶s social 

performance, the more it can act in reforming it towards operating in more socially beneficial 

ways. 

A number of authors call for a reporting system that are more social in nature rather than 

economic, and hear the voice of multiple stakeholders (Andon et al., 2015; Busco & 

Quattrone, 2018; Dillard, 2007; Gray, 2002; Gray, Adams, et al., 2014; Gray, Brennan, et al., 
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2014; Shearer, 2002) that Busco and Quattrone (2018, p. 17) �D�U�J�X�H���F�D�Q���³transform the 

�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�H�G���Z�R�U�O�G�´���� 

Cooper (2004) �D�G�Y�L�V�H�V���W�K�D�W���D���S�O�X�U�D�O���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U���D�S�S�U�R�D�F�K���U�H�F�R�J�Q�L�V�H�V���V�R�F�L�H�W�\�¶�V���G�H�P�D�Q�G���I�R�U��

accountability in a wider context than just financial (Solomon, 2010), that emphasises an 

�R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�¶�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���R�W�K�H�U���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���U�D�W�K�H�U���W�K�D�Q���M�X�V�W���V�K�D�U�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V��(De Villiers 

& Maroun, 2018). Werbach (2004) posit that this needs new metrics for evaluating success 

on a social level as well as financial (Shellenberger & Nordhaus, 2004), which is consistent 

with the work of social accounting such as Gray (2002), which Atkins et al. (2015) describe 

�D�V���³�D���V�W�D�U�W�L�Q�J���S�R�L�Q�W���I�R�U���R�S�W�L�P�L�V�P���´ 

A number of authors describe this as broadening out and opening up the inputs and outputs 

of accounting (Brown & Dillard, 2014, 2015; Dillard & Brown, 2015; Leach et al., 2010; 

Stirling, 2008). Leach et al. (2010) describes four systems (see Figure 13) on two 

continuums between narrow or broad inputs and closed or open outputs. Using this, Brown 

and Dillard (2014) argue that current accounting system have narrow inputs �± largely 

technical and economic, and closed outputs �± those that largely suit economic logic. 

�+�R�Z�H�Y�H�U�����W�K�H�\���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H���W�K�D�W���Z�K�D�W���L�V���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�G���L�V���D���P�R�Y�H���W�R���E�U�R�D�G���L�Q�S�X�W�V���I�U�R�P���³�G�H�H�S�O�\��

�H�Q�J�D�J�L�Q�J�´���P�X�O�W�L�S�O�H���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���D�Q�G���E�U�R�D�G���R�X�W�S�X�W�V���W�R���V�X�L�W���D���P�Rre pluristic social-political 

audience and thus improved practice of governance that hears marginalised views. Using 

this we may posit that what is required for football is a broadening out of inputs to include the 

accountability needs of supporters and a opening up of outputs so that supporters can 

properly hold owners and clubs to account. 

Interestingly, Gallhofer and Haslam (2019) posit that new, radical forms of accounting as 

called for in the critical accounting literature is nothing new. In the 1830s, when what is now 

seen as conventional accounting was introduced to provide transparency and accountability 

to shareholders, concern was expressed by the British. Sikka and Willmott (1997) argue that 

today, accounting research must still aim to change accounting practice for the better, 

�R�W�K�H�U�Z�L�V�H���W�K�D�W���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K���E�H�F�R�P�H�V���D���µ�S�D�U�D�V�L�W�H�¶���R�I���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�� 

However there remains a number of challenges to developments in accounting. For 

example, Byrch et al. (2015) find that adoption of alternative pluralistic and sustainable 

approaches is a formidable challenge among New Zealand based business people. This is a 

finding common in empirical pluralistic research as similar findings were reported by Harun 

et al. (2015) and Célérier and Cuenca Botey (2015). Brown and Dillard (2015) therefore 

argue that dominant elites are able to dismiss alternative ac�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�V���D�V���³�H�[�W�U�H�P�L�V�W�´�����+�H�Qce, 

are some studies pessimistic about the possibility for progressive social change (Brown & 

Dillard, 2015; Byrch et al., 2015). 
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Figure 13: Narrow/broad, Closed/Open accounting systems (Leach et al., 2010, p. 122). 

 

As football clubs have heightened social interest compared to profit-seeking organisations, 

particularly of a similar size, I argue that they have an increased social responsibility to enact 

better reporting. Additionally, as with football clubs, Dillard (2007) highlights that crisis 

�³�S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�V���D���V�W�L�P�X�O�X�V�´���I�R�U���V�H�O�I-reflection and action. Where the current ecological situation 

may be seen as a crisis that has been the stimulus for much of the social accounting project, 

so too can the state of the game of football in England be seen aa a stimulus to provide 

better accounting for football. 

 

2.4.9  Accessible to users  

A key tenet of social and dialogic accounting is to ensure that intended non-finance-expert 

users have access to, and understand, the accounts given (Brown & Dillard, 2013a; 

Gallhofer et al., 2015). As discussed in section 2.4.4, Brown (2009) see this as one of eight 

key tenets of implementing effective dialogic accounting. 
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Dillard (2007), Brown and Dillard (2015) and Baudot et al. (2020) argue that providing 

accurate, relevant and understandable information is essential in the act of holding an actor 

to account, so that informed decisions can be made by acountees. Here they are referring to 

all intended users, not just users of an economic nature as all stakeholders have the right to 

expect understandable reporting from an entity (Dillard, 2007). Therefore, it is crucial that 

any reporting to supporters should be understood by them. 

Baudot et al. (2020) advise that the criteria should reflect the norms and values of the 

organisation�¶s society suggesting that any football reporting framework should set criteria 

that reflects the norms and values of football and supporters, rather than those of the 

hegemonic neo-classical economic elite (Dillard, 2007), such as club owners as is currently 

the case.  

In this sprit, a number of authors such as Barth and Schipper (2008), Parris et al. (2016), 

Roberts (2009) and Fung (2014) argue that the information produced by accountors needs 

to be more readily understandable by its audience and disclosures should be in a format that 

is less burdensome for those who are subject to it (Andon et al., 2015). Specifically, Brown 

et al. (2015) advises that alternative medias should be considered. 

To wit, Fung (2014) includes accessibility as one of five pillars of transparency and 

disclosure7�����Z�K�H�U�H���D�F�F�H�V�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�V���W�K�H���D�X�G�L�H�Q�F�H�¶�V���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J���R�I���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q��

that is reported (Fung, 2014). Parris et al. (2016) continue that information should be 

sufficiently complete, relevant, useful and understandable to the primary audience to enable 

their decision-making.  

Specifically looking at financial accounting transparency, Barth and Schipper (2008) advise 

that financial reporting transparency is the regard to which an organisations reports show its 

underlying economics to those using the reports. Barth and Schipper (2008) further suggest 

that where a financial report may be transparent to an accounting expert with substantial 

business and industry knowledge, it is likely to be completely opaque to a user who lacks 

that knowledge and �L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�F�D�W�H�G���L�Q���D���Z�D�\���W�K�D�W���L�V���³�F�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�E�O�H���W�R��

�W�K�R�V�H���Z�K�R���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���X�V�H���W�K�D�W���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�´��(Barth & Schipper, 2008, p. 178). 

Therefore, we may posit that a new reporting framework needs to be readily understandable 

and comprehensible to the supporters at which it is aimed, which is likely to result in 

changes to the approach of extant practice. 

Additionally, authors such as Halachmi and Greiling (2013), Parris et al. (2016) and Zhou 

and Zhu (2010) argue that, to be transparent, information needs to be in easy to access 

 
7 The others are truthfulness, completeness, materiality and timeliness 



Page 98 of 452 
 

�O�R�F�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����I�R�U���H�[�D�P�S�O�H���D���Q�H�Z���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���I�U�D�P�H�Z�R�U�N���F�R�X�O�G���E�H���D�Y�D�L�O�D�E�O�H���R�Q���D���F�O�X�E�¶�V���Z�H�E�V�L�W�H����

This is supported by Gallhofer et al. (2006) who argue that online reporting can transform the 

context of an accounting �± for supporters this may mean relative laypeople understanding 

more of the operations of their club.  

Further, it may be argued that a new reporting framework needs to look to the future as well 

as report on the past as Fung (2014) argues that transparency also focuses on what 

organisations will do in the future, rather than simply an explanation of past activities, 

therefore we may posit that a framework may need to include a report on the future plans of 

the club. 

 

2.4.10 Delineation  

As a result of the critical view of accounting, a new delineation of the term is required for new 

accountings. Traditional definitions of accounting are criticised for succumbing to neo-

classical economic thinking, and therefore being too narrow and fixed (Baxter et al., 2019; 

Dillard & Brown, 2015) and focusing on monetary reductionism (Dillard & Yuthas, 2013) 

which is shaped by the dominant hegemonic forces. However, they warn of delineations that 

are too broad, as they can lead to rejection on the grounds of vagueness (Gallhofer & 

Haslam, 2019; Gallhofer et al., 2015). Some delineations, such as that of Gray are too 

broad, too �³�X�Q�G�H�U���F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W�H�G�´���D�Q�G���W�K�X�V���L�P�S�U�D�F�W�L�F�D�O���D�V���E�R�X�Q�G�D�U�L�H�V���V�H�H�P���W�R���K�D�Y�H��

disappeared, they are too vague (Gallhofer et al., 2015). Therefore, Gallhofer et al. (2015) 

argue that in absence of a strong, wider, definition, users fall back on narrow definitions  

This leads Gallhofer et al. (2015) to �R�I�I�H�U�������³�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J���«�D�O�Z�D�\�V���L�Q�Y�R�O�Y�H�V���F�R�Q�Y�H�\�L�Q�J��

�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�����D�V���Z�H�O�O���D�V���F�U�H�D�W�L�Q�J���µ�Y�L�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\�¶���R�U���µ�W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\�¶ and, at least potentially, is a 

�µ�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�¶���W�R���R�W�K�H�U�V� .́ Their offer frees accounting from unnecessary constraints, 

utilising its wide scope and praxis beyond just monetary reductionism and calculations 

(Brown, 2009; Gallhofer et al., 2015). The job of this project is to now see how and what 

needs to be laid visible and communicated. 

�)�X�U�W�K�H�U�����*�D�O�O�K�R�I�H�U���H�W���D�O���¶�V�����������������G�H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q���I�L�W�V���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���Z�R�U�N���R�I���*�U�H�\���H�W�F�����O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���W�R���S�X�V�K���W�K�H��

boundaries beyond calculative practice (Gallhofer & Haslam, 2019), and attempts to broaden 

out the conventional narrow definition (Gallhofer et al., 2015). Gallhofer et al. (2015) argue 

that their definition offers a variety of identity interest positions, inclusive perspectives, 

different people identity positions, going beyond those usually considered (Dillard & Yuthas, 

2013), such as supporters. 
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2.4.11 Voluntary and window dressing  

Ribeiro et al. (2019) also refer to the number of corporations who have chosen to voluntarily 

disclose ESG disclosures under guidelines such as the United Nations Global Compact, ISO 

26000 or the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) sustainability reporting guidelines and Wang et 

al. (2016) refer to the growth in academic interest in the field as another example of the 

importance of this area (Ribeiro et al., 2019). However, for non-listed companies these 

disclosures remain voluntary (Buhr et al., 2014) and at the will of organisations and few 

football clubs have chosen to report in such ways. Social narratives within annual reports 

have been accused of being little other than a window dressing exercise; a way to enhance 

corporate image, and an attempt by companies to legitimise their operations.  

Gray et al. (1988) argue that there are three potential reasons for organisations to engage in 

social accounting: enhancing their image, an extension of financial reporting and discharge 

of accountability:  

 

Figure 14 �± Potential reasons for reporting (Gray et al., 1988) 

 

�'�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�G���D�V���µ�F�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�H���S�U�R�S�D�J�D�Q�G�D�¶���E�\��Gallhofer et al. (2006), authors such as Cooper 

(2004), Deegan (2002), Lindblom (1994) and Slack and Shrives (2008) consider that social 

disclosures are part of legitimising strategies for companies to rebalance the social contract. 

Evidence of legitimising narratives in companies�¶���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���K�D�V���E�H�H�Q���I�R�X�Q�G���E�\��

countless authors including Ahmed and Courtis (1999), Brown and Deegan (1998), Deegan 

(2002) Deegan et al. (2000) and Unerman (2000) and the football industry is no exception. 

�0�R�U�U�R�Z�¶�V��(2005) study shows that the football industry is consistent with other industries in 
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that they selectively disclose for image management purposes and Slack and Shrives (2008) 

find that EPL clubs increase their narratives following adverse publicity.  

 

2.4.12 Acco unting and football  

Produced in line with the Companies Act, 2006, footba�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W�V���I�R�O�O�R�Z the 

format of a traditional set of financial reports, as for any profit oriented company, and 

therefore are aimed at meeting the informational needs of financial capital providers (Atkins 

et al., 2015; Dillard & Vinnari, 2019; Morrow, 2013). However, Morrow (2013) argues that 

traditional financial reports are not suitable in the football industry as they do not meet the 

needs of the stakeholders most likely to read them: supporters. 

Within the football industry, a move to stakeholder and supporter focused reporting and 

accountability has largely only been the case for a few large clubs such as Manchester City 

(Manchester City, 2020). In the EFL, though some clubs do make an effort to report on 

social and governance matters, such as Plymouth Argyle (Ray, 2021) and Carlisle United 

(Carlisle United FC, 2020), clubs en masse tend to file little more than what is legally 

required. 

Technically, many lower league clubs fit the description of SMEs, based on criteria laid out in 

the Companies Act 2006. Therefore, it may be argued that the administrative burden of 

producing more comprehensive and supporter orientated accounts may be too great for 

smaller clubs, especially towards the lower ends of the four professional leagues where 

average annual revenue is around £4m (Deloitte, 2019). 

There has been direct criticism of lower league football club reporting; Maguire (2018) 

suggests that to avoid public, and fan, scrutiny, many lower league clubs file abbreviated 

accounts, which do not include a profit and loss account and limited notes to the accounts. 

goes on to say that: 

 

�³�«�W�U�\�L�Q�J���W�R���S�X�W���W�R�J�H�W�K�H�U���/�H�D�J�X�H���7�Z�R���I�L�J�X�U�H�V���L�V���D���E�L�W���O�L�N�H���P�D�N�L�Q�J���D���M�L�J�V�D�Z���Z�K�H�Q��

�\�R�X���G�R�Q�¶�W���K�D�Y�H���W�K�H���S�L�F�W�X�U�H���R�Q���W�K�H���I�U�R�Q�W���R�I���W�K�H���E�R�[.�  ́(Maguire, 2018 para. 55) 

Thus, fans are even more in the dark about the operations of their football club, leading 

Singleton and Reade (2019) to conclude that in English football a: 
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�³�«�I�X�Q�G�D�P�H�Q�W�D�O���S�U�R�E�O�H�P���L�V���D���O�D�F�N���R�I���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\�����Z�K�L�F�K���D�O�O�R�Z�V���F�O�X�E�V���W�R��be 

�E�D�G�O�\���U�X�Q���D�Q�G���P�R�V�W�O�\���K�L�G�H�V���W�K�L�V���I�D�F�W���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���U�H�D�O���Z�R�U�O�G�����X�V�X�D�O�O�\���X�Q�W�L�O���L�W���L�V���W�R�R���O�D�W�H���´ 

(Singleton & Reade, 2019, para 9) 

 

In addition, the Companies Act 2006 exempts small, and/or many unlisted, companies from 

producing any useful form of narrative relating to ESG disclosure or future outlook of any 

kind (Companies Act, 2006), meaning there is very little information regarding the operations 

of most football clubs which could help supporters to gain a better understanding of the 

wider operational position of their club. 

 

2.4.13 Academic perspective  

There are few academic articles looking into the practice of annual reporting in the football 

industry, and even fewer relating to the UK and England in particular. Of most significance to 

this study are Morrow (2013), Morrow (2014), Morrow (2021) and Baxter et al. (2019). All 

three Morrow articles are written in the context of FFP regulations. Morrow (2013) is a 

�W�K�H�R�U�H�W�L�F�D�O���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���W�K�D�W���D�U�J�X�H�V���W�K�D�W���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W�V���D�U�H not fit for purpose as 

the main readers of these statements are not the traditional users of accounts, the providers 

of financial capital, but in fact supporters looking to gain a deeper insight into their club. 

Morrow (2014) is a piece that follows up from Morrow (2013) with qualitative empirical 

research, in which he interviews a series of football club financial directors and auditors 

regarding their opinions of how FFP will affect trends of reporting in the Scottish football 

industry. 

Both Morrow (2013, 2014) are normative in nature, presenting arguments for the 

improvements of reporting practices in the football industry. Morrow (2013) does this by 

suggesting that further research be carried out, working alongside a small number of football 

clubs to develop a report that better meets supporter needs. Morrow (2014) advances this 

approach, going a step deeper in suggesting that research be carried out into how <IR> can 

be used to achieve the same goal. 

Although Morrow (2013) does not present any empirical evidence, and one may argue that 

empirical research is needed to test his assumptions, he does present a convincing 

�D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W���D�V���W�R���Z�K�R���D�U�H���W�K�H���X�V�H�U�V���R�I���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�¶���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W�V�����+�H���G�L�V�F�D�U�G�V���W�K�H��

traditional users (investors and other creditors) as, rather than there being multiple 

shareholders, owners of football clubs are usually an individual or small group that would 

perform greater due diligence beyond an analysis of the annual reports. Here, Morrow builds 
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on Webb and Broadbent (1986) who argue that the ownership structure of football clubs 

�U�H�Q�G�H�U�V���W�K�H���W�U�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���µ�E�X�\�����K�R�O�G�����V�H�O�O�¶���G�H�F�L�V�L�R�Q���R�I���L�Q�Y�H�V�W�R�U�V���L�U�U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W�� 

Similarly, he continues that banks and other creditors tend to perform a deeper analysis of 

�F�O�X�E�V�¶���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�H�V�����R�I�W�H�Q���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���W�R���V�H�F�X�U�H���G�H�E�W���D�J�D�L�Q�V�W���D�V�V�H�W�V���V�X�F�K���D�V���V�W�D�G�L�D�����W�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���D��

deeper analysis than annual reports would again be required. Governing bodies such as the 

EFL also require additional information to the financial accounts, such as FFP reconciliations 

that are not included in the financial statements (EFL, n.d.-a). 

After consideration of other key stakeholders, such as players and trade creditors, Morrow 

(2013) �F�R�Q�F�O�X�G�H�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���P�D�L�Q���X�V�H�U�V���R�I���D���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W�V���D�U�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���I�D�Q�V��

concerned about the governance and finances of their football club. 

As current reporting practice is not fit for purpose �W�R���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�¶�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\, 

Morrow (2013) calls for: 

 

�³�«�I�X�O�O�H�U���D�Q�G���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���S�L�F�W�X�U�H�V���W�R���E�H���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�G���R�I���F�O�X�E�V�¶���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H�����L�Q��

particular broadening the scope of accountability to users beyond that 

�S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�G���E�\���D�Q���H�F�R�Q�R�P�L�F���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���´��(Morrow, 2013, p. 297) 

 

In this thesis I answer this call by developing a new reporting framework and concept report 

�E�D�V�H�G���R�Q���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�¶�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���Q�H�H�G�V�����$�V���Z�L�O�O���E�H���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�H�G���L�Q���&�K�D�S�W�H�U���������I�R�F�X�V���J�U�R�X�S�V��

�Z�H�U�H���X�V�H�G���L�Q�Y�R�O�Y�L�Q�J���I�D�Q���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�D�W�L�Y�H�V���I�U�R�P���I�L�Y�H���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W�V���D�Q�G���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�D�W�L�Y�H�V���R�I��

the Football Supporters Association (FSA), a well-respected national fan representative 

body. Participants were asked to discuss their reporting needs and issues that their club and 

fan base face, which created the base of the framework. 

An interesting study that critically links football to alternative forms of accounting is Morrow 

(2021). He reviews the implementation and success of FFP from the perspective of 

problematization in the financial context of European club football. He looks at how the 

transformation of accounting information used for FFP has been used for a specific social 

purpose �± to protect the future of football clubs �± and the use of alternative logics, beyond 

common neutral and technical understanding of accounting (Morrow, 2021). 

By aiding in the social goal of protecting the future of football clubs, designed to be an 

�³�L�Q�V�W�U�X�P�H�Q�W�´���W�R���F�K�D�Q�J�H���W�K�H���V�R�F�L�D�O���E�H�K�D�Y�L�R�X�U���R�I���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�����)�)�3���F�D�Q���W�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���E�H���V�H�H�Q���D�V��

emancipatory (Morrow, 2021, p. 19). It reveals discourses that would not normally be 

associated with the traditional neutral and technical view of accounting and it shows that 

different representations of reality are possible when data is organised in a different way 
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���0�R�U�U�R�Z�����������������2�¶�1�H�L�O�O���H�W���D�O����������������. However, Morrow (2021) concludes that for the 

emancipatory potential of FFP to be realized, there needs to a broader approach of 

involvement, reporting and accountability. Hence, this project offers this by investigating 

what that broader approach needs to be. 

Morrow (2021) draws on Morrow (2014), in which interviewees have differences of opinion 

as to the need for specific reporting practices for the football industry. However, this 

surveyed club accountants and auditors, who, Morrow (2021) admits may be institutionalised 

into the dominant business logic.  

Morrow (2021) problematizes conventional accounting practice as insufficient for the 

�S�X�U�S�R�V�H���R�I���D�V�V�H�V�V�L�Q�J���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�¶���H�F�R�Q�R�P�L�F���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���D�V���H�Y�L�G�H�Q�F�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���Q�H�H�G���I�R�U���D��

new form of calculation �± FFP. He continues that the short-termism of accounts coupled with 

a need for multi-logic criteria renders conventional accounting problematic as financial 

reports present a narrative of economic performance and ignore social logics and the 

relationships that stakeholders have with their club (Morrow, 2021). 

Further, Morrow (2021) highlights that as FFP tries to make clubs more transparent (UEFA, 

2018), but there are no plans to make FFP submissions public, or otherwise transparent, so 

it therefore fails in this aim.  

Combined with increased demand from football supporters for information (Adams et al., 

2017; Cleland, 2010; Football Governance Research Centre, 2006; Morrow, 2021), Morrow 

(2021) thus argue that better reporting with enhanced disclosure could act to galvanize 

�F�O�X�E�V�¶���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V�����G�L�U�H�F�W�O�\���L�Q���W�K�H���F�D�V�H���R�I���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���E�X�W���D�O�V�R���E�\���X�V�L�Q�J���P�H�G�L�D���D�W�W�H�Q�W�L�R�Q���W�R��

raise public awareness and thus coercing clubs to comply with FFP, other regulations and 

better governance procedures.  

One of Morrow (2014) participants express that perhaps there should be a SORP 

(Statement of Recommended Practice) for football clubs, as there is for charities and some 

other industries. In a way, this project is developing a kind of SORP for football clubs. 

However, as SORPs are adjustments to existing practice, they may still be seen as 

containing dominant neo-classical economic logic, and therefore this project offers a more 

social alternative. 

Finally, an interesting view of the influence of accounting is taken by Baxter et al. (2019) who 

demonstrate how accounting influences, and is influenced by, passionate interests using a 

case study of a Swedish football club. They challenge the neo-classical economic view of 

organisations as wealth maximisers, and challenge the ideas of an individual as logical, 

unemotional homo economicus, and instead argue they argue that this self-interested view is 
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too narrow. Instead, actors have diverse interests resulting from being embedded in a social 

network of other actors. 

They conclude that accounting forms and informs passionate interest �± likewise, passionate 

interests both shape accounting and are shaped by it �± �D�Q�G���S�D�V�V�L�R�Q�D�W�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�V���µ�K�R�R�N�¶��

actors by appealing to emotions such as pride, anger, celebration or frustration. They 

therefore suggest that dif�I�H�U�H�Q�W���W�\�S�H�V���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���I�R�U�P���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���W�\�S�H�V���R�I���µ�Y�D�O�X�H�P�H�W�H�U�V�¶���I�R�U��

social interest �± such as the financial bottom line, or the league table that is an account of 

sporting success of failure. They argue that there is an over focus on conventional monetary 

me�W�U�L�F�V���D�Q�G���Q�R�W���H�Q�R�X�J�K���R�Q���W�K�H�V�H���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���V�R�F�L�D�O���µ�Y�D�O�X�H�P�H�W�H�U�V�¶���� 

Although Baxter et al. (2019) admit that their work is �R�Q���W�K�H���³�P�D�U�J�L�Q�V���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�´(and they 

�X�V�H���V�R�P�H���D�O�W�H�U�Q�D�W�L�Y�H���µ�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�V�¶���V�X�F�K���D�V���W�K�H���O�H�D�J�X�H���W�D�E�O�H�����Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���O�R�F�D�O���G�H�U�E�L�H�V��

�Z�R�Q���O�R�V�W�����D�Q�G���W�K�H���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I���Y�L�R�O�H�Q�W���L�Q�F�L�G�H�Q�W�V���L�Q���D�Q�G���D�U�R�X�Q�G���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�¶�V���V�W�D�G�L�X�P����as well as a 

more conventional metric of technical solvency) they argue that nonfinancial metrics are 

generally perceived as performance indicators and they point to a significant research field 

relating accounting to this area. 

Thus, it may be thought of as important that this study focuses not just on traditional 

accounting metrics, but those that are of emotional concern to fans, and this may be seen as 

valuemeters. What these may be is discussed in Part 5 of this literature review.  

 

2.4.14 Section  summary  

Section 2.3 has attempted to explain accountability, transparency and reporting and linked 

them to the context of the English football industry to argue that better reporting is required. 

The next section assesses football and general accounting, management, governance and 

economic literature to determine what disclosures may be relevant in a new supporter 

focused reporting framework. 
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2.5 Part 5 �± What should be reported?  

So, what disclosures or metrics or valuemeters (Baxter et al., 2019) should or could be 

reported to fans in an annual report?  

To my knowledge, there is no published literature on the subject of what the content of a 

�I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W���V�K�R�X�O�G���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�����Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���L�W���E�H���E�D�V�H�G���R�Q���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶ needs or 

otherwise. However, we may be able to understand many factors that are important to a 

club�¶s performance from football and general accounting, management, governance and 

economic literature. Analysing these papers for potentially relevant metrics may provide 

insight as to what factors are important for a club�¶s success and therefore may translate into 

appropriate disclosures. 

A useful structure for this section is from my earlier work presented at The Football 

Collective conference in Sheffield in 2019 (Middling, 2019). I interviewed 15 loyal, engaged 

supporters of various EFL clubs regarding their views of what is important to them about 

their clubs. I found that they fundamentally consider three interlinking areas that I describe 

as the triple bottom line of football: sporting achievements, financial sustainability and social 

responsibility. I found that participants believe all three aspects are influenced by club 

governance practices, which in turn can be affected by industry governance practices, such 

as the EFL rules. This section will use this as a framework to assess what supporters may 

wish to see reported in each area, albeit, industry governance is not considered as it is not 

under the direct influence of individual clubs: 

 

Figure 15: The triple bottom line of football and its place amongst club and industry 
governance (Middling, 2019) 
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Although developed independently of my 2019 work, the work of Zülch et al. (2020) and 

Cruz et al. (2021) resonates with it. These two papers appear to link to one project and 

conclude very similar top level themes to Middling (2019), but in the context of establishing 

commercial success factors of top level German clubs, and they describe the social aspect 

as Fan Welfare Maximisation.  

  

Figure 16: Factors of football club performance (Zülch et al., 2020) 

 

Figure 17: Factors of football club performance (Cruz et al., 2021) 
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There is a slight change of focus between Zülch et al. (2020) and Cruz et al. (2021) in that 

Zülch et al. (2020) put leadership and governance at the centre of the framework, reflecting 

the impact of leadership and governance on the other factors and Cruz et al. (2021) put 

sporting success at the centre, reflecting sporting success as the main aim of a club. Cruz et 

al. (2021) also add an extra level of success factors reflecting the papers commercial focus �± 

internal strategy, identification of culture, external market growth and digitisation. For ease of 

comparison, the two models are shown in Figures 16 and 17. Interestingly, Cruz et al. (2021) 

highlights the importance of transparency as a governance factor as discussed in Section 

2.3.3. 

All three papers may be said to support the works of authors such as Carlsson-Wall et al. 

(2016), Gammelsæter and Senaux (2011) and Wilson and Anagnostopoulos (2017) who 

view clubs through the lens of institutional logics, (also discussed in Section 2.1.1.7). The 

�F�R�Q�V�H�Q�V�X�V���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���W�K�L�V���O�L�W�H�U�D�W�X�U�H���L�V���W�K�D�W���D���F�O�X�E�¶�V���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���L�V���E�D�V�H�G���R�Q���D���E�D�O�D�Q�F�H���R�I���O�R�J�L�F�V��

between sporting and business (Carlsson-Wall et al., 2016; Gammelsæter & Senaux, 2011) 

and social (Wilson & Anagnostopoulos, 2017) aspects. 

So, the first thing that we may posit is that there are four key areas under which disclosures 

may be categorised: finance, governance, sporting and social factors.  

 

2.5.1 Helpful literature  

Though there is much written in the areas of sports management and sports economics, few 

papers focus on the details of specific metrics or disclosures. Therefore papers such as 

Zülch et al. (2020) and (Cruz et al., 2021), despite being commercially, and in parts almost 

marketing, focused are particularly useful as they cover all four areas and Zülch et al. (2020) 

explain their metrics used for analysis. 

However, a notable body of sports management and sports economics literature has also 

attempted to holistically evaluate the performance and/or efficiency of clubs. This literature 

usually concerns financial and sporting factors as summarised in Table 2. However, some 

focus on solely sporting factors as summarised in Table 3 and some have begun to include 

social factors. Additionally, literature regarding the financial or holistic performance of clubs 

that use financial ratios can be seen in Table 4 which may be useful in understanding 

potential financial disclosures. As many of these papers use sporting and financial metrics to 

�G�H�Y�H�O�R�S���W�K�H�L�U���P�R�G�H�O�V���W�R���H�Y�D�O�X�D�W�H���F�O�X�E�V�¶���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H�����Z�H���P�D�\���L�Q�I�H�U���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�V�H���P�H�W�U�L�F�V���P�D�\��

be of use as a priori themes when developing a new reporting framework. Other literature is 

consulted as appropriate. 
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Of particular note is the work of Plumley, Wilson and Ramchandani (2017) who use 

accounting ratios and sporting indicators in which inputs are weighted and turned into an 

overall performance score using turnover and profit increases, ROCE8, current ratio, gearing 

and wage:turnover ratio for financial performance; and win ratio, league points, and stadium 

capacity utilisation for sporting performance. 

 

2.5.2 Sporting factors  

Perhaps the most passionate valuemeter to fans could be argued to be sporting factors as 

Baxter et al. (2019) posits that the league table position is a cause of celebration or 

commiseration for most fans. Tables 2 and 3 show a large variety of metrics used as both 

inputs and outputs. We observe certain consistencies, for example in Table 3 we observe 

that team performance is a large factor, as are attacking and defensive metrics. These 

factors could be used to form the basis of a report providing more detailed information to 

supporters regarding the performance of their team beyond a simple league table, the 

common and well-established sporting performance measure. Likewise, both Tables 2 and 3 

show that points gained are a significant output, which may also form a potential basic metric 

that could be drilled down more deeply to show, for example, how and where points were 

obtained, for example from home or away fixtures, quality of opposition, or through better 

attacking or defensive methods. 

A further variable considered by many studies is the effectiveness of the first-team 

manager9, including by Cruz et al. (2021). This may be further justified when looking at the 

work of Bell et al. (2013) who investigate whether the performance of a manager comes 

down to skill or luck, and firmly come down on the side of skill. Audas et al. (2002) find that 

managerial change can have a positive impact on team performance �± a key driver in the 

average tenure of a manager across the top four divisions of English football, which 

Bridgewater (2009) found was a mere 2.19 years.  

In line with the above, both Zülch et al. (2020) and Cruz et al. (2021) use team performance 

and head coach KPIs. Both also use player development KPIs suggesting this may be an 

important reporting factor. Player development may also be inferred to include academy 

players �± a source of inexpensive talent, especially for lower league clubs who may not have 

sufficient budget to purchase established players �± which may also be a useful a priori 

disclosure theme. 

 
8 Return on Capital Employed 
9 Sometimes referred to as the Head Coach 
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�$�Q�R�W�K�H�U���J�U�R�Z�L�Q�J���D�V�S�H�F�W���R�I���(�Q�J�O�L�V�K���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���L�V���W�K�H���Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���J�D�P�H�����&�R�P�S�D�U�H�G���W�R���V�W�X�G�L�H�V���L�Q�W�R��

�W�K�H���P�H�Q�¶�V���J�D�P�H�����V�W�X�G�L�H�V���L�Q�W�R���W�K�H���Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���J�D�P�H���D�U�H���V�P�D�O�O���L�Q���Q�Xmber. This is unsurprising 

given that�����G�H�V�S�L�W�H���D���U�L�F�K���³�K�L�G�G�H�Q���K�L�V�W�R�U�\�´��(Williams, 2016, p. 40), the wom�H�Q�¶�V���J�D�P�H���K�D�V��

only commercially �G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���O�D�V�W���I�H�Z���G�H�F�D�G�H�V���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���(�Q�J�O�L�V�K���:�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���6�X�S�H�U��

League (WSL) beginning in 2011 and turning professional in 2018 (Garry, 2018). However, 

�L�Q���O�L�Q�H���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���J�U�R�Z�W�K���R�I���W�K�H���Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���J�D�P�H�����W�K�H�U�H���K�D�V���E�H�H�Q���J�U�R�Z�L�Q�J���D�F�D�G�H�P�L�F��interest 

(Valenti et al., 2018). A useful paper to consider is Valenti et al. (2020) who use variables in 

areas such as attendance, performance, income and win probability to investigate 

determinants of spectator attendance. They also refer to work by Allison (2016), Meier et al. 

(2016) and others to highlight concern over the increasing costs and lack of revenues. 

�:�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���W�H�D�P�V���D�U�H���O�D�U�J�H�O�\���L�Q�W�H�J�U�D�W�H�G���W�R���P�H�Q�¶�V���S�U�R�I�H�V�V�L�R�Q�D�O���F�O�X�E�V���E�X�W���³�L�Q���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H, the 

�I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�W�U�X�F�W�X�U�H���R�I���Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V���U�H�V�H�P�E�O�H�V���W�K�D�W���R�I���P�H�Q�¶�V���D�P�D�W�H�X�U���F�O�X�E�V�´��(Valenti 

et al., 2020, p. 509) as the scale of income and expenditure are far from that of the �P�H�Q�¶�V 

game. Valenti et al. (2020) go on to make recommendations to foster the development of 

�Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O�����L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���L�Q�F�H�Q�W�L�Y�L�V�L�Q�J���L�Q�Y�H�V�W�P�H�Q�W�����D�Q�G���S�R�O�L�F�L�H�V���W�R���H�Q�F�R�X�U�D�J�H���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�W�L�R�Q����

These aspects could form the basis of a reporting framework section on a club�¶�V���Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V��

team. 

The recent FLR specifically considered �Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V football, but did not make significant 

recommendations other than to say that �Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V football needs its own review (DCMS, 

2021). 

 

2.5.3 Financial factors  

Table 2 shows the use of a number of financial metrics used in the economic efficiency 

literature. The most commonly used metrics are revenue, wage costs and expenditure on 

premises such as stadia. This suggests that these are seen as important aspects of a club�¶s 

operation and thus may be important features of a reporting framework. 

Additional literature that can be drawn upon is that which assesses �W�K�H���µbusiness�¶ 

performance of clubs, either financially (such as Dimitropoulos (2009)), or holistically (such 

as Plumley, Wilson and Ramchandani (2017)). These papers use ratio analysis to evaluate 

financial performance, which Atrill and McLaney (2009) advise is the primary performance 

tool for the financial evaluation of organisations. 

Zülch et al. (2020) and Cruz et al. (2021) use profitability and growth ratios, and a summary 

�R�I���S�D�S�H�U�V���W�K�D�W���X�V�H���U�D�W�L�R�V���W�R���D�V�V�H�V�V���F�O�X�E�V�¶���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���L�V���L�Q��Table 4 which shows that the 

most commonly used metrics concern profitability, liquidity and gearing. Liquidity and 
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gearing seem logical as many clubs are struggling to break even due to institutionalised 

overspending on player wages as discussed in Section 1.1. However, the inclusion of 

profitability is surprising given that a club�¶s main aim is not to make profit, but to win football 

games, as discussed in Section 2.1.1.1. 

Some papers attempt to identify the ratios that are most closely linked to club�¶s success, 

such as Ecer and Boyukaslan (2014) and Sakinc (2014) who assess the financial 

performance of Turkish football clubs using 11 and 15 accounting ratios respectively and 

a�S�S�O�\�L�Q�J���W�K�H���V�W�D�W�L�V�W�L�F�D�O���W�H�F�K�Q�L�T�X�H���R�I���*�U�H�\�¶�V���5�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���$�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V����Ecer and Boyukaslan�¶�V��

(2014) main conclusion is that liability indicators are the most informative when looking at 

football clubs �± hardly surprising given the levels of overspending and debt that clubs report. 

However, this was again closely followed by profitability. 

However, both Ecer and Boyukaslan (2014) and Sakinc (2014) are limited to only assessing 

the top four clubs in Turkey as these are floated on the Istanbul Stock Exchange (Borsa 

Istanbul) and thus financial information is freely available, as opposed to the other clubs in 

Turkey where the information is not. Their work does not take into account lower league 

teams.  

Dimitropoulos (2009) uses ratios to assess the profitability of top league Greek clubs and 

determines that Asset Turnover and Return on Assets have the most positive impact on a 

�F�O�X�E�¶�V���S�U�R�I�L�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\�����D�Q�G���W�K�D�W���O�L�T�X�L�G�L�W�\���D�Q�G���F�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���D�U�H���D�O�V�R���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���I�D�F�W�R�U�V. 

 

   Debt  

Table 4 also suggests that debt may be an important reporting factor. Andreff (2007) posits 

the importance of the asset to debt ratio due to the risk of heavy leanding in an indistry 

where clubs struggle to obtain loans from traditional lenders and often turn to alternative, 

specialist lending companies (Maguire & Day, 2022c), and incur interest rates in the region 

of 9% (Maguire & Day, 2022b).  

Andreff (2007) �D�U�J�X�H�V���W�K�D�W���F�O�X�E�V���G�R���Q�R�W���Z�R�U�N���W�R���µ�K�D�U�G���E�X�G�J�H�W�V�¶�����U�D�W�K�H�U���W�K�H�\���Z�R�U�N���W�R���µ�V�R�I�W��

�E�X�G�J�H�W�V�¶���D�V���P�D�Q�\���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H���W�R���O�R�D�Q���F�O�X�E�V���P�R�Q�H�\���D�Q�G���G�R���Q�R�W���U�L�J�L�G�O�\���H�Q�I�R�U�F�H��

financial constraints (Andreff, 2007); and Storm and Nielsen (2012) and Storm (2012) go as 

far as to compare this to state enterprises in socialist economies that are able to draw on 

additional subsidies. Beech et al. (2010) identify that the conversion of soft debt to hard debt 

�L�V���D���F�D�X�V�H���R�I���F�O�X�E�V�¶���L�Q�V�R�O�Y�H�Q�F�\���D�V���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���E�H�F�R�P�H���X�Q�Z�L�O�O�L�Q�J���R�U���X�Q�D�E�O�H���W�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���W�K�H���F�O�X�E��

further. The importance of debt is further argued by Maguire and Day (2021b) who argue  
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Table 2: Summary of literature holistically assessing football clubs, showing input and output metrics 
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Table 3: Summary of literature containing only sporting metrics 
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Table 4: Summary of literature using financial ratios 
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that debt in itself is not an issue, rather unaffordable debt is as clubs struggle to make 

repayments. 

Additionally, short term liabilities may be something to consider as Beech et al. (2010) 

identify the inability to pay HMRC liabilities as a driver of club insolvency events. However, 

creditors of clubs are reported to be unusually patient in regards to deferred payment or 

even non-payment of credit to clubs (Buraimo et al., 2006). Banks, local businesses and 

even tax authorities are argued not to want to be seen to be the ones to force a football club 

to wind up due to the social status of football clubs and disapproval from communities 

(Buraimo et al., 2006; Grant, 2006; Kuper & Szymanski, 2014; Maguire & Day, 2022b).  

  

   Assets  

Another financial note that may be of importance is a detailed inclusion of tangible assets. 

This is amid reports of clubs selling their stadiums to owners where the only perceived 

benefit is thought to be to evade FFP rules, as is the case with Sheffield Wednesday, 

Reading, Derby, Aston Villa, Stoke and others (BBC Sport, 2019b, 2019d; Conn, 2020a; 

Maguire & Day, 2022a). Beech et al. (2010) identify the loss of a stadium as a factor of 

football club insolvency, and where on the face of it, if an owner buys the stadium, there may 

not be an immediate problem, if the owner then sells the club, or it goes into administration, 

but the owner retains the stadium, issues can occur. This was thought to be the case at 

Derby, where, to aid the club out of administration, the local council considered the purchase 

of Pride Park (Slater, 2022). Further, issues at Oldham that have seen division in the fan 

base and protests against the owner have included issues over non-stadium ownership 

including the loss of revenue streams, unpaid rent and suspicions of illegality over council 

funding, with one stand out of use on safety grounds for a period of time (Conn, 2020b). 

 

   FFP/SCMP submissions  

An extension of financial metrics is the measurement of FFP calculations. FFP (or SCMP in 

lower leagues) submissions are made to the EFL, but not transparently as they are not 

disclosed publicly. Profitability and Sustainability rules in the Championship state that clubs 

�V�K�R�X�O�G���P�D�N�H���D���V�X�E�P�L�V�V�L�R�Q���U�H�I�O�H�F�W�L�Q�J���D�Q���µ�D�G�M�X�V�W�H�G���H�D�U�Q�L�Q�J�V���E�H�I�R�U�H���W�D�[�¶��(EFL, n.d.-a), which is 

based on a forecast projection of earnings adjusted for depreciation, amortisation, youth 

�G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�P�H�Q�W�����Z�R�P�H�Q�¶�V���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O�����D�Q�G���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\���H�[�S�H�Q�G�L�W�X�U�H��(EFL, n.d.-a). For SCMP in L1 

�D�Q�G���/�������µ�U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W���U�H�Y�H�Q�X�H�¶���D�Q�G���µ�S�O�D�\�H�U���U�H�O�D�W�H�G���H�[�S�H�Q�G�L�W�X�U�H�¶���D�U�H���D�O�V�R���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���W�R���W�K�H���I�L�J�X�U�H�V��

disclosed in the club�¶s accounts. This makes this process murky at best as there is no 
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transparency in the numbers that clubs submit to the EFL. The difficulty in accessing this 

may be inferred from studies such as Evans et al. (2019) and Plumley et al. (2019) who use 

accounting data, not FFP or SCMP data in their analysis of the impact of such measures. 

As clubs can incur penalties, including points deductions and fines (BBC Sport, 2019c), as 

has happened at Birmingham City (Taylor, 2019) and Reading (Fisher, 2021), it may be 

argued that the impact of these regulations on a club�¶s activities gives weight to the 

argument that there should be some degree of transparency around them. 

 

   Agents  

The use of agents for player representation dates back to the early 1960s but since the 

Bosman ruling of 1996, their influence in the game has grown (Rossi, 2018). Agents are 

seen to increase players�¶ bargaining power, however Rossi (2018) argues that this power 

has become exploitative and abusive, and Kelly and Chatziefstathiou (2018) claim that the 

industry is unethical due to alleged bribery and trafficking of young players. These issues 

have led FIFA to introduce regulation to reform the industry with accountability and 

transparency as key themes (Rossi, 2018). However it may be argued that regulation to date 

has been ineffective as the FLR recommends further regulations (DCMS, 2021) and further 

regulatory talks between FIFA and agents are still taking place (FIFA, 2022) at the time of 

writing. 

Rossi (2018) advises that increased transparency is now available for �D�J�H�Q�W�¶�V remuneration 

and double representation. In line with FIFA regulations, the English FA indeed publish the 

remunerations of agents working in England. They include two lists, the first specifies the 

club by club spend on agents fees, and the second a more detailed list that includes club, 

player, registration type and intermediatory. The second also includes registration number, 

club or player representation, and if subcontractors have been used, but this second list 

does not include fees, so it is impossible to see how much each intermediary has been paid 

by each club.  

 

2.5.4 Social and g overnance factors  

The final two aspects of my earlier work are social and governance factors (Middling, 2019). 

In this area, as well as research focused on football, it may be useful to consider wider ESG 

disclosures. For example, writing for the World Economic Forum, Rodin and Madsbjerg 

(2021) advise metrics under each ESG heading in Figure 18 below: 
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Figure 18: Measures of ESG, Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021, image credit Valero), (image 
credit: Valero) 

 

The majority of ESG disclosures largely focus on the environmental aspect, however, it 

should be noted that for the purposes of this thesis, environmental disclosures are 

encapsulated within the wider �V�S�K�H�U�H���R�I���µ�V�R�F�L�D�O�¶���I�D�F�W�R�U�V�����7�K�L�V���L�V���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H���L�V�V�X�H�V���R�I���W�K�H��

football industry raised in this thesis largely concern governance, finance and social aspects 

�W�K�D�W���L�Q�Y�R�O�Y�H���I�D�Q�V�¶���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�V���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�V�����7�K�L�V���L�V���Q�R�W���W�R���E�H�O�L�W�W�O�H���W�K�H���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I the 

environment to clubs, rather it has not emerged as a major theme, rather one that is 

subordinated to the significant issues of the industry such as finance, governance and 

engagement. Therefore, focus will be on the latter. 

The BDO annual finance directors report found that 83% of clubs do not have an ESG 

strategy (BDO, 2021), despite pressure from fans and pressure groups. It also draws 

attention to the changes of Section 172 of the Companies Act that may influence club�¶s 

reporting on ESG matters, as for all companies. However, it is likely that this will not affect all 

EFL clubs as their status as medium and small companies excludes them from these 

obligations. 

 

   Social  factors  

My earlier work identifies social factors as one of the three aspects of a triple bottom line of 

football (Middling, 2019). However, this largely relates to the relationship between a club and 

its community, where the social factors outlined above by Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021) 
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mainly focus on employment related factors with the exception of impact on local 

communities and diversity and inclusion which may be seen as both a workplace issue and a 

wider society issue that affects football and fans.  

The importance of social factors in sport is caught by Craig Beeston, Policy advisor at the 

CGI (Corporate Governance Institute): 

 

�³�,�Q���V�S�R�U�W�����Z�L�Q�Q�L�Q�J���W�L�W�O�H�V�����P�H�G�D�O�V and trophies is one measure of success, but the 
wider benefits �± community, a love of the game, fun �± are equally valuable, albeit 
�V�R�I�W�H�U�����P�H�W�U�L�F�V�����$�U�H���W�K�H�V�H���D�O�Z�D�\�V���I�D�F�W�R�U�H�G���L�Q�W�R���E�H�Q�F�K�P�D�U�N�V���R�I���V�X�F�F�H�V�V�"�´��(Global 
Sports, 2018, para 9) 

 

2.5.4.1.1   Impact on communities ( aka CSR activities)  

Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021) use the term �µimpact on local communities�¶, but this is largely 

identified in literature as the CSR activities undertaken by clubs. Identified by Cruz et al. 

(2021) as a social performance factor, a number of papers looking at CSR in football provide 

some insight into potential disclosures that may be useful in a CSR section of a new 

reporting framework.  

Morrow (2021) identifies that football clubs accounts largely ignore their community impact 

which can be positive and significant. Anagnostopoulos (2013) thoroughly reviews CSR 

literature relating to the football industry by looking at 53 papers that mostly relate to English 

and Scottish clubs and Ribeiro et al. (2019) analyse the reporting on club websites of 95 

European clubs, including the top 20 from England (EPL), and Breitbarth and Harris (2008) 

conceptualise the role of CSR in football and offer an insight to English football�¶s CSR 

agenda. The metrics in these papers may be summarised as youth, health, education, 

employment, sport participation, EDI, environment, community and charity work. Breitbarth 

et al. (2011) suggest a CSR performance scorecard approach integrating a CSR 

performance scorecard into a club�¶s strategic planning, but provide limited insight into what 

metrics should be reported. 

Zülch et al. (2020) utilise the scores of an external consultancy firm, Imug, who provide 

German clubs (and other organisations) a sustainability score. It may be inferred that the use 

of external corporate consultancy providers suggests it may be difficult to obtain by more 

direct means. 
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2.5.4.1.2   Diversity and Inclusion  

Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021) include Diversity and Inclusion (also known as Equality, 

Diversion and Inclusion, EDI) in their list of social factors. Where this is often seen as a 

workplace issue, in football, it also concerns fans �± football is, even today in the UK, still a 

game predominately watched by white men (Penfold & Cleland, 2021), and despite efforts 

by various initiatives, discrimination remains embedded as part of the landscape (Burdsey, 

2015, 2020; Cleland & Cashmore, 2016). 

Cleland and Cashmore (2014) find an ongoing problem with racism in English football with 

over half of the 2,500 fans surveyed still experiencing or witnessing racism, despite a 

reduction in racist chanting by crowds and more Asian and black fans watching football. 

�7�K�H�\���F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���S�U�R�E�O�H�P���L�V���³�O�D�U�J�H�O�\���E�H�L�Q�J���L�J�Q�R�U�H�G�´��(Cleland & Cashmore, 2014, p. 

368) by football�¶s governing bodies and Cashmore and Cleland (2011) find that fans 

�S�H�U�F�H�L�Y�H���F�O�X�E�V�¶���H�I�I�R�U�Ws to tackle racism have largely been tokenism. 

EDI issues have been brought to the fore recently with players in multiple countries and 

�P�X�O�W�L�S�O�H���O�H�D�J�X�H�V���µ�W�D�N�L�Q�J���D���N�Q�H�H�¶���L�Q���S�U�R�W�H�V�W���D�J�D�L�Q�V�W���D�O�O���I�R�U�P�V���R�I���G�L�V�F�U�L�P�L�Q�D�W�L�R�Q (as shown in 

Figure 19), with some fans booing this action taken by players (Sky News, 2020). Although 

the action is thought by some to have political undertones (BBC News, 2021), a discussion 

of which is out of the scope of this thesis, the need for, and protest against this action may 

be seen to show that football has a way to go to eradicate discrimination. 

As calls have been made for fans (Burdsey, 2015) and clubs (Ronay, 2015) to take up the 

fight against racism, this suggests that a new reporting framework should include what clubs 

are doing to tackle the issues of discrimination at their clubs. This is an issue that was also 

identified in the FLR which recommends an EDI action plan explaining how clubs will 

achieve objectives to open the game to all (DCMS, 2021). 

The issue has been further highlighted recently by two significant events. Firstly, Greg Clark, 

the former Chairman of the FA resigned after �S�X�E�O�L�F�D�O�O�\���X�V�L�Q�J���R�I���W�K�H���S�K�U�D�V�H���³�F�R�O�R�X�U�H�G��

�I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O�H�U�V�´���D�Q�G���G�H�V�F�U�L�E�L�Q�J���K�R�P�R�V�H�[�X�D�O�L�W�\���D�V���D���³�O�L�I�H���F�K�R�L�F�H�´��(MacInnes, 2021).Secondly a 

scandal rocked Yorkshire Cricket Club (YCC) following accusations of a culture of racism 

(BBC Sport, 2021a). 
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Figure 19: Players take a knee in protest against all forms of racism amidst booing from 

some in the crowd: Cambridge United vs Colchester, League Two, England, December 2020 

(Sky News, 2020) 

 

2.5.4.1.3   Work place factors  

The remainder of Rodin and Madsbjerg�¶�V����������������social metrics largely concern workplace 

factors such as health and safety, working conditions and employee benefits. HR polices 

could also be considered a potential reporting metric �± work from Prowse and Dobbins 

(2021) shows that many clubs still do not pay a living wage to non-footballing employees 

such as caterers and stewards, with only 10 clubs in England and Scotland being accredited 

by the Living Wage Foundation. 

Rodin and Madsbjerg�¶�V����������������remaining social factor is human rights. Factors including 

human rights within supply chains may be an issue also as there have been reports of 

�µ�V�Z�H�D�W�V�K�R�S�¶���O�D�E�R�X�U���E�H�L�Q�J���X�V�H�G���W�R���P�D�Q�X�I�D�F�W�X�U�H��replica kits with workers paid less than one 

pound per hour (Hickman, 2010; Selby, 2019) and evidence of child labour in the supply 

chain (CBBC News, 2006; OECD Watch, 2021). These factors may be of importance to fans 

who are associated with the brands of clubs and manufactures of replica kits. 

 

2.5.4.1.4   Environmental f actors  

COP26 shed increased attention to environmental concern for all industries with responses 

from football governing bodies such as FIFA that include commitments to climate change 

targets (BBC Sport, 2021b). Some clubs have also begun to focus on the subject, including 

Oxford United, an English L1 club, whose new owner has set environmental aims (BBC 
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Sport, 2021c) and Forest Green Rovers (L2) who �D�L�P���W�R���E�H���W�K�H���Z�R�U�O�G�¶�V���J�U�H�H�Q�H�V�W���F�O�X�E��

(Storey, 2017). 

Under environment, Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021) list renewable fuels, greenhouse gas 

emissions, energy efficiency, climate risk, water management, recycling process and 

emergency preparedness. These link closely with a BBC Sport report into the environmental 

sustainability of EPL clubs which assessed similar metrics including energy efficiency, 

transport, single use plastic usage, waste management and water efficiency (BBC Sport, 

2022). No similar report has been identified by lower league clubs, but it may be assumed 

that metrics would be similar as lower league clubs provide the same product, albeit on a 

smaller scale. 

Academic Literature has sought to calculate the environmental impact of such things as 

world cup finals (Death, 2011; McCrory, 2006), the FA cup final (Collins et al., 2007) and to 

investigate EPL club�¶s commitment to reducing carbon footprint (Collins & Flynn, 2008), 

along with more normative pieces such as McCullough et al. (2019) who attempt to map out 

a plan for improvement of clubs to become carbon neutral.  

Carbon footprint has become a common metric for environmental performance despite BDO 

(2021) finding that only two clubs have carbon reduction targets. Transport for fans to and 

from games has also been highlighted as contributing to carbon output. CfBT (2013) looks 

into how to make transport to games more environmentally friendly as they and Dosumu et 

al. (2017) find a reliance on car usage for fans to travel to games. During what was labelled 

as the first carbon-neutral football match, Chelsea and Spurs fans were asked to use public 

transport, cycle or walk to attend the game (BBC Sport, 2021d). 

Additionally, clubs may be concerned about the effects of climate change such as flooding, 

which may be seen as �µemergency preparedness�¶ as listed by Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021). 

A Rapid Transition Alliance report identified a quarter of English clubs are at risk from 

flooding due to climate change (Wigmore, 2020), and Carlisle United have been highlighted 

�D�V���O�L�Y�L�Q�J���³�X�Q�G�H�U���W�K�H���F�R�Q�V�W�D�Q�W���W�K�U�H�D�W���R�I���I�O�R�R�G�L�Q�J���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���%�U�X�Q�W�R�Q���3�D�U�N���J�U�R�X�Q�G�����K�D�Y�L�Q�J���V�X�I�I�H�U�H�G��

�V�X�F�K���D���I�D�W�H���L�Q�������������D�Q�G�����������´��(Dawkes, 2020, para 10). 

 

   Governance  factors  

My earlier work wraps the triple bottom line of football in club governance as I found that it is 

perceived by fans to affect all three of the bottom line issues (finance, sporting and social 

factors; Middling, 2019) and its importance is underlined in its inclusion in Zülch et al. (2020) 

and �&�U�X�]���H�W���D�O���¶�V (2021) models. Additionally, as the FLR put forward 47 recommendations 
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that it claimed will help to ensure good governance of clubs (DCMS, 2021), we may posit 

that club governance should be a significant element of a reporting framework. 

Under the governance section of ESG reporting, Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021) list ethical 

standards, board diversity and governance, stakeholder engagement, shareholder rights and 

pay for performance. For the purposes of this thesis, I have considered ethical standards as 

an overarching theme of good practice so I have not considered it individually. Additionally, 

rather than shareholder rights, more appropriate to football clubs may be considered 

ownership due to the concentrated ownership model at most clubs (Morrow, 2016). 

A useful paper to note, although it may be considered dated, is Michie and Oughton (2005a) 

in which the authors surveyed clubs in a number of areas of governance such as ownership 

structure, how clubs are managed, compliance with corporate governance practices 

(although these are only mandatory for publicly traded companies which a small proportion 

of clubs were in 2005), the separation of chair and CEO, how new directors are hired, how 

much training directors receive, whether there is an audit committee and levels of director 

remuneration. 

In a more recent study, García and Llopis-Goig (2021) investigate supporters�¶ views of 

football governance practices across six European countries, including the UK, and develop 

a model that shows six factors including a lack of trust in clubs by fans. Of particular interest 

from the study is the mistrust of clubs�¶ boards who are perceived to forget promises, only be 

interested in sporting success and treat supporters like mere customers, as well as an 

unwillingness to include the supporters voice at board room level, leaving questions as to 

how clubs make top level decisions and to what extent supporters are involved. 

 

2.5.4.2.1   Ownership  

Disclosure on ownership may be particularly poignant in a reporting framework due to the 

concerns about bad owners or overreliance on owner funding as discussed in Sections 1.1 

and 2.2.2. The English football authorities currently operate an Owners�¶ and Directors�¶ Test 

that looks to prevent unsuitable people from taking ownership of clubs (Kelly et al., 2012). 

However, as discussed in Section 1.3.2, the test has been criticised as only really looking at 

whether an owner has unspent criminal convictions, is disqualified from being a director and 

to prove their wealth (Maguire & Day, 2020). In 2021, the FLR made recommendations to 

improve the Owners�¶ and Directors�¶ Test (DCMS, 2021), to include such things as the 

submission of a business plan, check of previous bankruptcies, personal insolvencies, 

suspension or ban from other sports and being a football agent. This may be considered as 
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long overdue as Hamil and Walters (2010) quoted Lord Triesman, then Chair of the FA, in 

calling for a review of the test 12 years ago. 

Furthermore, as discussed in Section 2.2.2, there is increasing distance, both geographically 

and culturally between owners of clubs and fans and as discussed in Section 2.3.2, as the 

distance between accountees and accountors increases, the need for more formal 

accountability grows (Gray, 2006), suggesting a reporting framework need show 

transparency of owners and their intentions with their clubs. 

 

2.5.4.2.2   Group s tructure  

A subset of ownership that may be of interest is the group structure surrounding a football 

club. Though no academic literature has been identified that covers this, the FLR refers to 

Birmingham City where the clubs and ground are owned by different people, and the club 

itself has complex offshore arrangements. 

Concerns have also been raised by Maguire and Day (2021b) about these practices, which 

were also features of the demise of Bury, as the structure of the club was so complicated 

that potential investors could not work out exactly what they were buying (Maguire & Day, 

2019a). 

 

2.5.4.2.3   Board diversity  

Dimitropoulos and Tsagkanos (2012) analyse the impact of club corporate governance 

quality using dimensions such as board size, board independence, and managerial 

ownership as indicators of quality. Their findings suggest that good governance practices 

increase profitability and durability of clubs. Franck (2010) highlights the value of 

independent directors to organisations�¶ decision-making practices, which far from all clubs 

have (Michie & Oughton, 2005a). Indeed, Morrow (2016) highlights the practice of most 

clubs as having a very concentrated ownership (and therefore management) structure.  

Furthermore, a 2022 Fair Game report (Philippou et al., 2022) found very few women in the 

higher paid roles at English football clubs, representation of women on boards is no more 

than 11.3%, with two out of every three clubs having all male boards. Of the top 10 football 

podcasts only 11% of participants were female, and only 30% of attendees at football 

matches were women, despite women making up 51% of the national population (Philippou 

et al., 2022).  
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2.5.4.2.4   Decision -making  

We may question the quality of �F�O�X�E�V�¶��decision-making processes due to the predominant 

concentrated ownership practice (Morrow, 2016) and lack of board governance structures. 

The importance of this may be heightened due to the owner distance issues as identified by 

Kelly et al. (2012), King (1997) and others outlined in Section 2.2.2. Concern was also 

expressed to this in the FLR that the review had seen evidence of decision making process 

that did not involve fan consolations and particularly highlighted Hull, where the club had 

changed it name, Cardiff, where the club had changed the colour of its first team kit and 

Wimbledon, which had been moved 60 miles to MK Dons, taking the club away from its 

supporters and local community (DCMS, 2021). From this we can see that decision-making 

processes are strongly connected to fan engagement, and whether or not clubs include fans 

in their decision-making processes.  

 

2.5.4.2.5   Fan engagement  

Rodin and Madsbjerg (2021) list stakeholder engagement as a governance factor (discussed 

as fan engagement and which may be argued to be a social factor). Its importance may be 

�L�Q�I�H�U�U�H�G���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���µ�F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q�¶���H�O�H�P�H�Q�W���R�I���&�U�X�]�¶�V�����������������S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H���P�R�G�H�O���L�Q���)�L�J�X�U�H����7, 

and this importance is agreed by Michie and Oughton (2005a) who also use dialogue with 

fans as an important aspect of assessing a club�¶s corporate governance practices. This is 

highlighted by García and Welford (2015) who argue that �F�O�X�E�¶�V governance failings pitfalls 

are, at least in part, associated with a lack of fan engagement and they argue in broad terms 

that opening the game up to the supporters will not only connect the game to the community, 

but also increase transparency and accountability. In the words of Tom Gorringe, 

Commercial Director, Bristol Rovers �³�*�R�R�G���I�D�Q���H�Q�J�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���E�X�\�V���\�R�X���W�U�X�V�W���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���I�D�Q�V�´��

(Think FE, 2021). 

Sports management literature has discussed how fan engagement fits into the management 

of clubs, however many of these papers rather crassly use social media measures both as a 

measure for fan engagement and also how it can be used to communicate things such as 

brand image (Allison, 2013; Parganas et al., 2017; Vale & Fernandes, 2018; Zambom-

Ferraresi et al., 2017; Zülch et al., 2020). This rather seems to miss the point as the essence 

of fan engagement may be seen as the same as stakeholder engagement, which is defined 

by AccountAbility as: 

 

�³�«�W�K�H���S�U�R�F�H�V�V���X�V�H�G���E�\���D�Q���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R���H�Q�J�D�J�H���U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���I�R�U���D���F�O�H�D�U��
�S�X�U�S�R�V�H���W�R���D�F�K�L�H�Y�H���D�J�U�H�H�G���R�X�W�F�R�P�H�V���´��(AccountAbility, 2015) 
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From this definition we may understand that fan engagement is a strategic decision-making 

tool and requires dialogue rather than mere social media interaction. This is aligned with ISO 

26000, which also defines stakeholder engagement as a more strategic activity affecting a 

�F�R�P�S�D�Q�\�¶�V��decision-making process: 

 

�³�«�D�F�W�L�Y�L�W�\���X�Q�G�H�U�W�D�N�H�Q���W�R���F�U�H�D�W�H���R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�L�H�V���I�R�U���G�L�D�O�R�J�X�H���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���D�Q���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q��
and one or more of its stakeholders with the aim of providing an informed basis for 
�W�K�H���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�¶�V���G�H�F�Lsions.�´��(ISO, 2010) 

 

The FLR found evidence that despite existing rules containing requirements for fan 

�F�R�Q�V�X�O�W�D�W�L�R�Q�����W�K�H�U�H���³�«�K�D�V���E�H�H�Q���O�L�P�L�W�H�G���S�U�R�J�U�H�V�V���R�Q���G�H�O�L�Y�H�U�L�Q�J���W�K�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�Y�H�O�\���X�Q�D�P�E�L�W�L�R�X�V��

�P�L�Q�L�P�X�P���V�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G�V�«�´��(DCMS, 2021, p. 29). Poor practice has also been found by Cleland 

(2010) who analyses four clubs and discovers a dramatic difference in the engagement of 

clubs where some engage whilst others exclude.  

An alternative platform is from Think Fan Engagement (Think FE, n.d.), who take a fans 

perspective of how well clubs engage. They survey clubs and/or fan groups using metrics 

under three key areas: Dialogue (structured dialogue meetings, fans�¶���I�R�U�X�P�V�����V�R�F�L�D�O���P�H�G�L�D����

other); Governance (Presence of a Fan Elected Director (FED), Customer Charter, 

standalone Supporter Liaison Officer (SLO), existence of a Memorandum of Understanding 

between club and supporters (MoU)); �D�Q�G���7�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\�����D�J�H�Q�G�D�¶�V���S�X�E�O�L�V�K�H�G�����P�L�Q�X�W�H�V��

published, reports on club board meetings). 

We can again see from the criteria used by Think FE that fan engagement is much more 

about the dialogue and meaningful interaction with supporters rather than social media 

activity, albeit social media can be used at certain times to connect with fans. Think FE (n.d.) 

therefore provide what may be a good starting point for fan engagement within a reporting 

framework. 

Zülch et al. (2020) do not specifically use fan engagement metrics but do use KPIs around 

membership, attendance and communication �± again largely based on social media and 

website visits. Stott et al. (2020) also assess the role of the Supporter Liaison Officer (SLO) 

at Swedish football clubs, an important factor as per Think FE (n.d.), and concludes that the 

SLO role is important in preventing conflict between fans and club. Therefore, 

acknowledgement of the SLO role in a new reporting framework could be useful. 

Interestingly, there has been evidence from Baxter et al. (2019) and Middling (2019) that 

good fan engagement can lead to �I�D�Q�V�¶���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J���D�Q�G���D�F�F�H�S�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I��relatively poor 

performance in exchange for a greater goal. Baxter et al. (2019) find patience and 
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togetherness between fans and club in an environment where books have to be balanced, 

and best players sold to do so, due to the campaigning of club management around the 

concept of self-achievement with no outside help, especially as the result of previous boom-

and-bust strategies. Middling (2019) found similar acceptance of fans of an EFL club that a 

high league position was likely unobtainable due to the budget of the club, which was the 

lowest in their league by quite a margin. The enhanced engagement with fans helped them 

�W�R���V�H�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���Z�D�V���µ�S�X�Q�F�K�L�Q�J���D�E�R�Y�H���L�W�V���Z�H�L�J�K�W�¶��  

 

2.5.4.2.6   Pay for directors  

Rodin and Madsbjerg�¶�V����������������final aspect of governance factors is pay for performance (in 

terms of governance, we will associate this with directors rather than players). The use of 

directors remuneration in Michie and Oughton�¶�V��(2005a) survey is consistent with Guzmán 

and Morrow (2007) who investigate efficiency in EPL clubs, and include directors�¶ 

remunerations as a proxy for commercial acumen. 

There has been no further academic work identified that looks at the pay of senior 

executives at football clubs. A scan of newspaper reports through Nexis suggests that they 

focus only �R�Q���W�R�S���F�O�X�E�V�����V�X�F�K���D�V���(�G���:�R�R�G�Z�D�U�G�¶�V���U�H�P�X�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q���D�W���0�D�Q�F�K�H�V�W�H�U���8�Q�L�W�H�G���R�I���…���P��

(Ziegler, 2021) and a number of reports of EPL directors�¶ remuneration that suggest they 

receive more remuneration than non-football companies of a similar size (Conn, 2013). 

Reports of lower league directors pay are scarce, but many clubs are subject to their 

publication in annual reports. Lower league clubs directors�¶ salaries can be sizable, such as 

the reported pay of directors at Scunthorpe United in their 2018/2019 accounts of £183k 

(Scunthorpe United FC, 2020), despite what many may be considered poor league 

performances in recent years (Frostick & Buckingham, 2022); however this level of 

remuneration has dropped significantly in their most recent accounts (Scunthorpe United FC, 

2022). 

Other payments to directors may also be used as a metric. For example, ex Bolton owner 

Ken Anderson claimed to have not taken a salary, but had taken a consultancy fee of £525k 

(Maguire & Day, 2021b).  

 

2.5.5 Section  summary  

Section 2.4 has attempted to assess what disclosures and metrics may be useful in a new 

supporter focused reporting framework. It has used my earlier work (Middling, 2019) and 

Zülch et al. (2020) and Cruz et al. (2021) as a broad guide, and found important factors in 
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four areas: Finance, Governance, Sporting and Social. Deeper assessment has been made 

under each of these sections that may help inform the content of a new reporting framework. 

 

2.6 Chapter s ummary  

Chapter 2 has considered relevant literature in relation to the development of a new 

supporter focused reporting framework. It has assessed what a football club is, what a 

supporter is, attempted to justify that a social contract exists between supporters and their 

clubs and looks at the accountability in that relationship suggesting that reporting is a strong 

method to enact the accountability of clubs to fans. Finally, it has used extant literature to 

discuss what disclosures and metrics may be applicable in such a reporting framework.  

Chapter 3 will present and discuss the methodological choices in conducting the empirical 

investigation into a new reporting framework. 
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3. Research methodology and m ethods  

In the previous chapter, I analysed football fans and clubs, the social contract and 

relationship between the two, accountability, transparency and reporting, and assessed what 

criteria a new reporting framework may utilise. This chapter follows on by laying out the 

�P�H�W�K�R�G�R�O�R�J�L�F�D�O���F�K�R�L�F�H�V���W�D�N�H�Q���W�R���G�H�W�H�U�P�L�Q�H���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���Q�H�H�G�V���D�Qd vision for a new 

reporting framework. 

 

3.1 Research philosophy   

3.1.1 Philosophical viewpoint  

The epistemological position chosen for this study is social constructionism (hereafter 

termed constructionism) due to its alignment with the social contract, accounting, and the 

meaning of football which may all be thought of as social constructs. Constructionism posits 

�W�K�D�W���U�H�D�O�L�W�\���L�V���³�F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W�H�G���W�Krough social interaction, in which social actors create shared 

�P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�V���D�Q�G���U�H�D�O�L�W�L�H�V�´��(Saunders et al., 2016, p. 130). Social contracts may be seen as 

socially constructed as, as discussed in Section 2.2.1 by Carroll and Buchholtz (2014), they 

derive from unspoken mutual understandings between parties, i.e. socially constructed 

understanding of relational responsibility. 

Further, Saunders et al. (2016) continue that the social interactions that form the basis of 

constructionism are in a constant state of flux and revision. The social contract, accounting 

and football are all social constructs whose meaning can change over time. Waddock (2010) 

advises that the social contract changes as societies expectations of organisations changes 

and uses the increasing demand for good CSR over the past 50 years as an example. 

Accounting as a social construct is used and posited by authors such as Christensen (2004), 

Hines (1988) and Rutherford (2003). Hines (1988) demonstrates that accounting is viewed 

through the eyes of individuals, but agreed collectively. For example, drawing on Freidson�¶�V��

(1986, p. 73) work which posits that a �S�U�R�I�H�V�V�L�R�Q�����V�X�F�K���D�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J�����L�V���E�D�V�H�G���R�Q���D���³�E�R�G�\���R�I��

�I�R�U�P�D�O���N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H�´����Hines (1989) continues that this body o�I���N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H���L�V���³�D�F�F�R�P�S�O�L�V�K�H�G�´��

only through social construction. As a social construct, accounting is also in a constant state 

of flux as described by Plumley (2014) in discussing the changing accounting practices such 

as fair value accounting and Morrow (2013, p. 297) who argues the �³�O�R�Q�J-standing debate on 

the na�W�X�U�H���D�Q�G���S�X�U�S�R�V�H�´���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�L�Q�J��  

Likewise, the meaning of sport is socially constructed, in part through its deep-rooted 

evolution in society. From the beginnings of football through to the modern game, football as 

a sport, a business and its fandom has been constructed by participants, officials, the media 
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and supporters through such things as the rules of the game, match reports and collective 

experiences of events.  

From the oldest recorded predecessors of the game where Vikings would cut off the heads 

of enemies and kick them around for sport (Chadwick, 2009) and later the Shrove Tuesday 

games (Mill, 2005), football has always been a social endeavour. As discussed in Section 

2.1.1.5, modern teams began as social organisations (Kuper & Szymanski, 2014). The 

modern game itself and its rules are continually debated, proven by the introduction of 

modern technology such as video assisted refereeing (Telegraph Sport, 2018). Using the 

case of baseball by Fish (1996), �&�U�R�W�W�\�����������������D�U�J�X�H�V���W�K�D�W���µ�%�D�O�O�V�¶���D�Q�G���µ�6�W�U�L�N�H�V�¶ are socially 

constructed rules of the game, they may be thought of as real (realist ontology), yet their 

nature and meaning may change should the rules of the game change. Similar can be said 

for the rules and constructs of football. 

Easterby-Smith et al. (2015) identify that the aims of constructionist research may be seen 

as invention through engagement, discourse, understanding and providing rich data and 

new insights and outcomes. This is exactly the aim of this research project �± �W�R���µ�L�Q�Y�H�Q�W�¶���D��

new reporting framework through engagement, discourse and understanding. 

 

3.1.2 Researcher p osition  and reflexivity  

In the concept of reflexivity, the researcher:  

 

�³�«�U�H�I�O�H�F�W�V���D�E�R�X�W���K�R�Z���W�K�H�L�U���R�Z�Q���U�R�O�H���L�Q���W�K�H���V�W�X�G�\���D�Q�G���W�K�H�L�U���S�H�U�V�R�Q�D�O���E�D�F�N�J�U�R�X�Q�G����
culture, and experiences hold potential for shaping their interpretations, such as 
�W�K�H�P�H�V���D�V���W�K�H�\���D�G�Y�D�Q�F�H���D�Q�G���W�K�H���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J���W�K�H�\���D�V�F�U�L�E�H���W�R���W�K�H���G�D�W�D���´��(Creswell, 2014, 
p. 186) 

 

Creswell (2014, p. 186) �F�R�Q�W�L�Q�X�H�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�L�V���L�V���P�X�F�K���P�R�U�H���W�K�D�Q���V�L�P�S�O�\���U�H�F�R�J�Q�L�V�L�Q�J���³�E�L�D�V�H�V��

�D�Q�G���Y�D�O�X�H�V�´���E�X�W���K�R�Z���D���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�H�U�¶�V���E�Dckground affects the study. In this way, Cohen et al. 

(2000) posit that researchers should: 

 

�³�«�K�R�O�G���W�K�H�P�V�H�O�Y�H�V���X�S���W�R���W�K�H���O�L�J�K�W�����U�H�I�O�H�F�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���D�U�H���D�F�X�W�H�O�\��
aware of the ways in which their selectivity, perception, background and inductive 
processes and paradigms shape their research as well as their obligations to monitor 
closely and continually their own interactions with participants, their own reaction, 
�U�R�O�H�V���D�Q�G���E�L�D�V�H�V���´��(Cohen et al., 2000, p. 140, found in Edwards & Skinner, 2009 p. 
161) 
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With this in mind, I must declare at this point my position as a football fan, season ticket 

holder of a lower-league club and an advisor to its �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W���E�R�D�U�G�����7�K�L�V���L�Q���L�W�V�H�O�I���K�D�V��

been a development. I have always been a football fan, and of the belief that fans are the 

most important stakeholders of a football club; but it is the journey of this doctorate that led 

me to believe deeply in the position of fans as social owners, the existence of a social 

contract and the need for a new reporting framework. This led me to follow a local lower-

league club, to join its Trust and be invited to be an advisor to its board as someone who is 

now seen as knowledgeable in the area of football finance. Not only am I a football fan, but 

also a qualified Chartered Management Accountant, which additionally influences my views 

of reporting, conceptualisations around reporting and the concept of a reporting framework. 

Ergo, Easterby-Smith et al. (2015, p. 53) advise that I as the researcher �D�P���³part of what is 

being �R�E�V�H�U�Y�H�G�´���D�Q�G��Dobson (2009) advises that the immersion of a researcher such as 

myself in the subject area can offer a better chance to recognise and interact with key 

persons who can enhance the findings in the appropriate context. This is line with the views 

of social accounting researcher Rob Gray who comments �³�&�H�U�W�D�L�Q�O�\�����,���D�P���Q�R�W���L�Q�G�H�S�H�Q�G�H�Q�W���R�I��

�P�\���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�´��(Gray, 2010, p. 21). 

Indeed, �L�W���L�V���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�R�R�G���W�K�D�W���L�Q���T�X�D�O�L�W�D�W�L�Y�H���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�����L�W���L�V���³�L�P�S�R�V�V�L�E�O�H�´���I�R�U���D���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�H�U���³�W�R��

�U�H�P�D�L�Q���µ�R�X�W�V�L�G�H�¶���W�K�H���V�X�E�M�H�F�W���P�D�W�W�H�U���D�V���W�K�H���S�U�H�V�H�Q�F�H���R�I���W�K�H���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�Ker will have an effect of 

�V�R�P�H���N�L�Q�G�´��(Easterby-Smith et al., 2015, p. 181).  

That said, as a professional researcher, I have attempted to maintain impartiality in the 

research so that it is not simply my views imposed. I did not provide my views to participants 

on football, fandom, accounting, or political viewpoints unless explicitly asked, in which case, 

I tried to remain neutral as much as possible. 

Additionally, I have constantly asked myself at each step of the way if I really have the 

evidence to back up claims. This has been aided by presenting ideas and findings back to 

participants to make sure that what I have understood is a true reflection of their views. This 

included a full version of Chapter 4: Findings, and a summarised version of the thesis. This 

elicited minor changes to some interpretations, but mostly participants agreed with the 

findings and conclusions. 

 

3.2 Research e thics  

Ethics were taken as a very serious concern during every stage of the project, and as such 

were treated with professionalism. Academic integrity has been assured by me following 
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both the guidelines of the University, and those of many authors in the subject, which may 

be summed up as: 

�³�‡�� Right not to participate. 
�x Right to withdraw. 
�x Right to give informed consent. 
�x Right to anonymity. 
�x Right to confidentiality�  ́

(Oates, 2005, found in Oliver (2022)) 

 

Prior to the research process commencing, participants were provided with an information 

sheet informing them of the research, as well as an online presentation detailing the aims, 

timescale and processes that may be involved in the project. Additionally, each participant 

signed and returned individual consent forms, and P1 was asked to complete an 

organisational consent form as three participants were either from, or advisors to, the FSA.  

The right to withdraw was made clear from the start, and this was taken up by P2 who, 

following an honest discussion, had differing hopes from the research, therefore chose to 

withdraw but consented to the use of their input to date. 

Participant anonymity has been maintained by using participant codes. Additionally, club 

names; phrases; numerical values or other references, direct or indirect; that may lead to 

concluding the identity of participants or their clubs have been removed. This allowed 

participants to talk freely on their experiences with their clubs which aided the development 

of the final framework. However, please note that where clubs not related to participants 

have been discussed, and the name of the club aids the gravitas of the quote provided (for 

example, quotes referring to Bury�¶�V���L�V�V�X�H�V), clubs names remain. 

An explicit exemption from this is the use of the FSA name and logo. This was explicitly 

requested by P1 to promote their organisation�¶s involvement in the project. 

No other ethical issues were raised by participants at any time. The research was only 

conducted after strict adhe�U�H�Q�F�H���W�R���1�R�U�W�K�X�P�E�U�L�D���8�Q�L�Y�H�U�V�L�W�\�¶s Ethics procedures and 

permission for the study was given on 9th December 2020 with authorisation codes 12452 

and 27977. Ethical agreement forms can be found in Appendix 2. 

 

3.3 Study design  

This study has taken a qualitative, inductive, industry study approach, finding out not just 

what supporters want to see in a new reporting framework, but why. 
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Creswell (2014, p. 4) �G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�V���T�X�D�O�L�W�D�W�L�Y�H���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K���D�V���³�D�Q���D�S�Sroach for exploring and 

�X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J���W�K�H���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J���L�Q�G�L�Y�L�G�X�D�O�V���R�U���J�U�R�X�S�V���D�V�F�U�L�E�H���W�R���D���V�R�F�L�D�O���R�U���K�X�P�D�Q���S�U�R�E�O�H�P���´���7�K�L�V��

thesis fits this as it attempts to understand the viewpoint of participants, being football 

supporters, on the usefulness of the current reporting practices of the English football 

industry �W�R���H�[�H�U�F�L�V�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���Q�H�H�G�V and what a new reporting framework 

would look like to meet them. 

The research is naturally inductive. Patton (2015, p. 64) advises that inductive research 

begins with �³�H�[�S�O�R�U�D�W�R�U�\���L�Q�T�X�L�U�\�´ to explore a phenomenon, �D�Q�G���D�O�O�R�Z�V���I�R�U���³�P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�I�X�O��

dimensions �W�R���H�P�H�U�J�H�´����where theory is the outcome (Bryman, 2016) often resulting in a new 

conceptual framework (Saunders et al., 2016). This is practiced in this study by the exploring 

�S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�¶�V views on a reporting framework for the football industry, and resulting in both 

new conceptual and reporting frameworks being developed, along with a concept report. 

These elements are the projects contributions to practice and theory as discussed in 

Sections 5.1 to 5.4. 

  

3.3.1 Participants  

�3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W���V�H�O�H�F�W�L�R�Q���W�R�R�N���D���µ�N�H�\���L�Q�I�R�U�P�H�U�¶���D�S�S�U�R�D�F�K�����X�W�L�O�L�V�L�Q�J���S�X�U�S�R�V�H�I�X�O���V�D�P�S�O�L�Q�J�����Z�K�L�F�K���L�V��

designed to help the researcher select participants who �Z�L�O�O���³�E�H�V�W���K�H�O�S�´���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G���W�K�H��

problem (Creswell, 2014, p. 189). Patton (2015, p. 230) argues that using purposeful 

�V�D�P�S�O�L�Q�J���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�V���³�L�Q�V�Lght and in-dept�K���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J�´ from participants who are 

�³�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���U�L�F�K�´��(Krueger & Casey, 2009; Patton, 2015). Participants were selected based 

�R�Q���W�K�H�L�U���L�Q�Y�R�O�Y�H�P�H�Q�W���L�Q���W�K�H�L�U���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W�V (or FSA), experience in the football industry, 

profession, background and wider experience which provided this rich information. 

There is no consensus about the perfect number of participants in a focus group (FG). 

Saunders et al. (2016) advise between four and 12, Finch et al. (2014) six to eight, Morgan 

(1997) six to 10 and Braun and Clark (2013) three and eight. However, Saunders et al. 

(2016, p. 417) �D�G�Y�L�V�H���W�K�D�W���³�W�K�H���P�R�U�H���F�R�P�S�O�H�[���W�K�H���V�X�E�M�H�F�W���P�D�W�W�H�U�����W�K�H���V�P�D�O�O�H�U���W�K�H���Q�X�P�E�H�U���R�I��

�L�Q�W�H�U�Y�L�H�Z�H�H�V�´ and Finch et al. (2014) agree that a complex issue is better discussed between 

a smaller group due to the need to discuss in more depth, rather than breadth. Both King 

and Horrocks (2010) and Braun and Clark (2013) agree that too many participants can be 

difficult to manage, and all voices may not be heard. 

In total, 11 participants took part in the study �± a summary is provided in Table 5. However 

not all participants attended each FG and two joined the project after initial interviews were 

conducted (see Section 3.4.2). A register of attendance is shown in Table 6. FGs had a 
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mean average attendance of 6.35 participants (mode 7, median 6.5), a maximum 

attendance of eight and minimum attendance of four. Theses metrics are within the advised 

remit of all the authors above.  

Participants fell into two categories �± those with accounting experience and those without. 

This was intentional. Accounting participants provided accounting expertise which assisted 

in the understanding of current reporting practices and helped to ensure any new framework 

still aligned to basic accounting logic. Non-accounting participants provided a lay supporter 

perspective to explain their position and difficulties in interpreting current frameworks and to 

help ensure that the new framework would not be completely devised from current 

institutionalised views of accounting. 

An initial eight participants were recruited: three accounting participants and five non-

accounting participants. They could be split again by the organisations that they 

�U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�H�G�����)�L�Y�H���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�H�G���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W�V�����D�Q�G���W�K�U�H�H���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�H�G���W�K�H��

FSA. Participants supported clubs from a wide geographical area covering most regions of 

England, and all three EFL leagues. 

As discussed above, P2 chose to leave the project early on, however P8 also asked to invite 

P9 to the project as P8 felt they needed support from their Treasurer when discussing 

financial matters. As P9 is a professional bookkeeper, they had some accounting 

knowledge, but less than the other accounting participants. Based on this, the split between 

accounting and non-accounting participants became three accounting, four non-accounting 

and P9 who was between the two. 

Additionally, in two areas �± Fan Engagement and Environment, additional participants were 

asked to join the FGs that covered these topics. P10 was a fan engagement expert and P11 

was a colleague of P8 who had researched environmental initiatives for their club, but did 

not want to be categorised as an expert in this area �± all the same, their research and 

knowledge provided good grounding for participants to build from. 
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Participant  
(P) code  
Assigned  

 

League  
of club 
supported  

Type of 
Organisation 
Represented  

Primary 
Qualifying 
Characteristic  

Secondary/  
Tertiary 
Qualifying 
Characteristic  

P1 L1 National 
�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
representative 
body 

Supporter 
Engagement and 
Governance 
representative 

Ex-Director of fan 
owned club 

P2 Championship National 
�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
representative 
body 

Governance 
Representative 

N/a 

P3 EPL National 
�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
representative 
body 

Financial 
Representative 

Chartered 
Accountant, 
Ex-football club 
Financial Director 

P4 L2 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Vice-Chair, 
�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W 

Member of 
national advisory 
committees on 
Inclusion & 
Diversity 

P5 L2 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Secretary, 
�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W 

Ex-coach in grass 
roots football 

P6 L1 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Chair, 
�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W 

Chartered 
Accountant, Ex-
Director of fan 
owned club 

P7 L2 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Chair, 
�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W 

Chartered 
Accountant 

P8 L1 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Chair, 
�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W 

Fan-Elected club 
director, club SLO 

P9 L1 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Treasurer, 
Supporters Trust 

Professional 
Bookkeeper 

P10 L1 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Expert �± Fan 
Engagement 

Board member, 
Supporters�¶ Trust 

P11 L1 �6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��
Trust 

Researcher �± 
Environmental 
initiatives  

Board member, 
�6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W 

Table 5: List of participants 
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Table 6: Participant attendance at each interview and FG
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3.3.2 Three-phase process  

The project was split into three distinct phases which included the same group of participants 

throughout to ensure consistency and to carry forward knowledge and understanding from 

previous phases, allowing trends and patterns to emerge over the course of the project. 

Phase one  involved initial unstructured one-to-one interviews with each initial participant to 

find out what they wanted to see reported without influence from other participants. 

Phase two  asked participants to review current reporting practice in the form of a sample of 

annual reports from a selection of EFL clubs. Participants were asked to complete a written 

assessment template for each club in the sample, developed from the themes identified in 

phase one. This was followed up by FGs in which participants discussed the points made in 

these assessments and added debate and value to the process. 

Phase three  continued with the FG approach to develop a new reporting framework and 

concept report. 

 

   Phase one �± Initial one -to-one i nterviews  

Phase one involved largely unstructured, one-to-one interviews with each initial participant to 

gain an understanding of the main issues and reporting requirements as they saw them, 

without a bandwagon affect from the influence of other participants or a priori themes. P1 sat 

in on some of these interviews as an observer as they were something of a senior partner 

and gatekeeper in the process due to their senior role within the FSA�����3���¶�V���D�L�P���Z�D�V���W�R��

understand the topics discussed and occasionally participated in discussion, but did not 

guide discussion in anyway. Their presence was verbally agreed by other participants. 

These interviews took place between June 2020 and August 2020 and took place over 

Zoom, due to Covid and geographic restrictions. Interviews lasted between 30 minutes and 

two hours (approx). 

Unstructured (or in-depth) interviews focus on themes rather than a set of questions (Wilson, 

2010). I used these to explore each �S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�¶�V���Y�L�H�Z�V���R�Q��the theme of what the issues are 

in English football, at their own club, and what they wanted to see reported by their club. 

This freedom allowed participants to voice the issues that were important to them (Wilson, 

2010). Although a priori themes did emerge from the literature, it was important for me to not 

impose these on participants so that their concerns were not affected by my expectations, 

and for the reporting themes to be led by participants so that research truly represented their 

views. Interviews simply began with the questions�����³�:�K�D�W���L�V�V�X�H�V���D�U�H���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���W�R���\�R�X���D�E�R�X�W��

your club and what aspects do you think clubs should �U�H�S�R�U�W���R�Q�"�´���7�K�L�V���D�O�O�R�Z�H�G���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V��
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to talk freely of the things that were of importance to them, and thus their issues and beliefs 

formed the basis of phases two and three. 

Interviews were transcribed and analysed using Template Analysis (see Section 3.4.2) and 

Nvivo, (see Section 3.4.3). At this stage, things were ke�S�W���V�L�P�S�O�H���Z�L�W�K���M�X�V�W���W�Z�R���µ�K�L�J�K�H�U-�R�U�G�H�U�¶��

codes: Reporting and Other, but with dozens of lower-level codes below. 

FG1 was used to feed back the outcomes from this stage to participants, with particular 

focus on the reporting aspects. Participants made some minor changes, but largely agreed 

that the list represented what they wanted to see reported. 

You will observe from the codes in Figure 20 that the list was quite large �± this was done so 

as to allow as many developments as possible to the coding depending on the unknowns 

from phases two and three. Also, some of the codes had no comments against them, these 

were some of the a priori themes that were not discussed at this stage by participants. 

 

 

 

Figure 20:  Initial codes developed from initial interviews using Template Analysis and NVivo 
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   Phase t wo �± Review of current practice  

Phase two involved comparing the reporting themes from phase one against existing 

reporting practices in the form of the annual reports of football clubs. This was to ascertain 

�Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���Q�H�H�G�V���Z�H�U�H���E�H�L�Q�J���P�H�W���W�K�U�R�X�J�K���W�K�L�V���P�H�G�L�X�P���� 

Clubs�¶ annual reports were obtained from Companies House�����7�H�Q���F�O�X�E�V�¶���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���Z�H�U�H��

initially selected, with an additional set being used later as an example of very poor practice. 

Report selection was via a two-step process. Firstly, reports of the clubs supported by 

participants were selected. This was due to participants�¶ knowledge of the issues and 

operations of their clubs and therefore their ability to comment on the appropriateness, 

truthfulness, completeness and context of their club�¶�V���U�H�S�R�U�W��in relation to the criteria from 

phase one.  

When companies submit accounts to Companies House, they generally file one of two broad 

types: full or abbreviated. Full contains a profit and loss account and much more in the way 

of notes to the accounts and commentary. Abbreviated usually contain only a balance sheet, 

a few notes to the accounts and minimum, if any, commentary and are designed for small 

companies below a certain threshold of income, balance sheet value and/or number of 

�H�P�S�O�R�\�H�H�V�����3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���F�O�X�E�V�¶ accounts were split three full and two abbreviated. 

The latest available set of filed accounts for each club was used, except in one case where a 

club had filed full accounts in the immediate prior year and abbreviated accounts in the latest 

year of reporting. As most clubs file the same format of reports each year, using both sets in 

this specific case was an opportunity to discuss the change in reporting type with a FED (P8) 

and Trust member (P9) with some background knowledge to the change. Therefore, a total 

six sets of accounts were selected from the five clubs that participants support. 

I selected a further six. I began by look at all remaining 67 sets of accounts of EFL clubs. 

Two further sets of abbreviated accounts were selected; one due to the club having a 

renowned owner who is very pervasive on social media, thus giving the opportunity to 

discuss this seemingly paradoxical approach to filed accounts; the second was selected as 

they were the shortest set of accounts filed in that reporting year. This allowed us to see the 

absolute minimum that clubs were filing.  

Four sets of full accounts were selected. Two were on the basis that the club had recent off-

field issues that were widely reported in the media, therefore participants were likely to know 

�V�R�P�H���R�I���W�K�H���V�W�R�U�\���D�Q�G���E�H���E�H�W�W�H�U���D�E�O�H���W�R���S�D�V�V���M�X�G�J�H�P�H�Q�W�����7�K�H���I�L�Q�D�O���W�Z�R���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�H�G���µ�D�Y�H�U�D�J�H�¶��

reporting practice in the industry. Care was also taken to ensure a selection across all three 

leagues in the EFL. The selection is shown in Table 7. 
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 Annual 
Report  (AR) 

code 
assigned  

Club of 
participant:  

League of 
club  

Type of 
Accounts 
Filed  

Year of 
Accounts 
reviewed  

AR1 P4 League 2 Full 2018/2019 

AR2 P5 League 2 Full 2018/2019 

AR3 P6 League 1 Full 2018/2019 

AR4 P7 League 2 Abbreviated 2018/2019 

AR5 P8/P9/P11 League 2 Full 2017/2018 

AR6 P8/P9/P11 League 2 Abbreviated 2018/2019 

AR7 - League 2 Abbreviated 2018/2019 

AR8 - League 1 Abbreviated 2018/2019 

AR9 - League 1 Full 2018/2019 

AR10 - League 1 Full 2018/2019 

AR11 - Championship Full 2017/2018 

AR12 - Championship Full 2018/2019 

 

Table 7: List of annual reports used for assessment in Phase 2 

 

Participants were asked to complete a written pre-FG template for each set of accounts 

which asked participants to comment on each of the identified report themes from phase 

one. This in itself provided some rich data, but also ensured that participants had thoroughly 

engaged with each set of accounts to facilitate a meaningful discussion during FGs. 

Following the written assessment, a FG approach was taken to elicit discussion between 

panel members and to understand if and how their collective reporting needs were being 

met. All participants reviewed all reports from all clubs selected, with some useful insights 

gained when we came back together to review, as individuals were able to share insight on 

issues within their own club �± this allowed for a further level analysis and understanding of 

transparency and accountability at each club. 

A total of 3 FGs took place in phase two (FG2 �± FG4) between September 2020 and March 

2021, each lasting between 2 and 2.5 hours (approx). 

Following a further round of Template Analysis using Nvivo, the codes developed, especially 

�W�K�H���µ�R�W�K�H�U�¶���K�L�Jher-order code into further higher-order codes. I also started to identify factors 

that were out of scope of the project, but coded them all the same just in case they would 

later have relevance, I called this th�H�P�H���µ�,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�L�Q�J���E�X�W���R�I�I���W�R�S�L�F�¶���D�V���V�K�R�Z�Q���L�Q���)�L�J�X�U�H��21. 
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   Phase three �± Development of new reporting framework and 

concept report  

Phase three continued with the FG approach. Again, the reporting themes developed by 

participants in phase one led proceedings.  

A total of 20 FGs took place in this phase (FG5 �± FG24), which thoroughly discussed all 

reporting themes in detail to comprehensively thrash out what a new reporting framework 

and concept report would look like to meet supporter needs. Each FG lasted between 1.5 

hours and 2.25 hours (approx).  

Thematic Analysis and Nvivo were again used to developing the coding of themes, again 

this stage developed codes. Following completion of this phase, a complete review of 

themes was undertaken, which essentially constituted a complete recoding of the data, but 

many codes were maintained. The final coding list is shown in figure 22.  

 

 

Figure 21: Codes developed following phase two using Template Analysis and Nvivo 
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Figure 21 (continued) 

 

  

Figure 22: Codes developed following phase three using Template Analysis and Nvivo 
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Figure 22 (continued) 
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Figure 22 (continued) 
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   Interpretation  

Following the final coding, an iterative, conceptual approach was taken to interpret the 

themes, shown in Figure 23. Interpretation was conducted after each stage of data collection 

and at the end once all data had been collected. On the left-hand side of Figure 23, inside 

the box, we can see the three stages as described above. These began with the a priori 

themes from the literature review. The �µfigure-8�¶ arrows between the stages portray the 

analysis after each stage, where a process of iterative reflection took place. Following each, 

the data was fed back to participants at the beginning of the following stage, usually at the 

beginning of the next available focus group (represented by the tentative findings arrows to 

the left). At each interval, participants were able to reject, clarify or approve my 

interpretation, providing a robust source of credibility and confirmability (see section 3.5).  

Following the three stages, a complete iterative review of data was completed which led to 

the development of the final diagrams of findings as shown in Figure 21. This process is 

represented in the middle of Figure 23, with the interpretation of data to the left and the 

development of the diagram on the right, with the final diagram represented to the far right of 

Figure 23. During this process, which lasted around 2 months, I went back to the base data 

many times, including completely re-organising the coding twice as my thinking developed. 

As my thinking about the data changed (iterations on Figure 23), so did the diagram design 

(diagram design on Figure 23), and each informed the other.  

As the interpretation of qualitative data can be messy and nonlinear, all of the interpretation 

as shown on the diagram were not straight forward, and it would often be the case that 

thoughts, ideas and realisations would hit me at the most random times such as late at night 

while in bed, or, more commonly in the shower in the morning (sorry for the mental picture!) 

To allow for this, I always had a pen and paper or my mobile phone to hand (on which I have 

�D���µ�Q�R�W�H�V�¶���D�S�S), which allowed me to record my thoughts at the time (or shortly after allowing 

for drying off after a shower!).  

Eventually, I arrived at a point where I was confident in the findings and was able to 

articulate them confidently and concisely and in a way which adequately and accurately 

reflected the views of the participants.  
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Figure 23: Diagram showing the interpretation of data & development of framework and concept report
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Figure 24: Summary of findings and relationships in themes 
(Grey = not discussed in findings due to word count constraints) 
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3.3.3 Focus g roups  (FGs) 

FGs (sometimes called group interviews) were chosen as they are useful for exploratory 

studies such as this (King & Horrocks, 2010) and Ritchie et al. (2014, p. 56) advise that 

group interviews are useful for s�W�X�G�\�L�Q�J���³�G�L�I�I�L�F�X�O�W���D�Q�G���W�H�F�K�Q�L�F�D�O���L�V�V�X�H�V�����Z�K�H�U�H���V�R�P�H���W�\�S�H���R�I��

�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���J�L�Y�L�Q�J���W�R���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���P�D�\���E�H���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�G���´���7�K�L�V���I�L�W�V���Z�L�W�K���W�K�L�V���V�W�X�G�\���G�X�H���W�R���W�K�H��

technical nature of some of the topics, participants and I shared knowledge of accounting 

and other specifics to aid in other participants�¶ understanding before deciding what should be 

reported. 

Furthermore, FGs benefit from being socially orientated (Edwards & Skinner, 2009). This fits 

with the philosophical position of constructionism as p�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���D�U�H���L�Q���D���P�R�U�H���³�Q�D�W�X�U�D�O��

�H�Q�Y�L�U�R�Q�P�H�Q�W�´���W�K�D�Q���R�W�K�H�U���I�R�U�P�V���R�I���T�X�D�O�L�W�D�W�L�Y�H���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K. Participants are �³�L�Q�I�O�X�H�Q�F�L�Q�J�����D�Q�G��

influenced by others �± �M�X�V�W���D�V���W�K�H�\���D�U�H���L�Q���U�H�D�O���O�L�I�H�´��(Krueger & Casey, 2009, p. 7), which 

creates a more natural flow of discussion. Braun and Clark (2013) continue that the socially 

orientated environment is more natural due to speaking with oth�H�U�V���µ�O�L�N�H���\�R�X�¶�����Z�K�L�F�K���P�D�\���E�H��

less intimidating than with a researcher, allowing collective discussions where participants 

build on their own views through interaction with others (Finch et al., 2014). 

 

  Managing the FGs  

At times during the FGs, my role as the moderator was vital in keeping participants on track 

and ensuring all participants were all given chance to air their views. Although I planned an 

outline of each FG in advance, Flick (2009) advises that: 

 

�³�7�K�H���W�Z�L�V�W�V���D�Q�G���W�X�U�Q�V���R�I���W�K�H���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�L�R�Q�«���F�D�Q���K�D�U�G�O�\���E�H���S�U�H�G�L�F�W�H�G�����7�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H����
methodological interventions for steering the group may only be planned 
approximately and a great deal of the decisions on data collection can only be made 
�G�X�U�L�Q�J���W�K�H���V�L�W�X�D�W�L�R�Q�´��(Flick, 2009, p. 201) in Ritchie et al. (2014, p. 223) 

 

Indeed, this proved the case as through the project I learned to hone my skills in identifying 

when discussions were going off on tangents and as to whether that tangent was useful. 

Indeed, some of the most valuable data came from tangents as new tracks of thought were 

developed, such as the inclusion of agents�¶ fees which were not on the initial iteration of the 

desired reporting theme list. However, especially in the first few FGs, there were tangents 

�W�K�D�W���O�H�G���W�R���µ�G�H�D�G���H�Q�G�V�¶��(Edwards & Skinner, 2009) and time was lost. 

Additionally, Edwards and Skinner (2009, p. 113) describe one of the disadvantages of FGs 

�D�V���W�K�H���³�S�R�Z�H�U���G�\�Q�D�P�L�F�V�´, and indeed, in this study there were one or two dominant 
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personalities. The most dominant personality was, though, one of the most knowledgeable 

regarding current and developing reporting practices, therefore their input was useful. 

Despite this, Ritchie et al. (2014) discusses the importance of all of the group participating, 

and the need to control the balance. Saunders et al. (2016) add that this needs to be 

managed carefully and sensitively. Where appropriate, quieter participants were invited to 

comment and asked if the views of the more vocal participants reflected their experience or 

viewpoints. Often, participants would honestly agree with the more vocal participants, in 

others it did allow for greater and alternative discussion. 

Stokes and Bergin (2006) advise that a group effect may occur where participants 

compromise to consensus where it may actually be that no participant wholly endorses and 

nobody disagrees with the conclusions. Saunders et al. (2016) therefore advocates testing 

�W�K�H���Y�D�O�L�G�L�W�\���R�I���µ�H�P�H�U�J�H�Q�W���Y�L�H�Z�V�¶���W�Krough the inclusion of all participants and the use of open 

and probing questions. This was also overcome by a review process which probed 

�S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���Y�L�H�Z�V���R�Q���Z�K�D�W���K�D�G���S�U�H�Y�L�R�X�V�O�\���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�H�G���D�Q�G���D�J�U�H�H�G�����R�I�W�H�Q���Z�L�W�K���P�D�Q�\���W�R�S�L�F�V��

being discussed multiple times. 

Ritchie et al. (2014, p. 237) advise that audio recording FGs i�V���³�H�V�V�H�Q�W�L�D�O�´���D�V��Saunders et al. 

(2016) explains it is difficult to manage the process and take notes at the same time. All 

interviews and FGs were recorded for accurate transcription and through the process of 

listening back to recordings, deeper insight was elicited as to �S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���Y�L�H�Z�V�� 

 

  The effect of Covid on the thesis  

Due to the Covid pandemic in 2020 and 2021, a decision was taken early to move interviews 

and FGs online, using Zoom. Although face-to-face would have been preferred, the 

advancing technology of video conferencing allowed for quality discussion to take place. As 

many people were now using these technologies in their everyday life, especially for work, 

participants quickly got used to the technology and became more and more comfortable as 

time went on. 

In truth, this also solved the issue of budgetary constraint �± as participants are located in 

wide spread regions of England, getting everyone together on multiple occasions may very 

well have proved unaffordable. 
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3.3.4 Data saturation  

An important aspect of qualitative research of this nature is knowing when to stop collecting 

data. Saunders et al. (2016) advise that sample size is ambiguous and dependent on the 

question at hand and advise that �G�D�W�D���V�D�W�X�U�D�W�L�R�Q���D�U�L�V�H�V���Z�K�H�Q���³�D�G�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O���G�D�W�D���F�R�O�O�H�F�W�H�G��

�S�U�R�Y�L�G�H�V���O�L�W�W�O�H�����L�I���D�Q�\�����Q�H�Z���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���R�U���V�X�J�J�H�V�W���Q�H�Z���W�K�H�P�H�V�´��(p. 297), or as Creswell 

(2014, p. 189) �D�G�Y�L�V�H�V�����Z�K�H�Q���³�I�U�H�V�K��data no longer sparks new insights� .́  

In completing FGs, data saturation was observed in the last few focus groups where 

�S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���R�I�W�H�Q���X�V�H�G���H�[�S�U�H�V�V�L�R�Q�V���V�X�F�K���D�V���µ�Z�H�O�O�����Z�H�¶�Y�H���F�R�Y�H�U�H�G���W�K�L�V���E�H�I�R�U�H�����E�X�W���«�¶ In truth, 

perhaps two more FGs were utilised that required, as I felt the need to further develop the 

themes of justification of each reporting point and clarify �µkey facts�¶. However, it became 

evident that we were going over ground already covered, and therefore it was time to stop 

data collection. 

 

3.4 Data analysis  

3.4.1 Transcriptions  

The initial interviews, sample accounts reviews and FGs yielded around 55 hours of data, 

and approximately half a million words of transcription and documents. All interviews and 

FGs were transcribed. I began manually transcribing to immerse myself in the data and gain 

a level of familiarity with the data (Creswell, 2014; Edwards & Skinner, 2009), but after a 

number of interviews I found this approach to be very time consuming despite my relative 

speed at typing and, to be perfectly honest, I found that I was simpl�\���µ�J�R�L�Q�J���W�K�U�R�X�J�K���W�K�H��

�P�R�W�L�R�Q�V�¶�����Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���W�D�V�N���E�H�L�Q�J���O�R�Q�J���D�Q�G���P�X�Q�G�D�Q�H���± I was not absorbing the data as I went. 

Therefore, I switched to an automated transcription service. I estimate that this service had 

around 95% accuracy and required revision, therefore corrections were made while listening 

back to recordings of the data. This new approach did provide me with familiarity and 

absorption of the data as I went. 

Although any transcript may only ever be a representation of the data (Braun & Clark, 2013), 

�D�V���V�S�R�N�H�Q���O�D�Q�J�X�D�J�H���L�V���µ�P�H�V�V�L�H�U�¶���W�K�D�Q���Z�U�L�W�W�H�Q��(Braun & Clark, 2013)�����D�Q�\���K�H�V�L�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����µ�H�U�¶�V�¶����

�µ�X�P�¶�V�¶���D�Q�G���I�D�O�V�H���V�W�D�U�W�V���Z�H�U�H���U�H�P�R�Y�H�G���W�R���J�H�W���P�R�U�H���G�L�U�H�F�W�O�\���W�R���W�K�H���S�R�L�Q�W���E�H�L�Q�J���P�D�G�H���E�\���W�K�H��

participants as the detailed discourse was not seen as important to the study. 

 



Page 149 of 452 
 

3.4.2 Template analysis  

Template analysis (TA) was used as the data analysis tool for this project. King (2012) 

advises t�K�D�W���7�H�P�S�O�D�W�H���$�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���L�V���³�D���V�W�\�O�H of the�P�D�W�L�F���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V�´���W�K�D�W��Easterby-Smith et al. 

(2015, p. 342) �S�R�V�L�W���³�H�Q�D�E�O�H�V���D���V�\�V�W�H�P�D�W�L�F�����W�K�H�P�D�W�L�F���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���R�I���W�H�[�W���´���'�H�Y�H�O�R�S�H�G���E�\��King 

(1998) and colleagues, it sits as a �³�P�L�G�G�O�H���J�U�R�X�Q�G�´���D�S�S�U�R�D�F�K���W�R���W�K�H�P�D�W�L�F���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V��(Braun & 

Clark, 2022). It is commonly described as a technique, rather than methodology (Braun & 

Clark, 2022; King & Horrocks, 2010; Saunders et al., 2016), having the flexibility to be 

applied to many philosophical positions. The choice to use TA was due to its flexibility 

combined with structure (King, 2012) that allowed for a framework to develop in an iterative 

manner. 

At the centre of TA is a coding structure �± the template. TA involves a high degree of 

structure (King, 2012), with hierarchical coding, developing as subsequent sub-themes 

develop. King and Horrocks (2010) explain that TA often utilises three levels, but there is no 

set amount and four or five levels are not uncommon. They advise that this is important as 

researchers should not just produce a list, but structure that list in a way that conceptualises 

the relationship between themes.  

Initial steps of template analysis are the same as with Thematic Analysis (O'Reilly & 

Kiyimba, 2015) in getting familiar with the data by transcribing and re-reading (Saunders et 

al., 2016). Codes are initially created after a small sample of data early in the process (King, 

2012). In line with this, initial codes were developed into a template after stage one, utilising 

data collected in this phase and also matching them against a priori themes from the 

literature review. 

The template was then used with the further data that came out of phases two and three, 

and revised as necessary. King (2012) identifies that codes can be added, deleted, merged, 

split, re-classified, and their scope can be changed. Indeed, King and Horrocks (2010, p. 

149) describe the concept of themes as �Q�R�W���D���³�I�R�V�V�L�O���L�Q���D���U�R�F�N waiting to be found by the 

�U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�H�U�����E�X�W���D�U�H���F�U�D�I�W�H�G���E�\���W�K�H���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�H�U���D�V���W�K�H���S�U�R�M�H�F�W���X�Q�I�R�O�G�V�´�����$�I�W�H�U���H�D�F�K���V�W�D�J�H����

subsequent data can modify the template (King et al., 2018), as was the case with this 

project, for example, P&L was not an identified theme on the initial template, but was later 

added during the FG stage. 

TA allows for the use of a priori codes, which can be developed from literature, policy and 

discussion amongst other methods (Brooks et al., 2015). King and Horrocks (2010) advise 

that one should not develop too many a priori codes as one may become blinkered to any 

developments in the subsequent data. They continue that themes must be grounded in what 

is present in the data (King & Horrocks, 2010), therefore, although a number of a priori 
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codes were identified in the literature review stage, they were not discussed with 

participants, allowing for themes to emerge, and a priori themes were only maintained after 

stage one if they corresponded with the data at this point. 

King (2012) advises that a drawback of TA is the ability, especially for novice or early career 

researchers such as myself, to be overly focused on the initial template, to the detriment of 

its development when incorporating further data. A key element for me was knowing about 

this potential drawback, and to allow the template to develop from the data, which helped me 

have confidence to change, delete, split or develop codes as data evolved, as advised by 

Brooks et al. (2015). 

 

3.4.3 NVivo  

Careful consideration was given to manual vs. CAQDAS (Computer Aided Qualitative Data 

Analysis Software) analysis. For a number of reasons, CAQDAS won. Firstly, Saunders et 

al. (2016) posits that the use of CAQDAS allows for an easy way to structure a Template 

Analysis hierarchy, making it a good fit for use with the Template Analysis approach. 

Volume of data was also a major consideration. The amount that came out of the initial 

interviews suggested that much more was to follow. Easterby-Smith et al. (2015) advises 

�W�K�D�W���&�$�4�'�$�6���V�\�V�W�H�P�V���D�U�H���D�Q���³�H�V�V�H�Q�W�L�D�O���W�R�R�O���I�R�U���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K�H�U�V�«���>�L�Q���W�K�H�@���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���R�I���O�D�U�J�H��

�T�X�D�Q�W�L�W�L�H�V���R�I���G�D�W�D�´�����E�D�F�N�L�Q�J���X�S��Saldana (2009) who maintains that it is an essential tool for 

larger projects with big volumes of data. Retrospectively, I do not believe I could have 

managed this project using manual coding. Connected to large quantities of data, King and 

Horrocks (2010) and Lewins and Silver (2009) advise that search and filter functionality is 

useful, and this absolutely proved to be the case. Also, due to the three stage process of the 

research, the easy creation of an audit trail between iterations was very useful (Easterby-

Smith et al., 2015).  

However, the most significant benefit of using a CAQDAS system was evident at the end of 

the project. Ritchie et al. (2014) refer to the speed of CAQDAS systems and I found this to 

be the case especially in the later stages, where retrieval of quotes was required. 

Additionally, CAQDAS provide a closeness and interactivity of data (Lewins & Silver, 2009), 

which was extremely useful as the project developed in adding, deleting, changing and 

developing codes, especially in reviewing quotes that had been grouped into codes to 

understand if the coding was appropriate. Finally, the ease with which CAQDAS systems 

�³�I�D�F�L�O�L�W�D�W�H���W�K�H���U�H�W�U�L�H�Y�D�O���R�I���F�R�G�H�G���V�H�J�P�H�Q�W�V�´��(Easterby-Smith et al., 2015, p. 214) aided the 

write up of findings.  
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Ritchie et al. (2014) and Lewins and Silver (2009), argue that these systems increase the 

rigour of analysis as they are more transparent, systematic and accessible, making quality 

easier to demonstrate (Flick 2009; Ritchie et al., 2014, p. 289). Used systematically, they 

can increase transparency and rigour as Saunders et al. (2016, p. 615) quote one of their 

students that �³it forces yo�X���W�R���G�R���\�R�X�U���D�Q�D�O�\�V�L�V���S�U�R�S�H�U�O�\���´ 

However, Luker (2008) argues that CAQDAS tends to generate too many sub themes, which 

can change the way the data is viewed. This is perhaps evident in this project, as if I were 

manually coding, it is unlikely I would have created so many sub themes. However, I see this 

as a positive as I was able to consider multiple possibilities within the data. 

Nvivo was the CAQDAS system used as this was provided by Northumbria University and 

widely used by staff, providing a natural support network for help in learning and 

understanding the system. 

 

3.5 Research q uality  

Of utmost importance to any research is that its quality is robust enough to be scrutinised by 

peers and other readers. Where quantitative methods of research look to confirm validity, 

reliability and generalisability, qualitative research takes a different approach as traditional 

measures are: 

 

�³�«�R�I�W�H�Q���F�R�Q�V�L�G�H�U�H�G���D�V���S�K�L�O�R�V�R�S�K�L�F�D�O�O�\���D�Q�G���W�H�F�K�Q�L�F�D�O�O�\���L�Q�D�S�S�U�R�S�U�L�D�W�H���L�Q���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R��
qualitative research based on interpretive assumptions where reality is regarded as 
�E�H�L�Q�J���V�R�F�L�D�O�O�\���F�R�Q�V�W�U�X�F�W�H�G�«�´��(Saunders et al., 2016, p. 205) 

 

Instead, Easterby-Smith et al. (2015) advise that qualitative research should provide 

relevance, credibility and attractiveness to others. To do this, Lincoln and Guba (1985) 

propose four often cited criteria that aid qualitative researchers. They are credibility  (akin to 

internal validity), transferability  (akin to generalisability/external validity), dependability  

(akin to reliability) and confirmability  (akin to neutrality). 

Credibility  �³�U�H�I�H�U�V���W�R���W�K�H���Hxtent to which the researcher�¶s interpretation is endorsed by those 

�Z�L�W�K���Z�K�R�P���W�K�H���U�H�V�H�D�U�F�K���Z�D�V���F�R�Q�G�X�F�W�H�G�´ (King & Horrocks, 2010, p. 160). There are a 

number of methods that can be used to ensure credibility. This study has employed both 

lengthy research involvement and participant validation (Collis & Hussey, 2014; Saunders et 

al., 2016). As the research was conducted over an 18-month period, with more than one 

meeting per month on average, participants and researcher were able to build up a 

relationship and rapport that aided true viewpoints to be discussed. This also facilitated 
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regular participant validation as each aspect of the developing framework and its 

justifications were fed back to participants on a number of occasions to ensure what was 

being developed fitted with their collective viewpoint. 

Transferability  involves providing a detailed explanation of the research so that the reader 

can assess whether it can be applied elsewhere (King & Horrocks, 2010). Whereas in 

quantitative research generalisability asks whether findings fit the wider population or other 

settings (Ritchie et al., 2014), transferability looks to provide opportunity for readers to 

decide whether the study is useful for their own investigation (Saunders et al., 2016). Braun 

and Clark (2022) advise that research should be richly contextualised in ways that allow 

readers to make judgements about whether and to what extent they can transfer the analysis 

to their own setting. In this study, every attempt has been made to make clear the methods, 

processes and context in which the research has been conducted, therefore allowing 

readers to decide if it will be applicable to further studies in sufficiently similar situations 

(Collis & Hussey, 2014). 

Dependability  involves explaining the research process and justifications thereof to ensure 

that others can see the level of rigour achieved such that the results are dependable 

(Saunders et al., 2016). Qualitative research is not necessarily designed to be repeatable as 

it takes place in real word settings which may change (King & Horrocks, 2010) and therefore 

replication may be unachievable (Saunders et al., 2016). Collis and Hussey (2014, p. 172) 

explain that, in order to achieve this, researchers must demonstrate that �³�S�U�R�F�H�V�V�H�V��are 

systematic, rigorous and �Z�H�O�O���G�R�F�X�P�H�Q�W�H�G�´. This chapter has attempted to show the 

systematic approach taken to the research, the rigorous processes adhered to and has 

documented it as much as possible.  

Confirmability  asks whether we can confirm that findings flow from the data as a result of 

the research being fully described (Collis & Hussey, 2014). As �³�Tualitative research does not 

pretend to objectivity�´��(King & Horrocks, 2010, p. 161), again sufficient detail should be 

shown so readers can observe how results were obtained and conclusions reasonably 

reached. Again, this research has attempted to be transparent at every stage to show 

readers how conclusions have been reached and that many of the conclusions are in fact 

�G�L�U�H�F�W�O�\���G�H�U�L�Y�H�G���I�U�R�P���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���F�R�P�Pents rather than abstracted by the researcher. 
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3.6 Chapte r summary  

This chapter has provided insight to the methodology and methods used in the investigation 

in to what a new reporting framework might look like for loyal, engaged supporters. It has 

reviewed the research philosophy, position of myself as the researcher, the research ethics 

adhered to, the study design including the three stage process taken, the participant and 

club choices, and assessed the quality of the research. 

The next chapter (Chapter 4) discusses the findings observed in the use of these methods 

and the final Chapter (Chapter 5) will conceptualise and summarise these findings and 

conclude the project. 
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4. Findings  

This chapter reviews the key themes identified during the thematic analysis of the FG 

transcriptions. Figure 24 shows a thematic diagram of the findings: 

 

Figure 24 (repeated): Summary of findings and relationships in themes 



Page 155 of 452 
 

This chapter will go through each of the elements of the thematical diagram in Figure 24 in 

turn, before a discussion of the results in Chapter 5. This chapter begins with the justification 

of a new framework, including a review of current reporting, before moving onto explain the 

new reporting framework as developed and justified by participants. Many themes are 

interlinked, therefore many of the sections talk of similar and cross referenced themes. 

Where appropriate, signposts to other relevant section have been made. 

 

Power and p roof  

Every research paper or thesis varies in the size of data collected, which one expects to 

correspond with the scale of the project. As discusses in Section 3.3.4, I stopped collecting 

data when saturation was reached, however, and despite the small number of participants, 

due to the nature and depth of the project aims, over 50 hours of transcripts with nearly half 

a million words were collected and analysed, leading to the highly integrated findings shown 

in Figure 24. Therefore, this project has collected a large amount of data with highly 

interrelated themes which cannot be easily separated for some to be revisited outside of the 

thesis. This led to a dilemma of data volume vs constraints of thesis size. Although this was 

partially overcome with an approved extension to the word count (see Appendix 3), I still 

struggled to do justice to the participants�¶ voice and provide enough interpretation of data 

within the extended word allowance. 

Therefore, I turned to the advice of Pratt (2008) who advises that these dilemmas can be 

common but that the presentation of data should be sufficient as to not violate the 

�µ�H�[�S�H�U�L�H�Q�F�H�¶���R�U���Y�R�L�F�H���R�I���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V����Pratt (2008) continues that there needs to be a further 

balance between �W�K�H���³�P�D�M�R�U���W�H�Q�V�L�R�Q�V�´���R�I��presenting �³enough data so readers can draw their 

own conclusion but provide enough interpretation to convey the meaning of the data�´��(Pratt, 

2008, p. 485). 

To overcome these issues, Pratt (2008, p. 501) suggests the use of power and proof quotes. 

Power quotes are those that are �³�V�R��poetic, concise or insightful, that the author could not do 

�D���E�H�W�W�H�U���M�R�E���R�I���P�D�N�L�Q�J���W�K�H���V�D�P�H���S�R�L�Q�W�´. Proof quotes on the other hand, provide the 

�³prevalence of a point�  ́and act as �³a source of triangulation� .́  

After carefully and iteratively reducing the data presented to that which I feel are the 

minimum required to demonstrate the meaning and significance of themes and, most 

importantly, �W�R���U�H�P�D�L�Q���W�U�X�H���W�R���W�K�H���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���Y�R�L�F�H�����, have employed the power-proof 

technique and provided proof quotes in Appendix 4. In the main body I have selected quotes 

that largely speak for themselves and provide meaning, backed up with interpretation as 
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appropriate. For ease of navigation, where power quotes are backed up with proof quotes, 

they are identified with a proof quote reference e.g. Q001. 

 

4.1 Justification of a new reporting framework  

�3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶ justification of a new reporting framework was based on: 

1. clubs being special businesses 

2. the need for owners and directors of clubs to be socially accountable 

3. the existence of a social contract between a club and its supporters 

4. expected improved behaviour; and 

5. poor current practices including poor reporting, poor owners and poor regulation �± 

both from the football authorities and from wider business regulation.  

This culminated in the conclusion that current practices do not meet supporters�¶ reporting 

needs. Therefore, participants concluded that a new reporting framework is required. 

 

4.1.1 Special b usiness  

Participants�¶ views agree with Section 2.1.1 that clubs are special businesses like no other, 

and therefore require special treatment, including supporter accountability, rather than just 

shareholder accountability. 

This was due to a number of factors, such as the club being a community asset, a 

�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�¶�V���E�H�O�L�H�I���W�K�D�W���D���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E���L�V���S�D�U�W���R�I���W�K�H�L�U���L�G�H�Q�W�L�W�\���R�U���µ�V�H�Q�V�H���R�I���V�H�O�I�¶�����F�O�X�E�V�¶���S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q��

�D�V���H�I�I�H�F�W�L�Y�H���P�R�Q�R�S�R�O�L�H�V���D�Q�G���I�D�Q�V�¶���S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q���D�V���V�R�F�L�D�O���R�Z�Q�H�U�V �± ergo they are the primary 

stakeholders and thus deserve accountability. 

 

   Community a sset  

Firstly, participants felt that clubs are community assets, unlike traditional businesses, 

therefore deserve protection from bad owners and poor governance practices: Q001 

 

�³�«�F�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���P�R�U�H��- they are part of the community... it is not just about the 
owners and the owners do not have a carte blanche to mislead, defraud or 
�R�W�K�H�U�Z�L�V�H���W�U�D�V�K���W�K�L�V���H�Q�W�L�W�\�����Z�K�L�F�K���L�V���R�I���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���W�R���R�W�K�H�U���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�«��the 
�F�O�X�E�����L�W���L�V���D���I�R�F�X�V���R�I���W�K�H���L�G�H�Q�W�L�W�\���R�I���W�K�H���W�R�Z�Q�«���W�K�H���F�R�X�Q�Fil was very keen that 
[my town] maintains a professional football club so the town doesn't lose its 
�L�G�H�Q�W�L�W�\�����6�R���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���L�V���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���L�Q���W�K�H���V�R�F�L�D�O���H�F�R�O�R�J�\���R�I���W�K�H���W�R�Z�Q���´��P7 
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And smaller clubs, such as those at the lower end of the EFL, were thought to be even more 

�L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���W�R�Z�Q�¶�V���L�G�H�Q�W�L�W�\���W�K�D�Q���O�D�U�J�H�U���F�O�X�E�V�� 

 

�³�,�Q���V�R�P�H���Z�D�\�V���W�K�H���V�P�D�O�O�H�U���F�O�X�E�V���O�L�N�H���R�X�U�V���D�U�H���W�K�H���R�Q�H�V���W�K�D�W���D�U�H���N�H�H�S�L�Q�J���\�R�X�U���O�R�F�D�O��
identities and things. Big clubs, like Man United, Man City, the bigger clubs, they 
�V�H�H�P���W�R���E�H���W�R�X�U�L�V�W���S�O�D�F�H�V���Q�R�Z���´��P8 

 

 

   Reflects a supporters �¶ �µ�V�H�Q�V�H���R�I���V�H�O�I�¶ 

Participants expressed how clubs are �D�O�V�R���D���U�H�S�U�H�V�H�Q�W�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���D���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�¶�V���µ�V�H�Q�V�H���R�I���V�H�O�I�¶����

as identified by Malcolm et al. (2000), and the behaviour of clubs reflected upon them as 

individuals, adding weight to the above argument that clubs are social institutions and 

requiring different treatment: Q002 

 

�³�«�Z�H�
�U�H���D�O�O���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���R�I���F�O�X�E�V���W�K�D�W���K�D�Y�H���E�H�H�Q���D�U�R�X�Q�G���I�R�U�����,���Z�R�X�O�G���J�X�H�V�V���R�Y�H�U����������
years. And that then becomes woven into the fabric of the community, the fabric of 
people's self-identity, going back through their families, where people have got 
�J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���R�I���W�K�H�L�U���I�D�P�L�O�\���W�K�D�W���K�D�Y�H���J�R�Q�H���W�R���Z�D�W�F�K���W�K�H���V�D�P�H���F�O�X�E���´��P6 

 

 

   Monopolies  

Participants argued that clubs are effectively monopolies, backing up the argument made by 

Flynn and Gilbert (2001). As such they felt additional protection and reporting requirements 

should be implemented to prevent owners pursuing self-interest that is against the interests 

of fans: Q003 

 

�³�«�F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O�O�\���L�Q���D�Q�\���R�W�K�H�U���L�Q�G�X�V�W�U�\�����L�I���D���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���W�D�N�H�V���L�W�V���F�X�V�W�R�P�H�U�V���I�R�U��
granted, I know we don't like the word customer, but you know, abuses the 
loyalty, the customers go somewhere else because there's competition. 
Football is not a competitive industry. There's actually 92 monopolies in 
the landscape . And therefore, like in any industry where there's a monopoly, 
you have to have protections put in place to stop that monopoly abusing its 
�S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q���´��P6 
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  Social o wners  

Solberg and Haugen (2010, p. 333) iden�W�L�I�\���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���D�V���W�K�H���µ�V�R�F�Lal owners�¶ of football 

clubs, a view shared by all participants: Q004 

 

�³�« owners of football clubs, their standpoint is: �µ�L�W�
�V���P�\���P�R�Q�H�\�����Q�R�W���\�R�X�U�V�����L�W�¶s 
�P�L�Q�H�¶�����%�X�W���W�K�H���W�K�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���O�R�V�H���F�R�P�S�U�H�K�H�Q�V�L�R�Q���D�E�R�X�W���L�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\�
�U�H��
custodians of that club. They're not real owners. In legality, they are, 
�P�R�U�D�O�O�\���W�K�H�\�¶�U�H���Q�R�W�� �8�Q�I�R�U�W�X�Q�D�W�H�O�\�����P�R�U�D�O�V���G�R�Q�¶�W���F�R�X�Q�W���I�R�U���V�R�G���D�O�O���L�Q���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O��
�D�W���W�K�H���P�R�P�H�Q�W���´��P9 

 

In answer to the question �µ�Z�K�\���G�R���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���N�Q�R�Z���P�R�U�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���D�E�R�X�W���W�K�H�L�U��

�F�O�X�E�V�"�¶���3�����V�L�P�S�O�\�����E�X�W���S�R�Z�H�U�I�X�O�O�\���H�[�S�U�H�V�V�H�G�� 

 

 �³�%�H�F�D�X�V�H���L�W�¶�V���R�X�U���F�O�X�E�´��P5 

 

   Fans are the primary stakeholders  

Participants expressed that, as social owners, they saw themselves as the primary 

stakeholder group, and thus were due accountability. For example, in a discussion of a new 

reporting framework, P3 commented: Q005 

 

�³�«�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���D�U�H���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���Z�K�R���K�D�Y�H���L�Q�Yested a good deal in their clubs and 
therefore there's a moral, if not a legal, entitlement to greater information  �«�L�I��
�Z�H�
�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���U�H�F�R�P�P�H�Q�G���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���L�V���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�Y�H���W�R���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V���«I guess 
the main stakeholders, are supporters ���´��P3 

 

 

4.1.2 Social a ccountability  

Participants expressed a desire for social accountability as they saw legal owners as 

custodians and a growing distance between supporters and owners, and the need to hold 

clubs, owners and directors to account, particularly through comparability to other clubs. This 

was evident in a passionate oration by P9: 

 

�³�«�Z�H��fans nowadays, are getting so peed off with the attitude and the 
treatment that they're getting from some of their boards and their owners that 
they want to hold these people into account �«���Q�R�W���M�X�V�W���Z�D�Q�W�L�Q�J���W�R���N�Q�R�Z���D�E�R�X�W��how 
their on-field performances�«���W�K�H�\���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���N�Q�R�Z���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���F�K�D�L�U�P�D�Q���D�Q�G���W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U���D�Q�G��
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the board of directors have got their interests at heart, and they're not flogging off the 
club, doing secret deals behind their backs. Before you turn your back and you've got 
�Q�R���F�O�X�E�����E�H�F�D�X�V�H���Z�H���D�U�H���V�R���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���R�Q���W�K�H���I�L�H�O�G�«���6�R�����I�U�R�P���P�\���S�R�L�Q�W���R�I���Y�L�H�Z����you 
have to you have to literally clasp them in irons and get this information out of 
them by hook or by crook. And you must  make sure they report this 
information �����,�W�
�V���D���P�X�V�W�����,�W�
�V���J�R�W���W�R���E�H���V�R���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W���´��P9 

 

 

   Custodians  

The position of legal owners as temporary custodians who will eventually pass the club on to 

the next custodian was felt by the whole group: Q006 

 

�³�«�L�W�
�V���V�T�X�D�U�L�Q�J���W�K�H���F�L�U�F�O�H���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���W�K�H�L�U���S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q���D�V���µ�L�W�
�V���P�\���F�O�X�E���Q�R�Z�¶���D�Q�G���W�K�H��
notion that fans see them as a custodian. They may be the owner, but the 
fans will be there long after they've gone. And it's a difficult relationship for 
some of these owners who do see it as their train set. They can't understand 
this notion that they're really only keeping the seat warm for the next person 
�D�Q�G���I�R�U���W�K�H���F�R�P�P�X�Q�L�W�\���´��P5 

 

 

   Owner distance  

Fitting with Gray�¶�V��(2006) �L�G�H�D���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���P�R�U�H���µ�G�L�V�W�D�Q�F�H�¶���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�H�H���D�Q�G���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�R�U����

the more the need for formal accountability, participants expressed exactly this. They 

described in detail how the relationship between owners and fans had been affected, 

meaning that there would need to be a greater element of accountability: Q007 

 

�³�,���P�H�D�Q���D�Q���>�R�O�G���V�W�\�O�H�@���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�H�U�����D�O�O���E�H���L�W�����Zould live in a nicer suburb, was 
part of the community of the club, and had far more of a feel for what the club means 
�W�R���S�H�R�S�O�H�����W�K�D�Q���L�I���\�R�X���O�L�Y�H���V�H�Y�H�U�D�O���W�K�R�X�V�D�Q�G���P�L�O�H�V���D�Z�D�\�����L�Q���D���D�Q�R�W�K�H�U���F�X�O�W�X�U�H���´��P1 

 

Participants argued how this had affected club-fan-relations: 

 

�³�7�K�H���F�O�D�V�V�L�F���H�[�D�P�S�O�H�����0�D�U�N�����L�V���W�K�D�W���I�D�U-eastern gentleman who owns Cardiff City, 
trying to change the bluebirds into red shirts. P9 

 Yeah, Cardiff Dragons, was it? Researcher  

 �,�Q���&�K�L�Q�D�����U�H�G���L�V���D���O�X�F�N�\���F�R�O�R�X�U�«�´��P7 

 �<�H�D�K�����\�R�X�
�U�H���U�L�J�K�W�����E�X�W���������&�D�U�G�L�I�I���L�V���Q�R�W���L�Q���&�K�L�Q�D�����L�W�
�V���L�Q���&�D�U�G�L�I�I���´��P9 
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   Comparability  

Participants felt that an important concept in the justification of social accountability was the 

�D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���F�R�P�S�D�U�H���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E�V�¶���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H against others. Therefore it was felt that all clubs 

should be working to the same reporting framework: Q008 

 

�³�(�Y�H�U�\���F�O�X�E���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���G�R�L�Q�J���W�K�H���H�[�D�F�W���V�D�P�H���U�H�S�R�U�W���V�R���L�W���W�H�O�O�V���H�Y�H�U�\�E�R�G�\���Z�K�D�W���L�V���J�R�L�Q�J��
�R�Q���D�W���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�« everybody's got to be reporting the same thing. One thing [in current 
practice] is football expenditure, some people will include X, some people will include 
Y, some people will include X and Y. Everything's got to be the same across the 
�E�R�D�U�G���´��P8 

 

And participants recognised further inconsistency in reporting between clubs, for example: 

Q009 

 

�³�«�Z�K�D�W���\�R�X���V�R�P�H�W�L�P�H�V���V�H�H���L�V���V�R�P�H���F�O�X�E�V���G�R���(�%�,�7�'�$�����V�R�P�H���F�O�X�E�V���G�R���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J��
profit, the amortisation figure, depending on where it sits, can be all over the place. 
Some will include the other asset depreciation, others would just be amortisation of 
�S�O�D�\�H�U���F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�V���´��P6 

 

 

4.1.2.3.1 Comparability �± Data dictionary  

 To ensure consistency, participants recommended that each club should be working from 

�W�K�H���V�D�P�H�����F�H�Q�W�U�D�O���µ�G�D�W�D���G�L�F�W�L�R�Q�D�U�\�¶�����W�K�D�W���G�L�F�W�D�W�H�V���W�K�H��content of each element of the new 

reporting framework: 

 

�³�«to get consistency, you need some sort of data dictionary. EFL clubs really need 
to have consistent terminology and consistent concepts�«���W�K�H���U�H�J�X�O�D�W�R�U���Z�R�X�O�G���Q�H�H�G��
�W�R���U�H�T�X�L�U�H���F�O�X�E�V���W�R���D�G�K�H�U�H���W�R���W�K�D�W���G�D�W�D���G�L�F�W�L�R�Q�D�U�\�«���L�W�
�V���G�L�I�I�L�F�X�O�W���W�R���F�R�P�S�D�U�H���R�Q�H���F�O�X�E��
�Z�L�W�K���D�Q�R�W�K�H�U���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�\���G�R���L�W���R�Q���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���E�D�V�H�V�«���2�X�U���W�D�V�N���U�H�D�O�O�\���L�V���W�R���G�H�I�L�Q�H���W�K�D�W��
�G�D�W�D���G�L�F�W�L�R�Q�D�U�\�´��P7 

 

 

4.1.3 Improved b ehaviour  

In line with the views of Burchell et al. (1980), Dillard and Vinnari (2019), Gray, Adams, et al. 

(2014) as discussed in Section 2.3.6, participants believe that better reporting will lead to 

better behaviour from, and governance, of clubs, owners, and directors: Q010 
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�³�«�L�I���\�R�X���O�R�R�N���D�W���W�K�H���M�X�V�W�L�I�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���I�R�U���D���Z�K�R�O�H���V�H�U�L�H�V���R�I���F�R�G�H�V���R�I���F�R�U�S�R�U�D�W�H���J�R�Y�H�U�Q�D�Q�F�H����
the Cadbury Report, the Higgs code, I mean, fundamentally, it was all about 
organisations actually being better run�«  we're trying to apply that model to football. 
�6�R�����W�K�D�W���L�W�
�V���D���E�H�W�W�H�U���U�X�Q�����O�H�V�V���U�L�V�N�\�����V�D�I�H�U���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�«���6�R�P�H�W�L�P�H�V���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���N�Q�R�Z��
�W�K�H�\�¶�U�H���E�H�L�Q�J���Z�D�W�F�K�H�G�����L�W�
�V���W�K�H���R�O�G���W�K�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���Z�K�H�Q���\�R�X���N�Q�R�Z���\�R�X�
�U�H���E�H�L�Q�J���Z�D�W�F�K�H�G����
that probably changes your behav�L�R�X�U���L�Q���P�R�V�W���F�D�V�H�V�«��and that's certainly true of 
�R�Z�Q�H�U�V���D�Q�G���P�D�Q�D�J�H�P�H�Q�W���R�I���F�O�X�E�V���´��P7  

 

�3�����I�X�U�W�K�H�U���H�[�S�U�H�V�V�H�G���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���S�R�L�Q�W���R�I���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���L�V���W�R���F�K�D�Q�J�H���E�H�K�D�Y�L�R�X�U�D�O���µ�K�D�E�L�W�V�¶�� 

 

�³�«�D�W���W�K�H���H�Q�G���R�I���W�K�H���G�D�\�����Z�K�D�W�
�V���W�K�H���S�R�L�Q�W���L�Q���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���L�I���\�R�X���G�R�Q�
�W���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���F�K�D�Q�J�H��
h�D�E�L�W�V�"���«�\�R�X�
�Y�H���J�R�W���W�R measure where you are�«  somehow you've got to report 
where you are. But, that's good, but if we, if we recommend this, and we get clubs to 
do it... what is the next step that happens beyond that as a consequence of that? 
Because there'�V���Q�R���S�R�L�Q�W���L�Q���M�X�V�W���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���L�W���D�Q�G���V�D�\�L�Q�J���µ�2�K�����Z�H�O�O�����W�K�D�W���F�O�X�E�V���J�R�R�G�����W�K�D�W��
�F�O�X�E�V���Q�R�W���V�R���J�R�R�G�����Q�R�W�K�L�Q�J���F�K�D�Q�J�H�V���¶�´��P9 

 

 

   Opportunity & b enefits  

Participants felt that reporting good news stories presents clubs with opportunities to show 

off many of the positive contributions that clubs make to society which often goes under 

reported: 

 

�³�«�W�K�H�U�H�
�V���D���J�H�Q�H�U�D�O���J�R�R�G���Q�H�Z�V���V�W�R�U�\���W�R���E�H���W�R�O�G���D�E�R�X�W���K�R�Z���P�X�F�K���Z�R�U�N���W�K�H���F�K�D�U�L�W�D�E�O�H��
�D�U�P�V���G�R���W�K�D�W���,���V�X�V�S�H�F�W���P�R�V�W���I�D�Q�V���G�R�Q�
�W���K�D�Y�H���D���F�O�X�H���D�E�R�X�W�«���X�O�W�L�P�D�W�H�O�\�����D�O�O���R�I���W�K�H��
information we've suggested about community involvement, that's actually an 
opportunity for the clubs to say, we're brilliant because we do these things. And that 
then hopefully has an encouraging effect on the clubs that maybe don't do some of 
�W�K�R�V�H���W�K�L�Q�J�V���´��P6 

 

�3�����D�O�V�R���S�R�L�Q�W�H�G���W�R���W�K�H���F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O���E�H�Q�H�I�L�W�V���R�I���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\�����D�Q�G���G�H�V�F�U�L�E�H�G���L�W���D�V���µ�N�H�H�Sing the 

�I�D�Q�V���L�Q���W�K�H���E�R�D�W�¶�� 

 

�³�«�W�K�D�W���D�O�V�R���W�K�H�Q���E�H�F�R�P�H�V���D���F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O���E�H�Q�H�I�L�W���D�V���W�K�H���U�H�D�F�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U���E�D�V�H��
to being taken for granted or being abused by the club you support is to just walk 
�D�Z�D�\���«�L�W�
�V���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���L�Q���W�K�H�L�U���F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�V���W�R���N�H�H�S fans in the boat as it were, 
on the same journey. Otherwise, eventually, we all get fed up and we walk away. Or 
we make life so unpleasant for the owner that they walk away and then the club 
�F�R�O�O�D�S�V�H�V���´��P6 
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   Relationship b uilding  

Participants discussed how it was an opportunity for relationship building between club and 

fans as the report would be another form of fan engagement: Q011 

 

�³�«�W�K�H�U�H�
�V���D�Q���D�U�J�X�P�H�Q�W���I�R�U���F�O�X�E�V���E�H�L�Q�J���P�R�U�H���R�S�H�Q�����«�M�X�V�W���W�R���N�H�H�S���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���R�Q���V�L�G�H����
to keep them engaged, to say look, we're trying to be open with you, we're trying to 
share our philosophy for how we manage the business. Here's some helpful 
�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�¶����P9 

 

 

4.1.4 Social c ontract  

�3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���D�U�W�L�F�X�O�D�W�H�G���W�K�H���L�P�S�O�L�F�L�W���µ�V�R�F�L�D�O���F�R�Q�W�U�D�F�W�¶���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���D���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G���L�W�V fans as an intrinsic 

relationship that required transparency and accountability. This was well conveyed by P7, 

using Bury FC as an example of a broken social contract: 

 

�³�«�I�D�Q�V���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���N�Q�R�Z���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�L�U���F�O�X�E���L�V���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�H�����7�K�H�\���D�O�V�R���Z�D�Q�W���Wo know the club is 
being run in the interest if you like, of football fans, as opposed to someone like Bury 
[sic], where the owner was systematically disembowelling the club financial�¶�V to fund 
his own businesses. There's an issue of accountability, but there's also this, this 
wider thing of people wanting to feel that this sort of emotional social contract is 
�E�H�L�Q�J���K�R�Q�R�X�U�H�G���´��P7 

 

Participants�¶ comments aligned with the views of Donaldson (1982) that the contract was 

indeed a set of responsibilities on both sides and identified those responsibilities.  

 

   Supporter s�¶ responsibilities  

On the side of fans, the responsibilities were to support the club, both morally and financially, 

to conduct themselves with dignity and most importantly to this thesis, to hold the club to 

account. 

 

4.1.4.1.1 Fan Equity  

The first and foremost fan responsibility can be understood as Fan Equity, as described by 

authors such as Salomon Brothers (1997) and Hamil (1999) as discussed in Sections 1.1 

�D�Q�G�����������������7�K�L�V���Z�D�V���V�K�R�Z�Q���L�Q���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���F�R�P�P�H�Q�W�V���U�H�J�D�U�G�L�Q�J���W�K�H�L�U���L�U�U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���O�R�\�D�O�W�\���W�R���W�K�H�L�U��

club:  Q012 
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�³�«in the end, the only reason we're interested is not because it's a product or service 
to purchase. It's because it's in our gut, or it's in our heart, I hate saying it's in our 
heart, but it's in our family line. And we're not making rational decisions about this. So 
whilst, yes, of course, to sustain the club in order to make sure we can we can have 
professional football, we will pay money for a season ticket. But that in the end, the 
reason we do it is the irrationality of being a fan.�  ́P10 

 

However, participants were concerned that this loyalty was being abused: 

 

�³�«�W�K�H���S�U�R�E�O�H�P���Z�H���K�D�Y�H�����Z�H�¶�U�H���V�W�X�F�N���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���D���U�R�F�N���D�Q�G���D���K�D�U�G���S�O�D�F�H���D�V���I�D�Q�V����
because the owners know that they can rely on the fans to turn up week in week out. 
Our loyalty is exactly that. And they rely on that, they, they just know that.�  ́ P9 

 

 

4.1.4.1.2 Provide i ncome  

As part of Fan Equity, participants felt that it was the responsibility of supporters to provide 

clubs with an income, to financially support the community asset that is so important to them: 

Q013 

 

�³�������W�K�H���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�L�H�V���R�I���I�D�Q�V���W�K�D�W�����\�H�V�����\�R�X���W�X�U�Q���X�S���D�Q�G���\�R�X���W�X�U�Q���X�S�����K�R�S�H�I�X�O�O�\�����Q�R�W��
just because you're going to win, but you turn up through thick and thin in bad 
weather, to guarantee the club an income and you renew your season ticket, 
because that's your role as a fan. The bottom line is you have to try and provide part 
of the provision of a certain guaranteed income to the club so it can sustain and 
�V�X�U�Y�L�Y�H�«��and you keep going through thick and thin�« ���´��P7 

 

 

4.1.4.1.3 To hold the club to account  

Most applicable to this project was seen to be the responsibility of fans to hold their club, 

directors and owners to account. This was seen as a fan�¶s responsibility to protect the club 

for the future: 

 

�³�:�H���W�D�O�N���D�E�R�X�W���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���E�H�L�Q�J���F�X�V�W�R�G�L�D�Q�V���D�Q�G���W�K�D�W�����E�X�W��supporters are custodians as 
well. Because they have the ability to challenge, even if you're not given the 
information to challenge, to try and preserve your football club, and they have the 
�U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���G�R���W�K�D�W���D�Q�G���K�R�O�G���S�H�R�S�O�H���W�R���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���´��P8 
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4.1.4.1.4 Prot ect the future of the club  

It was expressed that the point of holding clubs to account is to help protect the future of the 

clubs. P2 and P5 expressed the need for fans to have concern about the future of their 

clubs: Q014 

 

�³�7�K�D�W��to me, that ought to be the main concern of a supporter - that that club is still 
�J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���E�H���K�H�U�H���L�Q���������W�R���������\�H�D�U�V�¶���W�L�P�H���´��P2 

 

�³�>�,�W�¶�V���D���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\�@��to ensure the survival and sustainability of the 
�I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E���L�Q���W�K�H���I�X�W�X�U�H���´��P5 

 

And P9 was passionate that, for differing levels of fans such as identified by Giulianotti 

(2002) for Fans, Followers and Flaneurs, if they were not taking responsibility for the 

preservation of their club, then they would have limited legitimacy to complain were it to fall 

on hard times: 

 

�³�)�D�Q�V���K�D�Y�H���J�R�W to take responsibility. Don't moan because your club�¶s in a right old 
state when you have an opportunity to do something about it. You want to turn up on 
a Saturday, pay your money and then go home again, then fair enough, but don't 
�P�R�D�Q���´��P9 

 

   Responsibilities of clubs  

Participants felt that the responsibility of clubs, directors and owners was to ensure the 

stability of a club, to respect and protect the heritage and culture of the clubs, to 

communicate with fans, to be transparent, to provide hope to fans and to behave as good 

citizens. 

 

4.1.4.2.1 Stability  

First and foremost, participants felt that the main responsibility of a club and its owners was 

to be sustainable, as has been argued in Sections 1.1 and 2.2.1. Linking to the idea of 

multiple logics discussed in Section 2.1.1.7, participants felt that success on the field must 

be backed up with stability off the field as the following dialogue testifies: Q015 

 

�³�«�L�Q���W�K�H���O�R�Q�J���W�H�U�P�����D���F�O�X�E���Z�L�O�O���Q�R�W���E�H���V�X�F�F�H�V�V�I�X�O���R�Q��the field, if it is not 
successful off the field. P7 
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 I totally agree with you there. P8 

 Yep P5 

 Yeah P9 

In the short term, that may not be true. And chancers and dodgers can in the 
short term, achieve success, often by basically going up in a puff of crimson 
�V�P�R�N�H�����:�H�
�Y�H���D�O�O���V�H�H�Q���W�K�D�W�����%�X�W���L�Q���W�K�H���O�R�Q�J���W�H�U�P�����W�K�D�W���Z�R�Q�
�W���K�D�S�S�H�Q���´��P7 

 

4.1.4.2.2 Stability �± not gambling  

The concept of an owner�¶�V���U�H�V�S�R�Q�V�L�E�L�O�L�W�\���Z�D�V���S�D�U�W�L�F�X�O�D�U�O�\���H�Y�L�G�H�Q�W���Z�K�H�Q���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�L�Q�J���F�O�X�E�V�¶��

current strategies that participants saw as a culture of gambling with a club�¶�V future. P1 

expressed a need for a level head when managing a football club so to as avoid the gamble: 

Q016 

 

�³And the championship is the craziest of all leagues, it's the craziest thing in the 
world. Like you've got millions and millions of pounds being lost, gambled on this 
dream of the Premier League�«���)�U�R�P���D���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���V�L�G�H�����L�W�
�V���D�O�O���D�E�R�X�W���Q�Rt getting sucked 
�L�Q�W�R���W�K�H���J�D�P�E�O�H���´��P1 

 

And discussed a more sensible method for budgeting: 

 

�³�/�H�W�
�V���V�D�\���\�R�X���K�D�Y�H���M�X�V�W���V�R�O�G���D���S�O�D�\�H�U���I�R�U���D���P�L�O�O�L�R�Q���S�R�X�Q�G�V�«���W�K�H�U�H�¶�V���Q�R���S�R�L�Q�W��
spending that in a year... spread out £333,000 of that across three years to your 
player budget, because you're signing players on two or three year contracts 
typically�«���L�W�
�V���L�Q�F�U�H�G�L�E�O�\���V�L�P�S�O�L�V�W�L�F���>�E�X�W�@���S�H�R�S�O�H���M�X�V�W���G�R�Q�
�W���G�R���L�W���������L�I���W�K�H���J�D�P�E�O�H���G�R�H�V�Q�
�W��
�S�D�\���R�I�I�����\�R�X�
�Y�H���V�W�L�O�O���J�R�W���W�R���E�H���D�E�O�H���W�R���U�H�F�R�Y�H�U���I�U�R�P���L�W�����'�R�Q�
�W���J�H�W���G�U�D�Z�Q���L�Q�W�R���W�K�D�W���´��P1 

 

4.1.4.2.3 Respect and protect the heritage and culture of the                               

club  

The concept of future stability spilled over into the moral argument of preserving a clubs�¶ 

heritage and culture. P6 eloquently expressed this: Q017 

 

�³�,���N�L�Q�G���R�I���V�H�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�Q���I�H�H�G�V���L�Q�W�R���D���N�L�Q�G���R�I���P�R�U�D�O���L�P�S�H�U�D�W�L�Y�H�����W�K�D�W���W�K�H�V�H���F�O�X�E�V���Z�L�W�K���D�O�O��
of their history, regardless of whatever, how long the legal entity might have existed 
for, we're all supporters of clubs that have been around for, I would guess over 100 
years. And that then becomes woven into the fabric of the community, the fabric of 
people's self-identity, going back through their families, where people have got 
generations of their family that have gone to, to watch the same club. And that 
creates the moral imperative for the preservation of those clubs, for future 
�J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���´��P6 
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4.1.4.2.4 Communication  

Effective communication from the club, owners and directors on strategic matters was seen 

as a part of the responsibility of a club: Q018 

 

�³�«�L�W�
�V���U�H�D�O�O�\���Lmportant to be able to communicate with fans, is not just numbers, or 
even metrics, it's actually interpretation. Because that's the thing that really counts. 
We did, for the first time, produce �D�Q���D�F�W�X�D�O���F�R�P�P�H�Q�W�D�U�\���R�Q���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�
�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�«��
And that sort of commentary, because that seems to me, is actually what most fans 
�Z�L�O�O���U�H�D�O�O�\���U�H�O�D�W�H���W�R�����U�D�W�K�H�U���W�K�D�Q���D���S�L�O�H���R�I���I�L�J�X�U�H�V���´��P7 

 

Participants explained a lack of communication from their clubs and owners. Despite EFL 

�U�X�O�H�V���W�K�D�W���G�L�F�W�D�W�H���F�O�X�E�V���V�K�R�X�O�G���K�R�O�G���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�I�X�O���I�D�Q�V���I�R�U�X�P�V���D�W���O�H�D�V�W���W�Z�L�F�H���S�H�U���\�H�D�U�����3���¶�V��club 

had not held one for over two years: Q019 

 

�³�«�D���F�R�X�S�O�H���R�I���\�H�D�U�V���D�J�R�����>�W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U�@���Z�D�V���D�V�N�H�G���µhave you met recently with 
fan groups�"�¶ [He r�H�S�O�L�H�G�@���µ�:�H���K�D�Y�H�Q�¶�W���P�H�W���U�H�F�H�Q�W�O�\���Z�L�W�K���I�D�Q���J�U�R�X�S�V���D�V���Z�H���G�R��
�Q�R�W���I�H�H�O���W�K�H�U�H���D�U�H���W�K�L�Q�J�V���W�K�D�W���Z�H���Q�H�H�G���W�R���G�L�V�F�X�V�V���¶���$�Q�G���W�K�D�W�¶�V���D���G�L�U�H�F�W���T�X�R�W�H���´��
P5 

 

 

4.1.4.2.5 Transparency  

Closely linked with communication, participants felt that part of the club�¶s responsibility in the 

social contract was to be as transparent as possible. Participants argued vehemently for the 

need for transparency: Q020 

 

�³�$�Q�G���O�H�W�
�V���J�R���E�D�F�N���W�R���W�K�H���R�U�L�J�L�Q�D�O�«���S�X�U�S�R�V�H�����W�K�D�W��a football club owner and a board 
of directors, they are the custodians  of the club. If we the fans are holding their 
feet to the fire, we must be armed with the correct information. And as much 
transparency as possible, if we don't get transparency,  they get away with 
murder.  We know they do; we know they'll get away with as much murder as 
�S�R�V�V�L�E�O�H�����<�R�X���J�L�Y�H���W�K�H�P���D�Q���L�Q�F�K�����W�K�H�\�
�O�O���W�D�N�H���D���P�L�O�H�����,�W�¶�V���S�U�R�Y�H�G���W�L�P�H���D�Q�G���W�L�P�H���D�J�D�L�Q����
all football clubs just suffer from that from top to bottom. So, if we're going to hold 
these custodians of our football clubs to account, we need transp arency . And 
this is just not negotiable, as far as I'm concerned. And that's a pretty black and white 
stance, but as far as I'm concerned, if I'm go ing to hold my football club  to 
account, I need information. I need ammunition, I need facts.  I need to know 
�Z�K�D�W�
�V���J�R�L�Q�J���R�Q�«��while the fans are busily worried about what's going on with 
the number nine striker and how much contract he's got left in his hand, the 
owner �¶s flogging off the club ���´��P9 

 

And P8 expressed how a new supporter focused reporting framework would provide the 
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building blocks of protection for a club: 

 

�³�$�Q�G���W�K�H�V�H���V�R�U�W���R�I���W�K�L�Q�J�V���Z�L�O�O���E�H���W�K�H���E�X�L�O�G�L�Q�J���E�O�R�F�N�V�����K�R�S�H�I�X�O�O�\���I�R�U���Q�H�[�W���J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���Q�R�W��
to have to do it. So it's one of the building blocks, something like this [Supporter 
Focused Reporting] �Z�L�O�O���J�L�Y�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\���D�Q�G���N�Q�R�Z�O�H�G�J�H���´��P8 

 

As holding the club to account was a principle in the FLR of football via �I�D�Q�V�¶��Shadow 

Boards, participants felt that Shadow Boards will require information to be able to function 

and hold the club board to account effectively: Q021 

 

�³�«�W�K�L�V���L�V���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���T�X�L�W�H���O�L�Q�N�L�Q�J���L�Q�W�R���Z�K�D�W���7�U�D�F�\���&�U�R�X�F�K10 is saying about transparency 
through shadow boards. So shadow boards will need to have a document to be able 
to go to the board and ask questions of the commercial people, of accountants, and 
the people who are within that. Without that information, they are not going to be able 
to ask questions that are sens�L�E�O�H�«�´��P8 

 

Participants also felt that transparency would help to ensure stability, improve club-supporter 

relations and create opportunities for fans to help clubs: Q022 

 

�³�,���P�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�H�G���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\���K�H�U�H���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���I�R�U���P�H���L�W�
�V���R�Q�H���Rf the most important 
principles�«���R�Q�H���R�I���W�K�H���E�H�V�W���Z�D�\�V���R�I���P�D�N�L�Q�J���V�X�U�H���W�K�D�W���F�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���E�H�L�Q�J���U�X�Q���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q�D�E�O�\��
�L�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���D�U�H���D�O�V�R���U�X�Q���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�W�O�\�«���8�Q�O�H�V�V���Z�H�
�Y�H���J�R�W���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\�����Z�H�
�U�H���Q�R�W��
going to be able to have regulators and supporters being satisfied that a club is being 
run in t�K�H���U�L�J�K�W���Z�D�\���´��P2 

 

�³�%�\���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�����\�R�X���F�U�H�D�W�H���D�Q���R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�\���I�R�U���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�����%�H�F�D�X�V�H���L�I��
you've got comparability between clubs, between similar clubs, and if one has a 
better gate income than the other, then it gives the club an opportunity to say if 
you've got the lower income, to say, look, this is the reason why we might not be able 
to compete with this club because our gate income is X, theirs is Y, 15% higher and 
then talk to the fans to say what would make the club attractive enough for us to 
�E�R�R�V�W���W�K�D�W���J�D�W�H���L�Q�F�R�P�H���X�S���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���L�W���Z�R�X�O�G���W�K�H�Q���H�Q�D�E�O�H���X�V���W�R���G�R���;�<�=���´��P6 

 

P9 expressed how this was a related to fans trusting owners:  

 

�³�«�W�Z�R���Z�R�U�G�V�����W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\ and communication for me. Transparency, because 
basically, the trust [of fans] has gone in a lot of cases. And even where clubs are well 
run, there's still sections of fans that don't trust what goes on. And sometimes clubs 
can, all they need to do is be a little bit more, communicate a little a little bit more and 
be more transparent �L�Q���W�K�H�L�U���G�H�D�O�L�Q�J�V���Z�L�W�K���I�D�Q�V���´��P9 

 
10 �7�U�D�F�H�\���&�U�R�X�F�K���L�V���0�3���I�R�U���&�K�D�W�K�D�P���D�Q�G���$�\�O�H�V�I�R�U�G���D�Q�G���O�H�G���W�K�H���*�R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W�V�¶���)�D�Q���/�H�G��Review of Football Governance 
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4.1.4.2.5.1 Commercial conflict  

However, participants did acknowledge that full transparency could be difficult due to 

commercial rivalries between clubs �± although clubs do not compete for the same fans, they 

do compete for the same players, therefore there was a concern that by being too 

transparent, particularly in the areas of players�¶ wages and transfer fees, other clubs would 

gain advantage:  

 

�³�7�K�L�V��is where I feel some of the information [pause] whilst I think if it was 
communicated to supporters in itself, it �Z�R�X�O�G�Q�¶�W���E�H���D�Q���L�V�V�X�H�����E�X�W���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���L�W���J�R�H�V���L�Q�W�R��
the public domain it becomes an issue for your �F�R�P�S�H�W�L�W�R�U�V���´��P4 

 

Participants particularly expressed that this is likely the view of most owners: Q023 

 

�³�>�2�X�U���R�Z�Q�H�U�@���L�V���T�X�L�W�H���Z�D�U�\���R�I���J�L�Y�L�Q�J���W�R�R���P�X�F�K���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���L�Q���J�H�Q�H�U�D�O���S�X�E�O�L�F. Because 
he feels if other teams know what you are doing too much, or agents know what 
you're doing, then they'll exploit the situation. He doesn't like either agents or other 
clubs knowing what his business is. However, he would be happy for the fans trust or 
�D�Q�\���R�U�J�D�Q�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q���W�R���J�R���L�Q���D�Q�G���O�R�R�N���D�W���W�K�H���E�R�R�N�V���´��P8 

  

However, participants felt that although there is a potential commercial conflict to providing 

transparency, the benefits of transparency outweighed these concerns. Participants 

expressed how if all teams were open, then any advantage would be mitigated:  

 

�³�7�K�L�V���L�V�V�X�H���R�I���F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O���F�R�Q�I�L�G�H�Q�W�L�D�O�L�W�\���L�V���D���W�Z�R���Z�D�\ street anyway. For every 
advantage, they give another club in giving away the sort of Family Jewels about 
where their income comes from, who they owe money to. They're going to get that 
�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���E�D�F�N���R�Q���W�K�H���R�W�K�H�U���������W�H�D�P�V���L�Q���W�K�H�L�U���O�H�D�J�X�H���´ P6 

 

And participants felt that confidentiality was not as important as proving that a club is 

sustainably managed: Q024 

 

�³�$�Q�G���R�I���F�R�X�U�V�H�����L�I���H�Y�H�U�\�E�R�G�\���K�D�V���W�R���U�H�S�R�U�W�����\�R�X�
�U�H���D�O�O���R�Q���D���O�H�Y�H�O���S�O�D�\�L�Q�J���I�L�H�O�G�����$�Q�G��
further, if you really want to strengthen the financial controls around football, you 
�K�D�Y�H���W�R���U�H�S�R�U�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�D�W���O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���G�H�W�D�L�O���D�Q�G���P�D�N�H���L�W���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�W���´��P1 

 

Additionally, participants with experience from inside the game provided evidence that 

although clubs hide behind commercial sensitivity, clubs are savvy enough to almost know 

what their competitors�¶ budgets are: Q025 
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�³�<�H�D�K�����W�K�D�W�
�V���D�O�O���D���E�L�W���R�I���D���J�D�P�H���L�Q���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O�����7�K�H�\���D�O�O���O�L�N�H���W�R���W�K�L�Q�N���W�K�D�W���L�W�¶�V���F�R�P�P�H�U�F�L�D�O�O�\��
�V�H�Q�V�L�W�L�Y�H�����E�X�W���D�O�O���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���V�K�D�U�H�G���D�Q�\�Z�D�\�����,�W�¶�V���D�O�O���V�K�D�U�H�G���W�K�U�R�X�J�K���6�&�0�3���D�Q�G��
then they all sit in the boardroom and talk to each other about it as well�«���D�O�O���W�K�H��
clubs know what the playing budgets are within their league anyway they just don't 
supposedly know whose is whose but they know what they are most of them can 
figure out whose is whose so actually, I think people get over excited about 
protection of this information and in reality, having been in boardrooms, half the time, 
sat over a glass of wine, the director of the other club is telling you what his playing 
budget is anyway, so on one hand they want to be dead secret about it, on the other 
hand, they're all chatting to each other about it. P1 

 

 

4.1.4.2.6  Involve f ans 

The final aspect of the responsibility of the club that will be discussed in this section is to 

involve fans in decision-making, as they are seen as the primary stakeholders of clubs. 

Participants argued that this currently does not happen at some clubs: Q026 

 

�³�1�R�����I�D�Q�V���D�U�H�Q�¶�W���L�Q�Y�R�O�Y�H�G���D�W���D�O�O�����V�F�R�U�Q�I�X�O���W�R�Q�H�������+�H���G�R�H�V���I�D�L�U�O�\���I�U�H�T�X�H�Q�W���U�D�G�L�R���L�Q�W�H�U�Y�L�H�Z�V��
�D�Q�G�«���K�R�Z���F�D�Q���,���S�X�W���L�W�"���+�H���W�D�O�N�V���D���O�R�W���E�X�W���K�H���G�R�H�V�Q�¶�W���F�R�Q�V�X�O�W���R�Q���D�Q�\�W�K�L�Q�J�����,���Z�U�R�W�H���W�K�D�W��
�O�H�W�W�H�U�«���D�Q�G���K�H���V�L�P�S�O�\���Z�U�R�W�H���E�D�F�N���µ�G�R�Q�¶�W���E�R�W�K�H�U���F�R�Q�W�D�F�W�L�Q�J���X�V�����L�I���Z�H���W�K�L�Q�N there is 
�D�Q�\�W�K�L�Q�J���Z�H���W�K�L�Q�N���\�R�X���F�D�Q���K�H�O�S���Z�L�W�K�����Z�H�¶�O�O���J�H�W���L�Q���W�R�X�F�K���Z�L�W�K���\�R�X�¶�«���+�H���Y�H�U�\���P�X�F�K���V�H�H�V��
�L�W���D�V���D���R�Q�H���V�L�G�H�G���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���´��P5 

 

P7 and P5 �V�X�P�P�H�G���X�S���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�¶�V views on this with short quips: 

 

 �³�«�L�W�¶�V���P�\���E�D�O�O���D�Q�G���,�
�P���S�O�D�\�L�Q�J���Z�L�W�K���L�W���K�R�Z���,���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���S�O�D�\���Z�L�W�K���L�W���´��P7 

 

 �³�,�W�¶�V���K�L�V���W�U�D�L�Q���V�H�W���D�Q�G���K�H�¶�V���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���G�H�F�L�G�H���Z�K�R���S�O�D�\�V���Z�L�W�K���L�W���´��P5 

 

And P4 expressed that the purpose of the Supporters�¶ Trust at his club was to ensure that 

�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���Y�R�L�F�Hs could be heard: 

 

�³�,�W�¶�V���D���F�D�V�H���R�I���Z�R�U�N�L�Q�J���Z�L�W�K���D�Q���R�Z�Q�H�U���W�R���H�Q�V�X�U�H���W�K�Dt the supporters have a voice in 
�W�K�H���U�X�Q�Q�L�Q�J���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���´��P4 

 

4.1.5 Sense of togetherness  

Participants expressed that the social contract should culminate in a sense of togetherness �± 

that everyone involved is on the same page and has congruent aims, in line with Horton 

(1997): 
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�³�«�I�D�Q�V���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���I�H�H�O���D���O�R�\�D�O�W�\���W�R���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�����7�K�H�\���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���I�H�H�O���W�K�D�W���H�Y�H�U�\�E�R�G�\���L�V���V�R�U�W���R�I���L�Q��
it together. And it isn't just a cash nexus. There is a sort of sense of loyalty to the club 
an�G���O�R�\�D�O�W�\���W�R���H�D�F�K���R�W�K�H�U�«���2�Q�H���W�K�L�Q�J���,���W�K�L�Q�N���I�D�Q�V���D�W���D�Q�\���F�O�X�E���K�D�W�H���L�V���W�K�H���O�D�]�\���S�O�D�\�H�U��
�Z�K�R���W�D�N�H�V���W�K�H���P�R�Q�H�\���>�E�X�W�@���«�F�O�H�D�U�O�\���K�D�V���Q�R���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���L�Q���S�O�D�\�L�Q�J���I�R�U���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�����+�L�V��
�D�J�H�Q�W�¶�V���F�R�Q�V�W�D�Q�W�O�\���V�D�\�L�Q�J�����µ�Z�H�O�O�����D���E�L�J�J�H�U���F�O�X�E���D�U�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���L�Q���K�L�P�¶�����I�D�Q�V���U�H�D�O�O�\���G�R�Q�
�W��
like that because it breaches that sort of implicit social contract that the fan makes 
�Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G���W�K�H�\���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���V�H�H���W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U���K�D�V���W�K�D�W���V�R�U�W���R�I���E�R�Q�G���R�I���O�R�\�D�O�W�\���´��P7 

 

4.2 Other overarching t hemes  

Participants identified a small number of themes that did not fit into either the justification or 

creation of a new framework. A selection of these themes are considered in this section: 

veracity, whether fan would use the report and reporting difficulties. 

 

4.2.1 Veracity  

Key to the integrity of a new reporting framework was the concept of veracity: Q027 

 

�³�7�K�H���R�Q�H���W�K�L�Q�J���,���Z�R�X�O�G���V�D�\���D�E�R�X�W���>�W�K�H���Q�H�Z���I�U�D�P�H�Z�R�U�N�@���L�V���D�E�R�X�W���W�K�H���Y�H�U�D�F�L�W�\���R�I���W�K�H��
�L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�«�´��P7 

 

However, participants were concerned that a new reporting framework may lack credibility, 

or be used as window dressing, as clubs may not be as truthful and honest as desired 

unless a sufficient level of policing was in place: Q028 

 

�³�,�
�P���T�X�L�W�H���D���G�L�U�L�J�L�V�W�H���R�Q���W�K�L�V�����,���W�K�L�Q�N���Z�H���D�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���K�D�Y�H���W�R���K�D�Y�H���D���U�H�J�X�O�D�W�R�U�����D���V�H�W���R�I��
rules and some policemen to force club�V���W�R���G�R���L�W�����«�2�W�K�H�U�Z�L�V�H�«���,���W�K�L�Q�N���W�K�H�\�
�O�O���I�D�O�V�L�I�\��
�Z�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���V�D�\���D�Q�G���L�W���Z�L�O�O���M�X�V�W���E�H���S�U�R�S�D�J�D�Q�G�D�«���,���W�K�R�X�J�K�W��[AR1] �U�H�S�R�U�W���Z�D�V���H�[�F�H�O�O�H�Q�W�«��
�,���U�H�D�G���L�W���D�Q�G���M�X�V�W���W�K�R�X�J�K�W���µ�W�K�L�V���L�V���D�V�W�R�Q�L�V�K�L�Q�J�¶�����7�K�H�\�
�Y�H���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���E�H�H�Q���S�U�H�S�D�U�H�G���W�R���V�D�\����
and be quite honest. I fear that many clubs, if that report were required would be 
written by some Latter Day Dr Goebbels and would be anything but objective�«���\�R�X��
might actually have to have some independent regulator, who actually just fact 
checks it because where I think what [AR1 club] did was absolutely great, I have little 
�F�R�Q�I�L�G�H�Q�F�H���W�K�D�W���P�D�Q�\���F�O�X�E�V���L�Q���W�K�H���(�)�/���Z�R�X�O�G���E�H���W�K�D�W���K�R�Q�H�V�W���´��P7 

 

There was agreement amongst the group that external verification of reported results was 

required, for example, P3 stated: Q029 

 

�³�,���W�K�L�Q�N���W�K�H���R�Q�O�\���Z�D�\���W�K�L�V���L�V���H�Y�H�U���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���Z�R�U�N���L�V���L�I���W�K�H�U�H���L�V���D�O�R�Q�J�V�L�G�H���Z�K�D�W�H�Y�H�U���Z�H��
end up with some sort of commentary by an independent person, not by the club 
itself, not the finance director who may have his own agenda is going to have to be 
fair, independent commentary on what, what the key thing�V���U�H�D�O�O�\���P�H�D�Q���´��P3 
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P7 suggested that any potential regulator should be more than auditor and have 

investigatory powers and referred to the famous old comparison between a watchdog and a 

bloodhound (Chandler, 2019): 

 

�³�«�L�W�
�V���E�D�F�N���W�R���W�K�H���R�O�G���O�H�J�D�O���U�X�O�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���D�Q���D�X�G�L�W�R�U���L�V���D���Z�D�W�F�K�G�R�J�����Q�R�W���D���E�O�R�R�G�K�R�X�Q�G�«��
�Z�K�D�W���Z�H���Q�H�H�G���L�V���D���E�O�R�R�G�K�R�X�Q�G���´��P7 

 

An alternative suggestion was to include supporter comments on the report, especially 

around the social elements (discussed further in Section 2.4). P2 commented: Q030 

 

�³�«�V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���J�L�Y�H�Q���W�K�H���R�S�S�R�U�W�X�Q�L�W�\���W�R���F�R�P�P�H�Q�W���R�Q���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q��
submitted to the regulator by the club, so that any concerns that supporters have can 
be flagged up and then the regulator can decide whether they accept the information 
that�¶�V stated or not�«�´��P2 

 

 

4.2.2 Will fans use it?  

A significant question that supporters raised was whether supporters would actually engage 

with an annual supporter focused report? The following dialogue sums up the conclusion to 

this question, in that participants felt that enough fans would engage with it to make it 

worthwhile, so that the few protect the many: Q031 

 

�³�)�U�R�P���D���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���S�H�U�V�S�H�F�W�L�Y�H�����/�H�W�
�V���E�H���F�O�H�D�U�����Q�R�W���D�O�O���I�D�Q�V���D�U�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H��
finances anyway. P1 

�,���W�K�L�Q�N���\�R�X�
�O�O���I�L�Q�G���W�K�H�U�H�¶�V���V�H�Y�H�U�D�O���G�R�]�H�Q�����L�I���Q�R�W���L�Qto the hundreds of fans who can tell 
�\�R�X���T�X�L�W�H���D���O�R�W���D�E�R�X�W���>�P�\���F�O�X�E�@�¶�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���´��P7 

�«�Z�K�D�W percentage of fans do we think give a monkey's about anything other than the 
first team? P5 

 I would estimate at the outside, 10%. What do other people think? Researcher  

 A bit more than that it's time to say 20 or 30%. P7 

�«�K�R�Z�
�G���\�R�X���I�L�Q�G���R�X�W���D�E�R�X�W���Z�K�D�W�
�V���J�R�L�Q�J���R�Q�"���:�H�O�O�����L�W�
�V���W�K�H���R�W�K�H�U���I�D�Q�V���L�Q���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�����W�K�D�W��
know what's going on, that educate you and tell you and inform you. It's not the club. 
The club does�Q�¶�W �W�H�O�O���\�R�X�«���6�R�����E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�����������R�U���D���V�P�D�O�O���S�H�U�F�H�Q�W�D�J�H���R�I���I�D�Q�V���W�K�D�W��
actually care about the club, they're well informed... they find it's their duty to inform 
�W�K�H���U�H�V�W���R�I���W�K�H���I�D�Q���E�D�V�H���R�I���Z�K�D�W�
�V���J�R�L�Q�J���R�Q���´��P9 

 

And a number of participants identified that it was in times of difficulty that more fans would 

be interested: 
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�³�,���W�K�L�Q�N���L�W���G�H�S�H�Q�G�V���Z�K�D�W���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���L�V���G�R�L�Q�J���D�W���W�K�H���S�H�U�L�R�G�«���W�K�H�U�H���Z�L�O�O���E�H���P�R�U�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W��
�Q�R�Z�����E�H�F�D�X�V�H���\�R�X�
�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�K�U�R�X�J�K���F�K�D�Q�J�H�«���Z�K�H�Q���Z�H���V�R�O�G���W�K�H���J�U�R�X�Q�G���D�Q�G���Z�H�Qt into 
administration, and it was really, a lot of interest. P8 

�«�\�R�X�
�U�H���D�E�V�R�O�X�W�H�O�\���U�L�J�K�W�����>�3���@�����Z�K�H�Q���Z�H���Z�R�Q���W�K�H���>�V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�W���W�U�R�S�K�\�@�����O�H�V�V���W�K�D�Q���������R�I��
the people cared. Three years later, probably 75% of the people cared because we'd 
gone bust. P6 

 100% wil�O���E�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���Z�K�H�Q���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���K�L�W�¶�V���W�K�H���U�R�F�N�V���´��P8 

 

 

4.2.3 Reporting difficulties  

Participants felt that there would be a number of difficulties for clubs in producing a 

comprehensive annual report. These included the sheer volume of information (which is 

recommended to be overcome using a key facts section at the start of the report, see section 

4.4.1.6), the cost (which was debated) and resistance from club owners:  

Regarding volume of information: Q032 

 

�³�«�W�K�H���S�U�R�E�O�H�P���Z�H�
�U�H���E�X�L�O�G�L�Q�J���X�S���L�V���Z�H�
�U�H���D�V�N�L�Q�J���I�R�U���P�R�U�H���D�Q�G���P�R�U�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�����6�R��
�Q�H�[�W���\�H�D�U�����>�D���F�O�X�E�¶�V�@���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���D�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���E�H�����������S�D�J�H�V�����,�W���P�L�J�K�W���D�O�O���E�H���L�Q���W�K�H�U�H�����%�X�W��
�L�W�
�V���Y�H�U�\�����Y�H�U�\���K�D�U�G���W�R���V�H�H�«���W�R���W�K�H���S�L�H���H�D�W�H�U�����S�U�R�E�D�E�O�\���W�K�H���R�Q�H���O�L�Q�H���W�K�D�W���Z�L�O�O���E�H���R�I��
c�R�Q�F�H�U�Q���L�V���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���E�H���K�D�U�G���W�R���V�S�R�W�������´��P3 

 

Regarding cost and resistance from club owners: Q033 

 

�³�%�X�W���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���D�W���>�F�O�X�E�V�¶�@ fingertips. They haven't got to reinvent the 
wheel to get there. So any argument that it's prohibitive from a cost p�H�U�V�S�H�F�W�L�Y�H�«��it 
�L�V���Q�R�W���R�Q�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���F�R�X�O�G���V�X�V�W�D�L�Q���´��P3 

 

�³I think [P3]�¶�V���S�U�R�E�D�E�O�\�����U�L�J�K�W�����,���P�H�D�Q�����D�O�O���W�K�H���G�R�J�V���Z�R�X�O�G���E�D�U�N���L�I���\�R�X���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���W�U�L�H�G���W�R��
�H�Q�I�R�U�F�H���W�K�L�V���R�Q���F�O�X�E�V�����D�Q�G���W�K�H�\�¶�O�O���U�H�V�L�V�W���O�L�N�H���P�D�G�� On the other hand, if your starting 
point is something less, they'll resist that anyway. So, I tend to say this is the right 
answer. And we'll argue then from that, if you go with a halfway house, the clubs will 
�V�W�L�O�O���D�U�J�X�H���\�R�X���G�R�Z�Q���I�U�R�P���W�K�D�W���´��P7 

 

Participants however, agreed that the project was worth pursuing in light of the FLR which 

added to perception that there would likely be a seismic shift in the industry towards, of 

which better reporting practices could form part. 

After the FGs concluded, an EFL club agreed to work with me to produce reports that follow 

the suggested reporting framework. 
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4.3 Poor current p ractice  

Participants identified that much of current practice was poor. This covered three main areas 

�± poor reporting practices, poor owners and poor regulation. 

 

4.3.1 Poor reporting  

Participants identified that current reporting practices were not meeting supporters�¶ needs. 

They felt that �F�O�X�E�V�¶��statutory reports were aimed at shareholders, lacked genuine insight, 

were opaque with transactions unexplained, perceived deliberate obfuscation, and were 

sometimes seen as window dressing as discussed in Section 2.3.5.2. 

Much of this section is based on the sample accounts from phase two of the project, but also 

on additional annual reports that were utilised �G�X�U�L�Q�J���S�K�D�V�H���W�K�U�H�H�����D�Q�G���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶��

knowledge of other sets of club�¶s annual reports. 

 

   Institutionalised to financial capital provi �G�H�U�V�¶���Q�H�H�G�V 

In line with Brown (2007), Dillard and Vinnari (2019) and Morrow (2013), participants 

identified that current reporting practices were designed for shareholders, not wider 

stakeholders and participants felt that for football clubs, this was not appropriate: Q034 

 

�³�7�K�H���W�U�R�X�E�O�H���L�V���W�K�H���&�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V���$�F�W���D�V�«���E�D�V�L�F�D�Oly assumes that small 
companies�«���G�R�Q�¶�W���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���W�R���D�Q�\�E�R�G�\���H�O�V�H�����«�:�H�O�O�����L�Q���W�K�H���F�D�V�H���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�Xb 
that's not so. �«�\�R�X���D�U�H���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���Y�H�U�\ explicitly saying in the case of a football 
club, you're much more into a broader stakeholder reporting situation, and I, 
as a season ticket holder, �Z�D�Q�W���W�R���N�Q�R�Z���Z�K�H�U�H�
�V���P�\���P�R�Q�H�\���J�R�L�Q�J���´��P7 

 

Participants discussed that the current system of reporting under the Companies Act and 

Companies House was partly to blame for football club�¶s lack of wider stakeholder reporting, 

as it assumes a single owner of a SME with no responsibility to wider stakeholders. It was 

seen that this institutionalised system is not appropriate for football: Q035 

 

�³�«�W�K�H���&�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V���$�F�W�����I�R�U���V�P�D�O�O���F�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V�����L�W�
�V���G�H�V�L�J�Q�H�G���I�R�U���E�D�V�L�F�D�O�O�\��
proprietors who don't really need or want to know about the accounts 
because they know abou�W���W�K�H�P���D�Q�\�Z�D�\�����7�K�D�W���G�R�H�V�Q�¶�W���Z�R�U�N���Z�K�H�Q���\�R�X���K�D�Y�H��
�W�K�H���R�W�K�H�U���V�W�D�N�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�V�����«�,�I���\�R�X���R�Q�O�\���K�D�Y�H���R�Q�H���V�K�D�U�H�K�R�O�G�H�U�����L�Q���S�U�L�Q�F�L�S�O�H����
these accounts probably meet his needs. That's the whole problem that the 
Company Act is actually predicating that the accounts are based on an 
ownership model and the accounts are for the shareholders. Now, what we 
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are saying is that we're looking for reporting to a wider stakeholder audience 
�W�K�D�W���L�V���Q�R�W���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���H�Q�V�K�U�L�Q�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H���O�D�Z���U�H�D�O�O�\���´��P7  

 

   Lacking Insight  

Participants expressed �W�K�D�W���F�O�X�E�V�¶���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�V���O�D�F�N�H�G���L�Q�V�L�J�K�W�����7�K�L�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�G���D��

lack of explanation of the numbers and lack of a proper account of club activities and plans: 

Q036 

 

�³�7�K�H���E�L�J���W�K�L�Q�J�«���L�V���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�V�H���V�H�W�V���R�I���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�«���W�K�H���P�D�M�R�U�L�W�\���R�I them are just figures 
and you don't get enough detail about the things around the club, the plans, the 
intentions of the club, the risks and liabilities. Just the general sense so that you can 
actually get �D���I�O�D�Y�R�X�U���R�I���Z�K�D�W�
�V���J�R�L�Q�J���R�Q���´��P9 

 

Overall, the sample set of accounts viewed, and others, were considered to lack any 

�J�H�Q�X�L�Q�H���L�Q�V�L�J�K�W���L�Q�W�R���F�O�X�E�V�¶���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�� 

 

�³�9�H�U�\���P�L�Q�L�P�D�O�L�V�W���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���F�R�P�S�O�\�L�Q�J���Z�L�W�K���E�D�U�H���P�L�Q�L�P�X�P���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�P�H�Q�W�V���I�R�U���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O��
accounts. Notes are largely generic, and eschew any attempt to communicate any 
�S�O�D�Q�V���R�U���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�I�X�O���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���´��P7 

  

�³�+�D�O�I���D���S�D�J�H���G�H�Y�R�W�H�G���W�R���D�F�D�G�H�P�\���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���V�W�U�D�W�H�J�L�F���U�H�S�R�U�W�����)�D�L�U�O�\���E�O�D�Q�G���F�R�Q�W�H�Q�W���Z�K�L�F�K��
�V�W�D�W�H�V���W�K�H���R�E�Y�L�R�X�V���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I���D�Q���D�F�D�G�H�P�\���Z�L�W�K�R�X�W���R�I�I�H�U�L�Q�J���P�X�F�K���J�H�Q�X�L�Q�H���L�Q�V�L�J�K�W���´��
P3 

 

 

4.3.1.2.1 Opaque  

Participants felt that many reports were, at best, opaque and left many entries unexplained, 

in line with what Fox (2007) calls opaque transparency (see Section 2.3.4). 

When discussing the assets note in AR12�¶�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�����3�����V�W�D�W�H�G���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���L�Q���W�K�H��

accounts was: 

 

�³Opaque.  Assets must presumably be vested in holding company �± but not clear�«�´��
P7 

 

When considering the sample set of accounts, participants identified a number of instances 

where disclosures led to more questions than answers, for example: Q037 
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�³�1�R���H�[�S�O�D�Q�D�W�L�R�Q���R�I���Z�K�R���W�K�H���2�W�K�H�U���&�U�H�G�L�W�R�U���D�U�H���D�S�D�U�W���I�U�R�P���…�;�;�;�N���R�I���L�W�����/�H�D�Y�H�V���…�;���;�P��
�X�Q�H�[�S�O�D�L�Q�H�G�´��P6 

  

When looking through the annual reports of some of the participants�¶ own clubs, they were 

able to explain some of the transactions to others as they knew the background. This 

provided clarity to other participants, and led to comments such as: Q038 

 

  �³�«�L�W�
�V���Q�R�W���F�O�H�D�U���Z�K�H�W�K�H�U���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�V or leases its training ground? P3 

 �,�W���R�Z�Q�V���L�W�����\�H�D�K�����7�K�D�W�¶�V���D�O�O���S�D�U�W���R�I���W�K�H���V�D�P�H���F�R�P�S�O�H�[�«��P4  

�7�K�D�W�¶�V���D���Y�H�U�\���J�R�R�G���H�[�D�P�S�O�H���R�I���µwhy be vague?�¶��Why not just say that our assets 
include our stadium and our training ground, both of which are free-�K�R�O�G�"�´��P3 

 

Participants additionally felt that the practice of unaudited accounts (see also Section 

4.3.1.2.4), was particularly poor and led to compounded opaqueness: Q039 

 

�³�8�Q�D�X�G�L�W�H�G�����I�L�O�O�H�W�H�G���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�����8�V�H�O�H�V�V�����$�Ftually worse than [AR5]�¶�V���G�X�H���W�R���W�K�H��[X 
serious] issue which needs more than a passing reference since it is material to 
�J�R�L�Q�J���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�����7�K�H���Q�H�Z���O�R�Z���L�Q���F�O�X�E���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���W�K�D�W���,�¶�Y�H���V�H�H�Q���´��P6 

 

  

4.3.1.2.1.1 Deliberate o bfuscation  

Some participants went as far as to accuse clubs of deliberate obfuscation within their 

annual reports: Q040 

 

�³�������F�O�X�E�V���D�U�H���I�D�O�O�L�Q�J���G�R�Z�Q�����,���K�D�Y�H���W�R���V�D�\���V�R�P�H�W�L�P�H�V�����G�H�O�L�E�H�U�D�W�H�O�\�����%�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�U�H�
�V��
plenty of deliberate obfuscation around to hide unpalatable or inconvenient, 
�H�P�E�D�U�U�D�V�V�L�Q�J���I�D�F�W�V���´��P7 

 

P4 posited that the different ways that clubs presented their profit and loss accounts and 

income split notes were a deliberate attempt to be unclear:  

 

�³�$�O�O���W�K�R�V�H���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���W�L�W�O�H�V�����D�O�O���W�K�R�V�H���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���K�H�D�G�L�Q�J�V�����D�O�O���V�D�\�L�Q�J���W�K�H���V�D�P�H���V�R�U�W�V���R�I��
things. And it's just a mechanism for them to hide things. So it's all about 
�W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\���´��P4 

 

Within the sample accounts, participants found what they saw as deliberate obfuscation: 

Q041 
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�³�«�Y�H�U�\���L�Q�D�G�H�T�X�D�W�H�����P�H�U�H�O�\���V�W�D�W�L�Q�J���³�L�Q�F�R�P�H���R�I���…�;�;���;�P���Z�D�V���U�H�F�H�L�Y�D�E�O�H���I�U�R�P���U�H�O�D�W�H�G��
parties in respect of transactions recognised in the statements� .́ There has clearly 
been a concerted attempt to conceal the terms of the sale of the groun�G���´��P3 

 

AR1 were seen to be a particularly informative set of accounts, but poorly laid out, which 

raised speculation that this was deliberate obfuscation: Q042 

 

�³�7�K�H���Z�K�R�O�H���W�K�L�Q�J���Z�L�W�K��[AR1 club] accounts, I wonder whether, being a cynic, they're 
trying to look like good guys by producing a welter of information. But I can't help but 
thinking if you set your stall out to be as open as possible, a competent accountant 
would have presented it all a lot better. And I just wondered whether they are trying 
to blind us with science to put in a huge amount of information, but making it quite 
�K�D�U�G���W�R���L�Q�W�H�U�S�U�H�W���L�W�����%�H�F�D�X�V�H���,���F�R�X�O�G���K�D�Y�H���P�D�G�H���L�W���D�O�O���D���O�R�W���F�O�H�D�U�H�U���´��P3 

 

4.3.1.2.1.2 Unhelpful formats  

Participants expressed an opinion that current reporting practices were constrained by 

unhelpful formats: Q043 

 

�³�6�R�P�H���H�I�I�R�U�W���W�R���E�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�Y�H�����U�H�T�X�L�U�H�G���D�V���W�K�H���F�R�P�S�D�Q�\���L�V���Q�R�W���D���V�P�D�O�O���F�R�P�S�D�Q�\�����E�X�W��
�L�W���L�V���E�D�G�O�\���Z�U�L�W�W�H�Q���D�Q�G���Q�R�W���Y�H�U�\���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�Y�H���´��P7  

 

�³�7�K�H���Q�D�Urative style is wordy and the information could be more concise. It is 
regrettable that the disclosure is not reproduced in tabular form in the notes on pages 
�>�;�@���W�R���>�<�@���´��P3 

 

P6 also saw the statutory format as required by FRS102 as constraining to depicting a club�¶s 

activities: 

 

�³�«�Z�K�D�W���Z�H���D�U�H���V�H�H�L�Q�J���L�V���D�Q���H�I�I�R�U�W���E�\���V�R�P�H���W�R���F�R�P�S�O�\���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���&�R�P�S�D�Q�L�H�V���$�F�W��
�V�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G���I�R�U�P�D�W���W�K�D�W�¶�V���E�H�H�Q���P�D�Q�G�D�W�H�G���I�R�U���D���3�	�/�����Z�K�L�F�K�����L�Q���U�H�D�O�L�W�\�� I don't think 
particularly fits football clubs very well, because gross profits slash loss is really an 
irrelevance when it comes to football clubs, �L�W�¶�V���D���F�R�P�S�O�H�W�H�O�\���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�O�H�V�V���W�K�L�Q�J���´��P6 

 

4.3.1.2.2 Filleted  accounts  

Compounding the issues of opaqueness within annual reports, participants expressed 

further concern over abbreviated accounts filed by many L1 and L2 clubs due to their legal 

status as small companies �± especially as small company accounts do not require a profit 

and loss statement. Participants also raised concerns that many of these clubs are also 

exempt from audit (see also Section 4.4.2.6): Q044 
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�³�,�W���K�L�G�H�V���D���P�X�O�W�L�W�X�G�H���R�I���V�L�Q�V���Z�L�W�K�R�X�W���D���G�H�W�D�L�O�H�G���3�	�/���U�H�S�R�U�W���D�Q�G���Z�R�X�O�G���E�H���Y�L�W�D�O���L�Q���W�H�O�O�L�Q�J��
�D�Q���R�X�W�V�L�G�H���R�E�V�H�U�Y�H�U���K�R�Z���Z�H�O�O���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���L�V���U�X�Q���´��P3 

�³�1�R�Z���D���O�R�W���R�I���\�R�X�U���O�R�Z�H�U���O�H�D�J�X�H���F�O�X�E�V�«���G�R�Q�
�W���H�Y�H�Q���K�D�Y�H���W�R���E�H���D�X�G�L�W�H�G�«���6�R���L�W���D�O�O�R�Z�V��
c�O�X�E�V���W�R���S�U�R�G�X�F�H�«���Q�R�W�K�L�Q�J���R�I���D�Q�\���X�V�H���Z�K�D�W�V�R�H�Y�H�U���W�R���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G���Z�K�D�W���W�K�H���U�H�D�O��
�I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���S�R�V�L�W�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���L�V���´��P1 

 

4.3.1.2.3 Legitimising disclosure / PR exercise  

Linked to the veracity and honesty within accounts discussed in Section 4.2.1, participants 

identified that some clubs had used the accounts as a PR exercise, to legitimise themselves, 

rather than an exercise in accountability. 

Many of the sampled accounts showed evidence of this, but one in particular stood out, that 

of AR11 club, who had an extraordinary transaction in their accounts that was barely 

mentioned, but included nine pages on the excellent work of their Community Trust, which is 

technically a separate legal entity. On this, participants commented: Q045 

 

�³�«�X�Q�V�X�U�H���K�R�Z���W�R rate these results, as their strategic report is nine pages long with 
loads details from their community work and virtually none about the car crash that is 
�W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�H�V�����D�Q�G���W�K�H���G�R�G�J�\���V�D�O�H�« Misdirection that would make Derren Brown 
�S�U�R�X�G�« 

�«�$�Q���D�O�P�R�V�W���E�R�D�V�W�I�X�O���O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q�����µ�/�R�R�N���R�Y�H�U���K�H�U�H�����Q�R�W���R�Y�H�U���W�K�H�U�H���D�W���W�K�H��
�I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O�V�¶�  ́P6 

 

The principle was also observed within other clubs�¶ annual reports: Q046.  

 

4.3.1.2.4 Administrative exercise?  

Participants surmised that a likely reason that accounts were not as good as they could be is 

that clubs may just view them as an administrative exercise on which they do not place any 

accountability value, preferring to exercise accountability through other means: Q047 

�³�«�L�W���P�D�\���E�H���Z�L�W�K���V�R�P�H���R�I���W�K�L�V�����W�K�D�W���W�K�H�U�H���L�V���D���W�H�P�S�O�D�W�H���W�K�D�W���K�D�V���H�[�L�V�W�H�G���I�R�U���W�K�H��
accounts and the numbers get changed every year and nobody really stands back 
and says, are we disclosing as much as we could in note nine? They just change the 
numbers and roll it forward. P3 

 

This led to a discussion of a paradox, where at least one of the clubs that were sampled 

provided excellent information on social media, but filed abbreviated accounts that were 

thought by participants to be one of the worst that they had seen. 
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   Second hand  accounts  

Participants expressed that the issues with current reporting practices had led to some 

supporters producing and utilising second hand accounts�����H�L�W�K�H�U���S�U�R�G�X�F�H�G���E�\���D���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��

Trust, or articles in local newspapers that summarised the annual reports, which were seen 

to be closer to meeting supporter needs: Q048 

 

�³�«�W�K�H���R�Q�O�\���Z�D�\���I�D�Q�V���Z�R�X�O�G���K�D�Y�H���I�R�X�Q�G���R�X�W���H�[�D�F�W�O�\���Z�K�D�W���W�K�D�W���Z�D�V���D�E�R�X�W���Z�R�X�O�G���K�D�Y�H��
been reading the commentary that I published on our website as part of the annual 
�U�H�Y�L�H�Z���W�K�D�W���,���G�R���´��P6  

 

   Good a ccounts  

Participants did express that some of the work in some of the accounts sampled was of good 

quality and informative to supporters. This particularly related to, but was not constrained to, 

�$�5���¶�V report which was perceived to have made a real attempt to be transparent about the 

operations of the club during the reporting period:  Q049 

 

�³�/�R�Y�L�Q�J���W�K�H���I�L�Y�H year key performance indicator chart although it is not easy reading! 
�«�,�Q���V�X�P�P�D�U�\���,���Z�R�X�O�G���V�D�\���W�K�H�V�H���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���D�Q�G���E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V���U�H�S�R�U�W�V���D�U�H���D�W the better end 
of average for football clubs at this level. Certainly 100 % better accountability than 
[AR8 club�¶�V] poor ex�F�X�V�H���I�R�U���D���V�H�W���R�I���D�Q�Q�X�D�O���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���´��P9 

 

For AR3, P6 stated: 

 

�³�,�
�Y�H���M�X�V�W���E�H�H�Q���U�H�Y�L�H�Z�L�Q�J���>�$�5�����F�O�X�E�¶�V�@ 2020 accounts�«  they do break down income 
from player sales, expenditure on players, expenditure on tangible fixed assets, 
which gives us a proper picture of how the cash position has moved, particularly 
because they have this offshore a�F�F�R�X�Q�W�����Z�K�L�F�K���L�V���R�I���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���W�R�« fans, they want to 
�V�H�H���K�R�Z���W�K�D�W���P�R�Q�H�\���L�V���P�R�Y�L�Q�J���D�U�R�X�Q�G���´��P6 

 

In particular, participants expressed that a fuller performance report linking the finances to 

sporting results in AR1 was particularly good: Q050 

 

�³�,���S�D�U�W�L�F�X�O�D�U�O�\���O�L�N�H�G���W�K�H���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�L�R�Q���R�I���W�K�H��reality of football and that higher spending in 
�S�U�H�Y�L�R�X�V���\�H�D�U���G�L�G�Q�¶�W���E�U�L�Q�J���S�U�R�P�R�W�L�R�Q���E�X�W���G�L�G���V�H�W���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���R�Q���W�K�H���U�R�D�G���W�R���U�X�L�Q���± and I 
liked the dose of reality by information about how spending was reduced without 
greatly impairing performance... I liked the explanation about how expensive fringe 
�S�O�D�\�H�U�V���Z�H�U�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�Y�H���W�R���W�K�H�L�U���F�R�Q�W�U�L�E�X�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���H�V�S�H�F�L�D�O�O�\���W�K�H���F�R�Q�F�H�S�W���R�I���³�)�R�R�W�E�D�O�O��
�)�R�U�W�X�Q�H�´���Z�K�L�F�K���U�H�D�O�O�\���V�H�W���W�K�H���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�F�H���R�I���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�H���I�U�R�P���F�X�S���U�X�Q�V���D�Q�G���S�O�D�\�H�U���V�D�O�H��
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proceeds into context �± and indeed largely expla�L�Q�V���Z�K�\���L�Q�F�R�P�H���U�H�G�X�F�H�G���V�R���P�X�F�K���´��
P7 

  

 

4.3.2  Poor o wners  

A significant justification of a new reporting framework was to ensure transparency in an 

�H�Q�Y�L�U�R�Q�P�H�Q�W���W�K�D�W���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�G���P�D�Q�\���µ�E�D�G�
���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�H�U�V, that participants felt were not good 

custodians of the cultural and historical institutions that are clubs, but are able to exercise 

total control over and manage them with poor governance practices. Participants identified 

that this led to mistrust of owners by supporters. Talking of their own club�¶s owner, P5 

expressed: 

 

�³�,���G�R�Q�¶�W���W�U�X�V�W���K�L�P�����,���G�R�Q�¶�W���W�U�X�V�W���K�L�P���Z�L�W�K���R�X�U���F�O�X�E���´��P5 

 

Participants described their general perception of owners as poor: Q051 

 

�³�:�H���Z�R�X�O�G�Q�
�W���K�D�Y�H���W�R���S�X�W���W�K�H�V�H���S�U�R�S�R�V�D�O�V���I�R�U�Z�D�U�G���L�I���L�W���Z�D�V�Q�
�W���I�R�U���W�K�H���I�D�F�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�H��
owners of football clubs in this country have just completely taken the Mickey, for so 
�O�R�Q�J�«���Z�H���K�D�Y�H���W�R���G�R���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J�����D�Q�G���Z�H���K�D�Y�H���W�R���G�R���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���Q�R�Z���´��P9 

 

P7 regaled participants with an example of poor ownership and governance at their club: 

 

�³�>�7�K�H last owner] was bent as a nine-bob note, and basically after the current owner 
bought the club, all sorts of hidden liabilities came out of the woodwork. One of the 
�W�K�L�Q�J�V���Z�D�V���W�K�D�W���K�H�¶�G���E�D�V�L�F�D�O�O�\��been taking the PAYE deductions, basically for himself. 
So, I think it was about three, four years ago, a minibus turned up with 15 
investigators from HMRC. They seized everything, all the club�¶s computers and 
�U�H�F�R�U�G�V�«���7�K�H���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W���R�Z�Q�H�U���L�V���W�U�\�L�Q�J���W�R���V�D�\���W�K�D�W���L�W�¶�V���Q�R�W�K�L�Q�J���W�R���G�R���Z�L�W�K���P�H���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���,��
�Z�D�V�Q�
�W���W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U�����µ�:�H�O�O�¶�����,���V�D�L�G�«���µ�<�R�X���P�D�\���K�D�Y�H���D���F�O�D�L�P against the previous director 
�I�R�U���P�D�O�I�H�D�V�D�Q�F�H�����E�X�W���\�R�X���F�D�Q�
�W���Z�D�V�K���\�R�X�U���K�D�Q�G�V���R�I���L�W�¶�����7�K�H�\���K�D�Y�H���Q�Rw put something 
in the �D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V�����D�O�E�H�L�W���Q�R�W���T�X�D�Q�W�L�I�L�H�G�«�´ P7 

 

Other participants also spoke of bad experiences with their owners. Q052 
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   Misaligned interests  

�3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���I�H�O�W���W�K�D�W���R�Q�H���R�I���W�K�H���U�H�D�V�R�Q�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���P�L�V�D�O�L�J�Q�P�H�Q�W���Z�D�V���G�X�H���W�R���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�¶���V�H�H�L�Q�J���W�K�H��

club through the lens of commercial gain, rather than as an asset of cultural and community 

interest: Q053 

 

�³�7�K�H�U�H�¶�V���D���U�H�D�O���F�U�R�V�V��section of some good clubs, some poor clubs. I think the 
problems come when you have one owner, a single owner, who see it as a 
�E�X�V�L�Q�H�V�V�«���L�Q���W�K�H���G�D�\�V���R�I���W�K�H���I�R�U�P�H�U���F�K�D�L�U�P�D�Q�«���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���N�H�S�W���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���L�W�V���P�H�D�Q�V�����+�H��
had a loan, he had a couple of million loan and he did�Q�¶�W���W�D�N�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���R�Q���W�K�D�W���O�R�D�Q����
�7�K�L�V���J�X�\���K�D�V���D���O�R�D�Q���D�Q�G���K�H���W�D�N�H�V���������D�E�R�Y�H���E�D�V�H���´��P5 

 

This led participants to question owners�¶���P�R�W�L�Y�H�V���L�Q owning clubs: Q054 

 

 �³�,���W�K�L�Q�N���,���V�R�U�W���R�I���D�J�U�H�H���Z�L�W�K���>�3���@�����W�K�D�W�����,�
�P���Q�R�W���V�X�U�H���W�K�D�W���I�R�U���P�D�Q�\���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�����Z�L�Q�Q�L�Q�J��
games is the prime motive, but I don't think they necessarily want to make annual 
�S�U�R�I�L�W�V�����E�X�W���W�K�H�\���F�H�U�W�D�L�Q�O�\���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���H�Q�K�D�Q�F�H���W�K�H���F�D�S�L�W�D�O���Y�D�O�X�H���R�I���W�K�H�L�U���D�V�V�H�W�V���´��P3 

 

Participants were also concerned that owners were looking for personal gain by using clubs 

as property development assets, for example, for AR2, P3 commented: Q055 

 

�³�5�H�I�H�U�H�Q�F�H�V���W�R���S�O�D�Q�Q�Lng applications [in the annual report] �V�X�J�J�H�V�W�V���R�Z�Q�H�U�¶�V interest 

�P�D�\���E�H���P�R�U�H���L�Q���S�U�R�S�H�U�W�\���G�H�Y�H�O�R�S�P�H�Q�W���W�K�D�Q���S�O�D�\�L�Q�J���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���´��P3 

 

   Poor f an relationship  

As per Section 1.1, participants discussed that the misaligned interests between owners and 

fans was a factor in poor relations between owners and fans, something identified as 

important in the social contract of a football club: Q056 

 

�³�,���W�K�L�Q�N���W�K�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���E�H�W�Z�H�H�Q���R�X�U���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶ Trust and our Chairman is more of a 
story of a non-�U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S�«���W�K�H���&�K�D�L�U�P�D�Q�¶�V���M�X�V�W���Q�R�W���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�H�G���D�Q�G���K�H�
�V���D�O�V�R���H�P�D�L�O�H�G��
u�V���D�Q�G���V�D�L�G���µ�G�R�Q�
�W���E�R�W�K�H�U���F�R�Q�W�D�F�W�L�Q�J���X�V�����,�I���W�K�H�U�H�
�V���D�Q�\�W�K�L�Q�J���Z�H���W�K�L�Q�N���\�R�X���F�D�Q���K�H�O�S���X�V��
with that we'll get in touch with you.�´��P5 

 

Many participants went on to describe a poor current relationship with their owners: 
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�³�2�X�U���R�Z�Q�H�U���K�D�V���D���G�L�U�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���I�D�Q�V�����D���G�L�U�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���Z�L�W�K���P�R�V�W���R�I���W�K�H��
�I�D�Q�¶�V���J�U�R�X�S�V�����L�W�
�V���Q�R�W���J�U�H�D�W���Z�L�W�K���X�V �>�W�K�H���6�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���7�U�X�V�W�@. And he wants to reveal as 
�O�L�W�W�O�H���D�V���S�R�V�V�L�E�O�H�����7�K�H�U�H�¶�V���D���U�H�D�O���E�U�H�D�N�G�R�Z�Q���L�Q���W�K�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�K�L�S���D�Q�G���W�K�D�W�
�V���Z�K�D�W���\�R�X�¶�U�H��
seeing... [the owner] �V�D�\�V���µ�L�W�
�V���P�\���F�O�X�E�¶�����D�Q�G���W�K�D�W���L�V���W�K�H���D�Q�W�L�W�K�H�V�L�V���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H���I�D�Q�V��
�K�D�Y�H���J�R�W���H�[�S�H�F�W�D�W�L�R�Q�V�����D�O�O���W�K�H���W�K�L�Q�J�V���W�K�H�\���Z�D�Q�W�����W�K�H���W�U�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�V�����K�H�¶�V���W�U�D�V�K�H�G���W�K�H���O�R�W���  ́
P7 

 

 

4.3.2.2.1 Key r elationship �± legal owner vs social owner  

Linked to the social owner concept as discussed in Section 1.1, participants went on to 

express a tension between the positions of legal owners and social owners, which they had 

experienced with the owner of their club: 

 

�³�2�Q�H���R�I���W�K�H���W�K�L�Q�J�V���>�W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U�@���V�D�L�G���D�W���R�Q�H���R�I���W�K�H�V�H���I�R�U�X�P�V���Z�D�V���µ�L�W�¶�V���R�X�U���F�O�X�E��
�Q�R�Z�¶�����0�H�D�Q�L�Q�J���K�L�V���I�D�P�L�O�\�����$�W���Z�K�L�F�K���S�R�L�Q�W���K�H���K�D�G���W�R���E�H���U�H�P�L�Q�G�H�G���W�K�D�W���O�R�Q�J��
�W�L�P�H���D�I�W�H�U���K�H�¶�V���J�R�Q�H�����>�P�\���F�O�X�E�@���I�D�Q�V���Z�L�O�O���V�W�L�O�O���E�H���K�H�U�H�����$�Q�G���K�H���G�L�G�Q�¶�W���O�L�N�H���L�W�«���,�W�
�V��
that tension I suppose between having somebody who owns a club legally, 
financially, and that juxtaposition with supporters, who, they will have three 
or four �J�H�Q�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V���L�Q���W�K�H���I�D�P�L�O�\���Z�K�R���K�D�Y�H���V�H�H�Q���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���J�U�R�Z�«���G�R���Z�H���R�Z�Q��
�W�K�H���F�O�X�E�"���'�R�H�V���W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U�"���2�U���D�U�H���W�K�H�\���P�H�U�H�O�\���F�X�V�W�R�G�L�D�Q�V�"�´��P5 

 

This was also captured in a passionate oration by P7 whose club has experienced what they 

considered to be a poor legal owner in recent years: 

 

�³�,�I���W�K�H���>�O�H�J�D�O�@���R�Z�Q�H�U���L�V���N�L�O�O�L�Q�J���\�R�X�U���F�O�X�E�����\�R�X���D�U�H���D�O�P�R�V�W�����,���P�H�D�Q�����W�K�H�U�H���K�D�Y�H���E�H�H�Q���>�P�\��
club] fans [in] my family before me, and my son [and] my grandson's going around in 
[the cit�\���Z�K�H�U�H���K�H���O�L�Y�H�V�@���L�Q���K�L�V���>�P�\���F�O�X�E�@���V�K�L�U�W���D�Q�G���K�H�¶�V���S�U�R�X�G�����+�H���L�V�Q�
�W���D�Q�\�P�R�U�H����
because the club's a joke! And I feel that sense, I want my community, I want my 
town �¶s identity, I want my club to survive and go forward and when it's been killed 
by the owner, who has just put some money in, bought the thing, without doing 
proper due diligence, and is then screwing it up. Well, it's not his club, it's not his 
identity to just dispose of and trash �����,�
�P���V�R�U�U�\�����W�K�D�W�¶�V���Y�H�U�\���S�D�V�V�L�R�Q�D�W�H���´��P7 

 

Poor owners are thought to be compounded by poor regulation: 

 

�³�,���E�O�D�P�H���W�K�H���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���D�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�\�����Z�K�R�H�Y�H�U�
�V���L�Q���F�K�D�U�J�H���R�I���W�K�D�W���S�D�U�W�L�F�X�O�D�U���E�L�W of what they 
should be carrying out. They're obviously not doing due diligence on these owners, 
they haven't done for many, many years. And it's leading to situations that we're 
talking about, now, it's leading to the consequences of not having fit and proper 
people in charge of these clubs, nine months, two years, five years down the road, 
this is what happens, we deal with those consequences. All because the football 
�D�X�W�K�R�U�L�W�L�H�V���Z�L�O�O���Q�R�W���G�R���W�K�H�L�U���E�O�R�R�G�\���M�R�E���S�U�R�S�H�U�O�\���´��P9 
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4.3.3  Poor r egulation  

A consistent theme throughout all interviews and FGs was that of a system of insufficient 

regulation that surrounds clubs and owners and is perceived by participants to compound 

the poor governance of some clubs as discussed in Section 1.1. This theme concerned both 

industry regulation by, for example, the EFL, and also wider regulation around reporting 

regarding the Companies Act and Companies House. The most significant aspect concerns 

a lack of policing from both of these �µ�U�H�J�X�O�D�W�R�U�V�¶���W�K�D�W���D�O�O�R�Z�H�G���I�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V���W�R���D�F�W���L�Q���R�Z�Q�H�U��

interests rather than those of supporters, allowing clubs and owners to be largely 

unaccountable for their actions and often file minimal or non-compliant information. 

 

   Poor r egulation �± EFL 

Participants felt that the EFL were poor regulators of clubs. �3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���G�L�V�F�X�V�V�H�G���W�K�H���(�)�/�¶�V��

role, remit and perceived obligations in great detail. These conversations involved many 

�D�U�H�D�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���U�H�Y�D�P�S�L�Q�J���W�K�H���2�Z�Q�H�U�V�¶���D�Q�G���'�L�U�H�F�W�R�U�V�¶���7�H�V�W�����K�R�Z�H�Y�H�U���T�X�R�W�H�V���K�D�Y�H been 

limited to only those most closely related to reporting.  

All participants felt that the EFL were ineffective as a governing body of clubs: Q057 

 

�³�7�K�H���S�H�R�S�O�H���Z�K�R���D�U�H���U�X�Q�Q�L�Q�J���R�X�U���J�D�P�H���D�U�H���F�K�R�F�R�O�D�W�H���W�H�D�S�R�W�V�����W�K�H�\�¶�U�H���E�D�V�L�F�D�O�O�\��
useless. They don't follow the rules. They don't come down on clubs or check on 
whether they are fit and proper people to run clubs. They've allowed this game to go 
on like this for the last, God knows how many decades, and this is why we're in the 
state we're in, this is why we're having to do this [reporting framework project] 
�E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H���S�H�R�S�O�H���W�K�D�W���D�U�H���U�X�Q�Q�L�Q�J���R�X�U���J�D�P�H���D�U�H���O�H�W�W�L�Q�J���X�V���G�R�Z�Q���´��P9 

 

As the EFL is essentially a self-governing group of club owners (EFL, n.d.-c)�����S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶��

feeling was particularly strong that this was the wrong approach as club owners were 

unlikely to ever vote for change that was not in their self-interest, such as a new reporting 

framework aimed at supporters�¶ accountability needs: Q058 

 

�³�7�R���P�H���L�W�
�V���E�D�V�L�F�D�O�O�\���D�Q���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�¶ �F�O�X�E���I�R�U���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�«���7�K�H���(�)�/���U�X�O�H�V���D�U�H���S�D�U�W�L�D�O�O�\���Z�U�L�W�W�H�Q��
�E�\���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�H�U�V���I�R�U���W�K�H���E�H�Q�H�I�L�W���R�I���F�O�X�E���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�«���7�X�U�N�H�\�V���G�R�Q�
�W���Y�R�W�H���I�R�U���&�K�U�L�V�W�P�D�V���D�Q�G��
�F�O�X�E���F�K�D�L�U�P�D�Q���D�W���W�K�H���(�)�/���D�U�H�Q�¶�W���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���G�R���W�K�L�V���>�U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J�@���Y�R�O�X�Q�W�D�U�\���´��P5 

 

Participants particularly focused concern �R�Q���W�K�H���(�)�/�¶�V���V�H�H�P�L�Q�J���O�D�F�N���R�I���D�E�L�O�L�W�\���W�R���J�R�Y�H�U�Q���W�K�H��

financial side of the industry, including the financial management of clubs and related 

reporting requirements: Q059 
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�³�«�D�V���Z�H���N�Q�R�Z���I�U�R�P���%�X�U�\�����\�R�X���F�D�Q���V�W�L�O�O���W�D�N�H���R�Y�H�U��the club, and absolutely refuse to 
submit that information. And the EFL will sit on its hands... P6 

 

The inability of the EFL to govern the financial side of the industry was in part seen to be 

because of them being under resourced for such a task: Q060 

 

4.3.3.1.1 Regulation of SCMP/ FFP 

�3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���K�R�Q�H�G���L�Q���R�Q���W�K�H���(�)�/�¶�V���S�U�D�F�W�L�F�H�V���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�L�Q�J���)�)�3���D�Q�G���6�&�0�3�����F�L�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H�P���D�V���D�Q��

�H�[�D�P�S�O�H���R�I���W�K�H���(�)�/�¶�V���S�R�R�U���J�R�Y�H�U�Q�D�Q�F�H���G�X�H���W�R���W�K�H���S�H�U�F�H�S�W�L�R�Q���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���(�)�/���Z�H�U�H���S�R�R�U���D�W��

reviewing clubs�¶ submissions and enforcing rules. This particularly emerged when looking at 

the sample annual reports in phase two: Q061 

 

�³�7�K�L�V���F�O�X�E�¶�V���.�3�,�V���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H���Z�D�J�H���W�X�U�Q�R�Y�H�U���U�D�W�L�R���R�I���������������S�U�L�R�U���\�H�D�U���± ���������«���L�Q���O�L�J�K�W���R�I��
these percentages and absence of any equity injection it is very hard to understand 
how the club did not breach SCMP �± �P�D�\�E�H���W�K�L�V���V�D�\�V���P�R�U�H���D�E�R�X�W���(�)�/�¶�V���S�R�O�L�F�L�Q�J���R�I��
SCMP than about [AR9 club as]�«���W�K�H�L�U���U�X�O�H�V���D�U�H���V�R���E�O�R�R�G�\���Z�H�D�N�����W�K�H�\���G�R�Q�
�W���Z�R�U�N�´��
P3 

 

 

   Companies House  

Participants also felt that wider regulation in regards to Companies House submissions were 

�D�O�V�R���S�R�R�U���L�Q���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���Z�H�U�H���Q�R�W���V�X�L�W�H�G���W�R���S�U�R�Y�L�G�H���W�K�H���O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���W�U�D�Q�V�S�D�U�H�Q�F�\���W�R���P�H�H�W���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶��

needs: Q062 

 

�³�«Companies House�����D�V���D���S�R�O�L�F�L�Q�J���D�J�H�Q�F�\�����L�V���O�H�V�V���W�K�D�Q���X�V�H�O�H�V�V�����7�K�H�\���G�R�Q�¶�W���V�H�H�P���W�R��
�U�H�Y�L�H�Z���Z�K�D�W�
�V���I�L�O�H�G�����W�K�H�\���P�H�U�H�O�\���S�R�V�W���L�W���R�Q���W�K�H�L�U���Z�H�E�V�L�W�H�«��if it's a major FTSE 
company, they might well go back to the company and say this is non-compliant and 
make them refile. But if it's [a small football club], it takes a huge amount of time 
before they look at it�«��they might get their wrist smacked, but nothing more serious 
�W�K�D�Q���W�K�D�W���´��P3 

 

 

4.3.3.2.1 Most clubs only hit the minimum  

Participants observed that clubs meet only basic statutory reporting requirements, which 

they feel does not provide sufficient disclosure to meet their needs. When reviewing the 

sample annual reports, participants commented: Q063 
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�³�,���W�K�R�X�J�K�W���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���$�5�����D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���K�L�J�K�O�L�J�K�W�H�G���W�K�H���L�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�L�Q�J���V�L�W�X�D�W�L�R�Q���\�R�X�
�U�H���L�Q��
�E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�\���V�L�P�S�O�\���F�R�P�S�O�\���Z�L�W�K���Z�K�D�W�
�V���O�H�J�D�O�O�\���U�H�T�X�L�U�H�G���´��P5 

 

Participants articulated their disappointment in the system that allows such minimal 

disclosure: Q064 

 

�³�,���J�X�H�V�V���\�R�X���F�D�Q�¶�W���E�O�D�P�H���W�K�H���'�L�U�H�F�W�R�U�V���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���I�R�U���G�R�L�Q�J���W�K�H���O�H�J�D�O�O�\���E�D�U�H���P�L�Q�L�P�X�P��
but as a moral organisation which is beholden to its �I�D�Q���E�D�V�H���L�W�¶�V��the same old story 
of f�R�R�W�E�D�O�O���F�O�X�E�V���X�S���D�Q�G���G�R�Z�Q���W�K�H���F�R�X�Q�W�U�\�����7�K�D�W���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�V���P�\���F�O�X�E�«��who the directors 
�R�I�W�H�Q���O�L�N�H���W�R���V�D�\���³�L�W�¶�V���D���S�U�L�Y�D�W�H���F�R�P�S�D�Q�\���D�Q�G���W�K�H�U�H�I�R�U�H���Z�H���D�U�H���Q�R�W���R�E�O�L�J�H�G���W�R���J�L�Y�H���P�R�U�H��
�G�H�W�D�L�O�V���W�K�D�Q���Z�H���Z�D�Q�W���W�R�´�����7�K�L�V���L�V���Z�K�H�U�H���*�R�Y�H�U�Q�P�H�Q�W���O�H�J�L�V�O�D�W�L�R�Q���F�R�P�H�V���L�Q���D�Q�G���W�K�D�W���P�\��
friend �D�L�Q�¶�W going to happen any time this side of never! [sic]�´��P9 

 

4.3.3.2.2 Group a ccounts  

Participants also expressed concern of the reporting rules that allow companies to reduce 

the disclosure of a company if it is part of a group. This allows them to report consolidated 

numbers higher up the chain, rendering insights around the club very difficult to ascertain: 

Q065 

 

�³�&�O�X�E���K�L�G�L�Q�J���E�H�K�L�Q�G���)�5�6���������Z�K�H�Q���J�U�R�X�S���R�Z�Q�H�U���H�Q�W�L�W�L�H�V���Z�L�W�K���Z�K�R�P���L�W���G�H�D�O�W���D�U�H���D�O�O���8�6��
based... the Achilles Heel, really, of accounting, is once you're part of a group, an 
awful lot of the information you need disappears because they can just claim 
�H�[�H�P�S�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���Q�R�W���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�H���L�W���´��P7 

 

And P3 even identified how not all clubs made it clear that they are part of a group: 

 

�³�5�H�O�D�W�L�Y�H�O�\���P�R�G�H�V�W���G�H�E�W�����…�>�;�@�N�����R�Z�H�G���W�R���³�J�U�R�X�S���X�Q�G�H�U�W�D�N�L�Q�J�V�´���E�X�W���Q�R���L�Q�G�L�F�D�W�L�R�Q���F�O�X�E is 
�L�Q���D���J�U�R�X�S�´����P3 

 

 

4.3.3.2.3 Some club s not even complying with minimum 

requirements  

Participants from an accounting background picked up a number of incidences in the 

reviewed sample where clubs had not even met the statutory minimum with seemingly no 

repercussion: Q066 
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�³�«�R�Q�H���W�K�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���G�L�V�D�S�S�R�L�Q�W�V���P�H�����D�Q�G���,���J�Ht a surprise in a way, is that we're seeing 
�U�H�S�H�D�W�H�G�O�\���L�Q���W�K�H�V�H���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���W�K�D�W���Z�H�¶�U�H���V�H�H�L�Q�J���G�R�F�X�P�H�Q�W�V���W�K�D�W���G�R�Q�¶�W���H�Y�H�Q���F�R�P�S�O�\��
with the minimum disclosure obligations, in some cases. We're all bemoaning the 
lack of a P&L account and things like that, but failure to disclose a security grant in 
�W�K�H���I�R�U�P���R�I���D���O�R�D�Q�����I�D�L�O�X�U�H���W�R���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�H���U�H�O�D�W�H�G���S�D�U�W�\���W�U�D�Q�V�D�F�W�L�R�Q�V���O�L�N�H���G�L�U�H�F�W�R�U�¶�V���O�R�D�Q�V��
and things like that. These are the minimum disclosure obligations, clubs are failing 
to comply.�´��P3 

 

�$���F�R�P�P�R�Q���L�V�V�X�H���L�V���I�R�U���F�O�X�E�V���W�R���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H���R�Z�Q�H�U�V�¶���O�R�D�Q�V���L�Q���R�W�K�H�U���F�X�U�U�H�Q�W liabilities, rather than 

listing them separately: 

 

�³�«�W�K�L�V���L�V���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���L�Q�F�R�U�U�H�F�W�����E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�\�
�Y�H���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���E�H�H�Q���D���O�L�W�W�O�H���E�L�W���G�H�Y�L�R�X�V����
�L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�G���Z�L�W�K�L�Q���R�W�K�H�U���F�U�H�G�L�W�R�U�V���L�V���>�;�@���P�L�O�O�L�R�Q�����L�W�
�V���D���O�R�D�Q���L�V�Q�¶�W���L�W�"���6�R�����L�W���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���F�D�O�O�H�G��
a loan and it should be under loans and overdrafts and there is a requirement to 
�G�L�V�F�O�R�V�H���O�R�D�Q�V���V�H�S�D�U�D�W�H�O�\�����7�K�H�\�¶�U�H���E�H�L�Q�J���I�D�V�W���D�Q�G���O�R�R�V�H���Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�X�U�H���U�H�J�V��
�W�K�H�U�H�«��P3 

 

And participants also identified an incorrect profit and loss statement format from one club: 

Q067 

 

�³�,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W��[X club accounts] �G�R�Q�¶�W���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���F�R�P�S�O�\���Z�L�W�K���>�3�	�/���U�H�J�X�O�D�W�L�R�Q�V�@�«���,�W��

doesn't comply with the Company's Act. P7 

 

4.3.3.2.3.1 Paradox  

For one club, participants were especially disappointed that it had chosen to disclose only 

the legal minimum for a small entity as the owner of the club maintains a very visible public 

�S�U�R�I�L�O�H�����D�Q�G���H�Y�H�Q���J�R�H�V���D�V���I�D�U���D�V���G�L�V�F�O�R�V�L�Q�J���V�R�P�H���R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E�¶�V���G�H�W�D�L�O�H�G���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�H�V���R�Q���V�R�F�L�D�O��

media, to a degree that is unprecedented by any other club: Q068 

 

�³�«�W�K�H���F�O�X�E���Z�L�O�O���T�X�L�W�H���K�D�S�S�L�O�\���D�Q�V�Z�H�U���T�X�H�V�W�L�R�Q�V���D�E�R�X�W���D�V�V�H�W�V�����$nd because they have 
been buying up various things in recent years, they're quite happy to talk about that 
�S�X�E�O�L�F�O�\�����6�R�����L�W���L�V���V�W�U�D�Q�J�H���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�\���G�R�Q�
�W���U�H�D�O�O�\���S�X�W���L�Q���P�R�U�H���G�H�W�D�L�O���´��P1 

 

This may support the assumption that some clubs are viewing the submission of their annual 

accounts as a mere administrative exercise, and are not viewing them as important in their 

need to be accountable and transparent. Alternatively, we may speculate a cost limitation to 

the production of better accounts. 
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4.3.3.2.3.2 Needs to be regulated independently  

As the majority of clubs sampled were only producing minimal disclosure, participants felt 

that any improvements in reporting behaviour would need to be enforced rather than 

encouraged. It was felt that it was unlikely that the Companies Act or Companies House 

would enforce this, therefore it should fall to the industry to enforce it, either by the EFL or an 

independent regulator if such a body is enacted following the FLR: 

 

�³�«Companies House�V���L�V�Q�¶�W���V�D�Q�F�W�L�R�Q�L�Q�J���W�K�H�P�����V�R���Z�H���F�D�Q���E�H�D�W���R�X�U���E�U�H�D�V�W���D�Q�G���P�R�D�Q��
about Companies House�����E�X�W���W�K�H�\���D�U�H�Q�
�W���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���F�K�D�Q�J�H�����3�H�U�K�D�S�V���L�W�¶�V���D�Q�R�W�K�H�U��
argument for the league stepping in, or the government body stepping in because 
they can't hide behind the fact the we�O�O�����Z�H���F�D�Q�¶�W���D�O�O�R�Z���W�K�H���O�D�Z���W�R���G�H�D�O���Z�L�W�K���W�K�L�V����
�E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H���O�D�Z���L�V�Q�¶�W���G�R�L�Q�J���L�W���´��P3 

 

 

4.4 New reporting framework  

This section looks at the content of the proposed new reporting framework as desired by 

participants �± what information they perceive as important and how they wanted to see 

information presented. 

The culmination of this section can be seen in the concise template in Table 8 and in the 

concept report in Appendix 1. 

 

4.4.1 Approach to framework  

Participants, early on, understood that a new reporting framework would be required as the 

current system is not meeting supporter needs: Q069 

 

�³�7�K�H���&�R�P�S�D�Q�\�¶�V���$�F�W���L�V�Q�
�W���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���F�K�D�Q�J�H�����$�Q�G���W�K�H�\�
�U�H���Q�R�W���U�H�D�O�O�\���D���V�X�L�W�D�E�O�H���G�R�F�X�P�H�Q�W��
�I�R�U���Z�K�D�W���Z�H���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���J�H�W���R�X�W���R�I���L�W�«���,�
�P���V�R�U�W���R�I���F�R�P�L�Q�J���W�R���W�K�H���F�R�Q�F�O�X�V�L�R�Q���W�K�D�W��
Companies House accounts are what they are, and they're never going to change 
and aren't really going to deliver what we want. And that maybe what we need is 
more of a stakeholder style report mandated by either the FA the EFL, EPL, or the 
independent regulator if that ever happens, that actually is more fan centric. P6 

 Yeah P7 

 Yeah P5 

 �<�R�X�¶�U�H���D�E�V�R�O�X�W�H�O�\���U�L�J�K�W�����>�3���@���´��P8 

 

Participants went on to discuss in some detail what the new framework needed. The 

following sections discusses those factors. 
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   Accessible to fans  

In deciding that a new format of report is required, participants identified that it needed to be 

accessible to the majority of fans: Q070 

 

�³�,���V�X�S�S�R�U�W���>�3���@���F�R�P�S�O�H�W�H�O�\�����,���W�K�L�Q�N���W�K�D�W���W�K�H�U�H�
�V���D���U�H�D�O��problem with accounts as far as 
�-�R�H���D�Y�H�U�D�J�H���I�D�Q���L�V���F�R�Q�F�H�U�Q�H�G�«���L�W�¶�V���J�R�W���W�R���E�H���L�Q�V�W�D�Q�W�O�\���D�F�F�H�V�V�L�E�O�H���I�R�U���W�K�H���Q�R�Q-financial 
�Q�H�U�G�V���D�P�R�Q�J�V�W���X�V���������I�R�U���W�K�H���D�Y�H�U�D�J�H���I�D�Q���L�W���K�D�V���W�R���E�H���U�H�D�O�O�\�����U�H�D�O�O�\���F�O�H�D�U���´ P5 

 

 �³What I'd like is something that 90%, 99% of supporters �Z�R�X�O�G���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�´ P8 

  

And the issue was confirmed when, in a discussion of shareholding at club AR3 where three 

accountant participants were discussing how to work out ownership, a non-accounting 

�S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�����3�������F�R�P�P�H�Q�W�H�G���W�K�D�W���L�I���W�K�U�H�H���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�Q�W�V���F�D�Q�¶�W agree on a method, non-

accounting savvy fans have no chance: 

 

�³�7�K�H���W�K�U�H�H���R�I���\�R�X���D�U�H���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�Q�W�V�«���D�Q�G���\�R�X���D�O�O���K�D�Y�H���J�R�W���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���L�G�H�D�V���D�Q�G���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W��
methods of getting to the end point. It's finding the one that is most simple for the 
�D�Y�H�U�D�J�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U���W�R���I�R�O�O�R�Z���´��P8 

 

 

   One stop shop  

�3�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V���I�H�O�W���W�K�D�W���D���Q�H�Z���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���I�U�D�P�H�Z�R�U�N���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���D���µ�R�Q�H���V�W�R�S���V�K�R�S�¶���Z�K�L�F�K���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H�V��

all information for their reporting needs in one place. Although some of the information that 

they desire is available from other sources, participants suggest that having it all one place 

would make it more readily available to, and easier for, fans to access.  

Two examples of this were the list of share ownership, available from Companies House via 

a Confirmation Statement and also agents�¶ fees, available via the FA website (further 

discussed in Section 2.4.3.4): Q071 

 

�³�«�V�X�U�H�O�\���Z�K�D�W���Z�H�¶�U�H���D�L�P�L�Q�J���W�R���G�R���L�V���W�R���V�D�Y�H���I�D�Q�V���K�D�Y�L�Q�J���W�R���W�U�D�L�O���W�Krough a number 
sources in terms of going to Companies House, looking at this [Confirmation 
Statement] and going to the FA one �«�,���W�K�R�X�J�K�W���Z�H���Z�D�Q�W�H�G���W�K�L�V���W�R���E�H���D���µ�R�Q�H���V�W�R�S��
�V�K�R�S�¶����P5 

�«�\�R�X���M�X�V�W���Z�D�Q�W���R�Q�H���F�O�L�F�N���«�D�Q�G���I�L�Q�G���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���R�X�W�����<�R�X���G�R�Q�
�W���Z�D�Q�W���W�R���E�H��
scouring all over Companies House, scouring all over your own club website, 
scouring over message boards. You want the infor�P�D�W�L�R�Q���L�Q���R�Q�H���S�O�D�F�H�«�´��P8 

 



Page 188 of 452 
 

   KIS �± �µ�.�H�H�S���,�W���6�L�P�S�O�H�¶ 

Participants felt that a new reporting framework should be as simple as possible for fans to 

understand, thus be as simplified as possible so that the majority of fans can understand it 

with limited training in reading financial statements: 

 

 �³�«�Z�K�D�W���\�R�X���Q�H�H�G���W�R���G�R���L�V���W�R���E�U�L�Q�J���L�W���G�R�Z�Q���W�R���D���G�H�I�L�Q�L�W�L�R�Q���R�I���Z�K�D�W���V�R�P�H�R�Q�H���F�D�Q��
understand out on the street. And I don't mean simplifying it to the point where it has 
no meaning anymore, I mean �V�L�P�S�O�L�I�\�L�Q�J���L�W���V�R���W�K�H�\���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G���L�W���´��P10 

 

And in discussing the sample set of accounts, P5 commented: 

 

�³�,���W�K�L�Q�N���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���Whing that came through, I had a good look at that [AR1] document 
that you've sent out, and the thing that I liked about that was the simplicity of it. And 
similarly, the [additional report Y] one is an easy way for fans to follow it through: 
Here's the risk, here's what we've proposed to do about it. I like that. I think it leads 
people by the hand through whatever section �W�K�H�\�
�U�H���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���D�W���´��P5 

 

4.4.1.3.1 KIS �± language  

Participants identified that in making the reporting framework accessible to most fans, the 

use of technical language should be kept to a minimum, and exchanged for language that an 

average fan would understand: Q072 

 

�³�«�H�Y�H�U�\�W�K�L�Q�J���\�R�X�
�U�H���G�R�L�Q�J���K�D�V���W�R���E�H���D�E�O�H���W�R���E�H���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�R�R�G���E�\���V�R�P�H�R�Q�H���Z�K�R���Z�D�Q�W�V��
�W�R���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G���L�W�����D�Q�G���W�K�H�\���F�R�X�O�G���E�H���D���I�D�Q���D�Q�G���G�R�Q�
�W���Q�R�U�P�D�O�O�\���F�D�U�H�«���E�X�W���W�K�H�\���F�R�X�O�G��
�S�L�F�N���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���X�S���D�Q�G���J�R���µ�,���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G���L�W�¶�����,�I���Z�K�D�W���Z�H���G�R���L�V�«���X�V�H���F�R�P�S�O�H�[���O�D�Q�J�X�D�J�H����
�,���W�K�L�Q�N���L�W���P�D�N�H�V���L�W���P�R�U�H���F�R�P�S�O�H�[���W�R���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G���´��P10 

 

�)�R�U���H�[�D�P�S�O�H�����Z�L�W�K���W�K�H���F�R�P�P�R�Q���X�V�H���R�I���µ�(�%�,�7�¶�����(�D�U�Q�L�Q�J�V���%�H�I�R�U�H���,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W���D�Q�G���7�D�[�������3�����D�Q�G���3����

commented: Q073 

 

�³�«�L�I���\�R�X�¶�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���S�U�H�V�H�Q�W���W�K�L�V���V�R�U�W���R�I���W�K�L�Q�J���W�R���I�D�Q�V�����W�K�H�Q���\�R�X���Q�H�H�G���Wo get rid of that 
�(�%�,�7�����\�R�X���Q�H�H�G���W�R���S�X�W���L�Q���Z�K�D�W���,���Z�R�X�O�G���F�D�O�O���S�U�R�S�H�U���O�D�Q�J�X�D�J�H���´��P5 

 

 

4.4.1.3.2 KIS �± language �± glossary  

Where it would not be possible to simplify accounting language, participants suggested a 

glossary of terms to aid supporters in understanding what they are reading: Q074 
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�³�«�W�K�H�U�H���F�R�X�O�G���E�H���J�H�Q�H�U�L�F���J�X�L�G�D�Q�F�H���Q�R�W�H�V���I�R�U���X�V�H�U�V���V�R���W�K�D�W���L�I���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U���J�U�R�X�S�V���D�U�H��
now trying to interpret them, you say, well, if it says this in note three, that's because 
it means that. As a sort of idiots�¶ guide, that these are the sort of things you ought to 
look for and if it�V���J�R�W���E�U�D�F�N�H�W�V���D�U�R�X�Q�G�����L�W�
�V���D���E�D�G���W�K�L�Q�J���´��P3 

 

 

4.4.1.3.3 KIS �± visual impact  

Participants also commented on the need for easy to digest, visually appealing display of 

information. In particular, they commented on AR1, which contained a lot of useful data, but 

was poorly laid out: Q075 

 

�³�2�Q�H���W�K�L�Q�J���,���G�L�G�Q�
�W���O�L�N�H���D�E�R�X�W���W�K�H��AR1 accounts: very ineffective presentation to have 
figures embedded in text. You should always have figures in tables with 
comparatives and possibly with a little infographic. It was useful information, but the 
presentation of it was abysmal... That is a ghastly, ghastly, ghastly, way of presenting 
�I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q���´��P7 

 

When P6 suggested a method of displaying income splits, P9 commented: 

 

�³�3�X�W���L�W���W�K�L�V���Z�D�\���P�D�W�H�����L�I���\�R�X�
�U�H���D�Q���D�Y�H�U�D�J�H���I�D�Q�����L�W�¶�V���Y�H�U�\���V�L�P�S�O�H�����,���F�D�Q���V�H�H���T�X�L�W�H���F�O�H�D�U�O�\��
what those headings mean, in my mi�Q�G�����D�Q�G���L�W�¶�V���V�L�P�S�O�H���´��P9 

 

 

4.4.1.3.4 KIS �± infographics  

A number of participants were keen to see the use of infographics. In particular P4 was very 

keen and often repeated their point that infographics would help the average fan to 

understand the data:  

 

�³�,�Q�I�R�J�U�D�S�K�L�F�V�����L�Q�I�R�J�U�D�S�K�L�F�V�����L�Q�I�R�J�U�D�S�K�L�F�V���´��P4 

�³�«�L�W���Q�H�H�G�V���W�R���E�H���W�D�U�J�H�W�H�G���D�W���W�K�H���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�����<�R�X���F�D�Q�¶�W���M�X�V�W���V�K�R�Z���W�K�H�P���D���V�H�W���R�I��
�D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�V���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�\�¶�O�O���D�O�O���M�X�V�W���V�Z�L�W�F�K���R�I�I�«���D�I�W�H�U��the first page or something, you 
need it in an engaging, infographic type way that people will actually pick up on and 
really means something to them.�  ́P4 

 

And P7 agreed with the concept of visual representations of data: 

 

�³�:�H�O�O�����\�R�X���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���Z�D�Q�W���W�K�H��numbers, but next to it, an impactful graph, a line graph 
�R�U���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���´��P7 
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   Not just financial  

Although predominately participants were concerned about the financial side of their clubs�¶��

operations and the associated risks, they were keen that the reporting framework should not 

just be financial, in line with Gray (2002) that financial accounting is just one of a possible 

universe of accountings: Q076 

 

�³�:�H�
�U�H���W�D�O�N�L�Q�J���Q�R�W���M�X�V�W���D�E�R�X�W���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J�����Z�H�
�U�H���W�D�O�N�L�Q�J���D�E�R�X�W���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J�����$�Q�G���L�W��
could be a number of different things�«���%�X�W���,���Z�D�V���V�W�D�U�W�L�Q�J���W�R���W�K�L�Q�N���D�V���,���Z�H�Q�W���W�K�U�R�X�J�K��
this in a bit more depth that maybe we need, yes to financial reports and stuff that 
goes to Companies House with a bit more detail, but maybe we need some other 
�W�\�S�H���R�I���V�R�F�L�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���R�Q���W�R�S���R�I���W�K�D�W���D�V���Z�H�O�O���´ P4 

 

4.4.1.4.1 Three logics  

As per Senaux (2008) and Wilson and Anagnostopoulos (2017), the different and competing 

institution�D�O���O�R�J�L�F�V���Z�H�U�H���S�U�R�P�L�Q�H�Q�W���L�Q���S�D�U�W�L�F�L�S�D�Q�W�V�¶���F�R�Q�F�H�S�W���R�I���D���Q�H�Z���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���I�U�D�P�H�Z�R�U�N��in 

that it must include factors on sporting factors, financial factors and social factors: Q077 

 

�³�:�H���F�R�X�O�G���W�K�L�Q�N���D�E�R�X�W���W�K�U�H�H���V�W�U�D�Q�G�V���R�I���U�H�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J�����2�Q�H���L�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O�V�����D�O�O���W�K�H���V�W�Xff we've 
already looked at. The second is to do with football performance. The third is social 
and environmental impact �R�I���W�K�H���F�O�X�E���D�Q�G���L�W�V���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V���´��P7 

 

A fourth factor was observed �± Governance. It was thought that the governance was 

concerned with how well a club manages all three institutional logics that a club has to 

manage. 

 

   One report or t wo?  

There was some debate amongst the group as to whether the report should be one, or split 

in two with non-financial matters being reported immediately at the close of the season and 

the financial data to be produced later, once audited. This would allow for speedier release 

of some aspects of the report, and would allow for the reports to kept shorter, thus 

maintaining readers�¶ interest: Q078 

 

�³�+�R�Z���P�X�F�K���R�I���Z�K�D�W���Z�H�
�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R���H�Q�G���X�S���Z�L�W�K���L�V���O�L�N�H���V�H�D�V�R�Q���U�H�O�H�Y�D�Q�W���D�Q�G���F�D�Q���E�H���R�X�W��
quickly and how much is financial? If you look at the whole list of everything. And is it 
�Z�R�U�W�K�����D�O�W�K�R�X�J�K���\�R�X�¶�O�O���F�U�H�D�W�H���D���E�L�W���P�R�U�H���S�D�L�Q�����Z�R�U�W�K���K�D�Y�L�Q�J���W�Z�R�����K�D�Y�L�Q�J���D���V�H�D�V�Rnal 
�U�H�S�R�U�W���D�Q�G���D���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���U�H�S�R�U�W���´��P1 
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However, P7 argued the case for a singular report, explaining that one report is more 

desirable as all aspects of the report link together, and therefore showing some sections in 

isolation would lose the meaning of the relationships between content, and a better 

approach for avoiding the PR exercise approach discussed in Section 4.3.1: 

 

�³�,���W�K�L�Q�N���L�W�
�V���D�E�V�R�O�X�W�H�O�\���F�U�L�W�L�F�D�O that the big interface is between the playing budget and 
�Z�K�D�W���K�D�S�S�H�Q�V���R�Q���W�K�H���S�L�W�F�K�«���:�K�D�W���\�R�X���Q�H�H�G���L�V���W�R���E�H���D�E�O�H���W�R���U�H�O�D�W�H���W�K�H���S�H�U�I�R�U�P�D�Q�F�H��
�R�Q���W�K�H���S�L�W�F�K���W�R���W�K�H���P�R�Q�H�\�«���,���W�K�L�Q�N���R�W�K�H�U�Z�L�V�H�����\�R�X���D�U�H���M�X�V�W���G�R�L�Q�J���V�R�P�H���V�R�U�W���R�I���0�D�W�F�K��
of the Day analysis of what happened, which isn't actually relating it back to the 
money, and ultimately, that, to me, is why it is a performance report with performance 
in more than one dimension. I think fundamentally, you probably should quick report 
on performance just in terms of we did this, and we scored 23 goals, but that 
ultimately doesn't really explore what makes the club tick. That's what that report has 
got to do. We all think, ultimately, if you want to understand why a club is successful 
or not successful, what is it? And that's what that report must address. And part of 
�W�K�D�W���L�V���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�H���´��P7 

So does that mean one report? Researcher  

�<�H�V�«���:�K�D�W���Z�H���G�R�Q�¶�W���Z�D�Q�W���L�V���D���U�H�S�R�U�W���W�K�D�W�
�V���G�L�Y�R�U�F�H�G���I�U�R�P���W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���L�Q�I�R�U�P�D�W�L�R�Q����
�E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�H�Q���L�W���P�L�J�K�W���M�X�V�W���E�H���S�U�R�S�D�J�D�Q�G�D���´��P7 

 

   Key f acts  

Participants expressed that the reporting framework should begin with a Key Facts section, 

to compress the most important information into as few as possible pages, so that 

supporters can see, at a quick glance, an overview of the club. This was seen to be 

beneficial as not all supporters were thought to want to trawl through all the detail behind, 

but for those who did, the detail would go deeper: Q079 

 

�³�$�Q�G���W�K�H�Q���D�W���W�K�H���E�D�F�N�����\�R�X�
�Y�H���J�R�W���D�O�O���W�K�H���K�D�S�Q�\-hoo [sic], the tables and tables of 
financial information. But you don't need that if you're not interested. If you don't want 
�D���O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���G�H�W�D�L�O�����\�R�X���G�R�Q�
�W���Q�H�H�G���W�K�D�W�«���,���Z�R�X�O�G���W�H�Q�G���W�R���E�H���L�Q���D�J�U�H�H�P�H�Q�W���W�K�D�W���V�R�U�W���R�I��
five to 10 pages. You have a few paragraphs of narrative around each subject really, 
with a little bit of KPI inclusion. And then you have the 20 pages of detailed accounts 
at the bank.�  ́P6 
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4.4.2 Financials  

   Profit and Loss Statement  

In contrast to the exemption for lower league clubs to produce a P&L under FRS102, it was 

a consensus from participants that all clubs should be required to publish a P&L to provide a 

complete picture of a club�¶s performance: Q080 

 

�³�«�L�I���W�K�H�\���G�R�Q�¶�W���K�D�Y�H���D���S�U�R�I�L�W���D�Q�G���O�R�V�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W���Z�H���K�D�Y�H�Q�
�W���J�R�W���D���F�R�P�S�O�H�W�H���S�L�F�W�X�U�H����P3 

 

When reviewing current practice, participants identified not just the omission of P&Ls for 

lower league clubs, but also inconsistency between clubs that did produce P&Ls. In a 

subsequent analysis I identified over 70 different lines of description from around ten main 

headings on the face �R�I���F�O�X�E�V�¶��P&Ls across 43 EFL clubs that included P&Ls in the 

2018/2019 season (see Appendix 4). Many of these showed inconsistency in how key costs 

were classified: 

 

�³�7�K�H���E�L�J���R�Q�H���I�R�U���P�H���L�V���S�O�D�\�H�U���F�R�V�W�V�����6�W�D�I�I���W�U�D�G�L�W�L�R�Q�D�O�O�\���Z�R�X�O�G���E�H���U�H�J�D�U�G�H�G���D�V���D�Q 
operating cost. But if you don't regard them as part of cost of sales, they should be 
your purchases and your direct costs, player costs, manager costs are a direct cost. 
�$�Q�G���L�I���\�R�X���G�R�Q�
�W���L�Q�F�O�X�G�H���W�K�H�P���W�K�H�U�H���W�K�H�Q���J�U�R�V�V���S�U�R�I�L�W���L�V���D���O�D�X�J�K�D�E�O�H���F�R�Q�F�H�S�W���´��P7 

 

 

4.4.2.1.1.1 P&L workings  

Due to inconstancies between clubs�¶ P&Ls, participants were keen to see a standard format 

that was informative, easy to understand and consistent across clubs: 

 

 �³�7�K�H���L�Q�W�H�Q�W�L�R�Q���L�V���W�R���F�U�H�D�W�H���F�R�Q�V�L�V�W�H�Q�W���V�H�W�V���R�I���I�L�J�X�U�H�V���W�K�D�W���D�U�H���F�R�P�S�D�U�D�E�O�H���´��P6 

 

P6 presented a format, which was further developed by the group, shown in Figure 25. 

Participants liked this format due to a number of factors. Firstly, it is a simple format that all 

participants felt could be understood by the majority of supporters. Secondly, it splits out the 

key activities of a football club, showing the income, direct cost and gross profit of the main 

activities: Football operations, commercial operations, non-footballing operations and other. 

Thirdly, it provided a sort of operational cash figure (like EBITDA, termed Operational Profit 

by participants) that could easily be linked to a simplified Cash Flow Statement (see Section 

4.4.2.3), and finally, it shows depreciation, amortisation and, of most concern to supporters, 
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player trading activity, separately below the operational profit line.  

 

4.4.2.1.1.2 Splitting out of main activities  

P6 explained their justification of this approach: 

 

�³�<ou ought to reflect which bits of the operations the football club are generating 
either the profit or the loss, because each bit will result in a net gain or a net surplus 
�R�U���G�H�I�L�F�L�W�«���6�R�����>�I�R�U���H�[�D�P�S�O�H�@���W�K�H���L�Q�F�R�P�H���L�V���W�K�H���W�L�F�N�H�W�����W�K�H���7�9�����W�K�H���O�H�D�J�X�H���P�R�Q�H�\�����7he 
cost is the professional player wages, players who are on a professional contract, the 
�F�R�D�F�K�L�Q�J���V�W�D�I�I�����R�W�K�H�U���G�L�U�H�F�W���F�R�V�W�V�«�´��P6  

 

This created debate as P3 felt that without the footballing operations, there would be no 

commercial operations so believed that the two were intrinsically linked (Q081). However, 

the majority of the group felt that by separating the items out, it would show that football 

activity in itself is actually a loss making activity and that clubs rely on other sources of 

income to supplement thes activity. Participants also expressed how it would expose any 

underlying issues with, for example, commercial income. P7 pulled on their own experience 

to explain this: 

 

�³�«�D�V���L�W���K�D�S�S�H�Q�V���D�W���W�K�H���P�R�P�H�Q�W�����E�H�F�D�X�V�H���R�I���W�K�H���W�R�[�L�F���F�L�U�F�X�P�V�W�D�Q�F�H�V�����Z�H���K�D�Y�H��
virtually no commercial income and virtually no hospitality income, and that actually 
does expose the fact that just football loses money. I think there's no harm in 
�V�K�R�Z�L�Q�J���W�K�H�P���E�H�F�D�X�V�H���W�K�D�W�
�V���W�K�H���U�H�D�O�L�W�\���´��P7 

 

4.4.2.1.1.3 Operational Profit Line  

One of the main discussions in designing a concept P&L focused on the most appropriate 

�O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���S�U�R�I�L�W���R�Q���Z�K�L�F�K���W�R���V�L�J�Q�S�R�V�W���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�H�U�V�¶���D�W�W�H�Q�W�L�R�Q�����2�I���V�L�J�Q�L�I�L�F�D�Q�F�H���Z�D�V���D���O�H�Y�H�O���R�I���S�U�R�I�L�W��

directly from operations, before any depreciation, amortisation of player trading: Q082 

 

�³�:�K�D�W���\�R�X�
�Y�H���M�X�V�W���L�Q�V�H�U�W�H�G���L�Q���W�K�H�U�H�����(�%�,�7�'�$���>�(�D�U�Q�L�Q�J�V���%�H�I�R�U�H���,�Q�W�H�U�H�V�W�����7�D�[����
�'�H�S�U�H�F�L�D�W�L�R�Q���D�Q�G���$�P�R�U�W�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�@�����,���W�K�L�Q�N���L�V���Y�H�U�\���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W�«���L�I���Z�H���J�R���D�Z�D�\���I�U�R�P��
football, talk about general business, depreciation policies are completely up to the 
directors of any individual company. How long do you write-off your cars, your IT 
�H�T�X�L�S�P�H�Q�W�����S�O�D�Q�W���D�Q�G���P�D�F�K�L�Q�H�U�\���L�V���F�R�P�S�O�H�W�H�O�\���X�S���W�R���\�R�X�«���6�R�����L�W���P�D�N�H�V���L�W���L�P�S�R�V�V�L�E�O�H��
to compare, in my case, one [X type of] company to another [X type of] company, 
depending on how they depreciate their plant and machinery. So, within football, if 
you pull that out, I think it then means that you get compatibility of all that stuff above 
�G�H�S�U�H�F�L�D�W�L�R�Q�����$�Q�G���W�K�H�Q���\�R�X���F�D�Q���V�H�H���W�K�L�V���D�P�R�U�W�L�V�D�W�L�R�Q�����,�¶�G���S�U�H�I�H�U���L�W���L�I���W�K�R�V�H���W�Z�R���W�K�L�Q�J�V��
w�H�U�H���R�Q���G�L�I�I�H�U�H�Q�W���O�L�Q�H�V���´��P6 
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Figure 25: Concept P&L format forwarded by P6 and developed by all participants 

 

P8, a non-accountant, was particularly keen on seeing a level of profit before depreciation, 

as they felt this made things clearer for non-accounting savvy readers: 

 

�³�«�G�H�S�U�H�F�L�D�W�L�R�Q���L�V���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W�����E�X�W���,���W�K�L�Q�N���Z�K�D�W���K�D�S�S�H�Q�V���L�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�D�Q�W�V���P�X�G�G�O�H���W�K�L�Q�J�V��
very easily by moving figures around, they can produce a loss out of profit or a profit 
out of a loss. And I would say have depreciation, but show it underneath that EBITDA 
because then you know what the cash bit is and then you see what the depreciation 
is, I mean most clubs are los�L�Q�J���P�R�Q�H�\���D�U�H�Q�¶�W���W�K�H�\�����6�R�����D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\�����G�H�S�U�H�F�L�D�W�L�R�Q���D�I�W�H�U���D��
�O�R�V�V���L�V���I�D�U���Z�R�U�V�H�����%�X�W���\�R�X���Q�H�H�G���W�R���V�H�H���W�K�H���F�D�V�K���I�L�U�V�W�����L�I���W�K�D�W���P�D�N�H�V���D�Q�\���V�H�Q�V�H���´��P8 
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Participants expressed a need to categorise this profit differently �W�R���µ�3�U�R�I�L�W���I�U�R�P���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�V�¶, 

which traditionally includes depreciation in overhead cost: 

  

 �³�2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���S�U�R�I�L�W���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���K�D�V���D���V�S�H�F�L�I�L�F���P�H�D�Q�L�Q�J�����,�
�G���F�D�O�O���L�W���R�S�H�U�D�W�L�R�Q�D�O���S�U�R�I�L�W���´��P7 

�³I agree. Because otherwise you risk confusion with the technical meaning of the 
�S�K�U�D�V�H���2�S�H�U�D�W�L�Q�J���3�U�R�I�L�W���´��P6 

 

Operational profit became the term agreed by participants. 

 

4.4.2.1.1.4 Link to Cash Flow Statement  

Participants also expressed that the use of the Operational Profit line would aid users�¶ 

understanding of the link between the P&L and the Cash Flow (CF) statement. As the first 

section of the CF, Operational Activity could be simplified by utilising the Operational Profit 

line and reducing the number of adjustments required to ge�W���W�R���D���µ�F�D�V�K���S�U�R�I�L�W�¶���I�L�J�X�U�H: 

 

�³�«�Z�K�D�W���Z�H���F�D�Q���G�R�����\�R�X�
�O�O���V�H�H���Z�K�H�Q���Z�H���O�R�R�N���D�W���W�K�H���F�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�����Z�H���V�W�D�U�W���R�I�I��
with a sort of cash generated from operations, if we could somehow try and get that 
�I�L�J�X�U�H���W�R���D�S�S�H�D�U���R�Q���W�K�H���S�U�R�I�L�W���D�Q�G���O�R�V�V���D�F�F�R�X�Q�W�«���W�K�D�W���Z�R�X�O�G���F�H�U�W�D�L�Q�O�\���J�L�Y�H���S�H�R�S�O�H���D���E�L�W��
�P�R�U�H���R�I���D�Q���X�Q�G�H�U�V�W�D�Q�G�L�Q�J���R�I���Z�K�D�W���Z�D�V���J�R�L�Q�J���R�Q���´��P7 

 

4.4.2.1.1.5 Player trading  in the face of the P&L  

As player trading can materially affect a club�¶s financial results, participants were keen to 

ensure that the net affect should be shown on its own line on the face of the P&L.: 

 

 �³�,���Z�R�X�O�G���W�K�H�Q���K�D�Y�H���S�O�D�\�H�U���W�U�D�G�L�Q�J���D�V���D���V�H�S�D�U�D�W�H���E�O�R�F�N����P6 

That actually could be a real biggy [sic]...I think if you've had say, a massive gain on 
selling a player, or a huge loss on something that does need to be reported probably 
�D�V���D���V�H�S�D�U�D�W�H���L�W�H�P�«���W�K�H��average non-financial fan would probably want to know 
something like that. We sold our best player for three million, which has transformed 
�R�X�U���U�H�V�X�O�W���I�R�U���W�K�H���\�H�D�U���´��P7 
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   Balance Sheet  

Participants, accounting savvy and non-savvy alike, agreed that the FRS102 format of a 

Balance Sheet (BS) was suitable to show the information required: 

 

�³�,���Z�R�X�O�G���K�D�Y�H���W�K�R�X�J�K�W���W�K�D�W��the �%�D�O�D�Q�F�H���6�K�H�H�W���V�K�R�X�O�G���E�H���U�H�O�D�W�L�Y�H�O�\���V�L�P�S�O�H�«���,���W�K�L�Q�N��
�Z�H�¶�Y�H���J�R�W���W�R���E�H�D�U���L�Q���P�L�Q�G�«���W�K�H�U�H���Z�L�O�O���E�H���Q�R�W�H�V���V�X�S�S�R�U�W�L�Q�J���W�K�H���E�D�O�D�Q�F�H���V�K�H�H�W�����,���W�K�L�Q�N��
we've already agreed that the notes in the clubs we looked at tended to be 
inadequate. I think we've already discussed how we'd like to make them more 
adequate. So the question then is, do you go for a lot more disclosure on the face of 
the balance sheet, or notes? I'd probably be happy enough with notes, myself. P3 

�³�6�R���D�U�H���Z�H���M�X�V�W���V�D�\�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���Z�H�
�U�H���K�D�S�S�\���Z�L�W�K���D���V�W�D�Q�G�D�U�G���E�Dlance sheet like that? And 
then the details going to be in in the notes? Researcher  

 �³�<�H�D�K.�´��P7 

 �³�<�H�D�K.�´��P3  

 

 

 

   Cash Flow Statement  

Participants expressed that a CF statement was essential in presenting a club�¶s 

performance, even though under current reporting standards, this is rarely required for clubs, 

as its inclusion would help to prevent opaque reporting (see also Section 4.3.1.2.1 for 

opaqueness). The importance of a cash flow was highlighted by multiple participants: Q083 

 

�³�$���F�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W���L�V���U�H�D�O�O�\���L�P�S�R�U�W�D�Q�W�����%�H�F�D�X�V�H���R�W�K�H�U�Zise you just really can't tell 
where the cash is being absorbed�«�<�R�X���Y�H�U�\���U�D�U�H�O�\���V�H�H���L�W�����D�Q�G���L�W���P�D�N�H�V���Vuch a 
difference to pinpoint exactly what's going on. You can kind of cobble one together, 
�E�X�W���L�W�
�V���Q�H�Y�H�U���H�Q�W�L�U�H�O�\���D�F�F�X�U�D�W�H���X�Q�O�H�V�V���\�R�X�
�Y�H���J�R�W���D���S�U�R�S�H�U���D�X�G�L�W�H�G���R�Q�H���´��P6 

 

It would also highlight any financial contributions from owners to clubs, a critical aspect of 

clubs�¶ survival: 

 

�³�,���Z�D�V���W�D�O�N�L�Q�J���W�R���D���I�D�Q���G�L�U�H�F�W�R�U���Q�R�W���V�R���O�R�Q�J���D�J�R���Z�K�R�����R�I���D���O�R�Z�H�U���O�H�D�J�X�H���F�O�X�E�����/�����R�U���/������
�D�Q�G���K�H���Z�D�V���K�D�Y�L�Q�J���D���E�L�W���R�I���D���G�L�I�I�L�F�X�O�W���W�L�P�H�«���R�Q�H���R�I���W�K�H���W�K�L�Q�J�V���W�K�D�W��the trust board kept 
�D�V�N�L�Q�J���L�V���D�E�R�X�W���F�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z�«���D�Q�G���W�K�H���I�L�Q�D�Q�F�L�D�O���G�L�U�H�F�W�R�U���V�D�L�G�����µ�R�K�����Z�H���G�R�Q�¶�W���K�D�Y�H���D���F�D�V�K��
�I�O�R�Z�����D�O�O���Z�H���G�R���L�V���K�D�O�I���Z�D�\���W�K�U�R�X�J�K���W�K�H���P�R�Q�W�K�����,���Z�R�U�N���R�X�W���K�R�Z���P�X�F�K���Z�H�¶�U�H���J�R�L�Q�J���W�R��
�O�R�V�H���D�Q�G���,���O�H�W���W�K�H���R�Z�Q�H�U���N�Q�R�Z���D�Q�G���K�H���W�U�D�Q�V�I�H�U�V���W�K�H���P�R�Q�H�\�¶���´��P1 

 

When reviewing current practice, participants expressed their disappointment at the lack of 

cash flows: Q084 
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And for one set of accounts that did provide a CF statement, participants sang their praise, 

especially as it gave clarity over a significant transaction: Q085 

 

�³�%�R�Q�X�V���P�D�U�N�V���I�R�U���L�Q�F�O�X�G�L�Q�J���D���F�D�V�K���I�O�R�Z���V�W�D�W�H�P�H�Q�W�����0�D�N�H�V���L�W���D�O�O���F�O�H�D�U���W�K�D�W���W�K�H���V�W�D�G�L�X�P��
�K�D�V�Q�¶�W���D�F�W�X�D�O�O�\���E�H�H�Q���S�D�L�G���I�R�U���´��P6 

 

 

4.4.2.3.1.1 Cash flow �± infographic  

The CF statement was seen as an opportunity to create an infographic that non-accounting 

savvy supporters could understand. P7 suggested that an inflow and outflow type diagram 

would work, based on the online report that they view for their home solar panels and 

storage batteries: 

 

�³�,�
�Y�H���J�R�W���V�R�O�D�U���S�D�Q�H�O�V���D�Q�G���V�W�R�U�D�J�H���E�D�W�W�H�U�L�H�V�����$�Q�G���Z�K�D�W���W�K�D�W���O�L�W�W�O�H���G�L�D�J�U�D�P���G�R�H�V�«���L�W�
�V��
telling me how much is coming in and if we're getting lots of solar power, there's a big 
thick line, topping up the box. I've also got what we're using in the house, and that's a 
�U�H�G���O�L�Q�H�����U�H�G�X�F�L�Q�J���Z�K�D�W�
�V���L�Q���W�K�H���E�R�[�«���1�R�Z���W�K�D�W���L�V���D���Y�H�U�\���V�L�P�S�O�H���J�U�D�S�K�L�F�D�O���W�K�L�Q�J�«��
what we need with a cash flow statement is a graphical thing showing something 
�V�L�P�L�O�D�U�« So what I suggested is that you really want to get some sort of idea with this 
business about financing, how much is coming in from operations, is that a sort of a 
big amount, it would be broad arrow, how much is coming in from financing and then 
what are we doing with it, are we spending it on players, are we spending it on the 
�V�W�D�G�L�X�P�����Z�K�D�W�H�Y�H�U�����%�X�W���W�K�D�W���V�R�U�W���R�I���L�G�H�D���R�I���D���E�L�J���S�R�W���D�Q�G���W�K�H�U�H�¶�V���G�R�O�O�R�S�V���F�R�P�L�Q�J���L�Q���R�U��
�G�R�O�O�R�S�V���J�R�L�Q�J���R�X�W���W�K�D�W���L�V���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���W�K�D�W���S�H�R�S�O�H���F�D�Q���U�H�O�D�W�H���W�R���´��P7 

 

Non-accounting savvy participants showed particular excitement over this style of diagram: 

 

�³�>�3���@�����W�K�D�W�¶�V���E�U�L�O�O�L�D�Q�W�����«�,���W�K�L�Q�N���>�3���@�¶�V���S�U�R�E�D�E�O�\���F�U�D�F�N�H�G���L�W���L�I���Z�H���F�D�Q���V�R�U�W���V�R�P�H�W�K�L�Q�J���H�O�V�H��
similar to �W�K�D�W�����,�W�¶�V���J�R�W���D�Q���L�P�P�H�G�L�D�F�\���I�R�U���I�D�Q�V�����S�L�F�N���R�X�W���\�R�X�U���N�H�\���K�H�D�G�L�Q�J�V���D�Q�G���\�R�X�¶�U�H��
�D�Z�D�\���´��P5 

�³�«�W�K�D�W���L�V���W�K�H���L�Q�I�R�J�U�D�S�K�L�F���,���Z�D�V���O�R�R�N�L�Q�J���I�R�U�������´��P4 

 

The end result can be seen in Figure 26. 

 
































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































